

# Role of MHC class I expression in the pathogenesis of Type 1 Diabetes

Abhirup Jayasimhan

M.Sc, MS

A thesis submitted for the degree of *Doctor of Philosophy* at Monash University in 2019

> Department of Immunology and Pathology Alfred Medical Research and Education Precinct Melbourne, Australia

## Abstract:

Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) is a polygenic autoimmune disease that occurs as a result of the selective destruction of insulin producing beta cells of the pancreas by infiltrating mononuclear cells. The aetiology of T1D is not clearly understood, however numerous studies have shown that a combination of various factors, including genetic predisposition, viral and bacterial attack, drugs and other environmental factors have both causative and protective effects in disease development. T1D develops from the activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells of our immune system, which leads to a series of stochastic events resulting in the selective killing of beta cells of the pancreas through Major Histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I dependent process.

Autoantigens expressed onto beta cells are important for the development of disease, but they are not an absolute requirement for the early recruitment of immune infiltrates into the islets. This has been shown in genetically modified mice lacking MHC class I expression on beta cells, which presented immune cell infiltrates localized near the pancreatic ducts. Similar observations were also noted in mice lacking the expression of native insulin. These early ductal infiltrates suggest that in Non Obese Diabetic (NOD) mice, immune responses to ductal cell antigens may precede the immune response to beta cell antigens including proinsulin.

To understand the role of ductal cell self-antigens in the development of invasive insulitis, we developed a tissue specific knockout NOD mouse model, in which MHC class I was absent on Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) expressing cell types including the ductal cells (Class I GFAP bald) of the pancreas. Invasive insulitis was significantly reduced in class I GFAP bald mice and we showed that the absence of class I mediated presentation of ductal cell antigens, other than insulin, significantly reduced the development of insulitis in NOD mice. By removing MHC class I from GFAP expressing cell types, we demonstrated the importance of autoantigens expressed in these cell types in the early development of insulitis in NOD mice.

## Declaration

This thesis is an original work of my research and contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university or equivalent institution and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

Signature: .....

Print Name: Abhirup Jayasimhan

Date: 21/01/2020

#### **Publications during Enrolment:**

Jayasimhan, A., & Mariño, E. (2019). Dietary SCFAs, IL-22, and GFAP: The Three Musketeers in the Gut–Neuro–Immune Network in Type 1 Diabetes. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *10*, 2429.

**Jayasimhan, A.**, D. P. Ellis, A. I. Ziegler and R. M. Slattery (2019). "Pancreatic ductal cell antigens are important in the development of invasive insulitis in Non-Obese Diabetic mice." *J Neuroimmunol* 327: 1-9.

**Jayasimhan, A.**, K. P. Mansour and R. M. Slattery (2014). "Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse." *Clin Sci* (Lond) 126(1): 1-18.

Ziegler, A. I., M. A. Le Page, M. J. Maxwell, J. Stolp, H. Guo, **A. Jayasimhan**, M. L. Hibbs, P. Santamaria, J. F. Miller, M. Plebanski, P. A. Silveira and R. M. Slattery (2013). "The CD19 signalling molecule is elevated in NOD mice and controls type 1 diabetes development." *Diabetologia* 56(12): 2659-2668.

### Thesis including published works declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university or equivalent institution and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

This thesis includes 3 papers published in peer reviewed journals and 1 original manuscript. The core theme of the thesis is autoantigens, other than insulin, expressed in the GFAP expressing ductal tissue of the pancreas are important in the development of insulitis in NOD mice. The ideas, development and writing up of all the papers in the thesis were the principal responsibility of myself, the student, working within the department of Immunology and Pathology under the main supervision of Professor Robyn Slattery and co-supervision of Dr. Eliana Marino Moreno.

Thesis Chapter	Publication Title	Status	Nature and % of student contribution	Co-author name	Co-Author(s) Monash Student
1	Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse.	Published	50% literature review and writing the manuscript	<ol> <li>K. P. Mansour- Assited in finding literature and drafted one section</li> <li>Robyn Slattery- supervisor</li> </ol>	Yes
2	A simple method to improve the visualization of EYFP in paraformaldehyde fixed frozen tissue sections	unpublished	60% labwork, experimental procedures, collecting data and 80% writing the manuscript.	<ol> <li>Darcy P Ellis- Assisted in experiments</li> <li>Robyn Slattery- supervisor</li> </ol>	Yes

In the case of chapters my contribution to the work involved the following:

3	Pancreatic ductal cell antigens are important in the development of invasive insulitis in Non- Obese Diabetic mice	Published	80% labwork, collecting data and writing the manuscript	<ol> <li>Darcy P Ellis- Assisted in experimental procedure</li> <li>2)Alexandra Ziegler- Assisted in breeding mice</li> <li>3) Robyn Slattery - supervisor</li> </ol>	Yes No No
Discussion and future directions	Dietary SCFAs, IL-22 and GFAP: The Three Musketeers in the Gut- Neuro-Immune network in Type-1 Diabetes	Published	80% in writing the manuscript	1) Eliana Marino- supervisor	No

I have renumbered sections of submitted or published papers in order to generate a consistent presentation within the thesis.

Student name: Abhirup Jayasimhan

Student signature:

Date: 21/01/2020

I hereby certify that the above declaration correctly reflects the nature and extent of the student's and co-authors' contributions to this work. In instances where I am not the responsible author I have consulted with the responsible author to agree on the respective contributions of the authors.

Main Supervisor name:

Main Supervisor signature:

Date:

## Acknowledgements

Above all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Professor. Robyn Slattery for the continuous support she has given throughout my Ph.D candidature. Robyn's dedication, knowledge and commitment, have helped me a lot to complete this work. Without Robyn, it would not have been possible for me to write this Ph.D thesis.

I would like to thank my second supervisor Dr. Eliana Marino for her support and advice especially during the final stages of this thesis. Eliana you were of great help.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the team members of our animal facility here at PAC. Thanks heaps to the team members of the flow cytometry and histology platform at AMREP.

I also thank the department of Immunology and Pathology, my friends and my family for the support they have given me during my PhD candidature.

Thank you all.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract
Declaration
Publication during enrolment4
Thesis including published works declaration5
Acknowledgements7
1. Introduction
CHAPTER 1 : Literature review
1.1 NOD mouse model
1.1.1 Genetics
1.1.2 Environment25
1.1.2.1 Geography25
1.1.2.2 Diet
1.1.2.3 Viruses
1.1.3 Immunopathology31
1.1.3.1 Disease initiation
1.1.3.2 Natural Killer cells
1.1.3.3 B lymphocytes
1.1.3.4 T lymphocytes
1.1.3.5 Development
1.1.3.6 Activation
1.1.3.7 Homing to islets41
1.1.3.8 Insulitis42

1.1.4 Balance of immunopathogenesis and regulation44
1.1.5 Killing of beta cells47
1.1.6 Relevence of NOD mice in current T1D research
1.2. Rationale of Study
1.2.1 Hypothesis71
1.2.2 Aim71
2. CHAPTER 2: Materials
2.1 Buffers and solutions72
2.2 Equipment73
2.3 Mice used73
2.4 Methods76
2.4.1 Generation of tissue specific knockout
mice using cre-lox technology77
2.4.1.1 Generation of NOD GFAPcre mice77
2.4.1.2 Generation of NOD GFAPcre.flβ2Ma mice
(Class I GFAP bald mice)78
2.4.1.3 Generation of NOD CAIIcre mice
2.4.1.4 NOD CAIIcre mice breeding strategies80
2.4.1.5 Generation of NOD CAIIcre.flβ2Ma mice
(Class I CAII bald mice)83
2.4.2 Generation of reporter mice
(NOD GFAPcre+ EYFP+/ NOD CAIIcre+ EYFP+)83
2.5 Mice Genotyping84

2.6 Isolation of DNA from ear punch84
2.7 Preparing the Master Mix for PCR84
2.8 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis
2.9 Tissue harvesting
2.10 Single cell preparation from harvested tissues
2.11 Pancreatic Ductal cell isolation90
2.12 Cell counting90
2.13 Immunophenotyping by flow cytometry90
2.14 Histology
2.14.1 Formalin fixed tissue processing for H&E staining92
2.14.2 Fixed Frozen tissue processing for immunofluorescence93
2.14.3 Insulitis Scoring95
CHAPTER 3
3. Determining the pattern of cre expression in GFAPcre and CAIIcre mice models
3.1 Determining the pattern of cre expression in GFAPcre mice96
3.1.1 EYFP expression was detected in pancreatic ductal
and glial cells in GFAPcre reporter mice
3.1.2 EYFP expression was not detected in the immune
cells of GFAPcre reporter mice
3.2 Determining the pattern of cre expression in CAIIcre mice102

3.2.2 Ectopic expression of cre was detected in the
immune cell compartments in CAIIcre mice 104
3.3 Discussion 107
CHAPTER 4
4. Assessment of pathogenesis in class I GFAP bald mice 109
4.1 Severity of insulitis is significantly reduced in the absence
of MHC class I on GFAP expressing cell types 109
4.2 GFAP positive ductal cells do not express proinsulin 110
4.3 Discussion
5. Final Discussion and Conclusion 114
6. Future Directions
6.1 GFAP not the usual suspect116
6.2 The SCFAs: modulator of gut inflammation and auto-reactivity 117
6.3 IL-22 and ENS take control of T1D 120
7. References
8. Appendix A Papers Published and Manuscript
Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mice

Pancreatic ductal cell antigens are important in the development of	of invasive
insulitis in Non-Obese Diabetic mice	173
Dietary SCFAs, IL-22 and GFAP: The Three musketeers in the O	Gut-Neuro-
Immune network in Type 1 Diabetes	182
A simple method to improve the visualization of EYFP in paraformal	lehyde
fixed frozen tissue sections	190

# List of tables in thesis

Table number	Description	Page number
Table 1	Pathogenic similarities in NOD mice	50
	compared to humans	
Table 2	Summary of Clinical outcomes for T1D	54
	patients based on NOD mouse studies	
Table 3	Importance of the use of animals in medical	65
	research	
Table 4	Mice strains	73
Table 5	List of primer sequences	85
Table 6	PCR cycles	86
Table 7	CAII PCR master mix	86
Table 8	GFAPcre PCR master mix	87
Table 9	Cre PCR master mix	87
Table 10	EYFP PCR master mix	88
Table 11	β2M PCR master mix	88
Table 12	Antibodies used in flow cytometry	91
Table 13	Dewaxing and H&E protocol	92
Table 14	Antibodies used in immunofluorescence	94

# List of figures in thesis

Figure number	Description	Page number
Figure 1	Making of Class I GFAP bald mice	78
Figure 2	CAIIcre transgene construct	80
Figure 3	Breeding pattern for CAIIcre founder 1	81
Figure 4	Breeding pattern for CAIIcre founder 2	82
Figure 5	Brain sections from GFAPcre reporter mice showing cre expression	97

Figure 6	Pancreatic sections from GFAPcre reporter mice showing cre expression	98
Figure 7	Absence of EYFP expression in T cells and non T cells confirmed the true specificity of GFAPcre promotor in GFAPcre reporter	100
Figure 8	EYFP expression was not detected in macrophages and dendritic cells of GFAPcre reporter mice	101
Figure 9	Pancreatic ductal cells from CAIIcre reporter mice showing cre expression	103
Figure 10	Ectopic expression of cre identified in splenocytes isolated from CAIIcre reporter	105
Figure 11	Percentagre of EYFP expressing lymphoid and myeloid cell types in CAIIcre reporter	106
Figure 12	Class I GFAP bald mice had more disease free islets	110
Figure 13	Insulin positive pancreatic ductal cells do not express EYFP	111

# List of Abbreviations

AAb	Autoantibody
AAg	Autoantigen
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AIRE	Autoimmune regulator
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AMREP	Alfred Medical Research and Education Precinct
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
AS-ODN	Antisense oligodeoxyribonucleotides
ATG	Anti-thymocyte globulin
BCR	B cell receptor
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAII	Carbonic anhydrase II
CCR	Chemokine receptor
CD40L	CD40 ligand
CD62L	CD62 ligand
CRAMP	Cathelicidin-related antimicrobial peptide
cre	Causing recombinase
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associate antigen-4
CVB	Coxsackievirus B
DBA	Dolichos biflorus agglutinin
DC	Dendritic cell
Deaf1	Deformed epidermal autoregulatory factor-1
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPBS	Dulbecco's Phosphate-Buffered Saline

EC	.Endothelial cell
EDTA	. Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EFA	.Essential fatty acid
EGC	.Enteric Glial cell
ENS	.Enteric nervous system
EYFP	. Enhanced Yellow Florescent Protein
FasL	.Fas ligand
FCS	. Fetal Calf Serum
FoxP3	. Forkhead box P3
FO	.Follicular
GAD	. Glutamic acid decarboxylase
GCSF	. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GF	.Gluten free
GFAP	.Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GFP	.Green Fluorescent protein
GI	.Gastrointestinal
GM-CSF	. Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
GP	.Glycoprotein
GPR	.G-protein coupled receptor
GWAS	.Genome-Wide Association Study
H&E	.Hematoxylin and Eosin
НА	. Hyaluronan
HbA1C	.Glycated hemoglobin
HBSS	. Hanks balanced salt solution
HDACs	. Histone deacetylases

HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IA2	Insulinoma associated antigen
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
ICA69	69kDa islet cell autoantigen
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
ICOS	Inducible T cell co-stimulator
IDO	Indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase
IDDM	Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus
IFA	Incomplete Freund's adjuvant
IGRP	Islet-specific glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit- related protein
IL-22	Interleukin 22
IFN	Interferons
LADA	Latent Autoimmune Disease of the Adults
LCMV	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus
LN	lymph node
LoxP	Locus of X over P1
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MADCAM	Mmucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule
MHC I	Major Histocompatibility complex I
MLNs	Mesenteric lymph node
MT-1 MTP	Membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase
MZ	Marginal zone
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NK	Natural Killer

NKT	Natural Killer T cells
NOD	Non-Obese Diabetic
NOR	Non-Obese Resistant
<mark>NP</mark>	Nuclear protein
OCT	optimum cutting temperature
PAC	Precinct Animal Centre
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerised Chain Reaction
PD-1	Programmed cell death 1
pDC	Plasmacytoid DC
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
pSCs	Peri islet Schwann cells
RBC	Red blood cell
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SCE	Stem cell educator
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
SCFA	Short Chain Fatty Acid
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
SERT	Serotonin-selective reuptake transporter
SGF	Specific Germ Free
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SPF	Specific pathogen free
STZ	Streptozotocin
TAE	Tris-acetate EDTA
T1D	Type 1 Diabetes

TNF ...... Tumor Necrosis Factor

Treg ..... Regulatory T cell

TRPV-1 ...... Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid type 1

TSA ..... Tissue Specific Antigen

- UV ..... Ultraviolet
- VCAM-1 ...... Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1

VNTR ...... Variable number tandem repeat

- VLA.....Very Late Antigen
- β2m.....β2 microglobulin
- 5-HT ...... serotonin, 5-hydroxytryptamine

#### 1. Introduction

Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) is a polygenic autoimmune disease, in which insulin secreting beta cells of the pancreas are selectively destroyed [1-2]. The disease usually develops at a younger age and is characterized by high blood glucose levels. The aetiology of T1D is not clearly understood but, a combination of genetic, environmental and immunological factors contributes to the development of disease. In genetically susceptible individuals the autoimmune response is triggered by one or more environmental factors and could asymptomatically progress over many months to years before the patient develops hyperglycaemia. Excess glucose in the blood should be controlled by administering exogenous insulin to avoid the development of micro and macro vascular complications [4].

T1D is also known as juvenile diabetes and is further classified into two subtypes based on the pathogenesis. Type 1A diabetes or the autoimmune diabetes is diagnosed by the presence of one or more self-reactive autoantibodies to islet antigens while, Type 1B or idiopathic diabetes shows no evidence of immunological and genetic contribution towards the pathogenesis and progression of the disease [5]. In certain cases, the pathogenesis of T1D progress very slowly and symptoms begin to appear at adult age. This subtype is known as the latent autoimmune disease of the adults (LADA) sometimes referred to as Type 1.5 diabetes [6, 7]. These adult cases of T1D are sometimes misdiagnosed as Type 2 diabetes. The work described in this thesis was performed to understand the mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of the Type 1A or the autoimmune form of T1D. Throughout this thesis any reference to T1D implies the autoimmune subtype of T1D.

The incidence of T1D is increasing worldwide [8, 9] and a permanent cure for the disease is currently not available. Patients with T1D depend on exogenous insulin and extensive management of blood glucose levels to minimise the risk of developing micro and macro vascular complications.

Investigation into the genetics and immunopathological mechanisms that lead to initial progression and beta cell destruction in individuals at risk of developing T1D is difficult due to a protracted pre-diabetic phase, inaccessibility of islet tissue, and limitations in beta cell markers that reflect cell mass and functionality. Genome Wide Association Studies (GWAS) have identified more than 50 distinct susceptibility regions linked to T1D and the main genes predisposing to T1D fall within the Major Histocompatibility (MHC) region, also known as the Human leucocyte antigen (HLA) [10-12]. These highly polymorphic regions contribute for about 40-50% risk in the development of disease. Beyond HLA genes, the polymorphism within the VNTR (Variable Number Tandem Repeats) region of the insulin promotor and polymorphism of the CTLA-4 gene (cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4) are also associated with T1D development but to a lesser extent when compared to HLA region [13]. The association studies may assist in the screening for those at risk of developing T1D, but a comprehensive understanding of the immunopathological mechanisms underlying the development of T1D is also required. The knowledge gained from such studies will help develop immunomodulatory strategies to prevent the onset of disease in genetically susceptible individuals. Understanding the pathogenesis of T1D in humans is limited due to the unavailability of pancreatic samples and due to the asymptomatic progression of the disease. Accordingly, our understanding of the genetics, etiology, and pathogenesis of T1D has heavily depended on animal models and among the different animal models of T1D, the Non Obese diabetic

(NOD) mouse is the most widely used model to study the pathogenesis of T1D [1, 14-**1**]. NOD mice develop the disease spontaneously and share genetic and immunopathogenic features with human T1D. The importance of NOD mice in T1D research is driven by more than the scarcity of human pancreatic tissue samples. Though, the mechanisms of human and NOD autoimmune diabetes are not identical, it is well documented that the role of MHC haplotype is similar, when equating the development disease in both NOD and in humans **[17]**. In addition to the similarities in MHC haplotype there are also other pathogenic similarities (Table 1) to prove that the NOD mouse is a gold standard model to study pathogenesis of human T1D **[18]**.

#### **1.1 NOD mouse model**

#### 1.1.1 Genetics

The inbred NOD mouse strain originated as a hyperglycaemic sub-strain of the cataract prone mouse (CTS) at Shionogi laboratories, Japan [19]. At the time of weaning NOD mice develop around pancreatic islets a mononuclear cell infiltrate (insulitis) that progresses at approximately 100 days of age to invasive insulitis and complete beta cell destruction [20]. Although NOD mice have an increased genetic susceptibility to T1D, the penetrance of disease can be modulated by various environmental factors. Hence, not all NOD mice in a colony will develop T1D. Importantly, a number of T1D susceptibility genes identified in NOD mice (designated *Idd*) have been found to contribute to T1D susceptibility in humans (designated *IDDM*). To date >40 *Idd* regions have been identified [21, 22] but only a small number of these regions have been localised to candidate genes, and these will be discussed below.

The Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) is the strongest susceptibility region and was the first identified in both humans (*IDDM1*) and in mice (*Idd1*). The mouse MHC region is located on Chromosome 17 and contains a number of genes known to contribute to disease. These genes make up a haplotype that contains both MHC class I and class II susceptibility genes. In mice, MHC class I genes comprise of K<sup>d</sup> and D<sup>b</sup> alleles and MHC class II genes comprise of I-A and I-E alleles [23, 24]. Although NOD mice express the I-A heterodimer that is composed of I-A $\alpha$  and I-A $\beta$  chains, the I-E heterodimer is not expressed due to a deletion in the promoter region of the I-E $\alpha$  gene. Furthermore, the replacement of histidine and serine with proline and aspartic acid at positions 56 and 57 respectively, within the I-A $\beta$  chain prevents T1D in NOD mice [25-27].

The *Idd3* locus encodes the cytokines IL2 and IL21 and these are strong candidate genes for T1D susceptibility [28-30]. In NOD mice, IL2 expression levels are abnormally low, with low dose IL2 treatment reducing the severity of insulitis and inhibiting T1D onset [31, 32]. Further reduction of IL2 levels, in NOD mice heterozygous for a deletion of the IL2 gene, accelerated T1D development [33]. In contrast, IL21 is highly expressed in NOD mice and NOD mice deficient in the IL21 receptor are protected from T1D [30, 34].

The *Idd5.1* locus includes two candidate susceptibility genes encoding CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4) and ICOS (inducible T-cell costimulator). CTLA-4, a receptor involved in inhibiting T-cell activation, is present in four distinct isoforms in NOD mice, one of which is the ligand-independent CTLA-4 isoform (liCTLA-4). It contains a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in exon 2 that causes liCTLA-4 to be expressed at reduced levels, decreasing the activation threshold of T-cells and consequently disease susceptibility. Similarly, expression levels of the soluble CTLA-4 (sCTLA-4) isoform are reduced in T1D patients [35]. CTLA-4 therefore represents an attractive target for immunotherapeutic intervention. The ICOS gene of NOD mice has a SNP

encoding a non-conservative amino acid change in the leader sequence of exon-1. This change causes higher expression of ICOS, which heightens T-cell costimulation. Consistent with the idea that increased expression of ICOS contributes to susceptibility, ICOS<sup>-/-</sup> NOD mice are protected from T1D [36, 37].

The *Idd7* locus contains a gene, or several linked genes, thought to influence allelic exclusion of T-cell receptor (TCR) genes during T-cell development [38]. These studies were performed in TCR transgenic mice and may not represent the normal path of TCR rearrangement found in human T-cells. However, if such defects are present, this could lead to dual TCR expression and autoimmunity [39].

The *Idd9* locus contains three regions: *Idd9.1, Idd9.2* and *Idd9.3* [40]. Although the genes localised at *Idd9.1* are unknown, they are associated with increased B-cell pathogenic activity [41], low numbers of induced invariant natural killer T-cells (iNKT) and reduced Treg development and activity in NOD mice [42, 43]. Candidate susceptibility genes at *Idd9.2* and *Idd9.3* encode CD30, TNFR2 (Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor 2), and CD137, respectively [40].

The *Idd13* locus contains multiple susceptibility genes, including the candidate genes  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2m), *Cd93*, *Nkt2*, and *Bim* [44, 45]. In inbred mouse populations, there are three allelic variants of  $\beta$ 2m that encode isoforms differing by a single amino acid at residue 85 [46, 47]. Wild-type NOD mice express the  $\beta$ 2m<sup>a</sup> isoform, whereas NOD mice congenic for the NOR (Nonobese-resistant) *Idd13* region express the  $\beta$ 2m<sup>b</sup> isoform and are protected from T1D.  $\beta$ 2m was confirmed as a diabetes susceptibility gene in reconstitution experiments in which NOD mice lacking endogenous  $\beta$ 2m and transgenic for  $\beta$ 2m<sup>b</sup> were protected from the development of T1D compared with mice transgenic for  $\beta$ 2m<sup>a</sup> [48]. The mechanism of protection conferred by different  $\beta$ 2m isoforms has not been elucidated, but is proposed to relate to the expression level of MHC class I

(unpublished, Slattery). As such, although humans are non-polymorphic at the  $\beta 2m$  loci, there may be related changes in the expression level of MHC class I that influence antigen presentation, thereby modulating thymic selection and/or peripheral activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells [44]. In NOD mice, the *Cd93* gene has a SNP that results in a conformational change in the CD93 protein [45]. Although the function of this protein is not yet well defined, its absence in C57Bl/6 (B6) CD93<sup>-/-</sup> mice results in a reduced number of iNKT-cells, which may promote T1D in NOD mice [45]. A third gene within the *Idd13* region that controls NKT-cell numbers has been mapped to the *Nkt2* gene. NOD mice congenic for the B6 *Nkt2* region had increased NKT-cell numbers and a reduced incidence of T1D [49]. The forth candidate susceptibility gene to be localized within the *Idd13* locus is *Bim* which encodes the proapoptotic protein BIM. The failure to induce BIM in thymocytes confers resistance to thymic deletion in NOD mice [50].

Of >40 susceptibility loci identified in NOD mice only a small number of these regions contain genes that have orthologues associated with human T1D. Nevertheless, a number of the non-orthologous candidate susceptibility genes in NOD mice have led to studies that provided valuable insights into the immunopathogenic mechanisms of T1D relevant to humans, and these are discussed later in the review.

#### **1.1.2 Environment**

#### 1.1.2.1 Geography

Various environmental parameters have been associated with T1D susceptibility in humans. They include geographical location, dietary components, and infectious agents. Worldwide incidence data on T1D suggests that there is an inverse correlation between disease incidence and proximity to the equator that could be explained by a number of variables. Regions furthest from the equator have

reduced exposure to sunlight with a concomitant reduction in both UV radiation and temperature. In human T1D, it is difficult to segregate the roles of sunlight variables from the confounding co-variables of genetics and culture. However, genetically controlled studies utilizing inbred NOD mice have allowed the independent contribution of UV radiation and temperature on T1D to be assessed.

NOD mice maintained at a temperature of 23.7°C compared to 21°C had a lower incidence of T1D. This suggests that the inverse correlation between equatorial distance and incidence of T1D may in part be explained by temperature [51]. Since UV radiation is essential for epidermal vitamin D synthesis, and the active form of vitamin D, 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> (1,25 D<sub>3</sub>), influences the development of Treg cells, the effect of vitamin D on T1D has been studied in NOD mice. It is believed that Vitamin D has a role to play in the development of T1D 52, 53]. These studies revealed that early deficiency of vitamin D in NOD mice resulted in accelerated T1D development [54], whilst NOD mice administered supplementary vitamin D were protected from developing T1D and this was correlated with an increased frequency of Treg cells within the pancreatic lymph node (pLN) [55, 56]. It is thought that vitamin D also modulates the immune response through inhibition of the nuclear factor kappa beta (NF $\kappa$ B) pathway in DCs and macrophages. This results in decreased production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL12 and IFNy that leads to decreased MHC class II expression on antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and MHC class I expression on beta cells [57].

Vitamin D supplementation at birth has been shown to significantly protect from T1D in humans [58, 59]. A recent study also suggests the beneficial side of having enough vitamin D concentration in children at risk of developing T1D [60]. On contrary a six months administration of vitamin D to children with T1D had not

effect on the residual beta cell function [61] and supplementation of vitamin D in patients with recent onset T1D failed to reduce loss of beta cell function [62, 63].

#### 1.1.2.2 Diet

T1D is a multifactorial condition; diet and environment play an inevitable role in disease modulation [64, 65]. The earliest evidence for dietary influences in T1D susceptibility came from studies in NOD mice. A positive association was found between a high fat diet and T1D incidence in these mice [66]. An increase in T1D progression in NOD mice has also been correlated with wheat or corn enriched diets and this has been attributed to the wheat protein gluten [67]. It has been speculated that a mechanism by which dietary antigens (Ags) could influence susceptibility is by modulation of the mucosal immune system via the release of tolerogenic, allergenic, or pro-inflammatory cytokines [68]. NOD mice fed cereal/wheat based diets expressed significantly higher levels of IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and iNOS that are known to drive the immune response towards T1D [68].

Essential fatty acids (EFA) have also been shown to protect from T1D. The offspring of mice fed a low omega-6 to omega-3 (n-6/n-3) EFA ratio diet showed a decrease in T1D incidence [69]. Similarly, omega-3 reduced the incidence of T1D in genetically susceptible children indicating its benefit as a supplement to assist in the prevention of human T1D [70]. The protective effect of omega-3 may partly explain why T1D incidence is lower in Japan where there is a high consumption of fish, compared to countries with westernised diets [71]. One mechanism by which omega-3 may protect from T1D is through direct binding to the G-protein-coupled receptor (GPR) 120 on macrophages, which exert a wide range of potent anti-inflammatory effects [72]. Additionally, omega-3 may act indirectly through the

anti-inflammatory influence of bioactive products resulting from its breakdown and enzymatic conversion, such as resolvins [73].

Diet and the use of antibiotics can also modulate the gut microbial diversity, which has recently been shown to regulate the immune system. NOD mice housed under 'specific germ free' (SGF) conditions, have a higher incidence of T1D than those housed in less stringent conditions. Furthermore, NOD mice treated with probiotics have elevated IL10 production and reduced T1D development [74]. The bacteria responsible for this protection are members of the *Bacteroidetes phyla*, capable of producing short chain fatty acids (SCFA)s. SCFAs can bind GPRs on immune cells and thereby mediate an anti-inflammatory response that protects from T1D [75].

Human and murine studies have demonstrated that defects in the induction of central and peripheral tolerance checkpoints [76] also correlate with an altered gut microbiota [77-81], which are notable contributors to T1D pathology. Building on previously extensive reviews on the gut microbiota topic, it is certain that an altered microbiota and SCFAs deficiency is a primary causal factor triggering T1D [82-85]. The gut microbiota through the production of dietary SCFAs plays a significant role in host defense by modulating the immune system and metabolism. Studies conducted by Eliana Marino's group has shown that the combination of a diet rich in acetate and butyrate protected 90% of the NOD mice against T1D, yielding exceptionally high levels of the corresponding SCFAs to the feces [77]. In this study, SCFAs-induced T1D protection happened via changes in gut/ immune regulation- expanding regulatory T (Treg) cells and reducing pathogenic B cells, CD4<sup>+</sup>, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Diet rich in SCFA acetate and butyrate not only reduced the levels of serum LPS and pro-inflammatory interleukin 21 (IL-21) but also increased the level of serum IL-22, an important cytokine that maintains a healthy commensal microbiota, gut epithelial integrity, mucosal immunity and ameliorates

metabolic disease [86-89]. Alternatively, SCFAs also can reduce islet-specific immune responses by increasing the production of antimicrobial peptides (AMP) in the beta-cells [96]. As it has been shown, C-type lectin regenerating isletderived protein IIIγ (REGIIIγ), and defensins disrupt surface membranes of bacteria thus enabling a broad regulation of commensal and pathogenic bacteria in the gut [91-93]. Diana's group showed that insulin-secreting beta-cells produced the cathelicidin-related antimicrobial peptide (CRAMP), which was defective in NOD mice. Intraperitoneal administration of SCFA butyrate stimulates the production CRAMP on pancreatic beta-cells via G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), which also correlated with the conversion of inflammatory immune cells to a regulatory phenotype [96]. Likewise, another study has shown that microbial SCFAs contribute to the increasing concentrations of serum IL-22 [77] required for beta-cell regeneration by up-regulating the expression of Regenerating Reg1 and Reg2 genes in the islets [94].

Composition of the gut microbiota in T1D patients is different when compared with healthy controls. The ratios of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes were lower in the children with T1D when compared to healthy controls. It is believed that the abundance of more diverse bacteria in the gut is beneficial to ferment the food and to produce more immunomodulatory products [**95**, **96**]. Study conducted by Syed et.al showed that endogenously originating lipids, PAHSAs (Palmitic acid esters of hydroxyl steric acid) reduced the activation of islet reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcells, and delayed the onset of T1D in NOD mice [**97**].

Whether probiotics, or SCFA treatment, will prevent T1D in those at risk remains to be determined although probiotics are currently being trialled in at-risk children [98]. In contrast, some bacterial strains promote inflammation and thereby exacerbate the development of T1D. Gluten fed NOD mice contain greater quantities of aerobic, micro-aerophilic, caecal bacteria and are more likely to develop T1D than those fed gluten free diets [99]. Furthermore, a positive correlation was observed between numbers of gram positive aerophilic and anaerobic bacteria found in the gut of NOD mice and incidence of T1D, regardless of diet [99]. It is thought that such bacterial strains promote a pro-inflammatory cytokine environment that drives T1D by inducing mucosal DCs to secrete Th1 type cytokines.

#### 1.1.2.3 Viruses

The identification of enterovirus from the pancreatic islets in children with T1D suggests that viral attacks may have contributed to disease progression [100]. A number of viruses have been positively associated with T1D onset and several mechanisms have been proposed to explain this association [101]. Viral infection of the gastrointestinal mucosa with Rotavirus increases the intestinal permeability, creating a 'leaky gut'. Opportunistic gut bacteria that migrate through the leaky gut can induce inappropriate sub-mucosal immune responses that signal through Tolllike receptors (TLRs) and drive inflammation [102]. Other viruses, such as Coxsackie virus B (CVB), can directly infect islet tissue, or neighbouring neuroendocrine cells, promoting inflammation in both islets and associated endothelial cells (ECs) [103]. At the time of insulitis development, NOD islet ECs develop an activated phenotype with upregulation of adhesion molecules, such as CD54 (ICAM-1), CD106 (VCAM-1), and of MHC class I and II molecules [103, 104]. Islet ECs from human histological samples taken during the peri-onset stage of T1D show a similar phenotype, displaying increased expression of adhesion and MHC molecules [105].

Another potential mechanism of virally induced T1D is molecular mimicry, whereby T-cells that are activated by specific viral antigens cross-react with

autoantigens (AAgs) that share structural similarities. This model has been investigated for its capacity to trigger T1D in transgenic mice expressing the lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) antigen nucleoprotein (NP), or glycoprotein (GP). Mice expressing these antigens on pancreatic beta cells remained tolerant and free from T1D in the absence of viral infection [106]. However, when challenged with LCMV, NP and GP specific T-cells were activated and beta cells were killed, causing T1D [106]. Blocking or depletion of pro-inflammatory cytokines has been found to reduce T1D incidence in NOD mice following viral infection [107].

#### **1.1.3 Immunopathology**

#### 1.1.3.1 Disease initiation

The inaccessibility of professional APCs (pAPCs) has made it challenging to measure their role in human T1D. Researchers rely heavily on studies in NOD mice to understand how pAPCs may promote T1D, and importantly, how their central role in tolerance may be exploited in immunotherapeutic approaches. pAPCs are the first cells to accumulate marginally around the islets, thereby initiating a cascade of immunopathological events that culminate in beta cell destruction and T1D [108, 109]. The events triggering the accumulation of pAPCs in the islet milieu remain to be fully elucidated. It has been proposed that a wave of beta cell death occurs in NOD mice as part of tissue remodelling. This could occur either in response to viral infection or other metabolic changes around the time of weaning [110, 111]. The migration of CCR7 positive monocyte/macrophages and DCs to the islets is promoted by the elevated expression of lymphoid tissue-related chemokines, such as CCL19, found in NOD mice [112]. Macrophages produce the cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$  that are directly beta cell toxic, and over-produce IL12, driving the further recruitment of DCs to the accumulated beta cell debris. This

exacerbates the inflammatory response and leads to the inappropriate activation of autoreactive T-cells in NOD mice [113]. Furthermore, due to increased prostaglandin (PGE<sub>2</sub>) production, macrophages from NOD mice are impaired in their phagocytic ability and their ability to present self-antigens for the induction of tolerogenic immune responses [114-116]. Therefore, NOD mouse macrophages have an important role not only in the initiation of insulitis, but also in driving its progression towards beta cell destruction and T1D. Based on the important roles of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  in beta cell damage, children recently diagnosed with T1D have been treated with IL-1 receptor and TNF antagonists in a number of different trials. Both treatments promoted mild increases in insulin production within 4-5 months of treatment [117].

In NOD mice, multiple DC subsets are present including myeloid DCs (mDCs), lymphoid DCs, and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs). mDCs have an important role in antigen processing and presentation to autoreactive T-cells leading to their activation. In NOD mice there is a 5-fold increase in the number of immature mDCs and fewer mature mDCs. The immature DCs underproduce IL10, have deficient responses to GM-CSF, decreased intracellular and surface expression of MHC class II, reduced co-stimulatory molecule expression, and lowered expression of the CD40 signalling molecule [118]. However, the mature mDCs in NOD mice express elevated NF $\kappa$ B in response to Ag, and this leads to increased secretion of IL12p70 and TNF $\alpha$ , and increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules. Increased IL12 leads to autocrine activation of DCs as well as increased activation of antigen specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells [119]. This intrinsic defect of the mature mDC population therefore tips the balance towards a Th1 immune response that drives beta cell destruction and T1D. Likewise, mDCs from T1D patients display elevated NF $\kappa$ B activation and IL12 secretion [120]. In addition to defects in the myeloid population there are also defects in the lymphoid DC population in NOD mice. Lymphoid DCs in NOD mice show reduced indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase (IDO)-mediated catabolism of tryptophan in response to IFN $\gamma$ , resulting in the increased proliferation of effector T-cells [121]. pDCs have an immature phenotype, are poor antigen presenters, and are therefore known to be important for the induction of tolerogenic immune responses. In NOD mice depletion of pDCs was associated with a reduction of IDO in the pancreas and this correlated directly with the development and severity of insulitis [122]. The importance of DCs in T1D has been exploited in on-going clinical trials. Autologous DCs modified ex-vivo to have reduced co-stimulatory ability have been used in T1D patients and at risk individuals to drive tolerogenic immune responses. While Safety has been established the efficacy of this approach is not yet known.

#### 1.1.3.2 Natural killer (NK) cells

NK cells are normally associated with defence against viruses, intracellular pathogen infected cells, malignant cells, and foreign or transplanted cells. It is thought that NK cells may have an important early role in the immunopathogenesis of T1D since they are found to infiltrate pancreatic islets of NOD mice and have also been detected in the pancreatic islets of cadaveric T1D patients [123, 124]. Furthermore, NK cells within the insulitis lesion display an activated phenotype, expressing higher levels of killer cell lectin-like receptor group G 1 (KIRG1), programmed cell death 1 (PD1), IL2R (CD25), and CD69 than NK cells from the pLN or spleen and this correlates with increased beta cell destruction. The activated NK cells found in the insulitis lesion may directly induce beta cell apoptosis through perforin and granzyme mediated cytotoxic damage since they express CD107a which is a marker of granule exocytosis [125]. NK cells are able

to recognize NOD beta cells since these express RAE1 (retinoic acid early transcript 1) and NKp46 ligand, which are the ligands for NK cell receptors NKG2D and NKp46, respectively. While it has been shown that blockade of NKG2D and NKp46 reduces T1D incidence, it may be that the protection is due to inhibition of interactions other than with NK cells, such as with cytotoxic T-cells that also express NKG2D [126]. Alternatively, they may indirectly damage beta cells since they also express high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN $\gamma$  [127]. Although NK cells undoubtedly have a role in the early insulitis lesion it is unlikely that they are essential in the immunopathogenic process that drives complete beta cell destruction since NOD beta cells, lacking MHC class I/ $\beta 2m$ , yet retaining NK receptor ligands, are not killed by NK cells [128].

#### 1.1.3.3 B Lymphocytes

Although macrophages and DCs are the primary pAPCs involved in the insulitis initiation, B lymphocytes also have a pivotal early role in the pathogenesis of T1D development. B-cells have been identified in the insulitic lesions of biopsies from human T1D patients, as well as in the pancreatic biopsies of diabetes prone mice and rats [129]. The significance of B-cells as important contributors to disease became clear when diabetes prone NOD mice lacking B-cells were generated. Although B-cell deficient NOD mice developed mild insulitis, suggesting that B-cells are not required for the initiation of disease, they were significantly protected from the development of diabetes, confirming their role in disease progression [130-133]. Similar results were obtained following antibody mediated depletion of B-cells [134].

Two main roles have been proposed for B-cells in the pathogenesis of T1D. Role 1: B-cells may contribute to disease via the production of autoantibodies (AAbs), known to correlate with early pathogenesis. A role for AAb in promoting T1D

development has also been supported by maternal AAb studies whereby inhibition of AAb transfer from mothers to NOD offspring in several models, was found to protect against T1D development in offspring [135, 136]. Additionally, there is indirect evidence that suggests that AAbs enhance the effector functions of DCs and NK cells since  $FcR\gamma^{-/-}$  NOD mice are protected from disease [137]. These findings have led to the proposal that AAbs may augment beta cell destruction through binding AAg and promoting Fcy receptor mediated antigen uptake by APCs or by promoting antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity of beta cells. However, AAb are not requisite for T1D development since NOD transgenic mice expressing only membrane bound B-cell receptor (BCR), and without the capacity to secrete antibody, developed an increased incidence of insulitis and T1D compared to NOD B-cell deficient mice [138]. Role 2: B-cells may contribute to disease via the recognition, uptake, and processing of AAgs and presentation to diabetogenic T-cells. This antigen presenting role of B-cells must occur after the activation of T-cells involved in the initial immune phase of T1D, since many Bcell deficient mice develop non-invasive insulitis [130]. The progression from noninvasive to invasive insulitis is well documented, but a mechanistic understanding of this crucial switch is not well understood [139, 140]. It is likely that the highly proliferative nature of B-cells allows them to efficiently capture beta cell antigen for processing and presentation to activated diabetogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells resulting in the rapid expansion of cells invading and killing the islet beta cells [141, 142].

Because of their known role in antigen presentation, and because they are expanded in NOD mice, the marginal zone (MZ) B-cell population has been implicated in the pathogenesis of T1D [143]. However, it is unlikely that the increase in MZ numbers observed in NOD mice is a primary defect promoting

T1D, since loss of MZ B-cells following complete splenectomy failed to protect NOD mice from T1D, whereas the removal of follicular (FO), and not MZ, B-cells in anti-CD20 treated NOD mice did protect from T1D [144].

Treatment of recently diagnosed T1D patients with anti-CD20 mAb transiently depleted B cells and resulted in transient preservation of beta cell mass. While B-cells clearly contribute to T1D pathogenesis in NOD mice and humans, it is also clear that T1D can develop via alternative pathways in both species. T-cells from B-cell deficient NOD mice were able to transfer T1D to NOD scid recipients, albeit at a reduced frequency compared with T-cells from B-cell sufficient donors [131]. In humans, T1D has likewise been reported in B-cell deficient patients [145]. Therefore, while B-cells present as an attractive therapeutic target in those at risk of developing T1D, it is unlikely that their blockade will provide protection in all patients.

#### 1.1.3.4 T Lymphocytes

There is a large body of evidence implicating T-cells in the development and progression of T1D in humans and NOD mice. Both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes are pivotal during the early and late stages of disease in mice. Whole splenocytes or purified populations of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells can transfer T1D to young NOD and non-diabetes prone F1 mouse strains, whereas neither CD4<sup>+</sup> nor CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells alone can transfer disease [146, 147]. Likewise, T-cell depletion of susceptible NOD mice inhibited disease progression and T1D, reinforcing the central role of T-cells in immunopathogenesis [148]. The early discovery that T-cells are essential in the immunopathogenesis of T1D has led to a major focus on these cells, from thymic development to understanding the key mediators of cytotoxic versus regulatory subset development and beta cell killing.
#### 1.1.3.5 Development

The architecture of the NOD thymus is abnormal, comprising unusually large perivascular spaces, and disorganised thymic medulla. Additionally, NOD thymocytes have reduced expression of the integrin-type fibronectin receptors alpha4beta1 (VLA-4) and alpha5beta1 (VLA-5), that cause defects in cell migration. Since the thymocytes trapped within the giant perivascular spaces of the NOD thymus are consistently VLA-5 negative, their accumulation may be due to an impairment of normal thymocyte migration [149]. Although the overall number of T-cells emigrating from the NOD thymus is normal, there may be an increase in the proportion of T-cells that bear TCRs with autoreactive specificity. The unique MHC class II haplotype present in NOD mice, and in many Caucasoid T1D patients, influences the ability to bind to self-peptide and mediate negative selection. This deficiency was tested in transgenic NOD mice expressing nonautoimmune associated MHC class II haplotypes. These mice were protected from developing T1D, a protection that involved thymic deletion of autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells in TCR transgenic 4.1NOD mice expressing the MHC class II molecule I-E [150].

It has been proposed that NOD mice fail to express self Ags efficiently. This could be due to the lack of MHC class II molecule I-E, or alternatively, due to the inability of AIRE (autoimmune regulator) to induce expression of self Ags in medullary thymic epithelial cell (mTEC). NOD mice have reduced thymic expression of the AAg ICA69, and the gene encoding this protein carries a SNP in the promoter region important for AIRE binding. This could explain the reduced thymic expression of this self Ag and the potential for reduced deletion of thymocytes with specificity for it [151]. Although there is no direct evidence that the expression of proinsulin is similarly reduced in the NOD thymus, enhanced expression of this important AAg in transgenic NOD mice protects from T1D [152]. In humans elevated thymic expression of proinsulin is also associated with protection from T1D [153].

NOD mice have a defect that limits allelic exclusion, identified by the increased heterogeneity of TCR alpha genes expressed on T-cells from transgenic NOD AI4 mice [154]. As a consequence of inefficient allelic exclusion two different TCRs can be expressed on the surface of developing thymocytes and this has been shown to allow escape from negative selection and development of autoimmunity in other models [39].

Once the process of thymic selection is complete, thymocytes upregulate receptors on their surface, such as CCR7, allowing them to respond to chemokines and emigrate from the thymus to the peripheral lymphoid organs. Interestingly, CCR7 is elevated on NOD T-cells and CCR7 deficient NOD mice are protected from T1D [155, 156]. However, there is to date no evidence that this polymorphism contributes to altered thymic emigration.

### 1.1.3.6 Activation

Since autoreactive T-cells are found in normal healthy people and mice, the escape of such cells from the NOD thymus cannot alone account for the development of T1D. Therefore, there must be defects in the peripheral regulation of autoreactive T-cells. Following selection within the thymus, naive CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells travel to lymph nodes (LNs) where they await activation upon MHC presentation of their complementary antigens by pAPCs and costimulatory signals. The activation of islet reactive T-cells occurs within the pLN as their early removal in NOD was found to prevent development of T1D, whereas early removal of spleen had no impact on T1D [157].

The unique MHC class II of NOD mice contributes not only to the loss of thymic tolerance but also to the loss of peripheral tolerance. Autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell activation is associated with the unique I-A<sup>g7</sup> molecule. The lack of an acidic residue at position 57 of the  $\beta$  chain prevents formation of a salt bridge with arginine 76 in the  $\alpha$  chain [158, 159]. As a consequence, I-A<sup>g7</sup> is able to form salt bridges with bound peptides, enhancing peptide-MHC class II binding. A similar binding property has been found in the human MHC class II genotype HLA DQA1\*0301, DQB1\*0302 associated with T1D [160], suggesting that the homologous human HLA haplotype may lead to T1D development through the same mechanism.

The maintenance of tolerance to islet cell antigen requires their expression by stromal cells in the pLN, and this is regulated by the deformed epidermal auto regulatory factor 1 (Deaf1) transcription factor. Deaf1 is negatively regulated by its binding to a Deaf1 isoform called, Deaf1-VAR which prevents localization of Deaf1 to the nucleus. In the absence of Deaf1 in the nucleus the transcription of tissue specific antigens (TSAs) is reduced. In NOD mice undergoing destructive insulitis Deaf1-VAR is in excess and the expression of TSAs are consequently downregulated [161]. Reduced expression of Deaf1 was also found in T1D patients. However, in NOD mice islet reactive T-cells are activated as early as 3 weeks of age, well before any changes in Deaf1 expression are observed, as such this cannot be the primary peripheral tolerance defect that leads to the development of insulitis.

The activation of islet reactive T-cells requires signalling through costimulatory molecules expressed by pAPCs including CD40, CD80, and CD86. CD40 binds CD40L on T-cells leading to an upregulation of CD40 and TNF receptors on APCs. Early inhibition of CD40L in NOD mice caused a significant reduction in

the development of insulitis and T1D suggesting that autoreactive T-cells are dependent on this interaction for activation [162]. In addition to the importance of CD40/CD40L interaction for activation of T-cells, this interaction may also be important for the expansion of T-cells in the insulitis lesion. Recently CD40 was identified on the surface of islet invasive T-cells raising the possibility that pathogenic T-cells may cross-stimulate via CD40/CD40L interaction [163]. CD80/86 on APCs can ligate CD28 on T-cells and lead to their activation. This activation can be negatively regulated by the inhibitory molecule CTLA-4 on Tcells which also binds CD80 and CD86. CTLA-4 negative regulation promotes the maturation of DCs that express IDO and regulate effector T-cells. NOD mice express reduced levels of liCTLA-4 with concomitant reduction in the usual negative regulation of T-cell activation [35]. Consistent with this, deletion or blocking of CTLA-4 in NOD mice resulted in exacerbation of T1D [164]. Furthermore, NOD mice with induced overexpression of liCTLA-4 had a reduction in the incidence of T1D [165]. Although liCTLA-4 is not found in humans, the soluble isoform of CTLA-4 (sCTLA4) is reduced in T1D patients [35]. Based on these studies patients with recent onset T1D were treated with CTLA-4Ig, a fusion protein composed of the Fc region of IgG1 and extracellular domain of CTLA-4, that inhibits the co-stimulation of T cells. Although C peptide levels were initially higher after CTLA-4Ig treatment there was no significant preservation of beta cell mass after 2 years [166].

Another negative regulatory molecule belonging to the CD28 family and involved in T1D development in NOD mice is PD-1. PD-1 is expressed on activated T-cells, and its ligands, PD-L1 and PD-L2, are expressed on DCs. T-cell proliferation is inhibited when PD-1 binds to its ligands on DCs. Interestingly PD-L1 is also expressed on islet cells and blockade of PD-L1 in NOD mice, using monoclonal antibodies (mAb), accelerated the rate of insulitis and T1D progression suggesting that the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway negatively regulates autoreactive T-cells [167]. Consistent with this, T1D patients have reduced expression of this important negative regulator of T-cell proliferation [168].

Also within the CD28 family is ICOS, a costimulatory molecule upregulated on activated T-cells and important in T1D. NOD mice have a higher expression level of ICOS than non-autoimmune strains. Both ICOS and ICOSL deficient NOD mice are protected from T1D and this is caused by the failure to activate beta cell reactive T-cells [36]. ICOS may therefore have an important role in maintaining the balance between the activation of effector and regulatory T-cells that control the development of T1D in NOD mice.

### 1.1.3.7 Homing to the islet

Activated islet specific T-cells in NOD mice show normal upregulation of CD44 and downregulation of CD62L, allowing them to migrate out of the LN via the efferent lymphatics. They then re-enter the circulation via the thoracic duct and migrate along the ECs associated with islet tissue. In prediabetic NOD mice, the beta cells, ECs, and mononuclear cells infiltrating the islets produce multiple chemokine proteins that facilitate the tissue specific homing of effector cells. The expression pattern of these chemokines is complex and it is unlikely that targeting of single chemokines will be of significant therapeutic benefit. However, beta cell expression of a chemokine decoy receptor that binds an array of chemokines completely prevented T1D in NOD mice [169].

The islet ECs normally protect beta cells from inappropriate infiltration by immune cells travelling in the blood. However, NOD islet ECs take on an activated phenotype at the time of insulitis development, expressing hyaluronan (HA), mucosal vascular addressin cell adhesion molecule 1 (MADCAM-1), ICAM-1, and

VCAM-1, important for adhesion of activated monocytes and T-cells [170]. T-cell expression of membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) facilitates their transmigration into the islets by cleaving the CD44/HA interaction [171]. Activated ECs also upregulate MHC class I and II expression important for the presentation of Ag to CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, respectively. The reasons for this upregulation are not known, but many viruses thought to be associated with T1D are known to infect microvasculature ECs and persistent infection of these cells has been associated with increased expression of adhesion molecules and MHC molecules [172]. The importance of ICAM-1 in the development of T1D has been demonstrated in anti-ICAM-1 treated NOD mice that were found to be protected from the development of T1D [173, 174]. Others have reported that an increase in MHC class I expression on islet ECs was associated with T1D in NOD mice [104] and human histological samples taken during the peri-onset stage of T1D show upregulation of MHC class I and II, as well as adhesion molecules, on the islet ECs [105]. Recently, a novel therapeutic approach was tested in NOD mice using a mAb that blocks MT1-MMP cleavage of CD44/HA and thereby prevents the transmigration of activated T-cells into the islet, resulting in protection from T1D [171].

### 1.1.3.8 Insulitis

Despite the many studies showing that both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are required for progression of disease to complete beta cell destruction and T1D, the precise role of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in the initiation phase of disease has been controversial.  $\beta$ 2M<sup>-/-</sup> NOD mice, which lack MHC class I expression and CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcells, do not develop insulitis [175]. This work was interpreted to mean that CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are critical for the initiation of insulitis. However, an alternative explanation for the complete lack of insulitis is that protection was conferred by other B6-derived *Idd13*-linked protective genes backcrossed to the NOD with the  $\beta$ 2M deficiency [175-178]. NOD mice lacking  $\beta$ 2M/MHC class I on APCs only, developed a mild peri-islet infiltrate consisting of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells that did not progress to invasive insulitis in the absence of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells [179]. This indicates that CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells initiate peri-insulitis independently of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and subsequently provide help to CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells that can then respond to the earliest beta cell antigens.

It is thought that the earliest autoantigenic target of T-cells is insulin because a high frequency of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell clones isolated from the insulitic lesion of NOD mice react to peptides from insulin. In particular, early insulitic CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells predominantly respond to insulin peptide B:9-23 [180], and CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcells respond to peptide B:15-23 [181]. Replacement of the NOD insulin gene with a mutated insulin gene, encoding alanine at residue 16, protected from T1D, but periductal insulitis persisted around some islets [182]. This suggests that although insulin is an important early AAg recognized by T-cells, there may be upstream AAgs that precede insulin. Whatever the upstream antigens are, clearly the induction of tolerance to insulin is important and blocks the progression of insulitis. NOD mice treated with oral porcine insulin or peptides were protected from T1D [183], and those administered with human insulin developed Treg cells that were also able to transfer this protection [184]. However, unfortunately in none of the clinical trials in which insulin was delivered systemically or orally, was there a delay in onset of T1D compared with untreated control subjects at risk of developing T1D [185, 186]. However, the problem with these trials may have been the route of administration since a recent pilot study using a single intra-muscular injection of insulin with Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant (IFA) in recent onset T1D

patients showed an increase in insulin specific Treg cells two years after treatment [187].

Once initiated by T-cells specific for insulin, islet cell damage ensues with concomitant release of AAgs that results in the activation of an increasingly heterogeneous autoreactive T-cell repertoire. A large number of these AAgs have been defined in NOD mice and have been reviewed extensively elsewhere [188]. It is more difficult to study the expanding heterogeneity of human T-cell responses in T1D due to the low T-cell frequency in peripheral blood and the inaccessibly of islets. However, if we are to design therapeutic intervention strategies that induce tolerance in T-cells of diabetic patients, it is imperative that we identify the human antigenic targets. Currently, there are only three targets, recognized by both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, that have been identified in the NOD mouse and that are also found in human T1D. These include two beta cell antigens, insulin and isletspecific glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit-related protein (IGRP), and a neuroendocrine antigen, glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) [189]. GAD-65 alum has been used to treat new onset T1D patients but failed to show significant improvement in C-peptide levels. Combination therapy with GAD-65 alum and Vitamin-D/ibuprofen are currently in phase -2 clinical trials [190].

## 1.1.4 Balance of immunopathogenesis and regulation

The insulitic lesion of NOD mice includes a number of CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T-cell subsets that have been categorised based to their cytokine production as Th1, Th2, Th17, Th40, Treg, and NKT-cells. On the basis of these subsets, T1D has been considered a Th1-mediated disease, because increased levels of IFN $\gamma$ , and lower levels of IL4 were correlated with beta cell destructive insulitis [191]. Furthermore, induction of a Th2 bias by administration of IL4, and infection with various helminths, confers protection from T1D in NOD mice [192, 193]. However, this

simple categorization of T1D as a Th1-mediated disease was brought into question when IFNy and IFNyR deficient NOD mice remained susceptible [194, 195]. It is now recognized that cytokines are involved in the crosstalk between a greater range of T-cell subsets that control the balance between effector and regulatory immune responses. Th17-cells were identified as a subset of effector T helper cells that differentiate in response to TGF $\beta$ , IL6, and require IL23 for population expansion. They produce mainly IL17A, IL17F, and IL22, which have broad actions on the immune system due to the distribution of the IL17 and IL22 receptors [196]. Th17 cells have been shown to be important for a number of autoimmune diseases, such as asthma and psoriasis, but their role in T1D has only been reported in a few studies and remains controversial. Serum IL17 is elevated in NOD mice and there are reports of increased numbers of Th17-cells in NOD islets [197]. Consistent with their proposed role in disease, the blockade of Th17-cells in NOD mice with mAb against IL17 resulted in reduced insulitis [198]. Conversely, IL17 deficient NOD mice were not protected from T1D [199]. Furthermore, when Th1 and Th17-cells from NOD BDC2.5 mice were independently transferred to NOD scid recipients, those receiving Th1-cells developed more severe disease than those receiving Th17-cells. Interestingly, recipients of Th17-cells were found to have converted to a Th1 phenotype as measured by their production of IFNy suggesting that Th17-cells in NOD mice are not the primary cell type driving pathogenesis [200]. These studies also highlight the plasticity of the different CD4<sup>+</sup> T effector populations involved in a dynamic immune response.

Recently, a highly pathogenic subset of CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T-cells, termed Th40-cells, was identified in the insulitis lesion of NOD mice [201]. In addition to CD40L expressed on all activated T-cells, this subset expresses the CD40 protein itself and produces the proinflammatory cytokines IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL6, and sometimes IL17.

The percentage of Th40 cells in NOD mice correlates with increased insulitis and this population is essential for the transfer of disease to NOD scid recipients [202]. Further adding to the complexity of the dynamic interactions between the different CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T-cell populations, the production of IL6 by Th40 cells can convert Treg cells to Th17-cells in NOD mice. Importantly, Th40 cells have been identified in increased numbers in T1D patients and were found to be reactive to known islet autoantigens [203].

Treg cells are another important subset of effector T helper cells involved in resolution of immune responses and in preventing autoimmunity. Although NOD mice have normal numbers of Treg cells, their ability to regulate pathogenic Tcells is limited [204]. IL2, encoded within the *Idd3* susceptibility loci, is expressed at reduced levels in NOD mice compared to non-autoimmune prone strains and this is correlated with the development of T1D. Since IL2 has an important role in the induction and maintenance of FoxP3-expressing Tregs, it has been proposed that reduced IL2 promotes T1D through an imbalance between Tregs and pathogenic T-cells [205]. Indeed, it has been shown that islet infiltrating Tregs in NOD mice have reduced levels of IL2 receptor (CD25), FoxP3, and Bcl2 as a consequence of reduced IL2 signalling. Consistent with this, administration of low dose IL2 to susceptible NOD mice restored CD25 expression on islet infiltrating Tregs and were protected from T1D [206]. It was also possible to correct the functional defect in Tregs of NOD mice by co-culturing them with cord blood stem cells [207]. This enhancement of Treg function using stem cells has recently been tested in T1D patients and showed promising therapeutic potential [208].

Natural Killer T (NKT) cells are a rare but an important effector T-helper cell subset, expressing an invariant TCR $\alpha$  chain, V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18 in mice and V $\alpha$ 24-J $\alpha$ 18 in humans, and are also important in regulating effector T-cells. In NOD mice, NKT-

cells are severely reduced in number and are functionally deficient with an impaired ability to produce cytokines upon stimulation [209, 210]. Although NKTcells can usually produce large quantities of both IL4 and IFNγ, NKT-cells in NOD mice produce decreased levels of Th2 cytokines, particularly IL4 which may lead to a Th1 bias [211]. The reduced number of NKT-cells correlates with exacerbation of T1D, and reconstitution of NOD mice with normal numbers of NKT-cells prevents T1D [212]. Furthermore, it has been found that the impact of NKT-cells on T1D in NOD mice is not always attributable to cytokine production [211]. NKT-cells may also regulate T1D development through cell to cell contact with conventional T-cells since this has been found to inhibit differentiation and induce anergy of islet reactive T-cells in NOD mice [213]. These findings demonstrate that NKT-cells may influence T1D via multiple non-mutually exclusive mechanisms. However, the significance of NKT-cells in human T1D is yet to be definitively confirmed.

### 1.1.5 Killing of beta cells

Since the infiltration of macrophages within the inflamed islet precedes that of Tcells, it is thought that initial beta cell death may not be antigen specific, instead being mediated by cytokines produced by macrophages. These cytokines include TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$ , and IL1 $\beta$  that bind their respective receptors on beta cells and induce apoptosis of beta cells via STAT1 and NF $\kappa$ B pathways [214]. They can also induce the expression of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as nitric oxide (NO) which initiates DNA strand breakage and activation of poly-ADP ribose polymerase (PARP), causing beta cell apoptosis. Although macrophages are important for initial beta cell damage, they do not kill sufficient numbers of beta cells to cause T1D, since NOD scid mice with functional macrophages, but lacking lymphocytes, do not develop T1D.  $\beta$ -cell abnormalities also contribute to the development of disease progression. Islet cell overexpression of MHC class I [215], beta cell endoplasmic reticulum stress [216] and the abnormalities in the islet extracellular matrix [217] are among the major driving forces that precipitate T1D. A recent study identified that in T1D patients a rare population of cell type exists which expresses both T cell receptor (TCR) and B Cell Receptor (BCR) along with other lineage markers of both B and T cells [218]. These cell types known as DE (dual expressers) encode an antigen capable of activating autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and could be the source of idiotypic autoantigens in T1D.

In addition, Beta cell stress can cause changes in the post translational machinery and results in the formation of new peptides [219]. These neopeptides when presented in a genetically susceptible background has the potential to active the T cells to become pathogenic [220]. HIP or Hybrid Insulin Peptide is a posttranslationally modified CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell epitope and HIP reactive T cells has been identified in NOD mice and humans [221]. The presentation of hybrid peptides containing non-genomically encoded amino acid sequences could trigger an immune response towards the organ that presents.

The events that cause the non-invasive insulitis lesion to become invasive are not understood. However, the mechanisms by which beta cells are killed once this switch occurs have been well defined using NOD mice deficient in beta cell MHC class I, Fas or FasL, perforin or granzyme. After a critical threshold of beta cell antigen has been released by nonspecific killing and presented to islet specific T-cells, they become activated, are recruited to and retained within the islet tissue where they proliferate and contribute to beta cell death [222]. Activated T-cells can kill beta cells through a Fas/FasL pathway. NOD mice deficient for either Fas or FasL are protected from T1D and transfer of wild-type NOD splenocytes into Fas deficient NOD scid mice resulted in delayed T1D [223].

Unlike CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells which cannot kill beta cells in an antigen specific manner, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells recognize upregulated MHC class I on beta cells and can mediate antigen specific beta cell killing [224]. NOD mice lacking beta cell MHC class I expression are largely protected from the development of T1D. This demonstrates that a direct interaction between CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and beta cells is the primary mechanism for antigen-specific beta cell killing [128, 225]. Perforin-deficient NOD mice have a similar reduction in T1D incidence, suggesting that CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcells use the perforin/granzyme cytotoxicity pathway to kill beta cells [226]. Recently the role of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in human T1D was also demonstrated. Islet autoreactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells were identified in focal islet regions from cadaveric T1D donors and this was associated with beta cell destruction [227]. Furthermore, in humans it has been shown that the structural basis of CD8<sup>+</sup> mediated killing of human beta cells is different from other TCR-MHC class I interactions [228]. The TCR of a human autoreactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell was highly peptide-centric in its recognition of MHC class I bearing proinsulin peptide, thus forming a very weak interaction with the MHC molecule itself. This interaction may explain why such autoreactive T-cells escape thymic selection. Based on these important studies implicating T cells in the development of T1D, there have been a number of trials using anti-CD3. Early studies using humanised anti CD3 were promising, with treated patients showing a reduced dependence on insulin over 4 years. However a more recent and large trial using anti-CD3 (Otelixizumab) showed no improvement in C peptide, insulin dependence or HbA1c levels [229].

### **1.1.6 Relevance of NOD mice in current T1D research**

For the past 35 years, the NOD mice model has been extensively used to understand the pathogenesis and to test for therapeutic interventions of T1D [230]. The extensive use of this model in T1D research is because of its pathogenic

similarities that it shares with human T1D. The identified similarities in the pathogenesis of NOD and human T1D is summarised in Table 1

Table 1. Pathogenic similarities in NOD mice compared to Humans

Similarities	Human	NOD
Insulitis	Present	Present
Non- MHC genes	>50 [ <mark>231</mark> , <mark>232]</mark>	>40 [15]
linked		
Shared	Proinsulin, Insulin, Insulin hybrid peptides,	Proinsulin, Insulin, Insulin
Autoantigens	GAD65, ZnT8, IGRP, Phogrin, Chromogranin	hybrid peptides, GAD65,
	A, ICA 69, Islet amyloid polypeptide [233]	ZnT8, IGRP, Phogrin,
		Chromogranin A, ICA 69,
		Islet amyloid polypeptide
		[233]
Autoreactive	Present [233]	Present [233, 234]
CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells		
Autoreactive	Present [233, <mark>235]</mark>	Present [233]
CD8 <sup>+</sup> T cells		
B cells	Likely an important cell type in the	Important in the development
	development of disease because anti CD-20	of disease [237]
	therapy delayed the progression of disease	
	[236]	
Neutrophils	Circulating neutrophils are low in patients with T1D [238-240]	Low in numbers [241]
Onset	Diagnosed usually at young age	3-6 months
Autoimmunity	Spontaneous	Spontaneous
Insulin	Present [242]	Present [243, 244]
Autoantibodies		
Environmental	Present	Present
influence on gene		
penetrance		

Studies in NOD mice over the past few decades have contributed to numerous immunomodulatory therapies and many of them have been tested in humans. Despite the successful protection from T1D seen in NOD mice, there has been limited success with therapeutic interventions in individuals at-risk of T1D and patients. In NOD mice, non-antigen specific therapies including those that target the T-cells using anti-CD3 mAb, B cells using anti-CD20 mAb, and APCs using a soluble CTLA4-Ig showed some protection from T1D. Unfortunately, however, similar therapies showed limited efficacy in humans. Treatment of recently diagnosed T1D patients with Rituximab, a humanised anti-CD20 mAb, resulted in transient preservation of beta cell mass. Although improvement was transient, this therapy holds promise for those at-risk of T1D if administered earlier in the disease process. Genetic screening and earlier diagnosis will be important for opening an earlier therapeutic window of intervention [245, 246].

Antigen specific immune modulation trials in NOD mice, such as those involving insulin, were successful. However, none of the human trials in at-risk children have demonstrated significant efficacy. Explanations that have been proposed for the failure of these trials include the possibility that the route of administration rendered the insulin ineffective, the dose was inadequate to induce tolerance, or alternatively, such an approach may work only in those at-risk individuals that entered the trial prior to the development of activated T-cells and insulin AAbs [185, 186]. Preclinical studies in NOD mice using a combination of murine anti-thymocyte globulin and granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (ATG/GCSF) demonstrated that ATG has the potential to deplete pathogenic T cells and GCSF promotes Tregs [247]. Based on these observations in NOD mice, clinical trials conducted in new-onset T1D patients showed that administration of low dose ATG preserves C-Peptide, reduces HbA1c, and increases Tregs [248].

Combinational therapies (CTs) that suppress T-cell activation and enhance tolerance have also been successful in NOD mice. A recent pilot study using CT in T1D patients involved the use of Rapamycin to supress effector T-cell proliferation in combination with IL2 to induce the formation of Tregs. Although this approach did promote an increase in Tregs, unfortunately none of the treated patients showed an increase in preserved beta cell mass [249]. Using the knowledge gained from NOD, immune interventions have been trialled in humans and have successfully delayed the loss of insulin production in T1D patients [250]. These interventions using teplizumab an anti CD3 antibody, were not only useful in T1D patients, but also delayed progression to clinical diabetes in relatives at risk of developing the disease [251].

Another innovative therapeutic approach that has been successfully tested in NOD mice is the use of immature DCs to induce tolerance [252]. This approach involves the ex-vivo engineering of NOD DCs with antisense oligodeoxyribonucleotides (AS-ODN) to inhibit the expression of CD80/86. After transfer back into NOD mice these immature DCs migrated to the pLN and induced tolerance to beta cell Ags. Clinical trials using engineered DCs have now been initiated and support the on-going investigation of this approach for treatment of at risk individuals in further trials [253]. One of the most recent and exiting therapeutic approaches, currently in Phase I clinical trials, is known as stem cell educator (SCE) therapy. This approach originated from NOD mouse studies in which splenocytes were cultured with human cord blood stem cells. Tregs cultured in this way showed an increase in the CD4<sup>+</sup> CD62L<sup>+</sup> subpopulation and were able to suppress T1D in NOD recipients [254].

One of the major challenges faced when using NOD mice for experimental studies is the lack of non-invasive methods to directly visualise the initiation and progression of islet attack. Since individual NOD mice within a cohort vary in the penetrance of disease development, a non-invasive method that helped to sort mice that should or should not go on to develop diabetes has been developed by Wenxian Fu et.al [255]. Using the principle of Magnetic Resonance Imaging of magnetic nanoparticles Wenxian Fu showed that it is possible to distinguish genetically and environmentally matched NOD mice that progress or do not progress to diabetes. This technique can now be extrapolated to predict the development of disease in humans at risk.

In summary, the NOD mouse has been extensively studied and has informed much of the current understanding of the immunopathogenesis of T1D. There are many similarities in the genetics and immunopathogenic mechanisms that lead to T1D in NOD mice and humans. Understanding these pathways has given us insight into a number of potential therapeutic avenues that are currently being trialled (Table 2).

# Table 2 Summary of Clinical outcomes for T1D patients based on NOD mouse studies

Lessons from NOD mice	Potential relevance to	Clinical significance
	human T1D	
Role of Environmental         • Vitamin D protects         from T1D in NOD         [55, 56, 256].	<ul> <li>Reduced incidence of T1D in equatorial regions of high sunlight.</li> <li>UV-B is essential for the synthesis of Vitamin D.</li> <li>Vitamin D has anti- inflammatory effects.</li> </ul>	• Vitamin D supplementation: at birth protected from T1D; in recent onset T1D had no significant protection [62, 63, 257].

NOD [69].	<ul> <li>groups with a culture of increased fish consumption.</li> <li>Omega 3 fatty acids are anti-inflammatory.</li> </ul>	and their HLA higher T1D risk babies efficacy not yet known [70]. Trials on-going [258].
• Probiotics protect from T1D in NOD [74].	• Higher T1D incidence associated with higher standard of living, hygiene and antibiotic use.	<ul> <li>Probiotic supplementation administered to at risk children (PRODIA study) established safety. Efficacy not yet known [98].</li> </ul>

Omega 3 supplementation: in genetically susceptible

children reduced T1D incidence; in pregnant mothers

• Reduced incidence

of T1D in ethnic

• Omega 3 fatty acids

protect from T1D in

# Role of Cytokine/Cytokine

### receptors

- Macrophage
   production of TNF α
   and IL-1β are directly
   beta cell toxic in NOD
   mice [113].
- Macrophages
   present in
   pancreatic samples
   of cadaveric T1D
   patients [259].
- Recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonists (Anakinra & Kineret): in recent onset T1D children no change in proinflammatory cytokine gene expression, insulin secretory capacity, or HbA1c levels. Lower insulin requirements were reported up to 4 months post treatment [117].
- TNF antagonist (Etanerncept, Infliximab and Adalimumab): in recent onset T1D children reduced HbA1c and increased insulin production at 24 weeks post treatment [117].

Role of dendritic cells		
<ul> <li>Defective DC maturation in NOD [118].</li> <li>Increased NFkB activation in myeloid DCs of NOD [119, 260].</li> <li>Increased IL-12 production by NOD DCs [119].</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>DCs control tolerance vs activation of T cells.</li> <li>Increased NFkB activation in myeloid DCs of T1D patients [120].</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Autologous DCs, manipulated to reduce co- stimulatory ability and promote tolerance, given to T1D patients and at risk individuals. Safety established. Efficacy not yet known [253]. Trial on-going [261].</li> </ul>
Role of co-stimulation		
• Reduced expression of co-stimulation inhibitory molecule	• Reduced expression of soluble CTLA-4	• CTLA-4 Ig fusion protein co-stimulation blockade (Abatacept): in recent onset T1D patients resulted in

liCTLA-4 in NOD	in human T1D [35].	initial improvement in C peptide levels. No
[35].		preservation of beta cell mass after 2 years [166].
• Over expression of		Currently in Phase II phase of the clinical trial.
liCTLA-4 reduced		Expected completion date in 2026. Clinical trial
T1D incidence in		number NCT03929601.
NOD [165].		
• Early treatment with		
CTLA-4 Ig protected		
from T1D [164].		
<ul> <li>Reduced expression of inhibitory molecule PD-L1 [167].</li> </ul>	• Reduced expression of PD-1 on T cells in human T1D	
	[168].	
• Higher expression of		
ICOS [262].		

## Role of beta cell antigens

(pro)Insulin

- Transgenic NOD mice overexpressing proinsulin in the thymus were protected from T1D suggesting the role of thymic expression of insulin in maintaining tolerance [152].
- Transgenic NOD mice expressing mutated proinsulin (lacking immunogenic peptide) were protected from T1D [182].
- Polymorphism in human insulin
   promoter associated
   with lower thymic
   proinsulin
   expression, loss of
   tolerance to insulin
   and T1D [153].

 Insulin autoantibodies present in human T1D[263].

- Attempts to induce tolerance to insulin with:
- Intra-nasal delivery:

In autoantibody positive individuals had some increase in antibody and decrease in T cell responses to insulin [264]. Clinical trial number NCT00336674. Expected to complete in December 2019. No results posted yet.

- <u>Oral delivery</u>: in recent onset T1D patients had no improvement in C peptide secretion or IgG insulin antibodies, and accelerated beta cell loss in some treated patients [265-267].
- <u>Intra muscular delivery with IFA adjuvant</u>: in recent onset T1D patients had some increased insulin specific Treg cell at 2 years post treatment [187, 268].

• Insulin autoantibodies	• T cell responses	
precede T1D in NOD	against insulin in	
[263].	human T1D[263].	
• T cell responses against insulin present in NOD[263].		
GAD65		
• GAD65	• GAD65	• Attempts to induce tolerance to GAD65/Alum with:
autoantibodies present	autoantibodies	• <u>Subcutaneous delivery</u> :
in NOD [263].	present in human	In recent onset T1D patients had no significant
	T1D.	improvement in C peptide levels [269]. Combination
		therapy with Vitamin-D and ibuprofen currently in
		phase 2 trials. Another clinicai trial of intralymphatic
		administration of GAD alum in T1D patients is also
		progressing NCT02352974 [270].

## Role of T cells

- Autoreactive T cells present in insulitis lesion of NOD [129].
- Autoreactive T cells transfer disease to NOD scid [131].
- CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are the primary mediators of beta cell killing in NOD [177].
- Intravenous treatment of anti CD3 protected from T1D in NOD [148].

• Autoreactive T cells present in T1D patients.

- CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells present in islets of cadaveric T1D patients [259].
- Anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody in recent onset T1D patients and at risk individuals reduced dependence on insulin over 4 years [273]. However a recent large trial (Otelixizumab) showed no efficacy in terms of C-peptide, insulin dependence and HbA1c [274]. However, Teplizumab an anti-CD3 antibody delayed progression to clinical T1D in individuals that are at high-risk [275].

Oral antiCD3		
reversed T1D in		
NOD [271].		
• Combined treatment		
of anti CD3 with IL-		
1RA causes		
synergistic reversal		
of T1D in NOD		
[272].		
Role of B cells		
• B cells present in	• B cells present in	• Anti-CD20 (Rituximab): in recent onset T1D patients
insulitic lesion of	pancreatic samples	had improved HbA1c and insulin dependence at 1
NOD [129].	of cadaveric T1D	year. However depressed IgM levels indicate B cell
	patients [277].	immunosuppression [245, 278].
• Antibodies against	• Antibodies against	
beta cell antigens	beta cell antigens	
present in NOD [263].	present in human	
	T1D.	

• B cell deficient NOD		
mice were protected		
from T1D [134].		
• Anti CD20 depletion		
of B cells protected		
from T1D [276].		
Role of Tregs		
<ul> <li>Lower levels of IL-2 in NOD [279].</li> <li>Tregs have reduced levels of IL-2R and FoxP3 expression in NOD.</li> </ul>	• Polymorphism in IL2RA causing diminished IL-2 response in Treg from human T1D [280].	<ul> <li>Stem Cell Educator (SCE) to promote Treg development. Autologous lymphocytes co-cultured with cord blood stem cells (CB-SC) given to T1D patients improved C-peptide, HbA1c and insulin dependence at 40 weeks post treatment [254, 281- 283].</li> </ul>

Though the exact pathogenesis of T1D is still not clear, it is well documented that immune mediated destruction of the islets is well-orchestrated by multiple players of the innate and adaptive arm of the immune system. Among the different types of immune cells that infiltrated the human islets, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were more predominant when compared to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, B cells and Dendritic cells [284, 285]. T cell autoreactive responses to diverse islet derived and non-islet antigens have been identified in humans with T1D [285]. In addition, the physiological condition of beta cells along with dietary components and microbes also play a crucial role in the development of disease [286, 287].

By using NOD, we learned a lot about the genetics and the pathogenesis of human T1D [288], but the failures in translating successful therapies in NOD to humans has challenged the relevance of using this model for therapeutic interventions. Observations in NOD mice may not be the same in humans. For instance, the presence of beta cell autoantibodies is a strong indicative of ongoing autoimmune response in NOD mice but similar presence in humans do not imply an ongoing autoimmune attack. Autoantigen specific T cells such as the Chromogranin A specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, insulin and IGRP specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are able to transfer diabetes in NOD SCID mice but circulating insulin antigen-specific autoreactive T cells alone is not sufficient to cause insulitis or T1D in humans [289]. Above all in NOD mice insulin is believed to be the initiating antigen but in humans there are several initiating antigens and the pattern of insulitis in NOD mice is more severe when compared to humans with T1D [290-292]. In humans since multiple antigens located in diverse tissues are involved in the development of disease, it is not possible to ascertain whether one immune response is more predominant and pathogenic than the other. This is not the case with NOD mice, as it has been shown that NOD mice lacking the native insulin gene but replaced with a mutated

insulin gene were completely protected from insulitis and disease development [293]. Using intervention therapies disease progression has been successfully delayed/ reversed in NOD mice but successful intervention therapies in NOD mice have failed to translate in clinical trials [294]. Despite these differences and unsuccessful clinical trials, there is no animal model, other than the NOD mice, that develops spontaneous autoimmunity and T1D in a similar way as in humans [230].

Because of the differences in humans and animals, successful therapeutic interventions in animals may not always translate efficiently in humans. Based on the outcome of unsuccessful clinical trials, we cannot rule out the use of animals from medical research. Animal studies are an absolute requirement prior to any clinical trial. This is because in human trials, multiple parameters cannot be controlled at the same time due to the heterogenicity of the population but, these parameters can be controlled in inbred mice strains and the results are often reproducible at different geographical locations. The major advantages of using animal models in medical research is summarised in Table 3.

Study	Humans	NOD mice
Multiple intervention studies	Due to ethical reasons, multiple intervention studies cannot be performed	Can be performed
Lymphocyte study	Easy access to lymphocytes are limited to peripheral blood sample	Invasive studies can be performed and lymphocytes in tissues can be accessed

Table 3. Importance of the use of animals is medical research

Access to pancreatic	Pancreatic organ	Easy to obtain
samples	donors/autopsy	
Multi-centre study	Heterogenous population and	NOD colonies are inbred
	therefore results obtained from	and therefore variations in
	different study centres may	results can be controlled.
	vary	
Genetic Mutation	Limited	Genetic studies can be
studies		explored using transgenic
		and knockout technologies
Diet and	Cannot be controlled	Restricted diet and
environmental studies		environmental parameters
		can be controlled by
		maintaining in SPF
Cost	Expensive	Relatively cheap
Detecting rare T1D	Require more affected patient	Though large numbers
susceptibility alleles	samples and practically	required, it is practically
	impossible to get the required	possible
	sample numbers.	

To minimise the differences in results observed in mice and in human trails, we should mimic the human system in mice. This raises the need for the using humanised NOD to understand the pathogenesis of T1D [295, 296]. When Shulian Tan used humanised NOD mice with engineered CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells recognising insulin B:9-23, beta cell destruction was not observed until challenged with Streptozotocin (STZ) or by immunisation with InsB:9-23 peptide/CFA. This clearly shows that circulating insulin reactive T cells alone was not sufficient to cause disease in an environment that mimics humans. This also suggests that there may be other

autoantigens either upstream or along with insulin that are required to cause beta cell destruction and hyperglycaemia [297]. Using humanised NOD mice and by looking over the wall of pancreas to identify the initiating autoantigen/s should be our next approach to find therapies in T1D. Nevertheless, despite the failure of few clinical trials, NOD mice remains as the standout model for exploring the early and late stage pathogenesis of T1D [298].

Antigen and non-antigen specific immunomodulatory trials have attempted in both humans and in NOD mice. Despite several studies and clinical trials, there exists no single treatment either to halt the disease progression or prevent the disease development. Over the past 2 decades of T1D research, we have understood multiple factors contributing to the development of disease. This include genetic polymorphisms, defects in central and peripheral tolerance, beta cell phenotype, autoantigens, autoantibodies, environmental factors such as vitamin D and cow's milk, maternal antibodies, dietary gluten and much more [299]. We have extrapolated our knowledge we got from NOD mice to clinical trials in humans [300, 301]. Despite all our trails, we still have not achieved either a complete cure from T1D or an effective method in preventing the development of disease. Genetic vaccinations and gene therapy [301] are of possible hope to treat T1D but as prevention is always better than cure, identifying the initiating autoantigen in T1D is of prime importance. The work described here uses the NOD mouse as the animal model to understand the role of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I in the pathogenesis of T1D.

#### **1.2 Rationale of study**

Immune cells bearing receptors for self-antigens escape the central and peripheral tolerance mechanisms to become pathogenic and intrude the islets [302]. The chemokines, along with the beta cell antigens presented by CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells facilitate the initial entry of auto reactive T cells into the islet milieu [303]. The initial infiltration, followed by a series of stochastic events, results in the selective killing of beta cells of the pancreas through MHC class I dependent process [304]. Both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells play their respective role in beta cell destruction. Indeed, it has been shown that continuous support from CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is required by the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to maintain their cytotoxic strength and to cause beta cell destruction and disease progression [305]. In the past, there were studies which show that diabetes can be induced on a NOD SCID background by using T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic mice (BDC2.5/NOD SCID) and without the help of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells [306, 307]. These transgenic mice differ from traditional NOD and more than 90% of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in these mice recognise the  $\beta$  cell protein chromogranin A. The T cell repertoire is skewed in favour of the transgene-encoded specificity and more over beta cell apoptosis seen in TCR transgenic NOD SCID mice was induced by Fas/Fas-L or TNF- $\alpha$ /TNF- $\alpha$ R or by IL-1/inducible nitric oxide synthase pathways. When low dose CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from BDC2.5 transgenic mice were adoptively transferred to adult NOD SCID mice they were unable to transfer diabetes or insulitis without the co-transfer of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. These findings demonstrate that on a NOD background, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are required for the final stages of beta cell damage but, in a TCR transgenic environment, where autoantigen specific T cells are present relatively in high abundance, beta cell death can occur by other alternative route that does not require the help of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells will occur.

It has been thought that autoantigens expressed by beta cells are the initial targets for autoreactive T cells and by preventing the autoantigen presentation by beta cells; it may be possible to stop the immune infiltration into the islet milieu. A pioneering study conducted by the Slattery lab demonstrated that even in the absence of presentation of beta cell autoantigens, autoreactive cells continued to infiltrate into the islets [179, 308]. This entry of immune cells into pancreatic islets and associated tissue suggested that, autoantigens expressed by cells other than the pancreatic beta cells are also important in the development of insulitis in NOD mice. Careful analysis of pancreata from NOD mice lacking MHC class I on beta cells, revealed that, early immune infiltrates did not home towards the islets but instead they accumulated near the pancreatic ducts [179].

Pancreatic ducts are physiologically close to the beta cells and their main function is to deliver enzymes into the duodenum and also secrete bicarbonate to maintain the duodenal pH [309]. In addition to their role in supporting digestion, ductal cells are also identified as the progenitors for beta cells and as such they share similar antigens with islet beta cells [310, 311]. The presence of ductal infiltrates seen in NOD mice lacking MHC class I on beta cells, suggests that the early development of insulitis precedes the involvement of islet beta cells. It is likely that ductal cell autoantigens are chronologically ahead to beta cell autoantigens for the autoreactive attack. This is because pancreatic ductal cell infiltrates were also noted in genetically modified NOD mice lacking native insulin [312] and ductal cells are the progenitors for beta cells [313, 314].

Pancreatic ductal cells express numerous autoantigens including the cytoskeletal Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP). GFAP is the classical marker for the glial cells of the central and peripheral nervous system and autoreactivity to GFAP expressing peri-islet Schwann cells (pSCs) of the pancreas has been reported in

NOD mice as early as three weeks of age [315]. It may be quite surprising that, in addition to the beta cells of the pancreas, auto reactivity to antigens expressed in distal tissues, including salivary glands, thyroid and cells of the neuronal glia has also been reported in NOD mice [316-320]. The importance of autoantigens expressed in the tissues distal to islets is gaining interest and the broken tolerance to autoantigen/s expressed in anatomically distal sites to the pancreas may possibly culminate into beta cell autoreactivity.

The immune infiltrates accumulating near the pancreatic ducts may cause damage to these cell types resulting in the release of numerous antigens that are shared with beta cells. Though there is no direct evidence showing the destruction of GFAP expressing ductal cells during the pathogenesis of T1D, studies conducted by Michael Dosch et al. have shown that GFAP expressing glial cells that encapsulate the islets are killed even before the beta cells [315, 321]. GFAP is now an identified autoantigen in T1D and serum autoantibodies to GFAP is a novel biomarker for predicting T1D in humans [322]. It is fascinating that a cytoskeletal protein widely expressed in the glial cells of the central and peripheral nervous system is also an early autoantigen in T1D.

GFAP expressing cell types especially the pre-beta ductal cells may be the earliest target for autoreactive T cells and by ablating the self-antigens presented by the ductal cells, we may be able prevent the immune infiltration into the islets and associated tissue.

## 1.2.1 Hypothesis

MHC class I expression in GFAP positive cells of the pancreas is essential for the development of invasive insulitis in NOD mice.

## 1.2.2 Aim

To determine the role of MHC class I expression on GFAP<sup>+</sup> ductal cells of the pancreas in the development of invasive insulitis in NOD mice.

# 2. Materials

- 2.1 Buffers and Solutions
- 2.1.1 Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane acetate (TAE) buffer (50X stock)
  - 242g Tris Base
  - 57mL Glacial Acid (100% acetic acid)
  - 100mL Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) 0.5M pH8
  - Make up to 1L with Milli Q water
- 2.1.2 Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS, 10X stock)
  - 2g KCl
  - 2g KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>
  - 80g NaCl
  - 14.3g Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>
  - Make up to 1L with Milli Q water

2.1.3 Ear Punch Buffer (1X)

- 50mM TrisHCl pH8 (12.5mL of 2M)
- 100mM NaCl (2.92g)
- 100mM EDTA (100mL of 0.5M)
- 1% SDS (5g)
- Make up with Milli Q water (total of 500mL)
- 2.1.4 HANKS + 2% fetal calf serum (FCS)
  - 500mL HANKS buffer
  - 10mL heat inactivated FCS
• Filter to sterilize

#### 2.1.5 FACS buffer

- 500mL PBS
- 2.5g BSA
- 2mL EDTA (stock 0.5M)

#### 2.2 Equipment

- Flow cytometer (BD LSRII, Fortessa and BD FACS Calibur)
- Fluorescent microscope (Olympus BX61)
- Cryostat (Leica)
- Centrifuge (Eppendorf)

#### 2.3 Mice used

 Table 4 Mice strains

Mice strain	Genotype	Description
NOD	Wild Type	Non Obese Diabetic
		mice. These mice
		spontaneously develop
		diabetes (T1D).
NOD EYFP	NOD EYFP <sup>+/+</sup>	Mice have a lox P
		flanked stop sequence
		followed by the
		Enhanced Yellow
		Fluorescent Protein

		(EYFP) gene inserted
		into the ROSA 26 locus.
		When NOD EYFP mice
		are bred to mice
		expressing the cre
		recombinase protein, the
		stop sequence is deleted
		and EYFP expression is
		visible in tissues of
		double mutant offspring.
NOD β2M Knock out	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup>	Mice lack MHC class I
		on all cell types and
		these mice do not
		develop diabetes
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type $\beta$ 2M gene
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type β2M gene is replaced with a floxed
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type $\beta 2M$ gene is replaced with a floxed $\beta 2M^a$ gene as described
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type $\beta$ 2M gene is replaced with a floxed $\beta$ 2M <sup>a</sup> gene as described by Hamilton et al. [48].
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type β2M gene is replaced with a floxed β2M <sup>a</sup> gene as described by Hamilton et al. [48]. These mice are MHC
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type β2M gene is replaced with a floxed β2M <sup>a</sup> gene as described by Hamilton et al. [48]. These mice are MHC class I sufficient and
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type β2M geneis replaced with a floxedβ2M <sup>a</sup> gene as describedby Hamilton et al. [48].These mice are MHCclass I sufficient anddevelopspontaneous
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type $\beta$ 2M gene is replaced with a floxed $\beta$ 2M <sup>a</sup> gene as described by Hamilton et al. [48]. These mice are MHC class I sufficient and develop spontaneous diabetes.
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup>	The wild type β2M geneis replaced with a floxedβ2Ma gene as describedby Hamilton et al. [48].These mice are MHCclass I sufficient anddevelop spontaneousdiabetes.
NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	NOD β2M <sup>-/-</sup> flβ2M <sup>a+/-</sup> NOD GFAPcre+/-	The wild type β2M geneis replaced with a floxedβ2Ma gene as describedby Hamilton et al. [48].These mice are MHCclass I sufficient anddevelop spontaneousdiabetes.Hemizygous GFAPcremice express cre

		control of human GFAP
		promoter.
Class I GFAP bald	NOD GFAPcre β2M <sup>-/-</sup>	In these mice, wild type
	$fl\beta 2M^{a+/-}$	$\beta 2M$ gene is replaced
		with a floxed $\beta 2M^a$ gene
		and expression of cre is
		under the control of
		human GFAP promoter.
		Cre mediated
		recombination and
		thereby loss of MHC
		class I expression occurs
		in cells expressing
		GFAP.
Class I CAII bald	NOD CAIIcre β2M <sup>-/-</sup>	In these mice, wild type
	flβ2M <sup>a</sup>	$\beta 2M$ gene is replaced
		with a floxed $\beta 2M^a$ gene
		and expression of cre is
		under the control of
		human Carbonic
		anhydrase II promoter.
		Cre mediated
		recombination and
		thereby loss of MHC
		class I expression occurs

		in cells expressing CAII.
Reporter mice	NOD GFAPcre <sup>+</sup> EYFP <sup>+</sup>	Generated by crossing
		NOD EYFP mice to
		NOD GFAP mice. In
		these mutant mice, the
		cre is expressed in GFAP
		expressing cells. EYFP is
		detected in tissues where
		cre mediated
		recombination has
		removed the floxed stop
		codon from the ROSA
		26 locus.

#### 2.4 Methods

To understand the role of MHC class I on the ductal cells of the pancreas, Ductal tissue specific knockout mice were generated in two parallel ways. Cre–lox technology was used to generate knockouts in both the approaches [323, 324]. In the first approach, we purchased the desired mice, GFAPcre, which expresses cre in the ductal cells of pancreas, from commercially available sources. Commercially available GFAPcre mice were on FVB background and we backcrossed to NOD to generate NOD GFAPcre mice. In the second approach, we generated our NOD CAIIcre mice that express cre in ductal cells of the pancreas, by microinjection. To create ductal tissue specific MHC class I knockout mice, systematic mating pattern was followed for both mice strains that express cre (GFAPcre and CAIIcre).

Though the promotors which drive cre are different, it is well established that both carbonic anhydrase II (CAII) and GFAP are expressed in the ductal cells of the pancreas, therefore when crossed to a mice carrying floxed  $\beta$ 2M gene, ductal tissue specific deletion of  $\beta$ 2M occurs and MHC class I expression is restricted in those ductal tissues which express cre. The detailed descriptions on the making of both strains are mentioned below.

#### 2.4.1 Generation of tissue specific knockout mice using cre-lox technology

#### 2.4.1.1 Generation of NOD GFAPcre mice

Our aim was to develop a NOD mice that lack MHC class I expression on the ductal cells of the pancreas. Cre-lox recombination technology was used to generate tissue specific MHC class I knockout mice. Causing recombinase (cre) is a protein that recognises specific DNA sequences called loxP sites (Locus of Xover P1). Binding of the cre protein to specific lox P sites, causes the recombination of the DNA resulting in deletion of the gene of interest placed in between the lox P sequences. Two different strains of mice were used to create tissue specific knockouts. In the first mice strain the expression of cre recombinase was under the control of a tissue specific promoter. In our case, we used the GFAP promoter to drive the cre expression in ductal tissues. In the second mice strain, our gene of interest  $\beta$ 2Ma, the essential molecule for MHC class I expression, was placed in between specific sequences called loxP sites (floxed \beta2Ma). F1 generation of the cross between the GFAPcre mice and the floxed  $\beta$ 2Ma mice created our experimental mice in which cre mediated recombination occurred in GFAP expressing cell types. A schematic representation for the generation of tissue specific knockout mice is mentioned in Figure 1.

#### Making of NOD GFAPcre.flβ2Ma mice



Figure 1 Showing the breeding pattern for generating NOD mice lacking MHC class I on GFAP expressing cells of the pancreas (Class I GFAP bald mice).

We used FVB-Tg(GFAP-cre)25Mes/J (Stock number 004600) from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, US) and backcrossed onto NOD/Lt for at least 10 generations. The generated NOD GFAPcre mice express cre recombinase under the control of human GFAP promoter. Hemizygous transgenic mice were identified by Polymerised Chain Reaction (PCR) based strategy using primers oIMR 1900 and oIMR 1901 as mentioned in Table 5 [325].

#### 2.4.1.2 Generation of NOD GFAPcre.flp2Ma mice (Class I GFAP bald mice)

NOD GFAPcre mice had the wild type  $\beta$ 2M in their genomic DNA. To remove the endogenous  $\beta$ 2M expression and to replace it with a floxed  $\beta$ 2Ma gene we crossed

the NOD GFAPcre mice to NOD  $\beta$ 2M knockout mice and generated the NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup> $\beta$ 2M<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Later NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup> $\beta$ 2M<sup>-/-</sup> mice were then crossed to NOD.fl $\beta$ 2Ma mice carrying a floxed  $\beta$ 2Ma transgene [326, 327]. The offspring of the cross between NOD GFAPcre mice on a  $\beta$ 2M knockout background (NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup> $\beta$ 2M<sup>-/-</sup>) and NOD.fl $\beta$ 2Ma generated the tissue specific class I GFAP bald knockout mice (Figure 1). Class I GFAP bald mice were expected to have normal MHC class I expression in all the cell types except in cells that express GFAP. Hemizygous mice were identified by PCR based strategy using primers specific for cre and floxed  $\beta$ 2Ma as mentioned in Table 5.

#### 2.4.1.3 Generation of NOD CAIIcre mice

The background of the mice strain plays a significant role in the development of insulitis. Since our NOD GFAPcre mice originated from FVB background, it is possible that some of the FVB-derived genomic interval may still be present in the NOD GFAPcre mice. These hitchhiking FVB elements may contribute to an undesired phenotype that may prevent the development of insulitis. As a backup plan we also created another NOD mice strain in which the cre recombinase was driven by a ductal cell specific promotor carbonic anhydrase II (CAII) [328].

CAIIcre mice were generated before my commencement of my PhD candidature. CAIIcre transgene as described in Figure 2 were microinjected into NOD zygotes and two transgene positive founder animals were screened by PCR. Hemizygous transgenic mice were identified by PCR based strategy using primers specific for cre and CAII as mentioned in Table 5. In the beginning of my PhD candidature the NOD CAIIcre founder 1 were at generation 3 and NOD CAIIcre founder 2 were at generation 2 respectively.



Figure 2 CAIIcre transgene construct- cre sequence is driven under the control of human carbonic anhydrase II promoter.

#### 2.4.1.4 NOD CAIIcre mice breeding strategies

At different generations, both CAIIcre transgenic founders were bred to NOD EYFP (Enhanced Yellow Fluorescent Protein) mice to determine the pattern of cre expression. This was important to understand the penetrance of cre. Simultaneously the NOD CAIIcre mice were also crossed to NOD  $\beta 2M^{-/-}$  mice to make the transgene positive NOD mice on a  $\beta 2M$  knockout background (NOD CAIIcre<sup>+</sup> $\beta 2M^{-/-}$ ). The complete breeding strategy for founder1 and founder 2 is depicted in Figure 3 and Figure 4.

Figure 3 Genogram showing the breeding pattern for CAIIcre founder 1





#### 2.4.1.5 Generation of NOD CAIIcre.flβ2Ma mice (Class I CAII bald mice)

NOD CAIIcre<sup>+</sup> $\beta$ 2M<sup>-/-</sup> mice were later crossed to NOD.fl $\beta$ 2Ma mice carrying a floxed  $\beta$ 2Ma transgene to generate NOD CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>  $\beta$ 2M<sup>-/-</sup> fl $\beta$ 2Ma<sup>+</sup> mice (Class I CAII bald). Hemizygous mice were identified by PCR based strategy using primers specific for cre and floxed  $\beta$ 2Ma as mentioned in Table 5.

## 2.4.2 Generation of reporter mice (NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup> EYFP<sup>+</sup>/ NOD CAIIcre<sup>+</sup> EYFP<sup>+</sup>)

To determine the pattern of cre expression in both GFAP driven cre and in CAIIcre transgenic mice, these mice were crossed to NOD EYFP mice to generate the NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>/NODCAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> reporter mice.

C57BL/6Gt(ROSA)26Sor.EYFP mice (gift by Dr. David Izon at St Vincent's Institute for Medical Research, Melbourne, Australia) carries a loxP-flanked STOP sequence followed by the Enhanced Yellow Fluorescent Protein (EYFP) gene [329]. C57BL/6.Gt(ROSA)26Sor.EYFP mice were backcrossed to NOD/Lt for at least 10 generations. Crossing the mutant NOD EYFP mice to NOD GFAPcre mice generated NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice, and by crossing with NOD CAIIcre mice generated NOD CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice. Both these reporter mice were used to check the pattern of cre expression in NOD GFAPcre and NOD CAIIcre mice respectively. The presence of EYFP transgene was identified by PCR based strategy using primers ROSA 1, ROSA 2 and ROSA 3 as mentioned in Table 5. ROSA 1 and ROSA 3 primer sets generate 600 bp product identified as wild type mice while ROSA 1 and ROSA 2 primer sets generate 300 bp product identified as mutant mice.

#### 2.5 Mice Genotyping

Mice strains used in this project were genotyped three weeks after birth by PCR. Trained technicians at the Monash animal facility and at the Precinct Animal Centre (PAC) provided mouse ear punches for DNA extraction. All animal experiments performed throughout this project were approved by the animal ethics committee of AMREP.

#### 2.6 Isolation of DNA from ear punch

2-3 millimetres length of ear punches were immersed in a  $20\mu$ l proteinase K solution and kept for overnight incubation in a water bath at 55<sup>o</sup>C. After overnight incubation, the samples were vortexed and later diluted with 380µl of Milli Q water and stored at 4<sup>o</sup>C until used for the PCR

#### 2.7 Preparing the Master Mix for PCR

Reagents kept at -20<sup>o</sup>C were thawed and vortexed before they were used to make the master mix. The concentrations of the components of the master mix for different types of PCR are mentioned in Table 7 to Table 11. PCR cycle steps for different types of PCR are mentioned in Table 6.

#### 2.8 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis

Agarose gel electrophoresis was used to separate the products of PCR amplification. Gels were made by dissolving molecular biology grade agarose in 100 ml of 1X TAE buffer by microwaving. Following microwaving the molten TAE buffer was cooled until it was warm and 1 $\mu$ l of ethidium bromide (10mg/ml) was added before pouring onto the gel casting unit. The number of combs inserted varied according to sample number and usually range from 30-60 samples per strain. The gel along with the inserted combs was allowed to sit until the gel

solidifies. Following solidification the gel was transferred to electrophoresis unit filled with 1X TAE buffer. Combs were carefully taken out and samples to be analysed were mixed with 2µl loading dye and loaded onto wells. Electrophoresis was performed at 100 volts for 50 minutes. For visualising the products in the gel, the gel was removed from the tank and viewed under UV light in a gel documenting unit (Bio-Rad).

cre PCR: F primer Ins90	5' CGA GCT CGA GCC TGC CTA TCT TTC
cre PCR: R primer Ins91	5' CGG GAT CCT AGT TGC AGT AGT TCT
cre PCR: F primer creS1	5' TGC CAA GAA CCT GAT GGA CA 3'
cre PCR: R primer creAS4	5' TGC TAA CCA GCA TTT TCG TTC TGC
CAII PCR CAIIS1	5' AGA GAC CAC AGA ACC GAA CTC CTT
CAII PCR CAIIAS1	5' GCC AGC CAG CAT TAT GAC ATT TG
β <sub>2</sub> M PCR: F1 primer	5' AGG GGT AAT TGC TCA GCT CTC 3'
# 3 $\beta$ 2M intron A	
$\beta_2 M$ PCR: F2 primer Neo	5' TCT GGA CGA AGA GCA TCA GGG 3'
Forward	
$\beta_2 M$ PCR: R primer $\beta_2 M$ exon	5' CAG TAG ACG GTC TTG GGC TC 3'
oIMR1900 F primer	5' ACT CCT TCA TAA AGC CCT 3'
oIMR1901 R primer	5' ATC ACT CGT TGC ATC GAC CG 3'
ROSA 1	5' AAA GTC GCT CTG AGT TGT TAT 3'
ROSA 2	5' GCG AAG AGT TTG TCC TCA ACC 3'
ROSA 3	5' GGA GCG GGA GAAA TGG ATA TG 3'

Table 6 PCR cycles (Minutes (m), Seconds (
--

	C DCD	00 DCD		CE + D
CAII PCR	Cre PCR	β2m PCR	EYFP PCR	GFAPcre
				5.05
				PCR
94 <sup>o</sup> C for 2 m	94 <sup>o</sup> C for 3 m	$94^{\circ}$ C for 3 m	$94^{\circ}$ C for 6 m	$94^{\circ}$ C for 2 m
94 <sup>°</sup> C for 30 s	94°C for 30 s	94 <sup>°</sup> C for 15 s	94°C for 30 s	94°C for 30 s
610C for 20 c	$62^{0}C$ for 20 a	$62^{0}$ C for 20 c	56 <sup>0</sup> C for 50 a	520C for 50 a
01°C 10° 50 S	62°C 10° 50 s	62°C 10° 50 S	50°C 10° 50 S	52°C 10r 50 s
$72^{\circ}$ C for 30 s	72 <sup>°</sup> C for 45 s	$72^{\circ}$ C for 30 s	72°C for 2 m	$72^{\circ}$ C for 40 s
cycles 36	cycles 39	cycles 35	cycles 34	cycles 36
$72^{\circ}$ C for 8 m	$72^{0}$ C for 5 m	$72^{0}$ C for 5 m	$72^{\circ}$ C for 5 m	$72^{\circ}$ C for 5 m
72 C 101 C III		72 0 101 5 m	72 C 101 5 m	/2 C 101 5 III
Hold at 4 <sup>o</sup> C	Hold at 4 <sup>o</sup> C			

## Table 7 CAII PCR Master Mix (20µ1)/sample

Master Mix	(µl)
H <sub>2</sub> O	14.5
Taq buffer (10X)	2
dNTPs (20mM)	0.2
F primer CAIIS1 (50µM)	0.1
R primer CAIIAS1 (50µM)	0.1
Taq Pol	0.1
Sample	3

## Table 8

## Table 9

## GFAPcre PCR Master Mix (20µl)/sample

Cre PCR Master Mix (20µl)/sample

Master Mix	(µl)
H <sub>2</sub> O	14.3
Taq buffer (10X)	2
dNTPs (20mM)	0.2
F primer oIMR1900	0.2
(50µM)	
R primer oIMR1901	0.2
(50µM)	
Taq Pol	0.1
Sample	3

Master Mix	(µl)
H <sub>2</sub> O	14.3
Taq buffer (10X)	2
dNTPs (20mM)	0.2
F primer creS1 (50µM)	0.1
R primer creAS4 (50µM)	0.1
Ins 90 (50µM)	0.1
Ins 91 (50µM)	0.1
Taq Pol	0.1
Sample	3

 Table 10 EYFP PCR Master Mix (20µl)/sample

Table 11  $\beta$ 2M PCR Master(20µ1)/sample

Master Mix	(µl)
H <sub>2</sub> O	14.2
Taq buffer (10X)	2
dNTPs (20mM)	0.2
Common primer ROSA1 (50µM)	0.3
Knock in primer ROSA2 (50μM)	0.2
Wild type Primer ROSA3 (50µM)	0.2
Taq	0.1
Sample	3

Master Mix	(µl)
H <sub>2</sub> O	14.3
Taq buffer (10X)	2
dNTPs (20mM)	0.2
F primer #3 intron A (50µM)	0.1
F primer Neoforward (50µM)	0.1
R primer β2M exon2 (50μM)	0.2
Taq Pol	0.1
Sample	3

#### 2.9 Tissue harvesting

Mice were identified using the ear IDs and euthanized using CO<sub>2</sub> chamber. Using sterile dissection tools the mice were carefully dissected and spleen, lymph nodes and other tissue were extracted and collected into 15ml falcon tubes containing Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS) + 2% FCS. For histological analysis, the organs were cut into two halves and the first half was fixed in 4% PFA overnight. Following PFA fixation the sections were then sucrose embedded and cryopreserved in optimal cutting temperature (OCT) compound (ProSciTech) by snap freezing in dry ice and hexane. The frozen blocks were kept at -80°C until sectioning using cryostat. The second half of the organs were fixed in 10% formalin solution (Invitrogen) overnight and given for wax embedding at Monash histology platform.

#### 2.10 Single cell preparation from harvested tissues

For analysing the immune cells by flow cytometry, single cell suspension was required. Spleen and lymph nodes were mashed through a 70 $\mu$ m strainer (BD) using 1ml syringe plungers into Petri dishes. Spleen filtrate from the Petri dish was collected into 15 ml tubes and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes at 4<sup>o</sup>C. Supernatant was carefully decanted and 1 ml of RBC lysis solution was added to the pellet, mixed by pipetting and incubated for 1 minute at room temperature. Following a minute incubation, 10 ml of FACS buffer was added to stop the reaction and centrifuged as before. After decanting the supernatant, the obtained pellet was resuspended in 1 ml FACS buffer and kept on ice. Lymph nodes were also mashed in the similar method and an RBC lysis step is not necessary for the filtrate obtained from mashing the lymph nodes.

#### 2.11 Pancreatic Ductal cell isolation

The pancreas was dissected and single cell suspensions were prepared as described by Maximilian Reichert et al [330]. Briefly, dissected pancreas was cut into small pieces in a petri dish containing Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS). Manual pipetting was done to dissociate the tissue. The semi dissociated tissue in petri dish were later transferred to 50ml falcon tube containing collagenase (1mg/ml) solution and incubated at 37<sup>o</sup>C with intermittent shaking for 15 minutes. The reaction was stopped by adding ice cold hanks solution and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and 1 ml of trypsin EDTA (Thermofisher scientific) was added to the pellet and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. The reaction was stopped by adding 5ml of 10% FCS in HBSS. Before centrifuging at 1500 rpm the tube was topped up with 40-45ml of HBSS. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in 1ml HBSS.

#### 2.12 Cell counting

Cell count was performed using the Z2 coulter counter (Beckman Coulter).  $10\mu$ l of the single cell suspension sample was added to 10ml DPBS in coulter counter counter cups. Coulter counter was set to give the output reading as number of cells/ml. Post counting one million cells were plated onto 96 well (BD) for staining before proceeding to analysis by flow cytometry.

#### 2.13 Immunophenotyping by flow cytometry

Single cell suspension containing one million cells were added to 96 well plates and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 3 minutes at 4°C. After centrifuging, the supernatant was discarded and the pellet was resuspended in 50µl of primary antibody cocktail and incubated for 20-30 minutes at 4°C. After incubation, 100µl of FACS buffer was added to all wells and the plate was then centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 3 minutes. The supernatant discarded and the pellet was resuspended in secondary antibody and incubated for 20-30 minutes at  $4^{0}$ C. Following incubation, the wash step to remove the unbound antibody was repeated and centrifuged as before. The pellet was resuspended in 100 µl of FACS buffer and transferred to FACS tubes for analysis by the flow cytometer (BD LSRII).

Table 12	<b>Antibodies</b>	used in flow	v cytometry
----------	-------------------	--------------	-------------

Antibodies used in	Clone	Conjugate	Concentration	Dilution	Make
flowcytometry					
Rat anti mouse CD4	RM4-5	BV 605	0.2mg/ml	1:400	BD
Rat anti mouse CD4	RM4-5	Pacific blue	0.2mg/ml	1:400	BD
Rat Anti-Mouse CD8a	53-6.7	PerCP	0.2mg/ml	1:400	BD
Rat Anti-Mouse CD19	1D3	Pe-Cy7	0.2mg/ml	1:200	BD
Hamster Anti mouse CD11c	HL3	APC-Cy7/ biotin	0.2mg/ml	1:200	BD
Rat Anti-mouse CD11b	M1/70	PE	0.2mg/ml	1:600	BD
DBA		Biotin	5mg/ml	1:100	Vector
Guinea pig anti-insulin	Polyclonal	Purified	50µg/ml	1:100	DAKO
CD45.1	A20	APC	0.2mg/ml	1:400	BD
Streptavidin		PerCP-CY5.5	0.2mg/ml	1:400	BD

#### 2.14 Histology

# 2.14.1 Formalin fixed tissue processing for Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) staining

The pancreata and salivary gland kept in formalin solution were sent to the Monash histology platform for processing and embedded in paraffin wax. The paraffin embedded blocks were later cut at 5µm thickness at three levels 100µm apart. Two sections per level were mounted onto poly-L-lysine coated (Sigma) slides (Menzel-Glaser). The sections were then stained with H&E.

Place slides in the rack to Xylene solution #1 for dewaxing	2 minutes
Place slides in the rack to Xylene solution #2 for dewaxing	2 minutes
Place slides in the rack to Xylene solution #3 for dewaxing	2 minutes
Place slides in Absolute Ethanol solution #1	2 minutes
Place slides in Absolute Ethanol solution #2	2 minutes
Place slides in 70% ethanol	2 minutes
Place slides in tap water	30 seconds
Place slides in Harris's Haematoxylin	5 minutes
Place slides in running tap water	30 seconds
Place slides in acid alcohol	Quick dip
Place slides in running tap water	30 seconds

**Table 13** Dewaxing and H&E protocol

Place slides in Schott tap water	3-10 seconds
Place slides in running tap water	30 seconds
Place slides in Eosin	5 minutes
Place slides into 70% ethanol	2 minutes
Place slides into Absolute Ethanol solution #2	2 minutes
Place slides into Absolute Ethanol solution #1	2 minutes
Dehydrate in Xylene X 3	2 minutes
Coverslip using mounting media	

#### 2.14.2 Fixed Frozen tissue processing for immunofluorescence

Harvested tissues were fixed in 4% PFA overnight and the following day the fixed tissues were cryoprotected by immersion in a beaker of 20% sucrose/Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) solution maintained at 4°C. After approximately 8 hours, when the tissue had sunk to the bottom of the beaker, the cryoprotected tissue was embedded in OCT by snap freezing in -20°C chilled isopentane. Cryoprotected OCT embedded tissue were kept at -80°C until sectioning using the cryostat (Leica). OCT blocks were cut at 5µm, and the sections were then blocked in solution containing 3% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and 5% milk powder in PBS. The blocked sections were then stained with polyclonal guinea pig antibodies against insulin (DAKO) and detected using Texas red conjugated polyclonal rabbit antibodies against guinea pig IgG (Abcam). EYFP was detected by staining the sections with Alexa Fluor 555 conjugated polyclonal rabbit antibodies against Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) (Invitrogen). For staining the ductal cells of the

pancreas biotinylated Dolichos biflorus Agglutinin (DBA) lectin against  $\alpha$ -linked N acetyl galactosamine was used and detected using streptavidin conjugated Dylight 405. The stained sections were mounted in fluoromount (Sigma) and observed under the fluorescent microscope (Olympus BX 61) and images were acquired using Olympus F-view II camera. The methods for immunofluorescence detection of EYFP in tissue required optimization and formed the basis of the manuscript (unpublished- Appendix A).

Antibody	Clone	Conjugate	Dilution	Manufacturer
Guinea pig anti-	Polyclonal	Purified	1:100	DAKO
insulin				
Anti-guinea pig	Polyclonal	Texas red	1:600	Invitrogen
IgG				
Dolichos biflorus		Biotin	1:100	Vector
agglutinin (DBA)				laboratories
lectin				
Streptavidin		Dylight 405	1:600	Invitrogen
Anti-GFP	Polyclonal	Alexa flour	1:2000	Invitrogen
		555		

#### 2.14.3 Insulitis Scoring

Using a light microscope (Olympus BX51), the degree of insulitis in pancreatic sections was graded from 0-4. A healthy islet with no immune infiltrates as seen in the non-diabetic mice pancreata is categorised as grade 0 insulitis. The presence of periductal infiltrates comprising macrophages and dendritic cells was categorised as grade 1 insulitis. Grade 2 insulitis were identified by the presence of circumferential insulitis around the entire islets. Invasive insulitis with less than 50% of the islets been infiltrated were categorised as grade 3 and islets with more than 50% infiltrates were scored as grade 4. The scoring of insulitis was blinded to avoid making biased inferences. Images were acquired using the Olympus DP70 camera.

The above-mentioned methods section described the making of tissue specific knockout mice and the complete techniques used to assess the pathogenesis of T1D in NOD mice. Once the mice were generated, the main objective was to confirm the pattern of cre expression. This was extremely important because in addition to the desired expression, cre recombinase may be expressed at ectopic sites [331]. Ectopic expression of cre has been reported in many transgenic knockout approaches [332] and therefore we wished to validate our mice model before we assessed the development of insulitis. We validated our model using the reporter mice and the results of validation are mentioned in chapter 3.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

## **3. Determining the pattern of cre expression in GFAPcre and CAIIcre mice** models

#### 3.1 Determining the pattern of cre expression in GFAPcre mice

3.1.1 EYFP expression was detected in pancreatic ductal and glial cells in GFAPcre reporter mice

To check the penetrance of cre, the GFAPcre mouse were crossed to NOD EYFP mice to generate the reporter NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice (GFAPcre reporter mice from now on). Since cre recombinase was driven by the GFAP promoter, we expected the expression in all GFAP expressing cell types, which included the ductal cells of the pancreas and the glial compartment of the central and peripheral nervous system. This was confirmed by the analysing brain and pancreatic tissue sections cut from GFAPcre reporter mice. We were not able to detect the natural fluorescence of EYFP in the brain and pancreatic sections but when we probed for EYFP expressing cells using anti-GFP antibody we identified cre expression in brain (Figure 5) and pancreatic (Figure 6) sections from GFAPcre reporter mice. The expression of cre in desired tissue types confirmed the true specificity of the GFAP promoter and before proceeding to generate ductal specific MHC class I knockout mice, we also confirmed that cre was not expressed ectopically in undesired tissue types which included the lymphoid and myeloid cell types (Figure 5)

<mark>7)</mark>





Top Panel: Brain sections of GFAPcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>mice. (A) Brain sections stained with DAPI (blue). (B) Natural EYFP fluorescence not detected in the EYFP channel. (C) Alexa fluor 555 conjugated anti-GFP antibody could not detect EYFP expressing cells in cre negative control mice. (D) All three channels merged.

Bottom Panel: Brain sections of GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>mice. (E) Brain sections stained with DAPI (blue). (F) Natural EYFP fluorescence not detected in the EYFP channel. (G) EYFP expressing cells detected using Alexa fluor 555 conjugated anti-GFP antibody (Red). (H) All the three channels merged and DAPI stained cells expressing EYFP is seen in purple.

## Figure 6 <u>Pancreatic sections from GFAPcre reporter mice showing cre</u> expression



Detection of EYFP in pancreatic neuroendocrine and ductal cells indicates cre expression. Fluorescent microscopic analysis showing cre expression in morphologically identified pancreatic neuroendocrine pSC and ductal cells of the reporter mice (n=3). Pancreatic tissue sections from reporter (VII, VIII, IX) and control mice (I, II, III) were stained using a rabbit antibody against GFP conjugated to Alexa Fluor 555 and nuclear stained with DAPI. White arrows (VIII and IX) point to EYFP expressing pSC and red arrows point to EYFP expressing ductal cells. Stained brain sections from reporter mice (IV, V, and VI) were used as a positive control for EYFP signal.

3.1.2 EYFP expression was not detected in the immune cells of GFAPcre reporter mice

Ectopic expression of cre has variably been reported with the use of cre-lox systems. The specificity of the promoter dictates the fidelity of cre mediated recombination and EYFP expression. It was important to assess the pattern of cre expression in GFAPcre reporter mice. This is because, in experimental class I GFAP bald mice, any non-specific expression of cre in immune cell types would have resulted in deletion of  $\beta$ 2M<sup>a</sup> and loss of MHC class I molecules from these cell types. This would have confounded the interpretation of results.

EYFP expression was not detected in the lymphoid (Figure 7) and myeloid cells (Figure 8) isolated from GFAPcre reporter mice (n=5). The absence of ectopic expression of EYFP in immune cell types indicated that GFAPcre mice were an appropriate model to study the role of MHC class I expression on pSCs and ductal cells in the initiation of insulitis.



Figure 7 <u>Absence of EYFP expression in T cells and non T cells confirmed the</u> <u>true specificity of GFAPcre promotor in GFAPcre reporter mice</u>.

Flow cytometric analyses of splenocytes from reporter mice were unable to detect lymphocytes expressing EYFP (n=5). Dot plots showing live gating of lymphocytes in forward and side scatter (I). Sequential gating on live lymphocytes and contour plots showing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and Non T lymphocytes (II). EYFP expression was not detected in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell and non T lymphocytes in reporter and control mice (III). Splenocytes from mice known to express EYFP in immune cells were used as a positive control.

## Figure 8 **EYFP expression was not detected in macrophages and dendritic cells** of GFAPcre reporter mice.



Dot plots showing live splenocytes gated in forward and side scatter (I). Sequential gating on live splenocytes and dot plots showing macrophages gated using CD11b expression (II) and dendritic cells gated using CD11c expression (III). EYFP expression was not detected in macrophages and dendritic cells in reporter and control mice (IV). Splenocytes from mice known to express EYFP were used as a positive control

#### 3.2 Determining the pattern of cre expression in CAIIcre mice

3.2.1 Expression of cre recombinase in pancreatic ductal cells in CAIIcre reporter mice.

To check the penetrance of cre expression, CAIIcre<sup>+</sup> mice were crossed to NOD EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice to generate CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> reporter mice (CAIIcre reporter mice). Flow cytometric analysis of pancreatic single cells isolated from CAIIcre reporter mice (n=4) showed ductal cells expressing EYFP (Figure 9). The expression of cre in a subset of ductal cells validated CAIIcre mice as a model suitable to study the role of MHC class I expression on ductal cells of the pancreas in the pathogenesis of T1D.



Figure 9 Pancreatic ductal cells from CAIIcre reporter mice showing cre expression

Pancreatic single cell suspensions were gated based on the low side scatter properties of ductal cells and selected on non-lymphocytes cells using the pan leucocyte marker Ly5.1 (B). BA positive ductal cells were selected (C) and EYFP expression was observed in the FITC channel (D). Control mice was negative for EYFP expression (E). Control for DBA (F).

## 3.2.2 Ectopic expression of cre was detected in the immune cell compartments in CAIIcre mice

In CAIIcre reporter mice, cre expression was confirmed in the ductal cells of the pancreas, but unexpectedly we also detected EYFP expression in lymphoid and myeloid cells at generation 3 (Figure 10). The leakiness of cre in transgenic mice has been reported in the literature [331] and Slattery lab had experienced this nonspecific expression of cre in other mice models. It was expected that with cre-lox technology, continued breeding will allow the epigenetic modifications to settle and expression of cre will become true to its promoter. To make the cre expression specific to CAII+ pre-beta ductal cells, at generation 3, we crossed the transgene via the female germline. Even after crossing the transgene via female and the male germ line, expression of cre was found to leak at generation 10. This was unexpected and despite breeding for 10 generations and making the CAIIcre mice on a  $\beta$ 2M knock out background, we concluded that NOD CAIIcre was not an appropriate model to use for insulitis studies. This is because leakiness of cre in the lymphoid and myeloid population will lead to the loss of MHC class I on Antigen Presenting Cells (APCs) in Class I CAII bald mice and it is known that absence of class I mediated presentation by APC will protect the mice from developing insulitis [179]. If we proceed to use this leaky model for assessing insulitis, though MHC class I will be deleted from ductal cells, it will also be deleted from APCs, thus we will not be able to say that the protection from insulitis seen in Class I CAII bald mice is due to the absence of autoantigen presentation by ductal cells.

## Figure 10 Ectopic expression of cre identified in splenocytes isolated from CAIIcre reporter mice

Splenocytes showing "leaky" cre expression



Phenotyping of CAIIcre reporter mice (G10). Splenocytes stained with appropriate antibodies for T cells, B cells, Macrophages and Dendritic cells showing EYFP expression; Negative control (CAIIcre<sup>-</sup> EYFP<sup>+</sup>) indicated in red; Sequential gating: Spleen single cells / Live/ EYFP.

## Figure 11 Percentage of EYFP expressing lymphoid and myeloid cell types in CAIIcre reporter mice



The bar graph shown represents % EYFP expression seen in lymphoid and myeloid population of CAIIcre<sup>+</sup> EYFP+ (n=4) and CAIIcre<sup>-</sup> EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice. All data is representative of +/- SEM. A two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test was used to compare the groups.

#### **3.3 Discussion**

Pattern of cre expression was checked in both cre lines (NOD GFAPcre and NOD CAIIcre). The fidelity of cre expression was specific when cre was driven by the GFAP promoter as we were unable to detect any nonspecific expression of cre especially in the lymphoid and myeloid cell types. Unlike the GFAP promoter, cre was ectopically expressed in the lymphoid and myeloid cells when it driven under the control of the CAII promoter. The absence of any leakiness of cre in the immune compartment confirmed that GFAPcre was the appropriate model to study the role of MHC class I on GFAP expressing cells, in particular the ductal and pSCs of the pancreas. Identifying the pattern of cre expression was extremely important because any cre mediated loss of MHC class I from immune cells would have confounded the interpretation of results [333]. NOD GFAPcre mice were then bred on to a  $\beta$ 2M knockout background and later crossed to floxed  $\beta$ 2Ma mice to generate class I GFAP bald mice. Generated class I GFAP bald mice were used to study the development of insulitis.

It is well documented that autoantigens play a major role in the development of insulitis in NOD mice and humans, but what is unknown is autoantigen presented by which tissue type initiates the immune responses towards beta cells. When presentation of beta cell autoantigens were ablated by removing the MHC class I expression on beta cells, we were able to prevent the accumulation of immune infiltrates into the islets but careful examination of the pancreata revealed that immune infiltrates were still present near the pancreatic ducts. Was it the pancreatic duct or is it any other tissue which share similar antigens to pancreatic ducts, the prime accused, in the initiation of immune response towards beta cells. We investigated this by generating a NOD mice that lack MHC class I expression on GFAP expressing cell types including the ductal cells of the pancreas. The

limitation of this model was that since GFAP is expressed in multiple cell types all the GFAP expressing cells will lose MHC class I and therefore we are ablating the presentation of autoantigens expressed in multiple GFAP expressing tissue types including the ductal and the neuronal cells of the pancreas. Ductal cells are the progenitors for beta cells and therefore early upstream autoantigen/s expressed in ductal cells may have a crucial role in the development of insulitis. In class I GFAP bald mice, though multiple GFAP positive cell types lose MHC class I expression, it is of high importance to study the presentation of autoantigens in cell types closely related to beta cells.
# **CHAPTER 4**

## 4 Assessment of pathogenesis in class I GFAP bald mice

# 4.1 <u>Severity of insulitis is significantly reduced in the absence of MHC class I</u> on GFAP expressing cell types

Class I GFAP bald mice were generated by crossing the NOD GFAPcre mice to NOD.flp2ma mice (Figure 1). These mice were used to assess whether MHC class I presented self-antigens, expressed by GFAP positive cells, were necessary for the initiation and progression of insulitis. Histological analyses of pancreatic sections showed insulitis was significantly reduced in mice lacking MHC class I molecules on GFAP expressing cells compared with class I sufficient age and sex matched control mice (Figure 12a). Class I GFAP bald mice had more disease free islets (70  $\pm$  5%) compared with class I sufficient controls (41  $\pm$  8%) (Figure 12b). Conversely the percentage of islets with invasive insulitis was also significantly reduced in class I GFAP bald mice. Class I GFAP bald mice had  $9.5 \pm 2\%$ compared with MHC class I sufficient controls  $(32 \pm 9\%)$  (Figure 12c). These data suggest that the loss of MHC class I from GFAP expressing cells somehow protected the mice from insulitis. Since a subset of GFAP positive cells expresses proinsulin, we therefore wanted to test whether the significant reduction of invasive insulitis seen in these mice is due to the absence of MHC class I mediated presentation of the autoantigen proinsulin.



Figure 12 Class I GFAP bald mice had more disease free islets

The pancreatic sections from NOD GFAP bald mice at 100-160 days of age were analyzed by haematoxylin and eosin staining. Microphotography shows mononuclear infiltrated islets in control and disease free islets in GFAP bald mice (a). Statistical data showing the percentage of disease free islets (b) and islets with invasive insulitis in GFAP bald and control mice (c).

## 4.2 GFAP positive ductal cells do not express proinsulin

Our data from reporter mice show that ductal cells are made up of GFAP positive and GFAP negative cell types (Figure 13(iii)). We detected proinsulin expression in 2.5  $\pm$  0.6% of the ductal cells and identified that 90% of the proinsulin expressing ductal cells were GFAP negative. Since GFAP positive cells were found not to co-express proinsulin, the reduction of invasive insulitis seen in class I GFAP bald mice cannot be due to the loss of expression of proinsulin. It must be due to the loss of the presentation of another autoantigen present in the GFAP expressing ductal cells. There are a number of other autoantigens that ductal cells share with beta cells. It is possible therefore that one of these autoantigens is an early autoantigen that can initiate insulitis.





Contour plots showing pancreatic single cells live gated for low side scatter (I). DBA stained pancreatic ductal cells (II) from reporter and control mice (n=4). DBA stained ductal cells showing insulin and EYFP expression (III). Out of the 2.5% of insulin expressing ductal cells, more than 90% of the cells did not express EYFP.

#### **4.3 Discussion**

Utilizing Class I GFAP bald NOD mice model we found that the expression of MHC class I on GFAP positive cells was important for the development of insulitis. Not only did the mice lacking MHC class I on GFAP expressing cells have more disease free islets, they were also significantly protected from developing invasive insulitis. This suggests that MHC class I expression on GFAP positive cells is important *early* in the disease process. Because proinsulin is widely held to be the earliest autoantigen, we wondered whether the reduction in insulitis in class I GFAP bald mice may have been due to the loss of MHC class I mediated presentation of proinsulin peptides expressed by ductal cells of the pancreas.

The decrease in the presence of islets with insulitis, even low level periductal insulitis in class I GFAP bald mice suggests there has been a loss of immune response to ductal and/or pSC antigens. However, it is unlikely that the protection from insulitis observed in class I GFAP bald mice was due to the inability of ductal cells to present proinsulin peptides to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. This is because a proportion of ductal cells retained class I expression in GFAP bald mice and also expressed proinsulin. Thus, a subset of ductal cells would have been able to present proinsulin peptides to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are able to present proinsulin peptides to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells would have been able to present proinsulin peptides to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are able of initiating disease. This begs the question as to which antigen/s expressed by GFAP positive ductal and/or pSCs may be important for the initiation of insulitis.

Ductal cells are beta cell progenitors and as such they share a number of autoantigens with beta cells, including proinsulin, GAD65, ICA69 and HIP/PAP [334-338]. Thus, it is plausible that the initiation of an immune response to ductal cell antigens may lead to cross reactive attack of beta cells expressing shared

antigen/s. Although not widely discussed, the argument that ductal cell antigens may have an important role in the initiation of periductal insulitis has credence. Peri ductal insulitis persisted in mice lacking native proinsulin indicating that the immune response to autoantigens expressed by ductal cells can occur independently of the immune response to proinsulin [339]. The observed reduction of insulitis in class I GFAP bald mice is published in the *journal of Neuroimmunology* (Appendix A).

While we are focussing only on beta cells and associated tissues, where we see massive immune mediated destruction, it is of critical importance to identify the root cause of the initiation of this autoimmune response. In addition to beta cells, immune infiltrations have been identified in multiple tissue types. Although beta cell destruction is the most pronounced and heavily manifested, we need to consider the immune mediated destruction occurring in other tissue types which are anatomically distal to pancreas. This is because; in genetically susceptible individual an autoreactive response to antigen/s expressed in distal tissues can lead to epitope spreading and culminate in targeting the heavily stressed and vulnerable beta cell [340].

In class I GFAP bald mice GFAP is expressed in multiple glial cells including the enteric glia. The reduction of insulitis can also be due to the absence of presentation of gut derived autoantigens by the enteric glial cells. Further studies need to be conducted to understand the role of enteric glia and gut derived autoantigens in the pathogenesis of T1D.

#### **5. Final Discussion and Conclusion**

The experiments conducted in class I GFAP bald mice identified that autoantigens other than insulin, expressed by the ductal cells of the pancreas are important in the development of invasive insulitis in NOD mice. Our findings are of importance because it is widely believed that proinsulin is the initiating autoantigen in T1D and autoreactivity to proinsulin precede the autoreactivity to all the other identified autoantigens in T1D. The reduction of invasive insulitis seen in class I GFAP bald mice is due to the absence of autoantigen presentation by multiple cells types that express GFAP. The reduction but not total absence of infiltration is due lack of presentation of autoantigens other than insulin by GFAP expressing cells and antigen/s derived from ductal cells of the pancreas is one of the critical requirement in orchestrating the immune responses to beta cell antigens.

Among the many different cell types that expresses GFAP, few of the cell types that are well connected to beta cells include, the ductal cells of the pancreas, pSC of the pancreas and the enteric glial cells. Therefore, in class I GFAP bald mice, cre mediated deletion of MHC class I, occurs not only in the ductal and Schwann cells but, also occurs in the enteric glial cells. Due to the limited availability of resources, we only focussed on understanding the importance of MHC class I expression on pancreatic ductal cells. It is likely that the reduction of insulitis seen in class I GFAP bald mice is also due to the absence of presentation of antigen/s by the enteric glial cells, which is an important cell type in maintaining the integrity of the gut.

The chronological order of the immune response to autoantigens implicated in T1D is not completely understood. There has long been an assumption that proinsulin is the primary autoantigen, however, in addition to the findings presented here, it has also been shown that the immune response to antigens expressed by pSCs precede

the immune response and attack of beta cells [315]. Our data, and the findings of Michael Dosch et al [315], suggests there may be several alternative autoantigens that could initiate an immune response which culminates in beta cell auto reactivity [341].

While it is not known what causes the inflammation around the ducts of the pancreas, there are a number of hypotheses which have been proposed. The pro inflammatory milieu of the islets could be driven by chemicals [342], microbial infections [343, 344], food allergens [52, 345] or the defective clearance of apoptotic bodies by macrophages [346]. Inflammation is associated with tissue damage that can result in the release of otherwise sequestered self-antigens. Amongst many of the mechanisms involved in the gut-beta cell-immune crosstalk, GFAP expressing cells are critical players in the development of invasive insulitis. Our findings indicate that self-antigens expressed by GFAP positive cells are important in the development of insulitis in NOD mice.

#### 6. Future Directions

As quoted by Hippocrates "*All disease begins in the gut*", and several studies has shown the presence of leaky gut in NOD mice and in humans with T1D [1, **347**]. It is likely that antigens originating in the gut could possibly trigger T1D, as such changes in the gut, including the changes in the diet and gut microbiota can cause both protective and destructive effects on beta cells. Studies have shown that gut microbiota through the production of dietary Short Chain Fatty Acids (SCFA) protected 90% of the NOD mice against T1D development **348**]. The protection from T1D was mediated by the increase in number of Tregs and by the reduction in number of pathogenic B cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Diet rich in SCFAs especially acetate and butyrate increased the level of serum IL-22, an important

cytokine that helps to maintain the integrity of the gut epithelial cells and is also required for beta cell regeneration [349].

How antigen expression in other distal tissues to beta-cells control the invasive infiltration of immune cells into the pancreas? Is the gut an important compartment as a source of antigens that trigger T1D? Is the gut microbiota influencing T cell priming against beta-cells? The microenvironment regulates beta-cell function and maturity, in particular close interaction with endocrine cells, neuronal, immune, and vascular cells [350, 351]. Pancreatic ducts are physiologically neighbouring to the beta-cells, and their primary function is to deliver enzymes or pancreatic juices provided from the exocrine pancreas into the duodenum to help digestion. As such, the pancreatic beta-cells can be influenced by the gut, which is intimately connected not only through the pancreatic ducts but also by lymph ducts [352]. Beyond the pancreas, there is hardly any tissue in the body that has not been somehow in contact with gut microbial SCFAs. From food fermentation, bacteria in the large bowel produce many metabolites that are used by the epithelial cells in the gut. The remaining amount is transported to the liver where they are metabolised and then release to systemic circulation. As such, SCFAs have a broad spectrum of remarkable beneficial properties that impact on many systems, in particular under inflammatory conditions, regulate metabolic and immune responses [82, 84, 85].

#### 6.1 GFAP- not the usual suspect!

It has been shown in the pancreas; GFAP-expressing pSC can attract and recruit autoreactive cells, which precede the attack on beta-cells [315, 321]. The early T cell attack on GFAP-expressing cells progressively results in the release of glial cell antigens, GFAP and insulin [315, 353]. GFAP epitopes for autoreactive T and

B cells have now been identified in Non-Obese Diabetic (NOD) mice and humans with T1D. Serum GFAP antibodies are now used as a predictive marker for the development of T1D and it has been shown that administration of GFAP as a vaccine delayed the progression of T1D by regulating T cell differentiation [322, **54**]. GFAP expressing glial cells of the peripheral nervous system requires TRPV1 (Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid type 1) expression for their proper maturation. TRPV1 is a non-selective cationic channel which when activated can alter the intracellular ion concentration. Studies have shown that depleting TRPV1 expressing cells reduced the development of insulitis in NOD mice [355, 356]. It is fascinating that a cytoskeletal protein widely expressed in pancreatic ductal cells and in pancreatic glial cells of the central and peripheral nervous system may work as an early autoantigen in T1D.

The fine-tuned gut-neuro-immune network may be profoundly affected by SCFAs deficiency related to dysbiosis and diet alterations at very early stages of the initiation of the disease. Thus, dampening the initial immune response or preventing the perpetuation of the immune response by maintaining the integrity of the gut is among alternative approaches to prevent T1D.

#### 6.2 The SCFAs: modulator of gut inflammation and auto-reactivity

After many years of efforts and studies focusing on the destruction of the beta-cells in the pancreas, still there is no cure or method of prevention for T1D. So, make us wonder whether we have been losing the battle only because we are not looking beyond the walls of the pancreas. T1D can be viewed as an orchestrated autoimmune response originated in the gut. This is evident from the observation that in many autoimmune diseases including T1D, the integrity of the epithelial barrier is compromised leading to a phenomenon termed as "leaky gut" [357, 358]. Pathogens, microbial products and food-derived antigens find the leaky gut as a route to encounter the resident immune cells. For example, Gram-negative bacteria produce lipopolysaccharides (LPS), an identified endotoxin that can induce immune responses via the toll like receptor 4 (TLR-4) expressed on monocytes [359]. Given the gut connects to the pancreas through pancreatic lymph nodes (PLN) and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN), bacterial and food products can hyper activate resident T and B autoreactive cells in the gut or the gut-associated MLN [360]. Alternatively, it has been shown that gut microbial products can reach PLN and locally modify the presentation of pancreatic self-antigens [361]. Therefore, excess of food, chemicals, and microbial antigens can skew the intestinal immune system toward a perpetually pro-inflammatory state that may trigger T1D. Newlydiagnosed children with T1D present autoantibodies to GAD, a pancreatic betacells autoantigen that also is produced by many bacterial species [362]. For instance, T1D patients present antibodies against a heat shock protein from the *Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis*, MAP Hsp65, which has a high degree of homology with human GAD65, suggesting that cross-reactivity between MAP Hsp65 and GAD65 potentially could be a mechanism of triggering TID [363]. Strong homology has been found between the islet-antigen IGRP and several gut- and oral-derived microbial peptides. These peptide sequences encode for magnesium transporter (Mgt), for hypothetical protein IEM\_00289 and NAD synthetase, respectively, which activate NY8.3 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with comparable potency to IGRP native peptide 364. Thus, molecular mimicry between excess of gut microbial antigens and islet cell autoantigens may be a mechanism by which gut dysbiosis leads to T1D development.

There are pieces of evidence of compromised gut integrity, dysbiosis and associated inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract (GI) in NOD mice and patients

with T1D [365-370], similar to have been shown in other inflammatory or autoimmune gut diseases (i.e. infection, celiac disease, IBD). The gut microbiota and the ENS play a critical role in diabetic gastrointestinal motility disorders, as individuals with diabetes suffer symptoms such as nausea, heartburn, vomiting, diarrhoea, abdominal pain, and constipation [371, 372]. For example, it is known that slow motility of the GI leads to alterations of the gut microbiota that favours pathogenic bacterial overgrowth and subsequently diarrhoea [373, 374]. As such, the abundance and diversity of bacteria needed to maintain the integrity of the gut was significantly lower in children with T1D compared to healthy controls [375]. On the other hand, animal studies have suggested that accelerated colonic transit time, relative to constipation, could be cause by autonomic neuropathy and diabetes-induced denervation of sympathetic nerve terminals [371, 376]. Diet and/or deficiency of dietary SCFAs also can modulate the intestinal motility and survival of enteric neurons by miRNAs, which are involved in energy homeostasis, lipid metabolism and in proliferation and development of GI smooth muscles. miRNAs have been vastly studied in organ damage caused by diabetes, and one study has shown in mice that high-fat diets delay the GI transit, partly by inducing apoptosis in enteric neuronal cells, and this effect was shown to be mediated by Mir375 associated with reduced levels of Pdk [377]. There is still too much to understand about the intrinsic mechanisms underlying the connection between the gut microbiota and the ENS and how impact the course of T1D. Particularly high fibre or specialized acylated starch diets that boost the microbial production of SCFAs are effective in the control of gut infections and diarrhoea, as it has been shown to promote commensal acetate-producing bacteria [378].

#### 6.3 IL-22 and ENS take control of T1D

Activation of IL-22 through microbial SCFAs contributes to the maintenance of gut homeostasis by the close connection between the intestinal-resident innate lymphoid cell 3 (ILC3) and EGCs. IL-22 is expressed by ILC3, which lie close to EGCs [379], but its role in T1D is still elusive [380]. ILCs sustain appropriate immune responses to commensals and pathogens at mucosal barriers by potentiating adaptive immunity and regulating tissue inflammation [381, 382]. Likewise, EGCs have critical roles in maintaining gut homeostasis, as they can sense the pathogenic bacteria through toll-like receptors (TLRs). EGCs surround neurons and also connect with blood vessels and lymphatics [383], which allowed EGC-derived signalling molecules modulate mucosal immunity. As such, EGCs sense environmental stimuli and extend their stellate projections into the ILC3 aggregates within the crypto-patches of the intestinal lamina propria and release neurotrophic factors that stimulate IL-22 secretion from ILC3s [384]. The notion that gut microbiota impact on the development and maturation of EGCs was shown in germ-free (GF) mice, which present a defective influx of EGCs into the intestinal mucosa [385]. This occurs via expression of the neuroregulatory receptor (RET), as ablation of RET in ILC3 leads to reduced IL-22 production and compromised epithelial protection in colon inflammation mouse models [385].

Align with this idea; does the early auto-reactivity to GFAP observed during insulitis originate in the gut? This is possible to the connections between the pancreas, the ENS, and the gut. The fine-tuned neuro-beta-cell cross-talk is more likely to be broken by the pathological changes occurring in a perturbed gut. Alterations of the gut microbiota, referred to as dysbiosis, decrease epithelial permeability causing inflammation and associated tissue damage that exposes numerous self-antigens harboured in the gut and associated enteric neuronal

tissues. Gut microbial products can also sense enteric neurons and EGCs partly by pattern recognition receptors, such as TLRs. Indeed, pathogenic and commensal SCFA-producing bacteria up-regulate differentially toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) expression on human EGCs [386]. Expression of TLR2 on enteric neurons and EGCs controls nNOS<sup>+</sup> neurons and acetylcholine-esterase-stained fibers in the myenteric ganglia. For example, E. coli promoted expression of MHC II molecules on EGCs and significantly induced S100B protein overexpression and nitric oxide (NO) release from EGC, which was counteracted by pre-treatment with TLR and S100B inhibitors [386]. As such, the myenteric plexus of TLR2Ko mice presented reduced expression of glial markers, GFAP, and S100B. Overexpression of GFAP has been observed correlating with inflammatory responses in the gut [387]. S100B is considered as a neurotrophin, due to its either tropic or toxic effects depending on the concentration in the extracellular milieu. Excess amount of S100B acts on RAGE (receptor for advanced glycation end-products) leading to the phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) and subsequent activation of the nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ) and the associated release of Nitric oxide (NO). Excess nitric oxide causes damage to the tissue resulting in inflammation and reduced integrity of the gut [388, 389]. The protective role of EGCs in the maintenance of the gut epithelial integrity has been demonstrated in mice lacking GFAP positive (+) glia that presented fatal hemorrhagic jejuno-ileitis <mark>[390].</mark>

During chronic tissue inflammation, it has been shown significantly increased expression of GFAP on glial cells after stimulation with LPS and pro-inflammatory cytokines [391], similar to what has seen in Crohn's disease (CD) and necrotising enterocolitis (NEC). On the other hand, the presence of MHC class II expression on activated EGCs suggests that these cell types can present antigens [392, 393]

derived from multiples sources, including microbes and host. EGCs, with the help of their stellate projections, sample microbial antigens crossing the epithelial barrier and activate diabetogenic T cells. This is given under dysbiosis, predominant in T1D and many autoimmune diseases, the release of microbial antigens such as LPS may break the tolerance of EGCs leading to overexpression of glial cell markers GFAP and S100B. Thus, GFAP expressing glial cells may have a protective role in maintaining the integrity of the gut, but under uncontrolled inflammatory conditions, it may lead to the autoreactivity. As such, glial cell-derived protein GFAP is now an identified autoantigen in T1D and autoantibodies to GFAP has been detected in NOD mice and humans with T1D [322], thus showing the relevance of the microbiota-EGCs pathways in T1D.

One study has shown that SCFA butyrate can induce increasing excitatory choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) through the neurons butyrate transporter monocarboxylate transporter (MCT), which is expressed by enteric neurons [394]. However, it is still unknown what factors control neuronal MCT2 expression. Further studies will be necessary to determine how SCFAs regulate MCT2 expression and controls the activity of intestinal neural circuits. SCFAs exert their function through two mechanisms, via metabolite sensing GPCRs or inhibition of histone deacetylase activity [77, 85, 395, 396]. There are three receptors for SCFA acetate, butyrate and propionate, namely GPR43 (FFA2), GPR41 (FFA3), and GPR109a. GPR43 is activated by SCFAs with varying potency – acetate > propionate > butyrate. GPR43 is expressed on gut epithelial cells and certain immune cells [397]. GPR109a is expressed on a variety of immune cells, as well as adipocytes, hepatocytes, gut and retinal epithelium, vascular endothelium, and neuronal tissue [398]. GPR109a is primarily activated by both niacin and butyrate ligands. While under normal physiological conditions niacin levels are not high

enough to activate the receptor; levels of butyrate, obtained from the gut environment, and its oxidised form  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate are sufficient to stimulate a response [398]. Similarly, GPR41 has been reported to be express on EGCs and enteric neurons [399] [400, 401]. GPR41 also binds the three major SCFA, but with differing affinities [402].

SCFAs also can modulate gut motility by the production of serotonin by epithelial enterochromaffin cells (ECs) [403, 404]. For instance, GF mice present gut dysmotility that was reversed by inoculation with SCFAs-producing bacteria. Tested in human-derived EC cell lines, SCFAs increased serotonin (5hydroxytryptamine [5-HT]) by up-regulating the expression of tryptophan hydroxylase 1 (Tph1) [404] and by the serotonin-selective reuptake transporter (SERT), which is expressed by intestinal epithelial cells [405]. Another critical role of SCFAs on the ENS is evidenced by the conversion of primary bile acids synthesized de novo into secondary bile acids in the liver [406]. Aside from their role in dietary fat absorption, secondary bile acids can activate several GPCRs and nuclear hormone receptors, including the G-protein–coupled bile acid receptor 1 (TGR5) and farnesoid X receptor (FXR), highly expressed in enteric neurons and enteroendocrine L cells that improved intestinal inflammation and glucose tolerance in HFD-fed mice [407]. TGR5 also affect peristalsis that is mediated partly by serotonin 5-HT [408], implicating its potential for the treatment of constipation and diarrhoea. Altogether suggest the relevance of the gut-neuroimmune axis in T1D

Similar to the effects exert through the GPCR's, SCFAs can influence the function and development of immune cells directly through epigenetic regulation of gene expression such as inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDACs) [85, 409]. HDACs allows the conversion of repressive chromatin structures, which takes place on lysine residues on N-terminal tails of histones 3 and 4, to increase gene transcription. HDACs are a group of 18 known enzymes that remove acetyl groups from the histones tails that bind DNA 410. Although little is known about the effects of SCFAs on EGCs through epigenetic modifications, it has been shown that butyrate treatment increases acetylation of the H3K9 in primary enteric neurons and the EGC *in vitro* 411.

Overall, an immune response to antigens presented by GFAP-expressing pSCs in the pancreas but also by GFAP expressing enteric glial cells in the gut is novel findings involved in the initiation of the autoimmune process. Could trigger antigen-experienced autoreactive cells move up the gut and reach the ductal and beta-cells, and break the GFAP expressing neuronal mantle of the islets? This is an unexplored field and requires further research. Given the close location and connection between the gut and the pancreas and their intrinsic dependence from the nervous system, this fine-tuned immuno-neuro-islet cross-talk may be profoundly affected by perturbed gut homeostasis at very early stages of the initiation of the T1D. Dampening the initial immune response or preventing the perpetuation of the islet-specific immune response by maintaining the integrity of the gut is among the possible therapeutic approaches to reprogram T1D [380, 412]. Thus, any hope for a cure may lie in methods that can halt immune-mediated betacell damage by maintaining or improving gut-immune tolerance. To win the battle against T1D, let us look beyond the walls of pancreas and focus on the gut-neuroimmune axis of T1D.

# References

- 1. Jayasimhan, A., K.P. Mansour, and R.M. Slattery, *Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse.* Clin Sci (Lond), 2014. **126**(1): p. 1-18.
- 2. Atkinson, M.A., G.S. Eisenbarth, and A.W. Michels, *Type 1 diabetes*. Lancet (London, England), 2014. **383**(9911): p. 69-82.
- 3. Paschou, S.A., et al., *On type 1 diabetes mellitus pathogenesis*. Endocrine connections, 2017. **7**(1): p. R38-R46.
- 4. Kahanovitz, L., P.M. Sluss, and S.J. Russell, *Type 1 Diabetes A Clinical Perspective*. Point of care, 2017. **16**(1): p. 37-40.
- 5. Report of the Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care, 1997. **20**(7): p. 1183.
- Stenström, G., et al., *Latent Autoimmune Diabetes in Adults*. Diabetes, 2005.
   54(suppl 2): p. S68.
- 7. Palmer, J.P. and I.B. Hirsch, *What's in a Name*. Diabetes Care, 2003. **26**(2): p. 536.
- Dabelea, D., *The accelerating epidemic of childhood diabetes*. Lancet, 2009. 373(9680): p. 1999-2000.
- 9. You, W.-P. and M. Henneberg, *Type 1 diabetes prevalence increasing globally and regionally: the role of natural selection and life expectancy at birth.* BMJ Open Diabetes Research & amp; Care, 2016. **4**(1): p. e000161.
- 10. Barrett, J.C., et al., *Genome-wide association study and meta-analysis find that over 40 loci affect risk of type 1 diabetes.* Nature genetics, 2009. **41**(6): p. 703-707.
- Størling, J. and F. Pociot, Type 1 Diabetes Candidate Genes Linked to Pancreatic Islet Cell Inflammation and Beta-Cell Apoptosis. Genes, 2017. 8(2): p. 72.
- 12. Onengut-Gumuscu, S., et al., *Fine mapping of type 1 diabetes susceptibility loci and evidence for colocalization of causal variants with lymphoid gene enhancers.* Nature genetics, 2015. **47**(4): p. 381-386.
- 13. Redondo, M.J., A.K. Steck, and A. Pugliese, *Genetics of type 1 diabetes*. Pediatric diabetes, 2018. **19**(3): p. 346-353.
- 14. Kachapati, K., et al., *The non-obese diabetic (NOD) mouse as a model of human type 1 diabetes.* Methods Mol Biol, 2012. **933**: p. 3-16.
- 15. Thayer, T.C., S.B. Wilson, and C.E. Mathews, *Use of nonobese diabetic mice to understand human type 1 diabetes*. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America, 2010. **39**(3): p. 541-561.

- 16. Chen, Y.-G., C.E. Mathews, and J.P. Driver, *The Role of NOD Mice in Type 1 Diabetes Research: Lessons from the Past and Recommendations for the Future*. Frontiers in Endocrinology, 2018. **9**(51).
- 17. Ilonen, J., J. Lempainen, and R. Veijola, *The heterogeneous pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes mellitus*. 2019. p. 635-650.
- 18. Wang, Z., et al., *Beyond Genetics: What Causes Type 1 Diabetes*. Clinical Reviews in Allergy & Immunology, 2016. **52**.
- 19. Makino, S., et al., *Breeding of a non-obese, diabetic strain of mice*. Jikken Dobutsu, 1980. **29**(1): p. 1-13.
- 20. Anderson, M.S. and J.A. Bluestone, *The NOD mouse: a model of immune dysregulation*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2005. **23**: p. 447-85.
- 21. Burren, O.S., et al., *T1DBase: update 2011, organization and presentation of large-scale data sets for type 1 diabetes research.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2011. **39**(Database issue): p. D997-1001.
- 22. Driver, J.P., D.V. Serreze, and Y.G. Chen, *Mouse models for the study of autoimmune type 1 diabetes: a NOD to similarities and differences to human disease.* Semin Immunopathol, 2011. **33**(1): p. 67-87.
- 23. Wicker, L.S., J.A. Todd, and L.B. Peterson, *Genetic control of autoimmune diabetes in the NOD mouse*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1995. **13**: p. 179-200.
- 24. Tisch, R. and H. McDevitt, *Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus*. Cell, 1996. **85**(3): p. 291-297.
- 25. Acha-Orbea, H. and H.O. McDevitt, *The first external domain of the nonobese diabetic mouse class II I-A beta chain is unique.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1987. **84**(8): p. 2435-2439.
- 26. Slattery, R.M., et al., *Prevention of diabetes in non-obese diabetic I-Ak transgenic mice*. Nature, 1990. **345**(6277): p. 724-6.
- 27. Lund, T., et al., Prevention of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in nonobese diabetic mice by transgenes encoding modified I-A beta-chain or normal I-E alpha-chain. Nature, 1990. **345**(6277): p. 727-9.
- 28. Lyons, P.A., et al., *Congenic mapping of the type 1 diabetes locus, Idd3, to a 780-kb region of mouse chromosome 3: identification of a candidate segment of ancestral DNA by haplotype mapping.* Genome Res, 2000. **10**(4): p. 446-53.
- 29. McGuire, H.M., et al., *Loss of parity between IL-2 and IL-21 in the NOD Idd3 locus.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(46): p. 19438-43.
- 30. Sutherland, A.P.R., et al., *Interleukin-21 Is Required for the Development of Type 1 Diabetes in NOD Mice*. Diabetes, 2009. **58**(5): p. 1144-1155.
- 31. Serreze, D.V. and E.H. Leiter, *Defective activation of T suppressor cell function in nonobese diabetic mice. Potential relation to cytokine deficiencies.* The Journal of Immunology, 1988. **140**(11): p. 3801-7.

- 32. Serreze, D.V., K. Hamaguchi, and E.H. Leiter, *Immunostimulation circumvents diabetes in NOD/Lt mice*. J Autoimmun, 1989. **2**(6): p. 759-76.
- 33. Yamanouchi, J., et al., *Interleukin-2 gene variation impairs regulatory T cell function and causes autoimmunity*. Nat Genet, 2007. **39**(3): p. 329-37.
- 34. Spolski, R., et al., *IL-21 signaling is critical for the development of type I diabetes in the NOD mouse.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(37): p. 14028-33.
- 35. Ueda, H., et al., Association of the T-cell regulatory gene CTLA4 with susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Nature, 2003. **423**(6939): p. 506-11.
- 36. Prevot, N., et al., *Abrogation of ICOS/ICOS ligand costimulation in NOD mice results in autoimmune deviation toward the neuromuscular system*. European journal of immunology, 2010. **40**(8): p. 2267-2276.
- 37. Hawiger, D., et al., *ICOS mediates the development of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in nonobese diabetic mice.* J Immunol, 2008. **180**(5): p. 3140-7.
- Serreze, D.V., et al., Through Regulation of TCR Expression Levels, an Idd7 Region Gene(s) Interactively Contributes to the Impaired Thymic Deletion of Autoreactive Diabetogenic CD8+ T Cells in Nonobese Diabetic Mice. The Journal of Immunology, 2008. 180(5): p. 3250-3259.
- 39. Ji, Q., A. Perchellet, and J.M. Goverman, *Viral infection triggers central nervous system autoimmunity via activation of CD8+ T cells expressing dual TCRs*. Nat Immunol, 2010. **11**(7): p. 628-34.
- 40. Lyons, P.A., et al., *The NOD Idd9 genetic interval influences the pathogenicity of insulitis and contains molecular variants of Cd30, Tnfr2, and Cd137.* Immunity, 2000. **13**(1): p. 107-15.
- 41. Silveira, P.A., et al., *Genes within the Idd5 and Idd9/11 diabetes susceptibility loci affect the pathogenic activity of B cells in nonobese diabetic mice.* J Immunol, 2006. **177**(10): p. 7033-41.
- 42. Ueno, A., et al., Enhanced early expansion and maturation of semi-invariant NK T cells inhibited autoimmune pathogenesis in congenic nonobese diabetic mice. J Immunol, 2008. **181**(10): p. 6789-96.
- 43. Yamanouchi, J., et al., *Idd9.1 locus controls the suppressive activity of FoxP3+CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cells.* Diabetes, 2010. **59**(1): p. 272-81.
- 44. Serreze, D.V., et al., Subcongenic analysis of the Idd13 locus in NOD/Lt mice: evidence for several susceptibility genes including a possible diabetogenic role for beta 2-microglobulin. J Immunol, 1998. **160**(3): p. 1472-8.
- 45. Zekavat, G., et al., A novel CD93 polymorphism in non-obese diabetic (NOD) and NZB/W F1 mice is linked to a CD4+ iNKT cell deficient state. Immunogenetics, 2010. **62**(6): p. 397-407.

- 46. Parnes, J.R. and J.G. Seidman, *Structure of wild-type and mutant mouse beta* 2-microglobulin genes. Cell, 1982. **29**(2): p. 661-9.
- 47. Gasser, D.L., et al., *A new beta-2 microglobulin allele in mice defined by DNA sequencing*. Immunogenetics, 1985. **22**(4): p. 413-6.
- 48. Hamilton-Williams, E.E., et al., *Transgenic rescue implicates beta2microglobulin as a diabetes susceptibility gene in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(20): p. 11533-8.
- 49. Fletcher, J.M., et al., *Congenic analysis of the NKT cell control gene Nkt2 implicates the peroxisomal protein Pxmp4*. J Immunol, 2008. **181**(5): p. 3400-12.
- 50. Liston, A., et al., *Generalized resistance to thymic deletion in the NOD mouse; a polygenic trait characterized by defective induction of Bim.* Immunity, 2004. **21**(6): p. 817-30.
- 51. Williams, A., et al., *Raised temperature reduces the incidence of diabetes in the NOD mouse*. Diabetologia, 1990. **33**(10): p. 635-637.
- 52. Rewers, M. and J. Ludvigsson, *Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes*. Lancet (London, England), 2016. **387**(10035): p. 2340-2348.
- 53. Infante, M., et al., *Influence of Vitamin D on Islet Autoimmunity and Beta-Cell Function in Type 1 Diabetes.* Nutrients, 2019. **11**(9): p. 2185.
- 54. Giulietti, A., et al., *Vitamin D deficiency in early life accelerates Type 1 diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice*. Diabetologia, 2004. **47**(3): p. 451-62.
- 55. Mathieu, C., et al., 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 prevents insulitis in NOD mice. Diabetes, 1992. **41**(11): p. 1491-5.
- 56. Mathieu, C., et al., *Prevention of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice by 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3*. Diabetologia, 1994. **37**(6): p. 552-8.
- 57. D'Ambrosio, D., et al., Inhibition of IL-12 production by 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3. Involvement of NF-kappaB downregulation in transcriptional repression of the p40 gene. J Clin Invest, 1998. **101**(1): p. 252-62.
- 58. Zipitis, C.S. and A.K. Akobeng, Vitamin D supplementation in early childhood and risk of type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 2008. **93**(6): p. 512.
- 59. Altieri, B., et al., *Does vitamin D play a role in autoimmune endocrine disorders? A proof of concept.* Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders, 2017(3): p. 335.
- 60. Norris, J.M., et al., *Plasma 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentration and Risk of Islet Autoimmunity*. Diabetes, 2017: p. db170802.
- 61. Mishra, A., et al., Effect of 6-months' vitamin D supplementation on residual beta cell function in children with type 1 diabetes: a case control

*interventional study*, in *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology and Metabolism*. 2016. p. 395.

- 62. Hypponen, E., et al., *Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study*. Lancet, 2001. **358**(9292): p. 1500-3.
- 63. Walter, M., et al., *No effect of the 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on betacell residual function and insulin requirement in adults with new-onset type 1 diabetes.* Diabetes Care, 2010. **33**(7): p. 1443-8.
- 64. Richards, J.L., et al., *Dietary metabolites and the gut microbiota: an alternative approach to control inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.* Clin Transl Immunology, 2016. **5**(5): p. e82.
- 65. Jayasimhan, A., Kristy P. Mansour, and Robyn M. Slattery, *Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse*. Clinical Science, 2014. **126**(1): p. 1-18.
- 66. Coleman, D.L., J.E. Kuzava, and E.H. Leiter, *Effect of diet on incidence of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice*. Diabetes, 1990. **39**(4): p. 432-6.
- 67. Lefebvre, D.E., et al., *Dietary proteins as environmental modifiers of type 1 diabetes mellitus*. Annu. Rev. Nutr., 2006. **26**: p. 175-202.
- 68. Flohe, S.B., et al., *A wheat-based, diabetes-promoting diet induces a Th1type cytokine bias in the gut of NOD mice.* Cytokine, 2003. **21**(3): p. 149-54.
- 69. Kagohashi, Y., et al., *Maternal dietary n-6/n-3 fatty acid ratio affects type 1 diabetes development in the offspring of non-obese diabetic mice.* Congenit Anom (Kyoto), 2010. **50**(4): p. 212-20.
- 70. Norris, J.M., et al., *Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid intake and islet autoimmunity in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes.* JAMA, 2007. **298**(12): p. 1420-8.
- 71. Lands, W.E., et al., *Changing dietary patterns*. Am J Clin Nutr, 1990. **51**(6): p. 991-3.
- 72. Oh, D.Y., et al., *GPR120 is an omega-3 fatty acid receptor mediating potent anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing effects.* Cell, 2010. **142**(5): p. 687-98.
- 73. Zhang, M.J. and M. Spite, *Resolvins: anti-inflammatory and proresolving mediators derived from omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids.* Annu Rev Nutr, 2012. **32**: p. 203-27.
- 74. Calcinaro, F., et al., Oral probiotic administration induces interleukin-10 production and prevents spontaneous autoimmune diabetes in the non-obese diabetic mouse. Diabetologia, 2005. **48**(8): p. 1565-75.
- 75. Maslowski, K.M. and C.R. Mackay, *Diet, gut microbiota and immune responses*. Nat Immunol, 2011. **12**(1): p. 5-9.
- 76. Herold, K.C., et al., *Type 1 diabetes: translating mechanistic observations into effective clinical outcomes.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2013. **13**(4): p. 243-56.

- 77. Marino, E., et al., Gut microbial metabolites limit the frequency of autoimmune T cells and protect against type 1 diabetes. Nat Immunol, 2017. 18(5): p. 552-562.
- 78. Vatanen, T., et al., *The human gut microbiome in early-onset type 1 diabetes from the TEDDY study*. Nature, 2018. **562**(7728): p. 589-594.
- 79. Vatanen, T., et al., Variation in Microbiome LPS Immunogenicity Contributes to Autoimmunity in Humans. Cell, 2016. **165**(4): p. 842-53.
- Gavin, P.G., et al., Intestinal Metaproteomics Reveals Host-Microbiota Interactions in Subjects at Risk for Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Care, 2018. 41(10): p. 2178-2186.
- 81. Mullaney, J.A., et al., *Type 1 diabetes susceptibility alleles are associated with distinct alterations in the gut microbiota*. Microbiome, 2018. **6**(1): p. 35.
- 82. Yap, Y.A. and E. Marino, An Insight Into the Intestinal Web of Mucosal Immunity, Microbiota, and Diet in Inflammation. Front Immunol, 2018. 9: p. 2617.
- 83. Marino, E., *The gut microbiota and immune-regulation: the fate of health and disease*. Clin Transl Immunology, 2016. **5**(11): p. e107.
- 84. McLeod K, R., J, Yap YA and Mariño E Dietary Short Chain Fatty Acids: How the Gut Microbiota Fight Against Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases, in Bioactive food as dietary interventions for arthritis and related inflammatory diseases., R.R.W.a.V.R. Preedy, Editor. 2019, Elssevier: United Kingdom and United States. p. 139-152.
- 85. Richards J, y.Y., McLeod K, Mackay R.C, Marino E., *Diet and gut Microbiota: An Alternative way to control inflamatory and autoimmune diseases.* Clinical and Translational Immunology, 2016. **2**.
- 86. Hasnain, S.Z., et al., Glycemic control in diabetes is restored by therapeutic manipulation of cytokines that regulate beta cell stress. Nat Med, 2014. 20(12): p. 1417-26.
- 87. Wang, X., et al., Interleukin-22 alleviates metabolic disorders and restores mucosal immunity in diabetes. Nature, 2014.
- 88. Dudakov, J.A., A.M. Hanash, and M.R. van den Brink, *Interleukin-22: immunobiology and pathology*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2015. **33**: p. 747-85.
- 89. Sabat, R., W. Ouyang, and K. Wolk, *Therapeutic opportunities of the IL-22-IL-22R1 system*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2014. **13**(1): p. 21-38.
- 90. Sun, J., et al., Pancreatic beta-Cells Limit Autoimmune Diabetes via an Immunoregulatory Antimicrobial Peptide Expressed under the Influence of the Gut Microbiota. Immunity, 2015. **43**(2): p. 304-17.
- 91. Gallo, R.L. and L.V. Hooper, *Epithelial antimicrobial defence of the skin and intestine*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2012. **12**(7): p. 503-16.

- 92. Bevins, C.L. and N.H. Salzman, *Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis.* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2011. **9**(5): p. 356-68.
- 93. Mukherjee, S. and L.V. Hooper, *Antimicrobial defense of the intestine*. Immunity, 2015. **42**(1): p. 28-39.
- 94. Hill, T., et al., *The involvement of interleukin-22 in the expression of pancreatic beta cell regenerative Reg genes.* Cell Regen (Lond), 2013. **2**(1): p. 2.
- 95. Han, H., et al., *Gut Microbiota and Type 1 Diabetes*. International journal of molecular sciences, 2018. **19**(4): p. 995.
- 96. Jamshidi, P., et al., *Is there any association between gut microbiota and type 1 diabetes? A systematic review.* Gut pathogens, 2019. **11**: p. 49-49.
- 97. Syed, I., et al., *PAHSAs attenuate immune responses and promote β cell survival in autoimmune diabetic mice*. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2019. **129**(9): p. 3717-3731.
- 98. Ljungberg, M., et al., Probiotics for the Prevention of Beta Cell Autoimmunity in Children at Genetic Risk of Type 1 Diabetes—the PRODIA Study. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 2006. 1079(1): p. 360-364.
- 99. Hansen, A.K., et al., *Diabetes preventive gluten-free diet decreases the number of caecal bacteria in non-obese diabetic mice*. Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2006. **22**(3): p. 220-5.
- 100. Krogvold, L., et al., Detection of a Low-Grade Enteroviral Infection in the Islets of Langerhans of Living Patients Newly Diagnosed With Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes, 2015. **64**(5): p. 1682.
- 101. Coppieters, K.T., T. Boettler, and M. von Herrath, *Virus Infections in Type 1 Diabetes.* Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine, 2012. **2**(1).
- 102. Vaarala, O., M.A. Atkinson, and J. Neu, *The "perfect storm" for type 1 diabetes: the complex interplay between intestinal microbiota, gut permeability, and mucosal immunity.* Diabetes, 2008. **57**(10): p. 2555-62.
- 103. Favaro, E., et al., Islet Endothelium: Role in Type 1 Diabetes and in Coxsackievirus Infections.
- 104. Kay, T.W., et al., Overexpression of class I major histocompatibility complex accompanies insulitis in the non-obese diabetic mouse and is prevented by anti-interferon-gamma antibody. Diabetologia, 1991. **34**(11): p. 779-85.
- 105. Itoh, N., et al., Mononuclear cell infiltration and its relation to the expression of major histocompatibility complex antigens and adhesion molecules in pancreas biopsy specimens from newly diagnosed insulindependent diabetes mellitus patients. J Clin Invest, 1993. **92**(5): p. 2313-22.

- 106. Oldstone, M.B., et al., Virus infection triggers insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in a transgenic model: role of anti-self (virus) immune response. Cell, 1991. **65**(2): p. 319-31.
- 107. Seewaldt, S., et al., Virus-induced autoimmune diabetes: most beta-cells die through inflammatory cytokines and not perforin from autoreactive (anti-viral) cytotoxic T-lymphocytes. Diabetes, 2000. **49**(11): p. 1801-1809.
- 108. Shinomiya, M., et al., *In situ characterization of dendritic cells occurring in the islets of nonobese diabetic mice during the development of insulitis.* Pancreas, 2000. **20**(3): p. 290-6.
- 109. Wallet, M.A. and R. Tisch, *Type 1 diabetes, inflammation and dendritic cells.* Drug Discovery Today: Disease Mechanisms, 2006. **3**(3): p. 373-379.
- 110. Turley, S., et al., *Physiological beta cell death triggers priming of selfreactive T cells by dendritic cells in a type-1 diabetes model.* J Exp Med, 2003. **198**(10): p. 1527-37.
- 111. von Herrath, M.G., R.S. Fujinami, and J.L. Whitton, *Microorganisms and autoimmunity: making the barren field fertile?* Nat Rev Microbiol, 2003. 1(2): p. 151-7.
- 112. Bouma, G., et al., An increased MRP8/14 expression and adhesion, but a decreased migration towards proinflammatory chemokines of type 1 diabetes monocytes. Clin Exp Immunol, 2005. **141**(3): p. 509-17.
- 113. Alleva, D.G., et al., Aberrant macrophage cytokine production is a conserved feature among autoimmune-prone mouse strains: elevated interleukin (IL)-12 and an imbalance in tumor necrosis factor-alpha and IL-10 define a unique cytokine profile in macrophages from young nonobese diabetic mice. Diabetes, 2000. **49**(7): p. 1106-15.
- 114. Lety, M.A., et al., *Enhanced metabolism of arachidonic acid by macrophages from nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice.* Clin Immunol Immunopathol, 1992. **64**(3): p. 188-96.
- 115. Litherland, S.A., et al., Aberrant prostaglandin synthase 2 expression defines an antigen-presenting cell defect for insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1999. **104**(4): p. 515-523.
- 116. Piganelli, J.D., T. Martin, and K. Haskins, Splenic macrophages from the NOD mouse are defective in the ability to present antigen. Diabetes, 1998.
  47(8): p. 1212-8.
- 117. Pozzilli, P., et al., *Clinical update on the use of immuno modulators* (*antiCD3, GAD, Diapep277, anti-IL1*) *in type 1 diabetes.* Curr Pharm Des, 2011. **17**(29): p. 3224-8.
- 118. Peng, R., et al., Defective maturation of myeloid dendritic cell (DC) in NOD mice is controlled by IDD10/17/18. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2003. 1005: p. 184-6.

- Poligone, B., et al., *Elevated NF-kappaB activation in nonobese diabetic mouse dendritic cells results in enhanced APC function*. J Immunol, 2002. 168(1): p. 188-96.
- 120. Li, M., et al., *SUMO wrestling with type 1 diabetes*. J Mol Med (Berl), 2005. **83**(7): p. 504-13.
- 121. Grohmann, U., et al., A defect in tryptophan catabolism impairs tolerance in nonobese diabetic mice. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2003. 198(1): p. 153-60.
- Saxena, V., et al., The countervailing actions of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells control autoimmune diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse. J Immunol, 2007. 179(8): p. 5041-53.
- Brauner, H., et al., Distinct Phenotype and Function of NK Cells in the Pancreas of Nonobese Diabetic Mice. The Journal of Immunology, 2010. 184(5): p. 2272-2280.
- 124. Dotta, F., et al., Coxsackie B4 virus infection of beta cells and natural killer cell insulitis in recent-onset type 1 diabetic patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. 104(12): p. 5115-20.
- 125. Alter, G., J.M. Malenfant, and M. Altfeld, *CD107a as a functional marker for the identification of natural killer cell activity*. Journal of Immunological Methods, 2004. **294**(1–2): p. 15-22.
- 126. Ogasawara, K., et al., *NKG2D Blockade Prevents Autoimmune Diabetes in NOD Mice*. Immunity, 2004. **20**(6): p. 757-767.
- 127. Backstrom, E., K. Kristensson, and H.G. Ljunggren, *Activation of natural killer cells: underlying molecular mechanisms revealed*. Scand J Immunol, 2004. **60**(1-2): p. 14-22.
- 128. Hamilton-Williams, E.E., et al., *Beta cell MHC class I is a late requirement for diabetes.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(11): p. 6688-93.
- 129. Signore, A., et al., *The natural history of lymphocyte subsets infiltrating the pancreas of NOD mice*. Diabetologia, 1989. **32**(5): p. 282-9.
- 130. Yang, M., B. Charlton, and A.M. Gautam, *Development of insulitis and diabetes in B cell-deficient NOD mice*. J Autoimmun, 1997. **10**(3): p. 257-60.
- Chiu, P.P., D.V. Serreze, and J.S. Danska, Development and function of diabetogenic T-cells in B-cell-deficient nonobese diabetic mice. Diabetes, 2001. 50(4): p. 763-70.
- 132. Akashi, T., et al., Direct evidence for the contribution of B cells to the progression of insulitis and the development of diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice. Int Immunol, 1997. **9**(8): p. 1159-64.

- 133. Noorchashm, H., et al., *I-Ag7-mediated antigen presentation by B lymphocytes is critical in overcoming a checkpoint in T cell tolerance to islet beta cells of nonobese diabetic mice.* J Immunol, 1999. **163**(2): p. 743-50.
- 134. Noorchashm, H., et al., *B-cells are required for the initiation of insulitis and sialitis in nonobese diabetic mice*. Diabetes, 1997. **46**(6): p. 941-6.
- 135. von Herrath, M. and J.F. Bach, *Juvenile autoimmune diabetes: A pathogenic role for maternal antibodies?* Nature medicine, 2002. **8**(4): p. 331-333.
- Greeley, S.A., et al., *Elimination of maternally transmitted autoantibodies* prevents diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. Nat Med, 2002. 8(4): p. 399-402.
- 137. Inoue, Y., et al., Activating Fc gamma receptors participate in the development of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. J Immunol, 2007. 179(2): p. 764-74.
- 138. Wong, F.S., et al., *Investigation of the role of B-cells in type 1 diabetes in the NOD mouse*. Diabetes, 2004. **53**(10): p. 2581-7.
- Gazda, L.S., B. Charlton, and K.J. Lafferty, *Diabetes results from a late change in the autoimmune response of NOD mice*. J Autoimmun, 1997. 10(3): p. 261-70.
- 140. André, I., et al., *Checkpoints in the progression of autoimmune disease: lessons from diabetes models.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1996. **93**(6): p. 2260-2263.
- 141. Mamula, M.J. and C.A. Janeway Jr, *Do B cells drive the diversification of immune responses?* Immunology Today, 1993. **14**(4): p. 151-152.
- 142. Mariño, E., et al., *B-Cell Cross-Presentation of Autologous Antigen Precipitates Diabetes*. Diabetes, 2012. **61**(11): p. 2893-2905.
- 143. Marino, E., et al., Marginal-zone B-cells of nonobese diabetic mice expand with diabetes onset, invade the pancreatic lymph nodes, and present autoantigen to diabetogenic T-cells. Diabetes, 2008. **57**(2): p. 395-404.
- 144. Serreze, D.V., et al., Loss of intra-islet CD20 expression may complicate efficacy of B-cell-directed type 1 diabetes therapies. Diabetes, 2011. **60**(11): p. 2914-21.
- 145. Martin, S., et al., Development of type 1 diabetes despite severe hereditary B-cell deficiency. New England Journal of Medicine, 2001. 345(14): p. 1036-1040.
- 146. Bendelac, A., et al., Syngeneic transfer of autoimmune diabetes from diabetic NOD mice to healthy neonates. Requirement for both L3T4+ and Lyt-2+ T cells. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1987. 166(4): p. 823-832.
- 147. Christianson, S.W., L.D. Shultz, and E.H. Leiter, Adoptive transfer of diabetes into immunodeficient NOD-scid/scid mice. Relative contributions of

CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells from diabetic versus prediabetic NOD.NON-Thyla donors. Diabetes, 1993. **42**(1): p. 44-55.

- 148. Chatenoud, L., et al., Anti-CD3 antibody induces long-term remission of overt autoimmunity in nonobese diabetic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(1): p. 123-7.
- 149. Cotta-de-Almeida, V., et al., *Impaired migration of NOD mouse thymocytes: a fibronectin receptor-related defect*. Eur J Immunol, 2004. **34**(6): p. 1578-87.
- 150. Schmidt, D., et al., A mechanism for the major histocompatibility complexlinked resistance to autoimmunity. J Exp Med, 1997. **186**(7): p. 1059-75.
- 151. Bonner, S.M., et al., Sequence variation in promoter of Ica1 gene, which encodes protein implicated in type 1 diabetes, causes transcription factor autoimmune regulator (AIRE) to increase its binding and down-regulate expression. J Biol Chem, 2012. **287**(21): p. 17882-93.
- 152. French, M.B., et al., *Transgenic expression of mouse proinsulin II prevents diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice*. Diabetes, 1997. **46**(1): p. 34-9.
- 153. Pugliese, A., et al., *The insulin gene is transcribed in the human thymus and transcription levels correlated with allelic variation at the INS VNTR-IDDM2 susceptibility locus for type 1 diabetes.* Nat Genet, 1997. **15**(3): p. 293-7.
- 154. Choisy-Rossi, C.M., et al., *Enhanced pathogenicity of diabetogenic T cells escaping a non-MHC gene-controlled near death experience.* J Immunol, 2004. **173**(6): p. 3791-800.
- 155. Ueno, T., et al., *Role for CCR7 ligands in the emigration of newly generated T lymphocytes from the neonatal thymus.* Immunity, 2002. **16**(2): p. 205-18.
- 156. Martin, A.P., et al., *CCR7 Deficiency in NOD Mice Leads to Thyroiditis and Primary Hypothyroidism.* The Journal of Immunology, 2009. **183**(5): p. 3073-3080.
- 157. Gagnerault, M.C., et al., *Pancreatic lymph nodes are required for priming of beta cell reactive T cells in NOD mice*. J Exp Med, 2002. **196**(3): p. 369-77.
- 158. Stratmann, T., et al., *The I-Ag7 MHC Class II Molecule Linked to Murine Diabetes Is a Promiscuous Peptide Binder*. The Journal of Immunology, 2000. **165**(6): p. 3214-3225.
- 159. Latek, R.R., et al., *Structural basis of peptide binding and presentation by the type I diabetes-associated MHC class II molecule of NOD mice.* Immunity, 2000. **12**(6): p. 699-710.
- 160. Kwok, W.W., et al., Allele-specific motifs characterize HLA-DQ interactions with a diabetes-associated peptide derived from glutamic acid decarboxylase. J Immunol, 1996. **156**(6): p. 2171-7.

- 161. Yip, L., et al., *Deaf1 isoforms control the expression of genes encoding peripheral tissue antigens in the pancreatic lymph nodes during type 1 diabetes.* Nature immunology, 2009. **10**(9): p. 1026-1033.
- 162. Balasa, B., et al., *CD40 ligand-CD40 interactions are necessary for the initiation of insulitis and diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice.* J Immunol, 1997. **159**(9): p. 4620-7.
- Baker, R.L., D.H. Wagner, Jr., and K. Haskins, *CD40 on NOD CD4 T cells contributes to their activation and pathogenicity*. J Autoimmun, 2008. **31**(4): p. 385-92.
- 164. Luhder, F., et al., Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) regulates the unfolding of autoimmune diabetes. J Exp Med, 1998. 187(3): p. 427-32.
- Stumpf, M., X. Zhou, and J.A. Bluestone, *The B7-independent isoform of CTLA-4 functions to regulate autoimmune diabetes*. J Immunol, 2013. 190(3): p. 961-9.
- 166. Orban, T., et al., *Co-stimulation modulation with abatacept in patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial.* Lancet, 2011. **378**(9789): p. 412-9.
- 167. Ansari, M.J., et al., *The programmed death-1 (PD-1) pathway regulates autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice.* J Exp Med, 2003. 198(1): p. 63-9.
- 168. Tsutsumi, Y., et al., Phenotypic and genetic analyses of T-cell-mediated immunoregulation in patients with Type 1 diabetes. Diabet Med, 2006. 23(10): p. 1145-50.
- Lin, G.J., et al., Transgenic expression of murine chemokine decoy receptor D6 by islets reveals the role of inflammatory CC chemokines in the development of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetologia, 2011. 54(7): p. 1777-87.
- Hänninen, A., et al., Vascular addressins are induced on islet vessels during insulitis in nonobese diabetic mice and are involved in lymphoid cell binding to islet endothelium. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 1993. 92(5): p. 2509-2515.
- 171. Savinov, A.Y. and A.Y. Strongin, *Matrix metalloproteinases, T cell homing and beta-cell mass in type 1 diabetes.* Vitam Horm, 2009. **80**: p. 541-62.
- 172. Zanone, M.M., et al., Persistent Infection of Human Microvascular Endothelial Cells by Coxsackie B Viruses Induces Increased Expression of Adhesion Molecules. The Journal of Immunology, 2003. **171**(1): p. 438-446.
- 173. Yagi, N., et al., Expression of Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1 on Pancreatic  $\beta$ -Cells Accelerates  $\beta$ -Cell Destruction by Cytotoxic T-Cells in Murine Autoimmune Diabetes. Diabetes, 1995. **44**(7): p. 744-752.

- 174. Charlton, B., et al., *Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) inhibition can induce tolerance in vivo*. Immunol Cell Biol, 1991. **69 ( Pt 2)**: p. 89-93.
- 175. Wicker, L.S., et al., *Beta 2-microglobulin-deficient NOD mice do not develop insulitis or diabetes.* Diabetes, 1994. **43**(3): p. 500-4.
- 176. Katz, J., C. Benoist, and D. Mathis, *Major histocompatibility complex class I molecules are required for the development of insulitis in non-obese diabetic mice*. Eur J Immunol, 1993. **23**(12): p. 3358-60.
- 177. Serreze, D.V., et al., Major histocompatibility complex class I-deficient NOD-B2mnull mice are diabetes and insulitis resistant. Diabetes, 1994.
  43(3): p. 505-9.
- 178. Sumida, T., et al., Prevention of insulitis and diabetes in beta 2microglobulin-deficient non-obese diabetic mice. Int Immunol, 1994. **6**(9): p. 1445-9.
- 179. de Jersey, J., et al., *Beta cells cannot directly prime diabetogenic CD8 T cells in nonobese diabetic mice*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2007. **104**(4): p. 1295-300.
- 180. Daniel, D., et al., *Epitope specificity, cytokine production profile and diabetogenic activity of insulin-specific T cell clones isolated from NOD mice*. Eur J Immunol, 1995. **25**(4): p. 1056-62.
- 181. Wong, F.S., et al., *Identification of an MHC class I-restricted autoantigen in type 1 diabetes by screening an organ-specific cDNA library.* Nat Med, 1999. **5**(9): p. 1026-31.
- 182. Nakayama, M., et al., *Prime role for an insulin epitope in the development of type 1 diabetes in NOD mice*. Nature, 2005. **435**(7039): p. 220-223.
- Zhang, Z.J., et al., Suppression of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice by oral administration of porcine insulin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1991. 88(22): p. 10252-6.
- 184. Bergerot, I., et al., Oral administration of human insulin to NOD mice generates CD4+ T cells that suppress adoptive transfer of diabetes. J Autoimmun, 1994. 7(5): p. 655-63.
- 185. Chaillous, L., et al., Oral insulin administration and residual (?-cell function in recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. The Lancet, 2000. 356(9229): p. 545-549.
- 186. Skyler, J.S., et al., Effects of oral insulin in relatives of patients with type 1 diabetes: The Diabetes Prevention Trial--Type 1. Diabetes Care, 2005. 28(5): p. 1068-76.
- 187. Orban, T., et al., Autoantigen-specific regulatory T cells induced in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus by insulin B-chain immunotherapy. J Autoimmun, 2010. **34**(4): p. 408-15.

- Babad, J., A. Geliebter, and T.P. DiLorenzo, *T-cell autoantigens in the non-obese diabetic mouse model of autoimmune diabetes*. Immunology, 2010. 131(4): p. 459-65.
- 189. Mallone, R., V. Brezar, and C. Boitard, *T Cell Recognition of Autoantigens in Human Type 1 Diabetes: Clinical Perspectives.* Clinical and Developmental Immunology, 2011. **2011**: p. 16.
- 190. Ludvigsson, J., et al., *GAD treatment and insulin secretion in recent-onset type 1 diabetes.* N Engl J Med, 2008. **359**: p. 1909 1920.
- 191. Rabinovitch, A., et al., *IFN-gamma gene expression in pancreatic isletinfiltrating mononuclear cells correlates with autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice.* J Immunol, 1995. **154**(9): p. 4874-82.
- 192. Cameron, M.J., et al., *IL-4 prevents insulitis and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in nonobese diabetic mice by potentiation of regulatory T helper-2 cell function.* J Immunol, 1997. **159**(10): p. 4686-92.
- 193. Saunders, K.A., et al., *Inhibition of autoimmune type 1 diabetes by* gastrointestinal helminth infection. Infect Immun, 2007. **75**(1): p. 397-407.
- 194. Hultgren, B., et al., *Genetic absence of gamma-interferon delays but does not prevent diabetes in NOD mice.* Diabetes, 1996. **45**(6): p. 812-7.
- 195. Serreze, D.V., et al., Interferon-gamma receptor signaling is dispensable in the development of autoimmune type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetes, 2000. **49**(12): p. 2007-11.
- 196. Bettelli, E., T. Korn, and V.K. Kuchroo, *Th17: the third member of the effector T cell trilogy*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2007. **19**(6): p. 652-7.
- 197. Vukkadapu, S.S., et al., *Dynamic interaction between T cell-mediated betacell damage and beta-cell repair in the run up to autoimmune diabetes of the NOD mouse*. Physiol Genomics, 2005. **21**(2): p. 201-11.
- 198. Emamaullee, J.A., et al., *Inhibition of Th17 cells regulates autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice*. Diabetes, 2009. **58**(6): p. 1302-11.
- 199. Joseph, J., et al., *IL-17 silencing does not protect nonobese diabetic mice from autoimmune diabetes.* J Immunol, 2012. **188**(1): p. 216-21.
- 200. Bending, D., et al., *Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD mice convert into Th1-like cells in NOD/SCID recipient mice.* The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2009. **119**(3): p. 565-572.
- 201. Wagner, D.H., Jr., et al., *Expression of CD40 identifies a unique pathogenic T cell population in type 1 diabetes.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. 99(6): p. 3782-7.
- 202. Waid, D.M., G.M. Vaitaitis, and D.H. Wagner, Jr., *Peripheral CD4loCD40+ auto-aggressive T cell expansion during insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus*. Eur J Immunol, 2004. **34**(5): p. 1488-97.

- 203. Waid, D.M., et al., *A unique T cell subset described as CD4loCD40+ T cells* (*TCD40*) *in human type 1 diabetes.* Clin Immunol, 2007. **124**(2): p. 138-48.
- 204. Brusko, T. and M. Atkinson, *Treg in type 1 diabetes*. Cell Biochem Biophys, 2007. **48**(2-3): p. 165-75.
- 205. Tang, Q., et al., *Central role of defective interleukin-2 production in the triggering of islet autoimmune destruction*. Immunity, 2008. **28**(5): p. 687-97.
- 206. Grinberg-Bleyer, Y., et al., *IL-2 reverses established type 1 diabetes in NOD mice by a local effect on pancreatic regulatory T cells.* The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2010. **207**(9): p. 1871-1878.
- 207. Zhao, Y., et al., Human cord blood stem cell-modulated regulatory T lymphocytes reverse the autoimmune-caused type 1 diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. PLoS ONE, 2009. **4**(1): p. e4226.
- 208. Zhao, Y., et al., *Reversal of type 1 diabetes via islet beta cell regeneration following immune modulation by cord blood-derived multipotent stem cells.*BMC Medicine, 2012. 10(1): p. 3.
- 209. Gombert, J.M., et al., *Early quantitative and functional deficiency of NK1+like thymocytes in the NOD mouse.* Eur J Immunol, 1996. **26**(12): p. 2989-98.
- 210. Falcone, M., et al., A defect in interleukin 12-induced activation and interferon gamma secretion of peripheral natural killer T cells in nonobese diabetic mice suggests new pathogenic mechanisms for insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Exp Med, 1999. **190**(7): p. 963-72.
- 211. Fletcher, M.T. and A.G. Baxter, *Clinical application of NKT cell biology in type I (autoimmune) diabetes mellitus*. Immunol Cell Biol, 2009. **87**(4): p. 315-23.
- 212. Hammond, K.J., et al., *alpha/beta-T cell receptor* (*TCR*)+*CD4-CD8-* (*NKT*) thymocytes prevent insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in nonobese diabetic (*NOD*)/*Lt mice by the influence of interleukin* (*IL*)-4 and/or *IL-10.* J Exp Med, 1998. **187**(7): p. 1047-56.
- 213. Novak, J., et al., Inhibition of T Cell Differentiation into Effectors by NKT Cells Requires Cell Contacts. The Journal of Immunology, 2005. **174**(4): p. 1954-1961.
- 214. Pirot, P., A.K. Cardozo, and D.L. Eizirik, *Mediators and mechanisms of pancreatic beta-cell death in type 1 diabetes*. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol, 2008. **52**(2): p. 156-65.
- 215. Richardson, S.J., et al., *Islet cell hyperexpression of HLA class I antigens: a defining feature in type 1 diabetes.* Diabetologia, 2016. **59**(11): p. 2448-2458.

- 216. Marhfour, I., et al., *Expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress markers in the islets of patients with type 1 diabetes.* Diabetologia, 2012. **55**(9): p. 2417-2420.
- 217. Nagy, N., et al., Inhibition of hyaluronan synthesis restores immune tolerance during autoimmune insulitis. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2015. **125**(10): p. 3928-3940.
- 218. Ahmed, R., et al., A Public BCR Present in a Unique Dual-Receptor-Expressing Lymphocyte from Type 1 Diabetes Patients Encodes a Potent T Cell Autoantigen. Cell, 2019. **177**(6): p. 1583-1599.e16.
- 219. McLaughlin, R.J., et al., *Human islets and dendritic cells generate posttranslationally modified islet autoantigens*. Clinical and experimental immunology, 2016. **185**(2): p. 133-140.
- 220. McLaughlin, R.J., et al., *Where, How, and When: Positioning Posttranslational Modification Within Type 1 Diabetes Pathogenesis.* Current diabetes reports, 2016. **16**(7): p. 63-63.
- 221. Delong, T., et al., Pathogenic CD4 T cells in type 1 diabetes recognize epitopes formed by peptide fusion. Science (New York, N.Y.), 2016. 351(6274): p. 711-714.
- 222. Graham, K.L., et al., Intra-islet proliferation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes contributes to insulitis progression. Eur J Immunol, 2012. **42**(7): p. 1717-22.
- 223. Su, X., et al., Significant Role for Fas in the Pathogenesis of Autoimmune Diabetes. The Journal of Immunology, 2000. **164**(5): p. 2523-2532.
- 224. McInerney, M.F., S. Rath, and C.A. Janeway, Jr., *Exclusive expression of MHC class II proteins on CD45+ cells in pancreatic islets of NOD mice.* Diabetes, 1991. **40**(5): p. 648-51.
- 225. Yamanouchi, J., et al., Cross-priming of diabetogenic T cells dissociated from CTL-induced shedding of beta cell autoantigens. J Immunol, 2003. 171(12): p. 6900-9.
- 226. Kagi, D., et al., *Reduced incidence and delayed onset of diabetes in perforindeficient nonobese diabetic mice.* J Exp Med, 1997. **186**(7): p. 989-97.
- 227. Coppieters, K.T., et al., Demonstration of islet-autoreactive CD8 T cells in insulitic lesions from recent onset and long-term type 1 diabetes patients. J Exp Med, 2012. 209(1): p. 51-60.
- 228. Bulek, A.M., et al., *Structural basis for the killing of human beta cells by* CD8(+) *T cells in type 1 diabetes.* Nat Immunol, 2012. **13**(3): p. 283-9.
- 229. Keymeulen, B., et al., Four-year metabolic outcome of a randomised controlled CD3-antibody trial in recent-onset type 1 diabetic patients depends on their age and baseline residual beta cell mass. Diabetologia, 2010. **53**(4): p. 614-23.

- 230. Chen, Y.-G., C.E. Mathews, and J.P. Driver, *The Role of NOD Mice in Type 1 Diabetes Research: Lessons from the Past and Recommendations for the Future.* Frontiers in endocrinology, 2018. **9**: p. 51-51.
- 231. Onengut-Gumuscu, S., et al., *Fine mapping of type 1 diabetes susceptibility loci and evidence for colocalization of causal variants with lymphoid gene enhancers.* Nature Genetics, 2015. **47**(4): p. 381-386.
- 232. Cerolsaletti, K., W. Hao, and C.J. Greenbaum, *Genetics Coming of Age in Type 1 Diabetes*. Diabetes Care, 2019. **42**(2): p. 189.
- 233. Burrack, A.L., T. Martinov, and B.T. Fife, *T Cell-Mediated Beta Cell Destruction: Autoimmunity and Alloimmunity in the Context of Type 1 Diabetes.* 2017. **8**(343).
- 234. Baker, R.L., et al., CD4 T Cells Reactive to Hybrid Insulin Peptides Are Indicators of Disease Activity in the NOD Mouse. Diabetes, 2018. 67(9): p. 1836.
- 235. Li, Y., et al., *Identification of autoreactive CD8+ T cell responses targeting chromogranin A in humanized NOD mice and type 1 diabetes patients*. Clinical Immunology, 2015. **159**(1): p. 63-71.
- 236. Pescovitz, M.D., et al., *Rituximab*, *B-lymphocyte depletion, and preservation of beta-cell function*. The New England journal of medicine, 2009. **361**(22): p. 2143-2152.
- 237. Hinman, R.M., M.J. Smith, and J.C. Cambier, *B cells and type 1 diabetes* ...*in mice and men.* Immunology letters, 2014. **160**(2): p. 128-132.
- 238. Valle, A., et al., *Reduction of circulating neutrophils precedes and accompanies type 1 diabetes*. Diabetes, 2013. **62**(6): p. 2072-2077.
- 239. Harsunen, M.H., et al., *Reduced blood leukocyte and neutrophil numbers in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes.* Horm Metab Res, 2013. **45**(6): p. 467-70.
- 240. Huang, J., et al., *Neutrophils in type 1 diabetes*. Journal of diabetes investigation, 2016. **7**(5): p. 652-663.
- 241. Haurogné, K., et al., *Type 1 Diabetes Prone NOD Mice Have Diminished Cxcr1 mRNA Expression in Polymorphonuclear Neutrophils and CD4+ T Lymphocytes.* PloS one, 2015. **10**(7): p. e0134365-e0134365.
- 242. Yu, L., et al., Early expression of antiinsulin autoantibodies of humans and the NOD mouse: evidence for early determination of subsequent diabetes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2000. 97(4): p. 1701-1706.
- 243. Michel, C., C. Boitard, and J.F. Bach, *Insulin autoantibodies in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice*. Clinical and Experimental Immunology, 1989. **75**(3): p. 457-460.

- 244. Melanitou, E., et al., *Early and quantal (by litter) expression of insulin autoantibodies in the nonobese diabetic mice predict early diabetes onset.* J Immunol, 2004. **173**(11): p. 6603-10.
- 245. Pescovitz, M.D., et al., *Rituximab, B-Lymphocyte Depletion, and Preservation of Beta-Cell Function.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2009. **361**(22): p. 2143-2152.
- 246. Tooley, J.E., F. Waldron-Lynch, and K.C. Herold, *New and future immunomodulatory therapy in type 1 diabetes*. Trends Mol Med, 2012. **18**(3): p. 173-81.
- 247. Parker, M.J., et al., Immune Depletion With Cellular Mobilization Imparts Immunoregulation and Reverses Autoimmune Diabetes in Nonobese Diabetic Mice. Diabetes, 2009. **58**(10): p. 2277.
- 248. Haller, M.J., et al., Low-Dose Anti-Thymocyte Globulin Preserves C-Peptide, Reduces HbA<sub&gt;1c&lt;/sub&gt;, and Increases Regulatory to Conventional T-Cell Ratios in New-Onset Type 1 Diabetes: Two-Year Clinical Trial Data. Diabetes, 2019. **68**(6): p. 1267.
- 249. Long, S.A., et al., *Rapamycin/IL-2 combination therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes augments Tregs yet transiently impairs beta-cell function.* Diabetes, 2012. **61**(9): p. 2340-8.
- 250. Herold, K.C., et al., *Teplizumab (anti-CD3 mAb) treatment preserves C-peptide responses in patients with new-onset type 1 diabetes in a randomized controlled trial: metabolic and immunologic features at baseline identify a subgroup of responders*. Diabetes, 2013. **62**(11): p. 3766-3774.
- 251. Herold, K.C., et al., *An Anti-CD3 Antibody, Teplizumab, in Relatives at Risk for Type 1 Diabetes.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2019. **381**(7): p. 603-613.
- 252. Machen, J., et al., Antisense Oligonucleotides Down-Regulating Costimulation Confer Diabetes-Preventive Properties to Nonobese Diabetic Mouse Dendritic Cells. The Journal of Immunology, 2004. 173(7): p. 4331-4341.
- 253. Giannoukakis, N., et al., *Phase I (safety) study of autologous tolerogenic dendritic cells in type 1 diabetic patients*. Diabetes Care, 2011. **34**(9): p. 2026-32.
- 254. Zhao, Y., et al., *Reversal of type 1 diabetes via islet beta cell regeneration following immune modulation by cord blood-derived multipotent stem cells.* BMC Med, 2012. 10: p. 3.
- 255. Fu, W., et al., Early window of diabetes determinism in NOD mice, dependent on the complement receptor CRIg, identified by noninvasive imaging. Nature immunology, 2012. **13**(4): p. 361-368.

- 256. Alhassan Mohammed, H., et al., *Immunomodulatory and Immunosuppressive Roles of 1alpha*,25(*OH*)2D3 in Autoimmune Diseases. Scand J Immunol, 2017. **85**(2): p. 95-103.
- 257. Al Sawah, S., et al., 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and glycemic control: A crosssectional study of children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2016. **115**: p. 54-9.
- 258. Cadario, F., et al., Administration of vitamin D and high dose of omega 3 to sustain remission of type 1 diabetes. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci, 2018.
  22(2): p. 512-515.
- 259. Willcox, A., et al., *Analysis of islet inflammation in human type 1 diabetes*. Clin Exp Immunol, 2009. **155**(2): p. 173-81.
- 260. Irvin, A.E., et al., *NF-κB is weakly activated in the NOD mouse model of type 1 diabetes.* Scientific Reports, 2018. **8**(1): p. 4217.
- 261. Funda, D.P., et al., Optimal Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells in Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) Therapy: What Can We Learn From Non-obese Diabetic (NOD) Mouse Models? 2019. **10**(967).
- 262. Prevot, N., et al., *Abrogation of ICOS/ICOS ligand costimulation in NOD mice results in autoimmune deviation toward the neuromuscular system*. Eur J Immunol, 2010. **40**(8): p. 2267-76.
- 263. Chaparro, R.J. and T.P. Dilorenzo, *An update on the use of NOD mice to study autoimmune (Type 1) diabetes.* Expert Rev Clin Immunol, 2010. **6**(6): p. 939-55.
- 264. Harrison, L.C., et al., *Pancreatic beta-cell function and immune responses to insulin after administration of intranasal insulin to humans at risk for type 1 diabetes*. Diabetes Care, 2004. **27**(10): p. 2348-55.
- 265. Chaillous, L., et al., Oral insulin administration and residual beta-cell function in recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Diabete Insuline Orale group. Lancet, 2000. **356**(9229): p. 545-9.
- 266. Pozzilli, P., et al., No effect of oral insulin on residual beta-cell function in recent-onset type I diabetes (the IMDIAB VII). IMDIAB Group. Diabetologia, 2000. **43**(8): p. 1000-4.
- 267. Shah, R.B., et al., *Insulin delivery methods: Past, present and future.* International journal of pharmaceutical investigation, 2016. **6**(1): p. 1-9.
- 268. Visperas, A. and D.A.A. Vignali, *Are Regulatory T Cells Defective in Type 1 Diabetes and Can We Fix Them?* Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950), 2016. **197**(10): p. 3762-3770.
- 269. Ludvigsson, J., et al., *GAD65 antigen therapy in recently diagnosed type 1 diabetes mellitus*. N Engl J Med, 2012. **366**(5): p. 433-42.

- 270. Tavira, B., et al., Intralymphatic Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase-Alum Administration Induced Th2-Like-Specific Immunomodulation in Responder Patients: A Pilot Clinical Trial in Type 1 Diabetes. Journal of diabetes research, 2018. 2018: p. 9391845-9391845.
- 271. Bevier, W.C., et al., Oral anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody delays diabetes in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice: effects on pregnancy and offspring--a preliminary report. Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2011. **27**(5): p. 480-7.
- 272. Ablamunits, V., et al., Synergistic reversal of type 1 diabetes in NOD mice with anti-CD3 and interleukin-1 blockade: evidence of improved immune regulation. Diabetes, 2012. **61**(1): p. 145-54.
- 273. Keymeulen, B., et al., Four-year metabolic outcome of a randomised controlled CD3-antibody trial in recent-onset type 1 diabetic patients depends on their age and baseline residual beta cell mass. Diabetologia, 2010. **53**(4): p. 614-623.
- 274. Wilson, C., *Anti-CD3 antibody therapy for type 1 diabetes mellitus: outcome 4 years after treatment.* Nature Reviews Endocrinology, 2010. **6**(5): p. 242.
- 275. Herold, K.C., et al., *An Anti-CD3 Antibody, Teplizumab, in Relatives at Risk for Type 1 Diabetes.* N Engl J Med, 2019. **381**(7): p. 603-613.
- 276. Xiu, Y., et al., *B lymphocyte depletion by CD20 monoclonal antibody prevents diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice despite isotype-specific differences in Fc gamma R effector functions.* J Immunol, 2008. **180**(5): p. 2863-75.
- 277. Rowe, P.A., et al., *The pancreas in human type 1 diabetes*. Semin Immunopathol, 2011. **33**(1): p. 29-43.
- 278. Hamad, A.R.A., et al., *B cell-targeted immunotherapy for type 1 diabetes: What can make it work?* Discovery medicine, 2016. **21**(115): p. 213-219.
- 279. Barron, L., et al., *Cutting Edge: Mechanisms of IL-2–Dependent Maintenance of Functional Regulatory T Cells.* The Journal of Immunology, 2010. **185**(11): p. 6426-6430.
- 280. Garg, G., et al., *Type 1 Diabetes-Associated IL2RA Variation Lowers IL-2 Signaling and Contributes to Diminished CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cell Function.* The Journal of Immunology, 2012. **188**(9): p. 4644-4653.
- 281. Dwyer, C.J., et al., *Promoting Immune Regulation in Type 1 Diabetes Using Low-Dose Interleukin-2*. Current diabetes reports, 2016. **16**(6): p. 46-46.
- 282. Phillips, B.E., et al., Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells and T-Regulatory Cells at the Clinical Trials Crossroad for the Treatment of Autoimmune Disease; Emphasis on Type 1 Diabetes Therapy. 2019. **10**(148).
- 283. Romano, M., et al., *Past, Present, and Future of Regulatory T Cell Therapy in Transplantation and Autoimmunity.* 2019. **10**(43).
- 284. Varela-Calvino, R., et al., *Apportioning Blame: Autoreactive CD4+ and CD8+ T Cells in Type 1 Diabetes.* Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis, 2017. **65**(4): p. 275-284.
- 285. Pugliese, A., *Autoreactive T cells in type 1 diabetes*. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2017. **127**(8): p. 2881-2891.
- 286. Esposito, S., et al., *Environmental Factors Associated With Type 1 Diabetes*. 2019. **10**(592).
- 287. Menezes-Silva, L. and D.M.d. Fonseca, *Connecting the dots in type 1 diabetes: The role for gut–pancreas axis.* 2019. **106**(3): p. 501-503.
- 288. Driver, J.P., Y.-G. Chen, and C.E. Mathews, *Comparative genetics: synergizing human and NOD mouse studies for identifying genetic causation of type 1 diabetes.* The review of diabetic studies : RDS, 2012. **9**(4): p. 169-187.
- 289. Gillespie, K.M.E., et al., Adoptive Transfer of Autoimmune Diabetes Using Immunodeficient Nonobese Diabetic (NOD) Mice. 2016, Humana Press: New York, NY. p. 135.
- 290. Regnell, S.E. and A. Lernmark, *Early prediction of autoimmune (type 1) diabetes*. Diabetologia, 2017. **60**(8): p. 1370-1381.
- 291. Coppieters, K.T., et al., *Demonstration of islet-autoreactive CD8 T cells in insulitic lesions from recent onset and long-term type 1 diabetes patients.* The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2012. **209**(1): p. 51-60.
- 292. Campbell-Thompson, M., et al., *Insulitis and beta-Cell Mass in the Natural History of Type 1 Diabetes*. Diabetes, 2016. **65**(3): p. 719-31.
- 293. Nakayama, M., et al., *Prime role for an insulin epitope in the development of type 1 diabetes in NOD mice*. Nature, 2005. **435**(7039): p. 220-223.
- 294. Roep, B.O., et al., *The problems and promises of research into human immunology and autoimmune disease*. Nature Medicine, 2012. **18**(1): p. 48-53.
- 295. Tan, S., et al., *Type 1 diabetes induction in humanized mice*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2017. **114**(41): p. 10954.
- 296. Luce, S., et al., *Humanized Mouse Model to Study Type 1 Diabetes*. Diabetes, 2018. **67**(9): p. 1816.
- 297. Zeng, D., *Bridge between type 1 diabetes in mouse and man.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2017. 114(41): p. 10821-10823.
- 298. Pearson, J.A., F.S. Wong, and L. Wen, *The importance of the Non Obese Diabetic (NOD) mouse model in autoimmune diabetes.* Journal of autoimmunity, 2016. **66**: p. 76-88.
- 299. DiMeglio, L.A., C. Evans-Molina, and R.A. Oram, *Type 1 diabetes*. Lancet (London, England), 2018. **391**(10138): p. 2449-2462.

- 300. Xin, G.L.L., et al., *Current Status on Immunological Therapies for Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus*. Current Diabetes Reports, 2019. **19**(5): p. 22.
- 301. Chellappan, D.K., et al., *Gene therapy and type 1 diabetes mellitus*. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 2018. **108**: p. 1188-1200.
- 302. Paschou, S.A., et al., *On type 1 diabetes mellitus pathogenesis*. Endocrine connections, 2018. **7**(1): p. R38-R46.
- 303. Sandor, A.M., et al., *CD11c*+ *Cells Are Gatekeepers for Lymphocyte Trafficking to Infiltrated Islets During Type 1 Diabetes.* 2019. **10**(99).
- 304. Lehuen, A., et al., *Immune cell crosstalk in type 1 diabetes*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2010. **10**(7): p. 501-13.
- 305. Espinosa-Carrasco, G., et al., CD4+ T Helper Cells Play a Key Role in Maintaining Diabetogenic CD8+ T Cell Function in the Pancreas. 2018.
   8(2001).
- 306. Kurrer, M.O., et al.,  $\beta$  cell apoptosis in T cellmediated autoimmune diabetes. 1997. **94**(1): p. 213-218.
- 307. Peterson, J.D. and K. Haskins, *Transfer of Diabetes in the NOD-*<em&gt;scid&lt;/em&gt; Mouse by CD4 T-Cell Clones: Differential Requirement for CD8 T-Cells. Diabetes, 1996. **45**(3): p. 328.
- 308. Hamilton-Williams, E.E., et al., *Beta cell MHC class I is a late requirement for diabetes.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2003. **100**(11): p. 6688-6693.
- 309. Grapin-Botton, A., *Ductal cells of the pancreas*. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 2005. **37**(3): p. 504-510.
- 310. Inada, A., et al., *Carbonic anhydrase II-positive pancreatic cells are progenitors for both endocrine and exocrine pancreas after birth.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. **105**(50): p. 19915.
- 311. Kim, H.-S. and M.-K. Lee,  $\beta$ -Cell regeneration through the transdifferentiation of pancreatic cells: Pancreatic progenitor cells in the pancreas. Journal of diabetes investigation, 2016. **7**(3): p. 286-296.
- 312. Nakayama, M., *Insulin as a key autoantigen in the development of type 1 diabetes*. Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews, 2011. **27**(8): p. 773-777.
- 313. Bonner-Weir, S., et al., *Transdifferentiation of pancreatic ductal cells to endocrine beta-cells*. Biochem Soc Trans, 2008. **36**(Pt 3): p. 353-6.
- 314. Corritore, E., et al.,  $\beta$ -cell replacement sources for type 1 diabetes: a focus on pancreatic ductal cells. Therapeutic advances in endocrinology and metabolism, 2016. 7(4): p. 182-199.
- 315. Winer, S., et al., Autoimmune islet destruction in spontaneous type 1 diabetes is not beta-cell exclusive. Nat Med, 2003. **9**(2): p. 198-205.

- 316. Carrillo, J., et al., Islet-infiltrating B-cells in nonobese diabetic mice predominantly target nervous system elements. Diabetes, 2005. **54**(1): p. 69-77.
- 317. Salomon, B., et al., *Development of spontaneous autoimmune peripheral* polyneuropathy in B7-2-deficient NOD mice. J Exp Med, 2001. **194**(5): p. 677-84.
- 318. Bernard, N.F., F. Ertug, and H. Margolese, *High incidence of thyroiditis and anti-thyroid autoantibodies in NOD mice*. Diabetes, 1992. **41**(1): p. 40-6.
- 319. Thompson, C., et al., *Non-depleting anti-CD4 antibody not only prevents onset but resolves sialadenitis in NOD mice*. Autoimmunity, 2004. **37**(8): p. 549-54.
- 320. Alam, C., et al., *Inflammatory tendencies and overproduction of IL-17 in the colon of young NOD mice are counteracted with diet change*. Diabetes, 2010. **59**(9): p. 2237-46.
- 321. Tsui, H., et al., *Targeting of pancreatic glia in type 1 diabetes*. Diabetes, 2008. **57**(4): p. 918-28.
- 322. Pang, Z., et al., *Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is a novel biomarker for the prediction of autoimmune diabetes.* FASEB J, 2017. **31**(9): p. 4053-4063.
- 323. Ray, M.K., S.P. Fagan, and F.C. Brunicardi, *The Cre–loxP System: A Versatile Tool for Targeting Genes in a Cell- and Stage-Specific Manner*. Cell Transplantation, 2000. **9**(6): p. 805-815.
- 324. Bouabe, H. and K. Okkenhaug, *Gene targeting in mice: a review*. Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.), 2013. **1064**: p. 315-336.
- 325. Zhuo, L., et al., *hGFAP-cre transgenic mice for manipulation of glial and neuronal function in vivo.* genesis, 2001. **31**(2): p. 85-94.
- 326. Hamilton-Williams, E.E., et al., *Transgenic rescue implicates* β<sub&gt;2&lt;/sub&gt;-microglobulin as a diabetes susceptibility gene in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2001. 98(20): p. 11533.
- 327. Hamilton-Williams, E.E., et al., *Beta cell MHC class I is a late requirement for diabetes.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2003. 100(11): p. 6688.
- 328. Bonner-Weir, S., et al., *Transdifferentiation of pancreatic ductal cells to endocrine beta-cells*. Biochemical Society transactions, 2008. **36**(Pt 3): p. 353.
- 329. Srinivas, S., et al., Cre reporter strains produced by targeted insertion of EYFP and ECFP into the ROSA26 locus. BMC developmental biology, 2001. 1: p. 4-4.

- 330. Reichert, M., et al., *Isolation, culture and genetic manipulation of mouse pancreatic ductal cells.* Nat Protoc, 2013. **8**(7): p. 1354-65.
- 331. Lee, S., *Good planning and serendipity: exploiting the Cre/Lox system in the testis.* REPRODUCTION, 2011. **141**(2): p. 151-161.
- 332. Harno, E., Elizabeth C. Cottrell, and A. White, *Metabolic Pitfalls of CNS Cre-Based Technology*. Cell Metabolism, 2013. **18**(1): p. 21-28.
- 333. de Jersey, J., et al.,  $\beta$  Cells cannot directly prime diabetogenic CD8 T cells in nonobese diabetic mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2007. **104**(4): p. 1295-1300.
- 334. Inada, A., et al., *Carbonic anhydrase II-positive pancreatic cells are progenitors for both endocrine and exocrine pancreas after birth.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(50): p. 19915-9.
- 335. Bouwens, L. and D.G. Pipeleers, *Extra-insular beta cells associated with ductules are frequent in adult human pancreas*. Diabetologia, 1998. **41**(6): p. 629-33.
- 336. Gurr, W., et al., A Reg family protein is overexpressed in islets from a patient with new-onset type 1 diabetes and acts as T-cell autoantigen in NOD mice. Diabetes, 2002. **51**(2): p. 339-46.
- 337. Mally, M.I., et al., *ICA69 is expressed equally in the human endocrine and exocrine pancreas*. Diabetologia, 1996. **39**(4): p. 474-80.
- 338. Mally, M.I., et al., Ontogeny and tissue distribution of human GAD expression. Diabetes, 1996. 45(4): p. 496-501.
- 339. Moriyama, H., et al., *Evidence for a primary islet autoantigen (preproinsulin 1) for insulitis and diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(18): p. 10376-81.
- 340. Brezar, V., et al., *Beyond the hormone: insulin as an autoimmune target in type 1 diabetes.* Endocr Rev, 2011. **32**(5): p. 623-69.
- 341. DiLorenzo, T.P., Multiple antigens versus single major antigen in type 1 diabetes: arguing for multiple antigens. Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 2011. 27(8): p. 778-83.
- 342. Bodin, J., L.C. Stene, and U.C. Nygaard, *Can Exposure to Environmental Chemicals Increase the Risk of Diabetes Type 1 Development?* BioMed Research International, 2015. **2015**: p. 19.
- 343. Kondrashova, A. and H. Hyöty, *Role of Viruses and Other Microbes in the Pathogenesis of Type 1 Diabetes.* International Reviews of Immunology, 2014. **33**(4): p. 284-295.
- 344. de Beeck, A.O. and D.L. Eizirik, *Viral infections in type 1 diabetes mellitus why the*  $\beta$  *cells?* Nature reviews. Endocrinology, 2016. **12**(5): p. 263-273.
- 345. Virtanen, S.M., *Dietary factors in the development of type 1 diabetes*. Pediatr Diabetes, 2016. **17 Suppl 22**: p. 49-55.

- 346. O'Brien, B.A., et al., *Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages from NOD mice is reduced*. Diabetes, 2002. **51**(8): p. 2481-8.
- 347. Pellegrini, S., et al., *Duodenal Mucosa of Patients With Type 1 Diabetes Shows Distinctive Inflammatory Profile and Microbiota.* The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2017. **102**(5): p. 1468-1477.
- 348. Mariño, E., et al., *Gut microbial metabolites limit the frequency of autoimmune T cells and protect against type 1 diabetes.* Nature Immunology, 2017. **18**: p. 552.
- 349. Hill, T., et al., *The involvement of interleukin-22 in the expression of pancreatic beta cell regenerative Reg genes.* Cell regeneration (London, England), 2013. **2**(1): p. 2-2.
- 350. Eberhard, D. and E. Lammert, *The pancreatic beta-cell in the islet and organ community*. Curr Opin Genet Dev, 2009. **19**(5): p. 469-75.
- 351. Brissova, M., et al., *Islet microenvironment, modulated by vascular endothelial growth factor-A signaling, promotes beta cell regeneration.* Cell Metab, 2014. **19**(3): p. 498-511.
- 352. Bernier-Latmani, J. and T.V. Petrova, *Intestinal lymphatic vasculature: structure, mechanisms and functions*. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2017. **14**(9): p. 510-526.
- 353. Tsui, H., et al., *Targeting of Pancreatic Glia in Type 1 Diabetes*. Diabetes, 2008. **57**(4): p. 918.
- 354. Pang, Z., et al., *Evaluating the potential of the GFAP-KLH immunetolerizing vaccine for type 1 diabetes in mice.* FEBS Letters, 2017. **591**(1): p. 129-136.
- 355. Razavi, R., et al., *TRPV1+ sensory neurons control beta cell stress and islet inflammation in autoimmune diabetes.* Cell, 2006. **127**(6): p. 1123-35.
- 356. Bour-Jordan, H. and J.A. Bluestone, *Sensory Neurons Link the Nervous System and Autoimmune Diabetes*. Cell, 2006. **127**(6): p. 1097-1099.
- 357. Vaarala, O., *Leaking gut in type 1 diabetes*. Curr Opin Gastroenterol, 2008. **24**(6): p. 701-6.
- 358. Vaarala, O., *Is the origin of type 1 diabetes in the gut?* Immunology and Cell Biology, 2012. **90**(3): p. 271-276.
- 359. Sabroe, I., et al., *Toll-Like Receptors in Health and Disease: Complex Questions Remain.* The Journal of Immunology, 2003. **171**(4): p. 1630.
- 360. Jaakkola, I., S. Jalkanen, and A. Hanninen, *Diabetogenic T cells are primed both in pancreatic and gut-associated lymph nodes in NOD mice*. Eur J Immunol, 2003. **33**(12): p. 3255-64.
- 361. Turley, S.J., et al., *Endocrine self and gut non-self intersect in the pancreatic lymph nodes*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. **102**(49): p. 17729-33.

- 362. Mulder, S.J., Bacteria of food and human intestine are the most possible sources of the gad-trigger of type 1 diabetes. Med Hypotheses, 2005. 65(2): p. 308-11.
- 363. Bodin, J., L.C. Stene, and U.C. Nygaard, *Can exposure to environmental chemicals increase the risk of diabetes type 1 development?* Biomed Res Int, 2015. **2015**: p. 208947.
- 364. Tai, N., et al., *Microbial antigen mimics activate diabetogenic CD8 T cells in NOD mice*. J Exp Med, 2016. **213**(10): p. 2129-46.
- 365. Alam, C., et al., *Inflammatory tendencies and overproduction of IL-17 in the colon of young NOD mice are counteracted with diet change*. Diabetes, 2010. **59**(9): p. 2237-2246.
- 366. Bolla, A.M., et al., *Duodenal Mucosa of Patients With Type 1 Diabetes Shows Distinctive Inflammatory Profile and Microbiota*. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2017. **102**(5): p. 1468-1477.
- 367. Bosi, E., et al., *Increased intestinal permeability precedes clinical onset of type 1 diabetes*. Diabetologia, 2006. **49**(12): p. 2824-2827.
- 368. Lee, A.S., et al., *Gut barrier disruption by an enteric bacterial pathogen accelerates insulitis in NOD mice.* Diabetologia, 2010. **53**(4): p. 741-8.
- 369. Leeds, J.S., et al., *Inflammatory bowel disease is more common in type 1 diabetes mellitus*. Gut, 2011. **60**(Suppl 1): p. A208-A208.
- 370. Halling, M.L., et al., *Patients with inflammatory bowel disease have increased risk of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.* World journal of gastroenterology, 2017. **23**(33): p. 6137-6146.
- 371. Du, Y.T., et al., *Gastrointestinal Symptoms in Diabetes: Prevalence, Assessment, Pathogenesis, and Management.* Diabetes Care, 2018. **41**(3): p. 627-637.
- 372. Maleki, D., et al., *Gastrointestinal tract symptoms among persons with diabetes mellitus in the community*. Arch Intern Med, 2000. **160**(18): p. 2808-16.
- 373. Nguyen, N.Q., et al., Rapid gastric and intestinal transit is a major determinant of changes in blood glucose, intestinal hormones, glucose absorption and postprandial symptoms after gastric bypass. Obesity (Silver Spring), 2014. 22(9): p. 2003-9.
- 374. Sellin, J.H. and R. Hart, *Glucose malabsorption associated with rapid intestinal transit.* Am J Gastroenterol, 1992. **87**(5): p. 584-9.
- 375. Murri, M., et al., *Gut microbiota in children with type 1 diabetes differs from that in healthy children: a case-control study.* BMC Medicine, 2013. 11(1): p. 46.

- 376. Rosa-e-Silva, L., et al., *Rapid distal small bowel transit associated with sympathetic denervation in type I diabetes mellitus*. Gut, 1996. **39**(5): p. 748-56.
- 377. Nezami, B.G., et al., *MicroRNA 375 mediates palmitate-induced enteric neuronal damage and high-fat diet-induced delayed intestinal transit in mice*. Gastroenterology, 2014. **146**(2): p. 473-83 e3.
- 378. Fukuda, S., et al., *Bifidobacteria can protect from enteropathogenic infection through production of acetate.* Nature, 2011. **469**(7331): p. 543-547.
- 379. Ibiza, S., et al., *Glial-cell-derived neuroregulators control type 3 innate lymphoid cells and gut defence*. Nature, 2016. **535**(7612): p. 440-443.
- 380. Yap, Y.A. and E. Mariño, An Insight Into the Intestinal Web of Mucosal Immunity, Microbiota, and Diet in Inflammation. Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. 9(2617).
- 381. Vivier, E., et al., *Innate Lymphoid Cells: 10 Years On.* Cell, 2018. **174**(5): p. 1054-1066.
- 382. Wang, S., et al., *Regulatory Innate Lymphoid Cells Control Innate Intestinal Inflammation*. Cell, 2017. **171**(1): p. 201-216 e18.
- 383. Sternini, C., L. Anselmi, and E. Rozengurt, *Enteroendocrine cells: a site of 'taste' in gastrointestinal chemosensing*. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes, 2008. **15**(1): p. 73-8.
- 384. Ouyang, W. and A. O'Garra, *IL-10 Family Cytokines IL-10 and IL-22: from Basic Science to Clinical Translation*. Immunity, 2019. **50**(4): p. 871-891.
- 385. Kabouridis, P.S., et al., *Microbiota controls the homeostasis of glial cells in the gut lamina propria*. Neuron, 2015. **85**(2): p. 289-95.
- 386. Turco, F., et al., Enteroglial-derived S100B protein integrates bacteriainduced Toll-like receptor signalling in human enteric glial cells. Gut, 2014.
  63(1): p. 105-15.
- 387. Gershon, M.D. and T.P. Rothman, Enteric glia. Glia, 1991. 4(2): p. 195-204.
- 388. Schulzke, J.D., et al., *Epithelial tight junctions in intestinal inflammation*. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2009. **1165**: p. 294-300.
- 389. Salzman, A.L., *Nitric oxide in the gut*. New Horiz, 1995. **3**(1): p. 33-45.
- 390. Bush, T.G., et al., *Fulminant jejuno-ileitis following ablation of enteric glia in adult transgenic mice.* Cell, 1998. **93**(2): p. 189-201.
- 391. von Boyen, G.B., et al., *Proinflammatory cytokines increase glial fibrillary acidic protein expression in enteric glia.* Gut, 2004. **53**(2): p. 222-8.
- 392. Taniguchi, Y., et al., Antigen-presenting capability of glial cells under glioma-harboring conditions and the effect of glioma-derived factors on antigen presentation. J Neuroimmunol, 2000. **111**(1-2): p. 177-85.

- 393. Schetters, S.T.T., et al., *Neuroinflammation: Microglia and T Cells Get Ready to Tango*. Front Immunol, 2017. **8**: p. 1905.
- 394. Soret, R., et al., *Short-chain fatty acids regulate the enteric neurons and control gastrointestinal motility in rats.* Gastroenterology, 2010. **138**(5): p. 1772-82.
- 395. Macia, L., et al., Metabolite-sensing receptors GPR43 and GPR109A facilitate dietary fibre-induced gut homeostasis through regulation of the inflammasome. Nat Commun, 2015. 6.
- 396. Thorburn, A.N., et al., *Evidence that asthma is a developmental origin disease influenced by maternal diet and bacterial metabolites.* Nat Commun, 2015. **6**.
- 397. Maslowski, K.M., et al., Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43. Nature, 2009. 461(7268): p. 1282-6.
- 398. Elangovan, S., et al., *The niacin/butyrate receptor GPR109A suppresses mammary tumorigenesis by inhibiting cell survival.* Cancer Res, 2014. **74**(4): p. 1166-78.
- 399. Nohr, M.K., et al., *GPR41/FFAR3 and GPR43/FFAR2 as cosensors for short-chain fatty acids in enteroendocrine cells vs FFAR3 in enteric neurons and FFAR2 in enteric leukocytes.* Endocrinology, 2013. **154**(10): p. 3552-64.
- 400. Alkahtani, R., et al., Activation of long-chain free fatty acid receptor FFAR1 (GPR40) and FFAR4 (GPR120) causes release of brain-derived neurotropic factor from enteric glial cells (905.2). The FASEB Journal, 2014.
  28(1\_supplement): p. 905.2.
- 401. Cossais, F., et al., *Postnatal development of the myenteric glial network and its modulation by butyrate*. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 2016. **310**(11): p. G941-G951.
- 402. Brown, A.J., et al., *The Orphan G protein-coupled receptors GPR41 and GPR43 are activated by propionate and other short chain carboxylic acids.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(13): p. 11312-9.
- 403. Yano, J.M., et al., *Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis.* Cell, 2015. **161**(2): p. 264-76.
- 404. Reigstad, C.S., et al., *Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells.* FASEB J, 2015. **29**(4): p. 1395-403.
- 405. Bian, X., et al., *High mucosal serotonin availability in neonatal guinea pig ileum is associated with low serotonin transporter expression.* Gastroenterology, 2007. **132**(7): p. 2438-47.

- 406. Poole, D.P., et al., *Expression and function of the bile acid receptor GpBAR1 (TGR5) in the murine enteric nervous system.* Neurogastroenterol Motil, 2010. **22**(7): p. 814-25, e227-8.
- 407. Chavez-Talavera, O., et al., *Bile Acid Control of Metabolism and Inflammation in Obesity, Type 2 Diabetes, Dyslipidemia, and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease.* Gastroenterology, 2017. **152**(7): p. 1679-1694 e3.
- 408. Alemi, F., et al., *The receptor TGR5 mediates the prokinetic actions of intestinal bile acids and is required for normal defecation in mice.* Gastroenterology, 2013. **144**(1): p. 145-54.
- 409. Thorburn, A.N., L. Macia, and C.R. Mackay, *Diet, metabolites, and "western-lifestyle" inflammatory diseases.* Immunity, 2014. **40**(6): p. 833-42.
- 410. Mathias, R.A., A.J. Guise, and I.M. Cristea, *Post-translational modifications* regulate class IIa histone deacetylase (HDAC) function in health and disease. Molecular and Cellular Proteomics, 2015. **14**(3): p. 456-470.
- 411. Cossais, F., et al., *Postnatal development of the myenteric glial network and its modulation by butyrate*. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2016. 310(11): p. G941-51.
- 412. McLeod, K.H., et al., Chapter 7 Dietary Short Chain Fatty Acids: How the Gut Microbiota Fight Against Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases, in Bioactive Food as Dietary Interventions for Arthritis and Related Inflammatory Diseases (Second Edition), R.R. Watson and V.R. Preedy, Editors. 2019, Academic Press. p. 139-159.

# Appendix A – Papers and Manuscripts written duing the candidature

- 1) Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse. (*Journal of Clinical Science*)
- 2) Pancreatic ductal cell antigens are important in the development of invasive insulitis in Non-Obese Diabetic mice (*Journal of Neuroimmunology*)
- 3) Dietary SCFAs, IL-22, and GFAP: The Three Musketeers in the Gut– Neuro–Immune Network in Type 1 Diabetes (*Frontiers in immunology*)
- 4) A simple method to improve the visualization of EYFP in paraformaldehyde fixed frozen tissue sections (unpublished)

# Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse

Abhirup JAYASIMHAN, Kristy P. MANSOUR and Robyn M. SLATTERY

Department of Immunology, Monash University, Alfred Hospital Medical Research & Education Precinct (AMREP), Melbourne, VIC 3004, Australia

#### Abstract

T1D (Type 1 diabetes) is an autoimmune disease caused by the immune-mediated destruction of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells. Studies in T1D patients have been limited by the availability of pancreatic samples, a protracted pre-diabetic phase and limitations in markers that reflect  $\beta$ -cell mass and function. The NOD (non-obese diabetic) mouse is currently the best available animal model of T1D, since it develops disease spontaneously and shares many genetic and immunopathogenic features with human T1D. Consequently, the NOD mouse has been extensively studied and has made a tremendous contribution to our understanding of human T1D. The present review summarizes the key lessons from NOD mouse studies concerning the genetic susceptibility, aetiology and immunopathogenic mechanisms that contribute to autoimmune destruction of  $\beta$ -cells. Finally, we summarize the potential and limitations of immunotherapeutic strategies, successful in NOD mice, now being trialled in T1D patients and individuals at risk of developing T1D.

Key words: autoimmunity, immunopathogenesis, insulitis, non-obese diabetic mouse (NOD mouse), Type 1 diabetes (T1D)

#### INTRODUCTION

Experiments using NOD (non-obese diabetic) mice have paved the way for significant advances in the current understanding of T1D (Type 1 diabetes). T1D is an autoimmune disorder in which the insulin-producing  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreas are selectively destroyed. In this condition, inflammatory infiltrates, mainly comprising DCs (dendritic cells), macrophages and Band T-lymphocytes, invade the islets. The progressive loss of  $\beta$ -cells ultimately causes insulin deficiency and consequent hyperglycaemia. Despite exogenous insulin administration, many patients develop debilitating microvascular and macrovascular complications, leading to increased morbidity and mortality.

Investigation into the genetics and immunopathological mechanisms that lead to initial progression and  $\beta$ -cell destruction in individuals at risk of developing T1D is difficult due to a protracted pre-diabetic phase, inaccessibility of islet tissue and limitations in  $\beta$ -cell markers that reflect cell mass and functionality. Although GWAS (genome-wide association studies) have identified more than 40 distinct susceptibility regions linked to T1D that may assist in the screening for those at risk of developing T1D, a comprehensive understanding of the immunopathological mechanisms underlying the development of T1D is also required. The knowledge gained from such studies will help develop immunomodulatory strategies to prevent the onset of disease in genetically susceptible individuals. Accordingly, our understanding of the genetics, aetiology and pathogenesis of T1D has heavily depended on studies using the NOD mouse strain that spontaneously develops T1D. The present review will discuss the lessons learned from NOD mice in determining the mechanisms underlying T1D susceptibility and pathogenesis, as well as the value and limitations of this model.

All authors contributed equally to this review.

Correspondence: Associate Professor Robyn M. Slattery (email robyn.slattery@monash.edu).

**Abbreviations:** AAb, autoantibody; AAg, autoantigen; AIRE, autoimmune regulator; APC, antigen-presenting cell; β2m (*B2m*), β<sub>2</sub>-microglobulin; CCR, CC chemokine receptor; CD40L, CD40 ligand; CD62L, CD62 ligand; CTL4-4, cytotoxic Tlymphocyte-associated antigen-4; DC, dendritic cell; Deaf1, deformed epidermal autoregulatory factor 1; EC, endothelial cell; EFA, essential fatty acid; FasL, Fas ligand; CTL4-4, cytotoxic Tlymphocyte-associated antigen-4; DC, dendritic cell; Deaf1, deformed epidermal autoregulatory factor 1; EC, endothelial cell; EFA, essential fatty acid; FasL, Fas ligand; FCRy, Fc receptor γ; FoxP3, forkhead box P3; GAD, glutamic acid decarboxylase; GP, glycoprotein; GPR, G-protein-coupled receptor; HA, hyaluronan; HbA<sub>1c</sub>, glycated haemoglobin; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1; ICOS, inducible T-cell; iNOS, inducible NO synthase; IICTLA-4, ligand-independent CTLA-4; LCMV, lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus; LN, lymph node; mAb, monoclonal antibody; mDC, myeloid DC; MT-1-MTP, membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase; MZ, marginal zone; NF-KB, nuclear factor *x*B; NK, natural killer; NKG2D, natural killer group 2D; NKT cell, natural killer T-cell; NOD, non-obese diabetic; NP nucleoprotein; pAPC, professional APC; PD-1, programmed cell death 1; pDC, plasmacytoid DC; PD-1, PD-1 ligand; pLN, pancreatic lymph node; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SCFA, short-chain fatty acid; sCTLA-4, soluble CTLA-4; SNR single nucleotide polymorphism; T1D, Type 1 diabetes; TCR, T-cell receptor; TNF, tumour necrosis factor; TNFR2, TNF receptor 2; T<sub>reg</sub> cell, regulatory T-cell; TSA, tissue-specific antigen; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1.

#### THE NOD MOUSE MODEL

#### Genetics

The inbred NOD mouse strain originated as a hyperglycaemic sub-strain of the CTS (cataract-prone mouse) at the Shionogi Laboratories, Fukushima-ku, Japan [1]. At the time of weaning, NOD mice develop around pancreatic islets a mononuclear cell infiltrate (insulitis) that progresses at approximately 100 days of age to invasive insulitis and complete  $\beta$ -cell destruction [2]. Although NOD mice have an increased genetic susceptibility to T1D, the penetrance of disease can be modulated by various environmental factors. Hence not all NOD mice in a colony will develop T1D. Importantly, a number of T1D-susceptibility genes identified in NOD mice (designated *Idd*) have been found to contribute to T1D susceptibility in humans (designated *IDDM*). To date >40 *Idd* regions have been identified [3,4], but only a small number of these regions have been localized to candidate genes, and these will be discussed below.

The MHC is the strongest susceptibility region and was the first identified in both humans (*IDDM1*) and in mice (*Idd1*). The mouse MHC region is located on chromosome 17 and contains a number of genes known to contribute to disease. These genes make up a haplotype that contains both MHC class I- and class II-susceptibility genes. In mice, MHC class I genes comprise K<sup>d</sup> and D<sup>b</sup> alleles and MHC class II genes comprise I-A<sup>g7</sup> and I-E<sup>b</sup> alleles [5,6]. Although NOD mice express the I-A heterodimer that is composed of I-A $\alpha$  and I-A $\beta$  chains, the I-E heterodimer is not expressed due to a deletion in the promoter region of the I-E $\alpha$  gene. Furthermore, replacement of histidine and serine residues with proline and aspartic acid residues at positions 56 and 57 respectively within the I-A $\beta$  chain prevents T1D in NOD mice [7–9].

The *Idd3* locus encodes the cytokines IL (interleukin)-2 and IL-21, and these are strong candidate genes for T1D susceptibility [10–12]. In NOD mice, IL-2 expression levels are abnormally low, with low-dose IL-2 treatment reducing the severity of insulitis and inhibiting T1D onset [13,14]. Further reduction in IL-2 levels in NOD mice heterozygous for a deletion of the IL-2 gene accelerated T1D development [15]. In contrast, IL-21 is highly expressed in NOD mice and NOD mice deficient in the IL-21 receptor are protected from T1D [12,16].

The *Idd5.1* locus includes two candidate susceptibility genes encoding CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4) and ICOS (inducible T-cell co-stimulator). CTLA-4, a receptor involved in inhibiting T-cell activation, is present in four distinct isoforms in NOD mice, one of which is the ligand-independent CTLA-4 isoform (liCTLA-4). It contains a SNP (single nucleotide polymorphism) in exon 2 that causes liCTLA-4 to be expressed at reduced levels, decreasing the activation threshold of T-cells and consequently increasing disease susceptibility. Similarly, expression levels of the sCTLA-4 (soluble CTLA-4) isoform are reduced in T1D patients [17]. CTLA-4 therefore represents an attractive target for immunotherapeutic intervention. The ICOS gene in NOD mice has a SNP encoding a non-conservative amino acid change in the leader sequence of exon 1. This change causes higher expression of ICOS, which heightens T-cell costimulation. Consistent with the idea that increased expression of ICOS contributes to susceptibility,  $ICOS^{-/-}$  NOD mice are protected from T1D [18,19].

The *Idd7* locus contains a gene, or several linked genes, thought to influence allelic exclusion of TCR (T-cell receptor) genes during T-cell development [20]. These studies were performed in TCR transgenic mice and may not represent the normal path of TCR rearrangement found in human T-cells. However, if such defects are present, this could lead to dual TCR expression and autoimmunity [21].

The *Idd9* locus contains three regions: *Idd9.1*, *Idd9.2* and *Idd9.3* [22]. Although the genes localized at *Idd9.1* are unknown, they are associated with increased B-cell pathogenic activity [23], low numbers of induced iNKT cells [invariant NKT cells (natural killer T-cells)] and reduced  $T_{reg}$  cell (regulatory T-cell) development and activity in NOD mice [24,25]. Candidate susceptibility genes at *Idd9.2* and *Idd9.3* encode CD30, TNFR2 (tumour necrosis factor receptor 2) and CD137 respectively [22].

The Idd13 locus contains multiple susceptibility genes, including the candidate genes  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin (B2m), Cd93, Nkt2 and Bim [26,27,30-32]. In inbred mouse populations, there are three allelic variants of B2m that encode isoforms differing by a single amino acid at residue 85 [28,29]. Wild-type NOD mice express the  $B2m^a$  isoform, whereas NOD mice congenic for the NOR (non-obese-resistant) *Idd13* region express the  $B2m^b$ isoform and are protected from T1D. B2m was confirmed as a diabetes-susceptibility gene in reconstitution experiments in which NOD mice lacking endogenous B2m and transgenic for  $B2m^b$  were protected from the development of T1D compared with mice transgenic for  $B2m^a$  [30]. The mechanism of protection conferred by different B2m isoforms has not been elucidated, but is proposed to relate to the expression level of MHC class I (R.M. Slattery, unpublished work). As such, although humans are non-polymorphic at the B2m loci, there may be related changes in the expression level of MHC class I that influence antigen presentation, thereby modulating thymic selection and/or peripheral activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells [26]. In NOD mice, the Cd93 gene has a SNP that results in a conformational change in the CD93 protein [27]. Although the function of this protein is not yet well defined, its absence in C57Bl/6 (B6) CD93<sup>-/-</sup> mice results in a reduced number of iNKT cells, which may promote T1D in NOD mice [27]. A third gene within the Idd13 region that controls NKT cell numbers has been mapped to the Nkt2 gene. NOD mice congenic for the B6 Nkt2 region had increased NKT cell numbers and a reduced incidence of T1D [31]. The fourth candidate susceptibility gene to be localized within the Idd13 locus is Bim, which encodes the pro-apoptotic protein BIM. The failure to induce BIM in thymocytes confers resistance to thymic deletion in NOD mice [32].

Of the >40 susceptibility loci identified in NOD mice only a small number of these regions contain genes that have orthologues associated with human T1D. Nevertheless, a number of the non-orthologous candidate susceptibility genes in NOD mice have led to studies that have provided valuable insights into the immunopathogenic mechanisms of T1D relevant to humans, and these are discussed later in the review.

#### Environment

#### Geography

Various environmental parameters have been associated with T1D susceptibility in humans. They include geographical location, dietary components and infectious agents. Worldwide incidence data on T1D suggests that there is an inverse correlation between disease incidence and proximity to the equator that could be explained by a number of variables. Regions furthest from the equator have reduced exposure to sunlight with a concomitant reduction in both UV radiation and temperature. In human T1D it is difficult to segregate the roles of sunlight variables from the confounding co-variables of genetics and culture. However, genetically controlled studies utilizing inbred NOD mice have allowed the independent contribution of UV radiation and temperature on T1D to be assessed.

NOD mice maintained at a temperature of 23.7 °C compared with 21 °C had a lower incidence of T1D. This suggests that the inverse correlation between equatorial distance and incidence of T1D may in part be explained by temperature [33]. Since UV radiation is essential for epidermal vitamin D synthesis, and the active form of vitamin D 1,25 D<sub>3</sub> (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>) influences the development of T<sub>reg</sub> cells, the effect of vitamin D on T1D has been studied in NOD mice. These studies revealed that early deficiency of vitamin D in NOD mice resulted in accelerated T1D development [34], where NOD mice administered supplementary vitamin D were protected from developing T1D, and this was correlated with an increased frequency of  $T_{reg}$ cells within the pLN [pancreatic LN (lymph node)] [35,36]. It is thought that vitamin D also modulates the immune response through inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B (nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B) pathway in DCs and macrophages. This results in decreased production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-12 and IFN $\gamma$  (interferon  $\gamma$ ) that leads to decreased MHC class II expression on APCs (antigen-presenting cells) and MHC class I expression on  $\beta$ cells [37]. Vitamin D supplementation at birth has been shown to significantly protect against T1D in humans [38]. However, supplementation of vitamin D in patients with recent-onset T1D failed to reduce the loss of  $\beta$ -cell function [39].

#### Diet

The earliest evidence for dietary influences in T1D susceptibility came from studies in NOD mice. A positive association was found between a high-fat diet and T1D incidence in these mice [40]. An increase in T1D progression in NOD mice has also been correlated with wheat- or corn-enriched diets and this has been attributed to the wheat protein gluten [41]. It has been speculated that a mechanism by which dietary antigens could influence susceptibility is by modulation of the mucosal immune system via the release of tolerogenic, allergenic or pro-inflammatory cytokines [42]. NOD mice fed on cereal/wheat-based diets expressed significantly higher levels of IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$  (tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$ ) and iNOS (inducible NO synthase) that are known to drive the immune response towards T1D [42].

Conversely, EFAs (essential fatty acids) have been shown to protect from T1D. The offspring of mice fed on a low omega-6/omega-3 (n - 6/n - 3) EFA ratio diet showed a decrease in T1D incidence [43]. Similarly, omega-3 reduced the incidence of

T1D in genetically susceptible children, indicating its benefit as a supplement to assist in the prevention of human T1D [44]. The protective effect of omega-3 may partly explain why T1D incidence is lower in Japan, where there is a high consumption of fish compared with countries with westernised diets [45]. One mechanism by which omega-3 may protect from T1D is through direct binding to GPR120 (G-protein-coupled receptor 120) on macrophages, which exerts a wide range of potent anti-inflammatory effects [46]. Additionally, omega-3 may act indirectly through the anti-inflammatory influence of bioactive products resulting from its breakdown and enzymatic conversion, such as resolvins [47].

Diet and the use of antibiotics can also modulate the gut microbial diversity, which has recently been shown to regulate the immune system. NOD mice housed under 'specific germ-free' (SGF) conditions have a higher incidence of T1D than those housed in a non-germ-free environment. Furthermore, NOD mice treated with probiotics have elevated IL-10 production and reduced T1D development [48]. The bacteria responsible for this protection are members of the Bacteroidetes phyla, which are capable of producing SCFAs (short-chain fatty acids). SCFAs can bind GPRs on immune cells and thereby mediate an antiinflammatory response that protects from T1D [49]. Whether probiotics, or SCFA treatment, will prevent T1D in those at risk remains to be determined, although probiotics are currently being trialled in at-risk children [50]. In contrast, some bacterial strains promote inflammation and thereby exacerbate the development of T1D. Gluten-fed NOD mice contain greater quantities of aerobic, micro-aerophilic and caecal bacteria and are more likely to develop T1D than those fed on gluten-free diets [51]. Furthermore, a positive correlation was observed between the numbers of Gram-positive aerophilic and anaerobic bacteria found in the gut of NOD mice and the incidence of T1D, regardless of diet [51]. It is thought that such bacterial strains promote a pro-inflammatory cytokine environment that drives T1D by inducing mucosal DCs to secrete Th1-type cytokines.

#### Viruses

A number of viruses have been positively associated with T1D onset and several mechanisms have been proposed to explain this association [52]. Viral infection of the gastrointestinal mucosa with rotavirus increases the intestinal permeability, creating a 'leaky gut'. Opportunistic gut bacteria that migrate through the leaky gut can induce inappropriate sub-mucosal immune responses that signal through TLRs (Toll-like receptors) and drive inflammation [53]. Other viruses, such as CVB (Coxsackie virus B), can directly infect islet tissue or neighbouring neuro-endocrine cells, promoting inflammation in both islets and associated ECs (endothelial cells) [54]. At the time of insulitis development, NOD mouse islet ECs develop an activated phenotype with upregulation of adhesion molecules, such as CD54 [ICAM-1 (intercellular adhesion molecule-1)], CD106 [VCAM-1 (vascular cell adhesion molecule-1)] and of MHC class I and II molecules [54,55,55a]. Islet ECs from human histological samples taken during the peri-onset stage of T1D show a similar phenotype, displaying increased expression of adhesion and MHC molecules [56].

Another potential mechanism of virally induced T1D is molecular mimicry, whereby T-cells that are activated by specific viral antigens cross-react with AAgs (autoantigens) that share structural similarities. This model has been investigated for its capacity to trigger T1D in transgenic mice expressing the LCMV (lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus) antigen NP (nucleoprotein) or GP (glycoprotein). Mice expressing these antigens on pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells remained tolerant and free from T1D in the absence of viral infection [57]. However, when challenged with LCMV, NPand GP-specific T-cells were activated and  $\beta$ -cells were killed, causing T1D [57]. Blocking or depletion of pro-inflammatory cytokines has been found to reduce T1D incidence in NOD mice following viral infection [58].

#### IMMUNOPATHOLOGY

#### **Disease initiation**

The inaccessibility of pAPCs (professional APCs) has made it challenging to measure their role in human T1D. Researchers rely heavily on studies in NOD mice to understand how pAPCs may promote T1D and, importantly, how their central role in tolerance may be exploited in immunotherapeutic approaches (Figure 1). pAPCs are the first cells to accumulate marginally around the islets, thereby initiating a cascade of immunopathological events that culminate in  $\beta$ -cell destruction and T1D [59,60]. The events triggering the accumulation of pAPCs in the islet milieu remain to be fully elucidated. It has been proposed that a wave of  $\beta$ -cell death occurs in NOD mice as part of tissue remodelling. This could occur either in response to viral infection or other metabolic changes around the time of weaning [61,62]. The migration of CCR7 (CC chemokine receptor 7)-positive monocyte/macrophages and DCs to the islets is promoted by the elevated expression of lymphoid-tissue-related chemokines, such as CCL19 (CC chemokine ligand 19), found in NOD mice [63]. Macrophages produce the cytokines  $TNF\alpha$ and IL-1 $\beta$  that are directly  $\beta$ -cell toxic and over-produce IL-12, driving the further recruitment of DCs to the accumulated  $\beta$ -cell debris. This exacerbates the inflammatory response and leads to the inappropriate activation of autoreactive T-cells in NOD mice [64]. Furthermore, due to increased prostaglandin (PGE<sub>2</sub>) production, macrophages from NOD mice are impaired in their phagocytic ability and their ability to present self-antigens for the induction of tolerogenic immune responses [65-67]. Therefore NOD mouse macrophages have an important role not only in the initiation of insulitis, but also in driving its progression towards  $\beta$ -cell destruction and T1D. On the basis of the important roles of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  in  $\beta$ -cell damage, children recently diagnosed with T1D have been treated with IL-1RAs (IL-1 receptor antagonists) and TNF antagonists in a number of different trials. Both treatments promoted small increases in insulin production within 4-5 months of treatment [68].

In NOD mice multiple DC subsets are present including mDCs (myeloid DCs), lymphoid DCs and pDCs (plasmacytoid DCs). mDCs have an important role in antigen processing and presentation to autoreactive T-cells leading to their activation. In NOD mice there is a 5-fold increase in the number of immature mDCs and fewer mature mDCs. The immature DCs underproduce IL-10, have deficient responses to GM-CSF (granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor), decreased intracellular and surface expression of MHC class II, reduced co-stimulatory molecule expression and lowered expression of the CD40 signalling molecule [69]. However, the mature mDCs in NOD mice express elevated NF- $\kappa$ B in response to antigen, and this leads to increased secretion of IL-12p70 and TNF $\alpha$ , and increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules. Increased IL-12 leads to autocrine activation of DCs, as well as increased activation of antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells [70]. This intrinsic defect of the mature mDC population therefore tips the balance towards a Th1 immune response that drives  $\beta$ -cell destruction and T1D. Likewise, mDCs from T1D patients display elevated NF-κB activation and IL-12 secretion [71]. In addition to defects in the myeloid population there are also defects in the lymphoid DC population in NOD mice. Lymphoid DCs in NOD mice show reduced IDO (indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase)-mediated catabolism of tryptophan in response to IFN $\gamma$ , resulting in the increased proliferation of effector T-cells [72]. pDCs have an immature phenotype, are poor antigen presenters and are therefore known to be important for the induction of tolerogenic immune responses. In NOD mice depletion of pDCs was associated with a reduction in IDO in the pancreas and this correlated directly with the development and severity of insulitis [73]. The importance of DCs in T1D has been exploited in on-going clinical trials. Autologous DCs modified ex vivo to have reduced co-stimulatory ability have been used in T1D patients and at risk individuals to drive tolerogenic immune responses [179]. Although safety has been established, the efficacy of this approach is not yet known.

#### NK (natural killer) cells

NK cells are normally associated with defence against viruses, intracellular pathogen infected cells, malignant cells and foreign or transplanted cells. It is thought that NK cells may have an important early role in the immunopathogenesis of T1D since they are found to infiltrate pancreatic islets of NOD mice and have also been detected in the pancreatic islets of cadaveric T1D patients [74,75]. Furthermore, NK cells within the insulitis lesion display an activated phenotype, expressing higher levels of KIRG1 (killer cell lectin-like receptor group G1), PD-1 (programmed cell death-1), IL-2R (IL-2 receptor; CD25) and CD69 than NK cells from the pLN or spleen, and this correlates with increased  $\beta$ -cell destruction. The activated NK cells found in the insulitis lesion may directly induce  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis through perforin- and granzyme-mediated cytotoxic damage, as they express CD107a which is a marker of granule exocytosis [76]. NK cells are able to recognize NOD  $\beta$ -cells as these express RAE1 (retinoic acid early transcript 1) and NKp46 ligand, which are the ligands for NK cell receptors NKG2D (natural killer group 2D) and NKp46 respectively. Although it has been shown that blockade of NKG2D and NKp46 reduces T1D incidence, it may be that the protection is due to inhibition of interactions other than with NK cells, such as with cytotoxic T-cells that also express NKG2D [77]. Alternatively, they may indirectly damage  $\beta$ -cells since they also express high levels of pro-inflammatory



#### Figure 1 Key immunopathogenic features of $\beta$ -cell destruction in NOD mice

(1) The initial trigger that causes the release of  $\beta$ -cell antigens is unknown, but it has been proposed that viral infection and/or a wave of  $\beta$ -cell death may promote the initial recruitment of NK cells, DCs and macrophages to the islet milieu. NOD mouse macrophages have a reduced phagocytic ability and secrete increased levels of ROS, TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  that promote  $\beta$ -cell death, as well as increased levels of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN $\gamma$  and IL-12 that increase local MHC expression and promote DC activation. (2) Activated DCs migrate to the pLN, where they deliver  $\beta$ -cell antigen to resident APCs and T-cells. NOD mouse DCs have a reduced tolerogenic capacity due to decreased expression of PD-L1 and IDO, as well as increased expression of NF $\kappa$ B, CD80/CD86, TNF $\alpha$  and IL-12, leading to activation of autoreactive CD4 and CD8 T-cells. Activated T-cells are expanded further by encounter with activated B-cells presenting  $\beta$ -cell antigen. (3) Activated Jymphocytes migrate across a chemokine gradient from the inflamed islet associated vascular endothelium, expressing up-regulated HA, ICOS, VCAM-1, ICAM-1, MADCAM-1, MHC class I and MHC class II, into the islet tissue. Local activated APCs in the islet milieu continue to take up, process and present antigen, promoting the retention and expansion of CD8 and CD4 T-cells that kill  $\beta$ -cells via perforin/granzyme and Fas/FasL mechanisms respectively. RAE1, retinoic acid early transcript 1.

cytokines such as IFN $\gamma$  [78]. Although NK cells undoubtedly have a role in the early insulitis lesion it is unlikely that they are essential in the immunopathogenic process that drives complete  $\beta$ -cell destruction as NOD  $\beta$ -cells lacking MHC class I/*B2m* yet retaining NK receptor ligands are not killed by NK cells [79].

#### **B-lymphocytes**

Although macrophages and DCs are the primary pAPCs involved in the insulitis initiation, B-lymphocytes also have a pivotal early role in the pathogenesis of T1D development. B-cells have been identified in the insulitic lesions of biopsies from human T1D patients, as well as in the pancreatic biopsies of diabetes-prone mice and rats [80]. The significance of B-cells as important contributors to disease became clear when diabetes-prone NOD mice lacking B-cells were generated. Although B-cell-deficient NOD mice developed mild insulitis, suggesting that B-cells are not required for the initiation of disease, they were significantly protected from the development of diabetes, confirming their role in disease progression [81–84]. Similar results were obtained following antibody-mediated depletion of B-cells [85].

Two main roles have been proposed for B-cells in the pathogenesis of T1D. (i) B-cells may contribute to disease via the production of AAbs (autoantibodies), known to correlate with early pathogenesis. A role for AAbs in promoting T1D development has also been supported by maternal AAb studies whereby inhibition of AAb transfer from mothers to NOD offspring in several models was found to protect against T1D development in the offspring [86,87]. Additionally, there is indirect evidence that suggests that AAbs enhance the effector functions of DCs and NK cells, as FcR $\gamma$  (Fc receptor  $\gamma$ )<sup>-/-</sup> NOD mice are protected from disease [88]. These findings have led to the proposal that AAbs may augment  $\beta$ -cell destruction through binding AAgs and promoting  $FcR\gamma$ -mediated antigen uptake by APCs or by promoting antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity of  $\beta$ -cells. However, AAbs are not requisite for T1D development as NOD transgenic mice expressing only membrane-bound BCRs (B-cell receptors) and without the capacity to secrete antibody developed an increased incidence of insulitis and T1D compared with NOD B-cell-deficient mice [89]. (ii) B-cells may contribute to disease via the recognition, uptake and processing of AAgs and presentation to diabetogenic T-cells. This antigen-presenting role of Bcells must occur after the activation of T-cells involved in the initial immune phase of T1D, as many B-cell-deficient mice develop non-invasive insulitis [81]. The progression from non-invasive to invasive insulitis is well documented, but a mechanistic understanding of this crucial switch is not well understood [90,91]. It is likely that the highly proliferative nature of B-cells allows them to efficiently capture  $\beta$ -cell antigen for processing and presentation to activated diabetogenic CD4+ T-cells and CD8+ T-cells, resulting in the rapid expansion of cells invading and killing the islet  $\beta$ -cells [92,93].

Because of their known role in antigen presentation, and because they are expanded in NOD mice, the MZ (marginal zone) B-cell population has been implicated in the pathogenesis of T1D [94]. However, it is unlikely that the increase in MZ numbers observed in NOD mice is a primary defect promoting T1D, since loss of MZ B-cells following complete splenectomy failed to protect NOD mice from T1D, whereas the removal of follicular (FO), and not MZ, B-cells in anti-CD20-treated NOD mice did protect from T1D [95].

Treatment of recently diagnosed T1D patients with anti-CD20 mAb (monoclonal antibody) transiently depleted B-cells and resulted in transient preservation of  $\beta$ -cell mass. Although B-cells clearly contribute to T1D pathogenesis in NOD mice and humans, it is also clear that T1D can develop via alternative pathways in both species. T-cells from B-cell-deficient NOD mice were able to transfer T1D to NODscid recipients, albeit at a reduced frequency compared with T-cells from B-cell-sufficient donors [82]. In humans, T1D has likewise been reported in B-cell-deficient patients [96]. Therefore, although B-cells present as an attractive therapeutic target in those at risk of developing T1D, it is unlikely that their blockade will provide protection in all patients.

#### T-lymphocytes

There is a large body of evidence implicating T-cells in the development and progression of T1D in humans and NOD mice. Both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-lymphocytes are pivotal during the early and late stages of disease in mice. Whole splenocytes or purified populations of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells can transfer T1D to young NOD and non-diabetes-prone F1 mouse strains, whereas neither CD4<sup>+</sup> nor CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells alone can transfer disease [97,98]. Likewise, T-cell-depletion of susceptible NOD mice inhibited disease progression and T1D, reinforcing the central role of T-cells in immunopathogenesis [99]. The early discovery that T-cells are essential in the immunopathogenesis of T1D has led to a major focus on these cells, from thymic development to understanding the key mediators of cytotoxic versus regulatory subset development and  $\beta$ -cell killing.

#### Development

The architecture of the NOD mouse thymus is abnormal, comprising unusually large perivascular spaces and disorganized thymic medulla. Additionally, NOD mouse thymocytes have reduced expression of the integrin-type fibronectin receptors  $\alpha 4\beta 1$  (VLA-4) and  $\alpha 5\beta 1$  (VLA-5) that cause defects in cell migration. Since the thymocytes trapped within the giant perivascular spaces of the NOD mouse thymus are consistently VLA-5-negative, their accumulation may be due to an impairment of normal thymocyte migration [100,100a]. Although the overall number of Tcells emigrating from the NOD mouse thymus is normal, there may be an increase in the proportion of T-cells that bear TCRs with autoreactive specificity. The unique MHC class II haplotype present in NOD mice, and in many Caucasoid T1D patients, influences the ability to bind to self-peptide and mediate negative selection. This deficiency was tested in transgenic NOD mice expressing non-autoimmune-associated MHC class II haplotypes. These mice were protected from developing T1D, a protection that involved thymic deletion of autoreactive CD4+ T-cells in TCR transgenic 4.1NOD mice expressing the MHC class II molecule I-E [101].

It has been proposed that NOD mice fail to express selfantigens efficiently. This could be due to the lack of the MHC class II molecule I-E or, alternatively, due to the inability of AIREs (autoimmune regulators) to induce expression of self-antigens in mTECs (medullary thymic epithelial cells). NOD mice have reduced thymic expression of the AAg ICA69 (islet cell autoantigen of 69 kDa), and the gene encoding this protein carries a SNP in the promoter region important for AIRE binding [102]. This could explain the reduced thymic expression of this self-antigen and the potential for reduced deletion of thymocytes with specificity for it. Although there is no direct evidence that the expression of proinsulin is similarly reduced in the NOD thymus, enhanced expression of this important AAg in transgenic NOD mice protects from T1D [103]. In humans elevated thymic expression of proinsulin is also associated with protection from T1D [104].

NOD mice have a defect that limits allelic exclusion, which is identified by the increased heterogeneity of TCR $\alpha$  genes expressed on T-cells from transgenic NOD AI4 mice [105]. As a consequence of inefficient allelic exclusion, two different TCRs can be expressed on the surface of developing thymocytes and this has been shown to allow escape from negative selection and development of autoimmunity in other models [21].

Once the process of thymic selection is complete, thymocytes up-regulate receptors on their surface, such as CCR7, allowing them to respond to chemokines and emigrate from the thymus to the peripheral lymphoid organs. Interestingly, CCR7 is elevated on NOD mouse T-cells and CCR7-deficient NOD mice are protected from T1D [106,107]. However, there is to date no evidence that this polymorphism contributes to altered thymic emigration.

#### Activation

Since autoreactive T-cells are found in normal healthy people and mice, the escape of such cells from the NOD thymus cannot alone account for the development of T1D. Therefore there must be defects in the peripheral regulation of autoreactive T-cells. Following selection within the thymus, naive CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells travel to LNs, where they await activation upon MHC presentation of their complementary antigens by pAPCs and costimulatory signals. The activation of islet-reactive T-cells occurs within the pLN as their early removal in NOD mice was found to prevent development of T1D, whereas early removal of spleen had no impact on T1D [108].

The unique MHC class II of NOD mice contributes not only to the loss of thymic tolerance, but also to the loss of peripheral tolerance. Autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell activation is associated with the unique I-A<sup>g7</sup> molecule. The lack of an acidic residue at position 57 of the  $\beta$  chain prevents formation of a salt bridge with Arg<sup>76</sup> in the  $\alpha$  chain [109–111]. As a consequence, I-A<sup>g7</sup> is able to form salt bridges with bound peptides, enhancing peptide–MHC class II binding. A similar binding property has been found in the human MHC class II genotype HLA DQA1\*0301, DQB1\*0302 associated with T1D [112], suggesting that the homologous human HLA haplotype may lead to T1D development through the same mechanism.

The maintenance of tolerance to islet cell antigen requires their expression by stromal cells in the pLN, and this is regulated by the Deaf1 (deformed epidermal autoregulatory factor 1) transcription factor. Deaf1 is negatively regulated by its binding to a Deaf1 isoform called Deaf1-VAR, which prevents localization of Deaf1 to the nucleus. In the absence of Deaf1 in the nucleus, the transcription of TSAs (tissue-specific antigens) is reduced. In NOD mice undergoing destructive insulitis, Deaf1-VAR is in excess and the expression of TSAs are consequently downregulated [113]. Reduced expression of Deaf1 was also found in T1D patients. However, in NOD mice, islet-reactive T-cells are activated as early as 3 weeks of age, well before any changes in Deaf1 expression are observed, and as such this cannot be the primary peripheral tolerance defect that leads to the development of insulitis.

The activation of islet-reactive T-cells requires signalling through co-stimulatory molecules expressed by pAPCs, including CD40, CD80 and CD86. CD40 binds CD40L (CD40 ligand) on T-cells, leading to an up-regulation of CD40 and TNFRs on APCs. Early inhibition of CD40L in NOD mice caused a significant reduction in the development of insulitis and T1D, suggesting that autoreactive T-cells are dependent on this interaction for activation [114]. In addition to the importance of the CD40/CD40L interaction for activation of T-cells, this interaction may also be important for the expansion of T-cells in the insulitis lesion. CD40 has been identified on the surface of islet-invasive T-cells, raising the possibility that pathogenic T-cells may cross-stimulate via CD40/CD40L interaction [115]. CD80/CD86 on APCs can ligate CD28 on T-cells and lead to their activation. This activation can be negatively regulated by the inhibitory molecule CTLA-4 on T-cells, which also binds CD80 and CD86. CTLA-4 negative regulation promotes the maturation of DCs that express IDO and regulate effector T-cells. NOD mice express reduced levels of liCTLA-4 with a concomitant reduction in the usual negative regulation of T-cell activation [17]. Consistent with this, deletion or blocking of CTLA-4 in NOD mice resulted in exacerbation of T1D [116]. Furthermore, NOD mice with induced overexpression of liCTLA-4 had a reduction in the incidence of T1D [117]. Although liCTLA-4 is not found in humans, sCTLA-4 is reduced in T1D patients [17]. On the basis of these studies, patients with recent-onset T1D were treated with CTLA-4Ig, a fusion protein composed of the Fc region of IgG1 and extracellular domain of CTLA-4, which inhibits the co-stimulation of T cells. Although C-peptide levels were initially higher after CTLA-4Ig treatment, there was no significant preservation of  $\beta$ -cell mass after 2 years [118].

Another negative regulatory molecule belonging to the CD28 family and involved in T1D development in NOD mice is PD-1. PD-1 is expressed on activated T-cells and its ligands, PD-L1 and PD-L2, are expressed on DCs. T-cell proliferation is inhibited when PD-1 binds to its ligands on DCs. Interestingly PD-L1 is also expressed on islet cells and blockade of PD-L1 in NOD mice, using mAbs, accelerated the rate of insulitis and T1D progression, suggesting that the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway negatively regulates autoreactive T-cells [119]. Consistent with this, T1D patients have reduced expression of this important negative regulator of T-cell proliferation [120].

In addition, within the CD28 family is ICOS, a co-stimulatory molecule up-regulated on activated T-cells and important in T1D. NOD mice have a higher expression level of ICOS than non-autoimmune strains. Both ICOS- and ICOSL (ICOS ligand)-deficient NOD mice are protected from T1D and this is caused by the failure to activate  $\beta$ -cell-reactive T-cells [18]. ICOS may

therefore have an important role in maintaining the balance between the activation of effector and regulatory T-cells that control the development of T1D in NOD mice.

#### Homing to the islet

Activated islet-specific T-cells in NOD mice show normal upregulation of CD44 and down-regulation of CD62L (CD62 ligand), allowing them to migrate out of the LNs via the efferent lymphatics. They then re-enter the circulation via the thoracic duct and migrate along the ECs associated with islet tissue. In pre-diabetic NOD mice, the  $\beta$ -cells, ECs and mononuclear cells infiltrating the islets produce multiple chemokine proteins that facilitate the tissue-specific homing of effector cells. The expression pattern of these chemokines is complex and it is unlikely that targeting of single chemokines will be of significant therapeutic benefit. However,  $\beta$ -cell expression of a chemokine decoy receptor that binds an array of chemokines completely prevented T1D in NOD mice [121].

The islet ECs normally protect  $\beta$ -cells from inappropriate infiltration by immune cells travelling in the blood. However, NOD mouse islet ECs take on an activated phenotype at the time of insulitis development, expressing HA (hyaluronan), MADCAM-1 (mucosal vascular addressin cell adhesion molecule-1), and ICAM-1 and VCAM-1, which are important for adhesion of activated monocytes and T-cells [122]. T-cell expression of MT1-MMP (membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase) facilitates their transmigration into the islets by cleaving the CD44/HA interaction [123]. Activated ECs also up-regulate MHC class I and II expression important for the presentation of antigens to CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells respectively. The reasons for this up-regulation are not known, but many viruses thought to be associated with T1D are known to infect microvasculature ECs and persistent infection of these cells has been associated with increased expression of adhesion molecules and MHC molecules [54-56,124]. The importance of ICAM-1 in the development of T1D has been demonstrated in anti-ICAM-1-treated NOD mice that were found to be protected from the development of T1D [125,126]. Others have reported that an increase in MHC class I expression on islet ECs was associated with T1D in NOD mice [55], and human histological samples taken during the peri-onset stage of T1D show up-regulation of MHC class I and II, as well as adhesion molecules, on the islet ECs [56]. A novel therapeutic approach has been tested in NOD mice using a mAb that blocks MT1-MMP cleavage of CD44/HA and thereby prevents the transmigration of activated T-cells into the islet, resulting in protection from T1D [123].

#### Insulitis

8

Despite the many studies showing that both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are required for progression of disease to complete  $\beta$ -cell destruction and T1D, the precise role of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in the initiation phase of disease has been controversial.  $\beta$ 2M<sup>-/-</sup> NOD mice, which lack MHC class I expression and CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcells, do not develop insulitis [127]. This work was interpreted to mean that CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are critical for the initiation of insulitis. However, an alternative explanation for the complete lack of insulitis is that protection was conferred by other B6-derived *Idd13*-linked protective genes back-crossed to the NOD with the  $\beta$ 2M deficiency [127–130]. NOD mice lacking  $\beta$ 2M/MHC class I on APCs only developed a mild peri-islet infiltrate consisting of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells that did not progress to invasive insulitis in the absence of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells [131]. This indicates that CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells initiate peri-insulitis independently of CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and subsequently provide help to CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells that can then respond to the earliest  $\beta$ -cell antigens.

It is thought that the earliest autoantigenic target of T-cells is insulin because a high frequency of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell clones isolated from the insulitic lesion of NOD mice react to peptides from insulin. In particular, early insulitic CD4+ T-cells predominantly respond to insulin peptide B-(9-23) [132], and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells respond to peptide B-(15-23) [133]. Replacement of the NOD mouse insulin gene with a mutated insulin gene, encoding Al<sup>16</sup>, protected from T1D, but periductal insulitis persisted around some islets [134]. This suggests that, although insulin is an important early AAg recognized by T-cells, there may be upstream AAgs that precede insulin. Whatever the upstream antigens are, clearly the induction of tolerance to insulin is important and blocks the progression of insulitis. NOD mice treated with oral porcine insulin or peptides were protected from T1D [135], and those administered with human insulin developed  $T_{reg}$  cells that were also able to transfer this protection [136]. However, unfortunately, in none of the clinical trials in which insulin was delivered systemically or orally was there a delay in onset of T1D compared with untreated control subjects at risk of developing T1D [137,138]. However, the problem with these trials may have been the route of administration as a pilot study using a single intramuscular injection of insulin with IFA (Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant) in recent-onset T1D patients showed an increase in insulin-specific T<sub>reg</sub> cells 2 years after treatment [139].

Once initiated by T-cells specific for insulin, islet cell damage ensues with concomitant release of AAgs that results in the activation of an increasingly heterogeneous autoreactive T-cell repertoire. A large number of these AAgs have been defined in NOD mice and have been reviewed extensively elsewhere [140]. It is more difficult to study the expanding heterogeneity of human T-cell responses in T1D due to the low T-cell frequency in peripheral blood and the inaccessibility of islets. However, if we are to design therapeutic intervention strategies that induce tolerance in T-cells of diabetic patients, it is imperative that we identify the human antigenic targets. Currently, there are only three targets recognized by both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells that have been identified in the NOD mouse and that are also found in human T1D patients. These include two  $\beta$ -cell antigens, insulin and IGRP (islet-specific glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunitrelated protein), and a neuroendocrine antigen, GAD (glutamic acid decarboxylase) [141]. GAD-65 alum has been used to treat new-onset T1D patients, but failed to show significant improvement in C-peptide levels. Combination therapy with GAD-65 alum and vitamin D/ibuprofen are currently in Phase II clinical trials [142].

#### Balance of immunopathogenesis and regulation

The insulitic lesion of NOD mice includes a number of CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T-cell subsets that have been categorized based on their

cytokine production as Th1, Th2, Th17, Th40, Treg cells and NKT cells. On the basis of these subsets, T1D has been considered a Th1-mediated disease, because increased levels of IFN $\gamma$  and lower levels of IL-4 were correlated with  $\beta$ -cell destructive insulitis [143]. Furthermore, induction of a Th2 bias by administration of IL-4, and infection with various helminths, confers protection from T1D in NOD mice [144,145]. However, this simple categorization of T1D as a Th1-mediated disease was brought into question when IFN $\gamma$ - and IFN $\gamma$ R (IFN $\gamma$  receptor)deficient NOD mice remained susceptible [146,147]. It is now recognized that cytokines are involved in the cross-talk between a greater range of T-cell subsets that control the balance between effector and regulatory immune responses. Th17-cells were identified as a subset of effector T-helper cells that differentiate in response to TGF- $\beta$  (transforming growth factor- $\beta$ ) and IL-6, and require IL-23 for population expansion. They produce mainly IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-22, which have broad actions on the immune system due to the distribution of the IL-17 and IL-22 receptors [148]. Th17-cells have been shown to be important for a number of autoimmune diseases, such as asthma and psoriasis, but their role in T1D has only been reported in a few studies and remains controversial. Serum IL-17 is elevated in NOD mice and there are reports of increased numbers of Th17-cells in NOD mouse islets [149]. Consistent with the proposed role for Th17 cells in disease, the blockade of IL-17 in NOD mice with a mAb resulted in reduced insulitis [150]. Conversely, IL-17-deficient NOD mice were not protected from T1D [151]. Furthermore, when Th1- and Th17-cells from NOD BDC2.5 mice were independently transferred to NODscid recipients, those receiving Th1-cells developed more severe disease than those receiving Th17-cells. Interestingly, recipients of Th17-cells were found to have converted into a Th1 phenotype as measured by their production of IFN $\gamma$ , suggesting that Th17-cells in NOD mice are not the primary cell type driving pathogenesis [152]. These studies also highlight the plasticity of the different CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell effector populations involved in a dynamic immune response.

A highly pathogenic subset of CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T-cells, termed Th40-cells, has been identified in the insulitis lesion of NOD mice [153]. In addition to CD40L expressed on all activated T-cells, this subset expresses the CD40 protein itself and produces the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN $\gamma$ , TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6 and, sometimes, IL-17. The percentage of Th40-cells in NOD mice correlates with increased insulitis, and this population is essential for the transfer of disease to NODscid recipients [154]. Further adding to the complexity of the dynamic interactions between the different CD4<sup>+</sup> effector T-cell populations, the production of IL-6 by Th40-cells can convert T<sub>reg</sub> cells into Th17-cells in mice [154a]. Importantly, Th40-cells have been identified in increased numbers in T1D patients and were found to be reactive to known islet autoantigens [155].

 $T_{reg}$  cells are another important subset of effector T-helper cells involved in resolution of immune responses and in preventing autoimmunity. Although NOD mice have normal numbers of  $T_{reg}$  cells, their ability to regulate pathogenic T-cells is limited [156]. IL-2, encoded within the *Idd3* susceptibility loci, is expressed at reduced levels in NOD mice compared with non-

autoimmune-prone strains, and this is correlated with the development of T1D. Since IL-2 has an important role in the induction and maintenance of FoxP3 (forkhead box P3)-expressing  $T_{reg}$  cells, it has been proposed that reduced IL-2 promotes T1D by causing an imbalance between  $T_{reg}$  cells and pathogenic T-cells [157]. Indeed, it has been shown that islet-infiltrating  $T_{reg}$  cells in NOD mice have reduced levels of IL-2R (CD25), FoxP3 and Bcl2 as a consequence of reduced IL-2 signalling [157a]. Consistent with this, administration of low-dose IL-2 to susceptible NOD mice restored CD25 expression on islet-infiltrating  $T_{reg}$  cells and protected from T1D [158]. It was also possible to correct the functional defect in  $T_{reg}$  cells of NOD mice by co-culturing them with cord blood stem cells [159]. This enhancement of  $T_{reg}$  cell function using stem cells has recently been tested in T1D patients and showed promising therapeutic potential [160].

NKT cells are a rare but an important effector T-helper cell subset, expressing an invariant TCR $\alpha$  chain V $\alpha$ 14-J $\alpha$ 18 in mice and V $\alpha$ 24-J $\alpha$ 18 in humans, and are also important in regulating effector T-cells. In NOD mice, NKT cells are severely reduced in number and are functionally deficient with an impaired ability to produce cytokines upon stimulation [161,162]. Although NKT cells can usually produce large quantities of both IL-4 and IFN $\gamma$ , NKT cells in NOD mice produce decreased levels of Th2 cytokines, particularly IL-4, which may lead to a Th1 bias [163]. The reduced number of NKT cells correlates with exacerbation of T1D, and reconstitution of NOD mice with normal numbers of NKT cells prevents T1D [164]. Furthermore, it has been found that the impact of NKT cells on T1D in NOD mice is not always attributable to cytokine production [163]. NKT cells may also regulate T1D development through cell-cell contact with conventional T-cells, since this has been found to inhibit differentiation and induce anergy of islet-reactive T-cells in NOD mice [165]. These findings demonstrate that NKT cells may influence T1D via multiple non-mutually exclusive mechanisms. However, the significance of NKT cells in human T1D is yet to be definitively confirmed.

#### Killing of $\beta$ -cells

As the infiltration of macrophages within the inflamed islet precedes that of T-cells, it is thought that initial  $\beta$ -cell death may not be antigen-specific, but instead be mediated by cytokines produced by macrophages. These cytokines include TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$ and IL-1 $\beta$  that bind their respective receptors on  $\beta$ -cells and induce apoptosis of  $\beta$ -cells via STAT1 (signal transducer and activator of transcription 1) and NF- $\kappa$ B pathways [166]. They can also induce the expression of ROS (reactive oxygen species) such as NO, which initiates DNA strand breakage and activation of PARP [poly(ADP ribose) polymerase], causing  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis. Although macrophages are important for initial  $\beta$ -cell damage, they do not kill sufficient numbers of  $\beta$ -cells to cause T1D, since NODscid mice with functional macrophages, but lacking lymphocytes, do not develop T1D.

The events that cause the non-invasive insulitis lesion to become invasive are not understood. However, the mechanisms by which  $\beta$ -cells are killed once this switch occurs have been well defined using NOD mice deficient in  $\beta$ -cell MHC class I, Fas or FasL (Fas ligand), perforin or granzyme. After a critical threshold

Table 1         Summary of clinical outcomes for T1D patients based on NOD mouse studies					
Lessons f	from NOD mice	Potential relevance to human T1D	Clinical significance		
Role of en	vironment				
Vitamin mice [3	D protects from T1D in NOD 5,36]	Reduced incidence of T1D in equatorial regions of high sunlight UV-B is essential for the synthesis of vitamin D	Vitamin D supplementation: at birth protected from T1D; recent-onset T1D had no significant protection [38,39]		
		Vitamin D has anti-inflammatory effects			
Omega-3 in NOD	3 fatty acids protect from T1D mice [43]	Reduced incidence of T1D in ethnic groups with a culture of increased fish consumption Omega 3 fatty acids are anti-inflammatory	Omega-3 supplementation: in genetically susceptible children, T1D incidence was reduced; in pregnant mothers and their HLA higher T1D risk babies efficacy not yet known [44]; trials is on-going		
Probiotio mice [4	cs protect from T1D in NOD 8]	Higher T1D incidence associated with higher standard of living, hygiene and antibiotic use	Probiotic supplementation administered to at-risk children (PRODIA study) established safety; efficacy is not yet known [50]		
Role of cyt	tokine/cytokine receptors				
Macroph IL-1 $\beta$ ar mice [6	hage production of TNFα and e directly β-cell toxic in NOD 4]	Macrophages present in pancreatic samples of cadaveric T1D patients [181]	Recombinant IL-1RA (anakinra/kineret): in recent-onset T1D children, no change in pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression, insulin secretory capacity or HbA <sub>1c</sub> levels was observed; lower insulin requirements were reported up to 4 months post-treatment [68]		
			TNF antagonist (etanercept, infliximab and adalimumab): in recent-onset T1D children, HbA <sub>1c</sub> was reduced and insulin production was increased at 24 weeks post-treatment [68]		
Role of DC	S				
Defectiv [69]	e DC maturation in NOD mice	DCs control tolerance compared with activation of T-cells	Autologous DCs, manipulated to reduce co-stimulatory ability and promote tolerance, were given to T1D patients and at-risk individuals; safety was established, but efficacy is not yet known [179]; trial is on-going		
Increase DCs of	ed NF-κB activation in myeloid NOD mice [70]	Increased NF-κB activation in myeloid DCs of T1D patients [71]			
Increase mice D0	ed IL-12 production by NOD Cs [70]				
Role of co-	-stimulation				
Reduced inhibito mice [1	d expression of co-stimulation ry molecule liCTLA-4 in NOD 7]	Reduced expression of soluble CTLA-4 in human T1D patients [17]	CTLA-4lg fusion protein co-stimulation blockade (abatacept): in recent-onset T1D patients, treatment resulted in an initial improvement in C-peptide levels; no preservation of $\beta$ -cell mass was observed after 2 years [118]		
Overexp T1D inc	ression of liCTLA-4 reduced idence in NOD mice [117]				
Early tre protecte [116]	eatment with CTLA-4lg ed from T1D in NOD mice				
Reduced molecul	d expression of inhibitory le PD-L1 [119]	Reduced expression of PD-1 on T-cells in human T1D patients [120]			
Higher e	expression of ICOS [182]				
Role of $\beta$ -c	cell antigens				
Proinsul	in				
Transę overexp thymus suggest express tolerand	genic NOD mice ressing proinsulin in the were protected from T1D, ting the role of thymic sion of insulin in maintaining the [103]	Polymorphism in human insulin promoter is associated with lower thymic proinsulin expression, loss of tolerance to insulin and T1D [104]	<ul> <li>Induction of tolerance to insulin was trialled with:</li> <li>(i) Intra-nasal delivery: autoantibody-positive individuals had some increase in antibody and decrease in T-cell responses to insulin [184]</li> </ul>		
Trans mutated immund from T1	genic NOD mice expressing d proinsulin (lacking ogenic peptide) were protected D [134]	T-cell responses against insulin in human T1D patients [183] Insulin autoantibodies present in human T1D patients [183]	<ul> <li>(ii) Oral delivery: recent-onset T1D patients showed no improvement in C-peptide secretion or IgG insulin antibodies; accelerated β-cell loss in some treated patients was detected [185,186]</li> </ul>		

Table 1	Continued		
Lessons	from NOD mice	Potential relevance to human T1D	Clinical significance
Insulin autoantibodies precede T1D in NOD mice [183]			(iii) Intramuscular delivery with IFA: recent-onset T1D patients showed some increased insulin-specific $T_{reg}$ cells at 2 years post-treatment [139]
T-cel preser	l responses against insulin nt in NOD mice [183]		
GAD65	5		Induction of tolerance to GAD65/alum was trialled with:
GAD65 autoantibodies present in NOD mice [183]		GAD65 autoantibodies present in human T1D patients [183a]	(i) Subcutaneous delivery: recent-onset T1D patients had no significant improvement in C-peptide levels [187]; combination therapy with vitamin D and ibuprofen is currently in Phase II trials
Role of T	-cells		
Autore insulit	active T-cells present in is lesion of NOD mice [80]	Autoreactive T-cells present in T1D patients [187a]	Anti-CD3 mAb in recent-onset T1D patients and at risk individuals reduced the dependence on insulin over 4 years [190]; however, a recent large trial (otelixizumab) showed no efficacy in terms of C-peptide, insulin-dependence and HbA <sub>1c</sub> [191]; trials are on-going
Autore to NOI	active T-cells transfer disease Dscid mice [82]	CD8 T-cells present in islets of cadaveric T1D patients [181]	
CD8 T- of <i>β-</i> ce	cells are the primary mediators ell killing in NOD mice [129]		
Intrave protec	nous treatment of anti-CD3 ted from T1D in NOD mice [99]		
Oral ar mice [	nti-CD3 reversed T1D in NOD 188]		
Combii IL-1RA T1D in	ned treatment of anti-CD3 with caused synergistic reversal of NOD mice [189]		
Role of B	-cells		
B-cells NOD n	present in insulitic lesion of nice [80]	B-cells present in pancreatic samples of cadaveric T1D patients [193]	Anti-CD20 (rituximab): recent-onset T1D patients had improved HbA <sub>1c</sub> and insulin-dependence at 1 year; however, depressed IgM levels indicated B-cell immunosuppression [175]
Antiboo preser	dies against $\beta$ -cell antigens nt in NOD mice [183]	Antibodies against $\beta$ -cell antigens present in human T1D patients [195]	
B-cell-c protec	leficient NOD mice were ted from T1D [85]		
Anti-CE protec [192]	020 depletion of B-cells ted from T1D in NOD mice		
Role of T	reg cells		
Lower	levels of IL-2 in NOD mice [194]	Polymorphism in IL-2RA causing diminished IL-2 response in T <sub>reg</sub> cells from human T1D patients [196]	Stem cell educator (SCE) to promote T <sub>reg</sub> cell development; autologous lymphocytes co-cultured with cord blood stem cells (CB-SC) given to T1D patients improved C-peptide, HbA <sub>1c</sub> and insulin-dependence at 40 weeks post-treatment [180]
T <sub>reg</sub> ce	lls have reduced levels of IL-2R		

and FoxP3 expression in NOD mice

of  $\beta$ -cell antigen has been released by non-specific killing and presented to islet-specific T-cells, they become activated, and are recruited to and retained within the islet tissue where they proliferate and contribute to  $\beta$ -cell death [167]. Activated T-cells can kill  $\beta$ -cells through a Fas/FasL pathway. NOD mice deficient for either Fas or FasL are protected from T1D and transfer of wildtype NOD splenocytes into Fas-deficient NODscid mice resulted in delayed T1D [168].

Unlike CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, which cannot kill  $\beta$ -cells in an antigenspecific manner, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells recognize up-regulated MHC class I on  $\beta$ -cells and can mediate antigen-specific  $\beta$ -cell killing [169]. NOD mice lacking  $\beta$ -cell MHC class I expression are largely protected from the development of T1D. This demonstrates that a direct interaction between CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and  $\beta$ cells is the primary mechanism for antigen-specific  $\beta$ -cell killing [79,170]. Perforin-deficient NOD mice have a similar reduction in T1D incidence, suggesting that CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells use the perforin/granzyme cytotoxicity pathway to kill  $\beta$ -cells [171]. Recently, the role of CD8+ T-cells in human T1D was also demonstrated. Islet autoreactive CD8+ T-cells were identified in focal islet regions from cadaveric T1D donors and this was associated with  $\beta$ -cell destruction [172]. Furthermore, in humans, it has been shown that the structural basis of CD8+-mediated killing of human  $\beta$ -cells is different from other TCR–MHC class I interactions [173]. The TCR of a human autoreactive CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcell was highly peptide-centric in its recognition of MHC class I bearing proinsulin peptide, thus forming a very weak interaction with the MHC molecule itself. This interaction may explain why such autoreactive T-cells escape thymic selection. On the basis of these important studies implicating T-cells in the development of T1D, there have been a number of trials using anti-CD3. Early studies using humanized anti-CD3 were promising, with treated patients showing a reduced dependence on insulin over 4 years. However a more recent and large trial using anti-CD3 (otelixizumab) showed no improvement in C peptide, insulin dependence or HbA<sub>1c</sub> (glycated haemoglobin) levels [174].

#### SUMMARY

Studies in NOD mice over the past few decades have contributed to numerous immunomodulatory therapies and many of them have been tested in humans. Despite the successful protection from T1D seen in NOD mice, there has been limited success with therapeutic interventions in individuals at risk of T1D and patients. In NOD mice, non-antigen-specific therapies, including those that target the T-cells using anti-CD3 mAbs, B-cells using anti-CD20 mAbs, and APCs using a sCTLA4Ig, have shown some protection from T1D. Unfortunately, however, similar therapies showed limited efficacy in humans. Treatment of recently diagnosed T1D patients with rituximab, a humanized anti-CD20 mAb, resulted in transient preservation of  $\beta$ -cell mass. Although improvement was transient, this therapy holds promise for those at risk of T1D if administered earlier in the disease process. Genetic screening and earlier diagnosis will be important for opening an earlier therapeutic window of intervention [175,176].

Antigen-specific immune modulation trials in NOD mice, such as those involving insulin, were successful. However, none of the human trials in at-risk children have demonstrated significant efficacy. Explanations that have been proposed for the failure of these trials include the possibility that the route of administration rendered the insulin ineffective, the dose was inadequate to induce tolerance or, alternatively, such an approach may work only in those at-risk individuals that entered the trial prior to the development of activated T-cells and insulin AAbs [137,138].

Combinational therapies that suppress T-cell activation and enhance tolerance have also been successful in NOD mice. A recent pilot study [177] using combinational therapy in T1D patients involved the use of rapamycin to supress effector T-cell proliferation in combination with IL-2 to induce the formation of  $T_{reg}$  cells. Although this approach did promote an increase in  $T_{reg}$  cells, unfortunately none of the treated patients showed an increase in preserved  $\beta$ -cell mass [177].

Another innovative therapeutic approach that has been successfully tested in NOD mice is the use of immature DCs to induce tolerance [178]. This approach involves the ex vivo engineering of NOD DCs with AS-ODNs (antisense oligodeoxyribonucleotides) to inhibit the expression of CD80/CD86. After transfer back into NOD mice, these immature DCs migrated to the pLN and induced tolerance to  $\beta$ -cell antigens. Clinical trials using engineered DCs have now been initiated and support the on-going investigation of this approach for treatment of at-risk individuals in further trials [179]. One of the most recent and exciting therapeutic approaches, currently in Phase I clinical trials, is known as SCE (stem cell educator) therapy. This approach originated from NOD mouse studies in which splenocytes were cultured with human cord blood stem cells. Treg cells cultured in this way showed an increase in the CD4+CD62L+ sub-population and were able to suppress T1D in NOD recipients [180].

In summary, the NOD mouse has been studied extensively and has informed much of the current understanding of the immunopathogenesis of T1D. There are many similarities in the genetics and immunopathogenic mechanisms that lead to T1D in NOD mice and humans. Understanding these pathways has given us insight into a number of potential therapeutic avenues that are currently being trialled (Table 1).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Jacques F. Miller and Pablo A .Silveira for critical reading of the paper before submission.

#### REFERENCES

- Makino, S., Kunimoto, K., Muraoka, Y., Mizushima, Y., Katagiri, K. and Tochino, Y. (1980) Breeding of a non-obese, diabetic strain of mice. Jikken Dobutsu 29, 1–13
- 2 Anderson, M. S. and Bluestone, J. A. (2005) The NOD mouse: a model of immune dysregulation. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23, 447–485
- 3 Burren, O. S., Adlem, E. C., Achuthan, P., Christensen, M., Coulson, R. M. and Todd, J. A. (2011) T1DBase: update 2011, organization and presentation of large-scale data sets for type 1 diabetes research. Nucleic Acids Res. **39**, D997–D1001
- 4 Driver, J. P., Serreze, D. V. and Chen, Y. G. (2011) Mouse models for the study of autoimmune type 1 diabetes: a NOD to similarities and differences to human disease. Semin. Immunopathol. **33**, 67–87
- Wicker, L. S., Todd, J. A. and Peterson, L. B. (1995) Genetic control of autoimmune diabetes in the NOD mouse. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 13, 179–200
- 6 Tisch, R. and McDevitt, H. (1996) Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Cell 85, 291–297

- 7 Miyazaki, T., Uno, M., Uehira, M., Kikutani, H., Kishimoto, T., Kimoto, M., Nishimoto, H., Miyazaki, J. and Yamamura, K. (1990) Direct evidence for the contribution of the unique I-A NOD to the development of insulitis in non-obese diabetic mice. Nature **345**, 722–724
- 8 Slattery, R. M., Kjer-Nielsen, L., Allison, J., Charlton, B., Mandel, T. E. and Miller, J. F. (1990) Prevention of diabetes in non-obese diabetic I-Ak transgenic mice. Nature **345**, 724–726
- 9 Lund, T., O'Reilly, L., Hutchings, P., Kanagawa, O., Simpson, E., Gravely, R., Chandler, P., Dyson, J., Picard, J. K., Edwards, A. et al. (1990) Prevention of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in non-obese diabetic mice by transgenes encoding modified I-A  $\beta$ -chain or normal I-E  $\alpha$ -chain. Nature **345**, 727–729
- 10 Lyons, P. A., Armitage, N., Argentina, F., Denny, P., Hill, N. J., Lord, C. J., Wilusz, M. B., Peterson, L. B., Wicker, L. S. and Todd, J. A. (2000) Congenic mapping of the type 1 diabetes locus, Idd3, to a 780-kb region of mouse chromosome 3: identification of a candidate segment of ancestral DNA by haplotype mapping. Genome Res. **10**, 446–453
- 11 McGuire, H. M., Vogelzang, A., Hill, N., Flodstrom-Tullberg, M., Sprent, J. and King, C. (2009) Loss of parity between IL-2 and IL-21 in the NOD Idd3 locus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **106**, 19438–19443
- Sutherland, A. P. R., Van Belle, T., Wurster, A. L., Suto, A., Michaud, M., Zhang, D., Grusby, M. J. and von Herrath, M. (2009) Interleukin-21 is required for the development of Type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetes 58, 1144–1155
- 13 Serreze, D. V. and Leiter, E. H. (1988) Defective activation of T suppressor cell function in nonobese diabetic mice. Potential relation to cytokine deficiencies. J. Immunol. **140**, 3801–3807
- Serreze, D. V., Hamaguchi, K. and Leiter, E. H. (1989) Immunostimulation circumvents diabetes in NOD/Lt mice. J. Autoimmun. 2, 759–776
- 15 Yamanouchi, J., Rainbow, D., Serra, P., Howlett, S., Hunter, K., Garner, V. E., Gonzalez-Munoz, A., Clark, J., Veijola, R., Cubbon, R. et al. (2007) Interleukin-2 gene variation impairs regulatory T cell function and causes autoimmunity. Nat. Genet. **39**, 329–337
- 16 Spolski, R., Kashyap, M., Robinson, C., Yu, Z. and Leonard, W. J. (2008) IL-21 signaling is critical for the development of type I diabetes in the NOD mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **105**, 14028–14033
- 17 Ueda, H., Howson, J. M., Esposito, L., Heward, J., Snook, H., Chamberlain, G., Rainbow, D. B., Hunter, K. M., Smith, A. N., Di Genova, G. et al. (2003) Association of the T-cell regulatory gene CTLA4 with susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Nature **423**, 506–511
- 18 Prevot, N., Briet, C., Lassmann, H., Tardivel, I., Roy, E., Morin, J., Mak, T. W., Tafuri, A. and Boitard, C. (2010) Abrogation of ICOS/ICOS ligand costimulation in NOD mice results in autoimmune deviation toward the neuromuscular system. Eur. J. Immunol. **40**, 2267–2276
- 19 Hawiger, D., Tran, E., Du, W., Booth, C. J., Wen, L., Dong, C. and Flavell, R. A. (2008) ICOS mediates the development of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. **180**, 3140–3147
- 20 Serreze, D. V., Choisy-Rossi, C. M., Grier, A. E., Holl, T. M., Chapman, H. D., Gahagan, J. R., Osborne, M. A., Zhang, W., King, B. L., Brown, A. et al. (2008) Through regulation of TCR expression levels, an Idd7 region gene(s) interactively contributes to the impaired thymic deletion of autoreactive diabetogenic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. **180**, 3250–3259
- 21 Ji, Q., Perchellet, A. and Goverman, J. M. (2010) Viral infection triggers central nervous system autoimmunity via activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells expressing dual TCRs. Nat. Immunol. **11**, 628–634
- 22 Lyons, P. A., Hancock, W. W., Denny, P., Lord, C. J., Hill, N. J., Armitage, N., Siegmund, T., Todd, J. A., Phillips, M. S., Hess, J. F. et al. (2000) The NOD Idd9 genetic interval influences the pathogenicity of insulitis and contains molecular variants of Cd30, Tnfr2, and Cd137. Immunity **13**, 107–115

- 23 Silveira, P. A., Chapman, H. D., Stolp, J., Johnson, E., Cox, S. L., Hunter, K., Wicker, L. S. and Serreze, D. V. (2006) Genes within the Idd5 and Idd9/11 diabetes susceptibility loci affect the pathogenic activity of B cells in nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. **177**, 7033–7041
- 24 Ueno, A., Wang, J., Cheng, L., Im, J. S., Shi, Y., Porcelli, S. A. and Yang, Y. (2008) Enhanced early expansion and maturation of semi-invariant NK T cells inhibited autoimmune pathogenesis in congenic nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. **181**, 6789–6796
- 25 Yamanouchi, J., Puertas, M. C., Verdaguer, J., Lyons, P.A., Rainbow, D. B., Chamberlain, G., Hunter, K. M., Peterson, L. B., Wicker, L. S. and Santamaria, P. (2010) Idd9.1 locus controls the suppressive activity of FoxP3<sup>+</sup> CD4<sup>+</sup> CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T-cells. Diabetes **59**, 272–281
- 26 Serreze, D. V., Bridgett, M., Chapman, H. D., Chen, E., Richard, S. D. and Leiter, E. H. (1998) Subcongenic analysis of the Idd13 locus in NOD/Lt mice: evidence for several susceptibility genes including a possible diabetogenic role for β2-microglobulin. J. Immunol. **160**, 1472–1478
- 27 Zekavat, G., Mozaffari, R., Arias, V. J., Rostami, S. Y., Badkerhanian, A., Tenner, A. J., Nichols, K. E., Naji, A. and Noorchashm, H. (2010) A novel CD93 polymorphism in non-obese diabetic (NOD) and NZB/W F1 mice is linked to a CD4<sup>+</sup> iNKT cell deficient state. Immunogenetics **62**, 397–407
- 28 Parnes, J. R. and Seidman, J. G. (1982) Structure of wild-type and mutant mouse  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin genes. Cell **29**, 661–669
- 29 Gasser, D. L., Klein, K. A., Choi, E. and Seidman, J. G. (1985) A new  $\beta$ -2 microglobulin allele in mice defined by DNA sequencing. Immunogenetics **22**, 413–416
- 30 Hamilton-Williams, E. E., Serreze, D. V., Charlton, B., Johnson, E. A., Marron, M. P., Mullbacher, A. and Slattery, R. M. (2001) Transgenic rescue implicates  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin as a diabetes susceptibility gene in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **98**, 11533–11538
- 31 Fletcher, J. M., Jordan, M. A., Snelgrove, S. L., Slattery, R. M., Dufour, F. D., Kyparissoudis, K., Besra, G. S., Godfrey, D. I. and Baxter, A. G. (2008) Congenic analysis of the NKT cell control gene Nkt2 implicates the peroxisomal protein Pxmp4. J. Immunol. **181**, 3400–3412
- 32 Liston, A., Lesage, S., Gray, D. H., O'Reilly, L. A., Strasser, A., Fahrer, A. M., Boyd, R. L., Wilson, J., Baxter, A. G., Gallo, E. M. et al. (2004) Generalized resistance to thymic deletion in the NOD mouse; a polygenic trait characterized by defective induction of Bim. Immunity **21**, 817–830
- 33 Williams, A., Krug, J., Lampeter, E., Mansfield, K., Beales, P., Signore, A., Gale, E. and Pozzilli, P. (1990) Raised temperature reduces the incidence of diabetes in the NOD mouse. Diabetologia **33**, 635–637
- Giulietti, A., Gysemans, C., Stoffels, K., van Etten, E., Decallonne, B., Overbergh, L., Bouillon, R. and Mathieu, C. (2004) Vitamin D deficiency in early life accelerates Type 1 diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice. Diabetologia 47, 451–462
- 35 Mathieu, C., Laureys, J., Sobis, H., Vandeputte, M., Waer, M. and Bouillon, R. (1992) 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 prevents insulitis in NOD mice. Diabetes **41**, 1491–1495
- 36 Mathieu, C., Waer, M., Laureys, J., Rutgeerts, O. and Bouillon, R. (1994) Prevention of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice by 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3. Diabetologia **37**, 552–558
- D'Ambrosio, D., Cippitelli, M., Cocciolo, M. G., Mazzeo, D., Di Lucia, P., Lang, R., Sinigaglia, F. and Panina-Bordignon, P.
   (1998) Inhibition of IL-12 production by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Involvement of NF-*k*B downregulation in transcriptional repression of the p40 gene. J Clin Invest. **101**, 252–262
- 38 Hypponen, E., Laara, E., Reunanen, A., Jarvelin, M. R. and Virtanen, S. M. (2001) Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study. Lancet **358**, 1500–1503
- 39 Walter, M., Kaupper, T., Adler, K., Foersch, J., Bonifacio, E. and Ziegler, A. G. (2010) No effect of the  $1\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on  $\beta$ -cell residual function and insulin requirement in adults with new-onset type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care **33**, 1443–1448

- 40 Coleman, D. L., Kuzava, J. E. and Leiter, E. H. (1990) Effect of diet on incidence of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. Diabetes **39**, 432–436
- 41 Lefebvre, D. E., Powell, K. L., Strom, A. and Scott, F. W. (2006) Dietary proteins as environmental modifiers of type 1 diabetes mellitus. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 26, 175–202
- 42 Flohe, S. B., Wasmuth, H. E., Kerad, J. B., Beales, P. E., Pozzilli, P., Elliott, R. B., Hill, J. P., Scott, F. W. and Kolb, H. (2003) A wheat-based, diabetes-promoting diet induces a Th1-type cytokine bias in the gut of NOD mice. Cytokine **21**, 149–154
- 43 Kagohashi, Y., Abiru, N., Kobayashi, M., Hashimoto, M., Shido, O. and Otani, H. (2010) Maternal dietary n-6/n-3 fatty acid ratio affects type 1 diabetes development in the offspring of non-obese diabetic mice. Congenital Anomalies **50**, 212–220
- 44 Norris, J. M., Yin, X., Lamb, M. M., Barriga, K., Seifert, J., Hoffman, M., Orton, H. D., Baron, A. E., Clare-Salzler, M., Chase, H. P. et al. (2007) Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid intake and islet autoimmunity in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes. JAMA, J. Am. Med. Assoc. **298**, 1420–1428
- 45 Lands, W. E., Hamazaki, T., Yamazaki, K., Okuyama, H., Sakai, K., Goto, Y. and Hubbard, V. S. (1990) Changing dietary patterns. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. **51**, 991–993
- 46 Oh, D. Y., Talukdar, S., Bae, E. J., Imamura, T., Morinaga, H., Fan, W., Li, P., Lu, W. J., Watkins, S. M. and Olefsky, J. M. (2010) GPR120 is an omega-3 fatty acid receptor mediating potent anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing effects. Cell 142, 687–698
- 47 Zhang, M. J. and Spite, M. (2012) Resolvins: anti-inflammatory and proresolving mediators derived from omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Annu. Rev. Nutr. **32**, 203–227
- 48 Calcinaro, F., Dionisi, S., Marinaro, M., Candeloro, P., Bonato, V., Marzotti, S., Corneli, R. B., Ferretti, E., Gulino, A., Grasso, F. et al. (2005) Oral probiotic administration induces interleukin-10 production and prevents spontaneous autoimmune diabetes in the non-obese diabetic mouse. Diabetologia **48**, 1565–1575
- 49 Maslowski, K. M. and Mackay, C. R. (2011) Diet, gut microbiota and immune responses. Nat. Immunol. 12, 5–9
- 50 Ljungberg, M., Korpela, R., Ilonen, J., Ludvigsson, J. and Vaarala, O. (2006) Probiotics for the Prevention of  $\beta$ -cell Autoimmunity in Children at Genetic Risk of Type 1 Diabetes: the PRODIA Study. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. **1079**, 360–364
- 51 Hansen, A. K., Ling, F., Kaas, A., Funda, D. P., Farlov, H. and Buschard, K. (2006) Diabetes preventive gluten-free diet decreases the number of caecal bacteria in non-obese diabetic mice. Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 22, 220–225
- 52 Coppieters, K. T., Boettler, T. and von Herrath, M. (2012) Virus infections in Type 1 diabetes. Cold Spring. Harb. Perspect. Med. 2, a007682
- 53 Vaarala, O., Atkinson, M. A. and Neu, J. (2008) The "perfect storm" for type 1 diabetes: the complex interplay between intestinal microbiota, gut permeability, and mucosal immunity. Diabetes 57, 2555–2562
- 54 Favaro, E., Miceli, I., Camussi, E. and Zanone, M. M. Islet endothelium: role in Type 1 diabetes and in coxsackievirus infections. In Type 1 Diabetes Complications (Wagner, D., ed.), pp. 55–84, Intech, Rijeka
- 55 Kay, T. W., Campbell, I. L., Oxbrow, L. and Harrison, L. C. (1991) Overexpression of class I major histocompatibility complex accompanies insulitis in the non-obese diabetic mouse and is prevented by anti-interferon- $\gamma$  antibody. Diabetologia **34**, 779–785
- 55a Linn, T., Strate, C., Federlin, K. and Papaccio, G. (1994) Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression in the islets of the non-obese diabetic and low-dose streptozocin-treated mouse. Histochemistry **102**, 317–321
- 56 Itoh, N., Hanafusa, T., Miyazaki, A., Miyagawa, J., Yamagata, K., Yamamoto, K., Waguri, M., Imagawa, A., Tamura, S., Inada, M. et al. (1993) Mononuclear cell infiltration and its relation to the expression of major histocompatibility complex antigens and adhesion molecules in pancreas biopsy specimens from newly diagnosed insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients. J. Clin. Invest. **92**, 2313–2322

- 57 Oldstone, M. B., Nerenberg, M., Southern, P. Price, J. and Lewicki, H. (1991) Virus infection triggers insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in a transgenic model: role of anti-self (virus) immune response. Cell 65, 319–331
- 58 Seewaldt, S., Thomas, H. E., Ejrnaes, M., Christen, U., Wolfe, T., Rodrigo, E., Coon, B., Michelsen, B., Kay, T. W. and von Herrath, M. G. (2000) Virus-induced autoimmune diabetes: most  $\beta$ -cells die through inflammatory cytokines and not perforin from autoreactive (anti-viral) cytotoxic T-lymphocytes. Diabetes **49**, 1801–1809
- 59 Shinomiya, M., Nadano, S., Shinomiya, H. and Onji, M. (2000) In situ characterization of dendritic cells occurring in the islets of nonobese diabetic mice during the development of insulitis. Pancreas 20, 290–296
- 60 Wallet, M. A. and Tisch, R. (2006) Type 1 diabetes, inflammation and dendritic cells. Drug Discovery Today 3, 373–379
- 61 Turley, S., Poirot, L., Hattori, M., Benoist, C. and Mathis, D. (2003) Physiological  $\beta$ -cell death triggers priming of self-reactive T cells by dendritic cells in a type-1 diabetes model. J. Exp. Med. **198**, 1527–1537
- 62 von Herrath, M. G., Fujinami, R. S. and Whitton, J. L. (2003) Microorganisms and autoimmunity: making the barren field fertile? Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 1, 151–157
- 63 Bouma, G., Coppens, J. M., Lam-Tse, W. K., Luini, W., Sintnicolaas, K., Levering, W. H., Sozzani, S., Drexhage, H. A. and Versnel, M. A. (2005) An increased MRP8/14 expression and adhesion, but a decreased migration towards proinflammatory chemokines of type 1 diabetes monocytes. Clin. Exp. Immunol. **141**, 509–517
- Alleva, D. G., Pavlovich, R. P., Grant, C., Kaser, S. B. and Beller,
  D. I. (2000) Aberrant macrophage cytokine production is a conserved feature among autoimmune-prone mouse strains: elevated interleukin (IL)-12 and an imbalance in tumor necrosis factor-α and IL-10 define a unique cytokine profile in macrophages from young nonobese diabetic mice. Diabetes
  49, 1106–1115
- 65 Lety, M. A., Coulaud, J., Bens, M., Dardenne, M. and Homo-Delarche, F. (1992) Enhanced metabolism of arachidonic acid by macrophages from nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. **64**, 188–196
- 66 Litherland, S. A., Xie, X. T., Hutson, A. D., Wasserfall, C., Whittaker, D. S., She, J. X., Hofig, A., Dennis, M. A., Fuller, K., Cook, R. et al. (1999) Aberrant prostaglandin synthase 2 expression defines an antigen-presenting cell defect for insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J. Clin. Invest. **104**, 515–523
- 67 Piganelli, J. D., Martin, T. and Haskins, K. (1998) Splenic macrophages from the NOD mouse are defective in the ability to present antigen. Diabetes **47**, 1212–1218
- 68 Pozzilli, P., Guglielmi, C., Maggi, D., Carlone, A., Buzzetti, R. and Manfrini, S. (2011) Clinical update on the use of immuno modulators (antiCD3, GAD, Diapep277, anti-IL1) in type 1 diabetes. Curr. Pharm. Des. **17**, 3224–3228
- 69 Peng, R., Bathjat, K., Li, Y. and Clare-Salzler, M. J. (2003) Defective maturation of myeloid dendritic cell (DC) in NOD mice is controlled by IDD10/17/18. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1005, 184–186
- 70 Poligone, B., Weaver, Jr, D. J., Sen, P., Baldwin, Jr, A. S. and Tisch, R. (2002) Elevated NF-κB activation in nonobese diabetic mouse dendritic cells results in enhanced APC function. J. Immunol. **168**, 188–196
- 71 Li, M., Guo, D., Isales, C. M., Eizirik, D. L., Atkinson, M., She, J. X. and Wang, C. Y. (2005) SUMO wrestling with type 1 diabetes. J. Mol. Med. 83, 504–513
- 72 Grohmann, U., Fallarino, F., Bianchi, R., Orabona, C., Vacca, C., Fioretti, M. and Puccetti, P (2003) A defect in tryptophan catabolism impairs tolerance in nonobese diabetic mice. J. Exp. Med. **198**, 153–160

- 73 Saxena, V., Ondr, J. K., Magnusen, A. F., Munn, D. H. and Katz, J. D. (2007) The countervailing actions of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells control autoimmune diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse. J. Immunol. **179**, 5041–5053
- 74 Brauner, H., Elemans, M., Lemos, S., Broberger, C., Holmberg, D., Flodström-Tullberg, M., Kärre, K. and Höglund, P. (2010) Distinct phenotype and function of NK cells in the pancreas of nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. **184**, 2272–2280
- 75 Dotta, F., Censini, S., van Halteren, A. G., Marselli, L., Masini, M., Dionisi, S., Mosca, F., Boggi, U., Muda, A. O., Prato, S. D. et al. (2007) Coxsackie B4 virus infection of *β*-cells and natural killer cell insulitis in recent-onset type 1 diabetic patients. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **104**, 5115–5120
- 76 Alter, G., Malenfant, J. M. and Altfeld, M. (2004) CD107a as a functional marker for the identification of natural killer cell activity. J. Immunol. Methods **294**, 15–22
- Ogasawara, K., Hamerman, J. A., Ehrlich, L. R., Bour-Jordan, H., Santamaria, P., Bluestone, J. A. and Lanier, L. L. (2004) NKG2D blockade prevents autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. Immunity 20, 757–767
- 78 Backstrom, E., Kristensson, K. and Ljunggren, H. G. (2004) Activation of natural killer cells: underlying molecular mechanisms revealed. Scand. J. Immunol. **60**, 14–22
- 79 Hamilton-Williams, E. E., Palmer, S. E., Charlton, B. and Slattery, R. M. (2003)  $\beta$ -cell MHC class I is a late requirement for diabetes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **100**, 6688–6693
- Signore, A., Pozzilli, P., Gale, E. A., Andreani, D. and Beverley, P.
   C. (1989) The natural history of lymphocyte subsets infiltrating the pancreas of NOD mice. Diabetologia 32, 282–289
- Yang, M., Charlton, B. and Gautam, A. M. (1997)
   Development of insulitis and diabetes in B cell-deficient NOD mice. J. Autoimmun. 10, 257–260
- Chiu, P.P., Serreze, D. V. and Danska, J. S. (2001) Development and function of diabetogenic T-cells in B-cell-deficient nonobese diabetic mice. Diabetes 50, 763–770
- 83 Akashi, T., Nagafuchi, S., Anzai, K., Kondo, S., Kitamura, D., Wakana, S., Ono, J., Kikuchi, M., Niho, Y. and Watanabe, T. (1997) Direct evidence for the contribution of B cells to the progression of insulitis and the development of diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice. Int. Immunol. **9**, 1159–1164
- 84 Noorchashm, H., Lieu, Y. K., Noorchashm, N., Rostami, S. Y., Greeley, S. A., Schlachterman, A., Song, H. K., Noto, L. E., Jevnikar, A. M., Barker, C. F. and Naji, A. (1999) I-A<sup>g7</sup>-mediated antigen presentation by B lymphocytes is critical in overcoming a checkpoint in T cell tolerance to islet β-cells of nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. **163**, 743–750
- 85 Noorchashm, H., Noorchashm, N., Kern, J., Rostami, S. Y., Barker, C. F. and Naji, A. (1997) B-cells are required for the initiation of insulitis and sialitis in nonobese diabetic mice. Diabetes 46, 941–946
- 86 von Herrath, M. and Bach, J. F. (2002) Juvenile autoimmune diabetes: a pathogenic role for maternal antibodies? Nat. Med. 8, 331–333
- 87 Greeley, S. A., Katsumata, M., Yu, L., Eisenbarth, G. S., Moore, D. J., Goodarzi, H., Barker, C. F., Naji, A. and Noorchashm, H. (2002) Elimination of maternally transmitted autoantibodies prevents diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. Nat. Med. 8, 399–402
- 88 Inoue, Y., Kaifu, T., Sugahara-Tobinai, A., Nakamura, A., Miyazaki, J. and Takai, T. (2007) Activating Fc  $\gamma$  receptors participate in the development of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. J. Immunol. **179**, 764–774
- 89 Wong, F. S., Wen, L., Tang, M., Ramanathan, M., Visintin, I., Daugherty, J., Hannum, L. G., Janeway, Jr, C. A. and Shlomchik, M. J. (2004) Investigation of the role of B-cells in type 1 diabetes in the NOD mouse. Diabetes 53, 2581–2587
- 90 Gazda, L. S., Charlton, B. and Lafferty, K. J. (1997) Diabetes results from a late change in the autoimmune response of NOD mice. J. Autoimmun. **10**, 261–270

- 91 André, I., Gonzalez, A., Wang, B., Katz, J., Benoist, C. and Mathis, D. (1996) Checkpoints in the progression of autoimmune disease: lessons from diabetes models. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **93**, 2260–2263
- 92 Mamula, M. J. and Janeway, Jr, C. A. (1993) Do B cells drive the diversification of immune responses? Immunol. Today 14, 151–152
- 93 Mariño, E., Tan, B., Binge, L., Mackay, C. R. and Grey, S. T. (2012) B-cell cross-presentation of autologous antigen precipitates diabetes. Diabetes **61**, 2893–2905
- 94 Marino, E., Batten, M., Groom, J., Walters, S., Liuwantara, D., Mackay, F. and Grey, S. T. (2008) Marginal-zone B-cells of nonobese diabetic mice expand with diabetes onset, invade the pancreatic lymph nodes, and present autoantigen to diabetogenic T-cells. Diabetes 57, 395–404
- 95 Serreze, D. V., Chapman, H. D., Niens, M., Dunn, R., Kehry, M. R., Driver, J. P., Haller, M., Wasserfall, C. and Atkinson, M. A. (2011) Loss of intra-islet CD20 expression may complicate efficacy of B-cell-directed type 1 diabetes therapies. Diabetes 60, 2914–2921
- Martin, S., Wolf-Eichbaum, D., Duinkerken, G., Scherbaum, W.
   A., Kolb, H., Noordzij, J. G. and Roep, B. 0. (2001)
   Development of type 1 diabetes despite severe hereditary
   B-cell deficiency. N. Engl. J. Med. 345, 1036–1040
- 97 Bendelac, A., Carnaud, C., Boitard, C. and Bach, J. F. (1987) Syngeneic transfer of autoimmune diabetes from diabetic NOD mice to healthy neonates. Requirement for both L3T4<sup>+</sup> and Lyt-2<sup>+</sup> T cells. J. Exp. Med. **166**, 823–832
- 98 Christianson, S. W., Shultz, L. D. and Leiter, E. H. (1993) Adoptive transfer of diabetes into immunodeficient NOD-scid/scid mice. Relative contributions of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells from diabetic versus prediabetic NOD.NON-Thy-1a donors. Diabetes **42**, 44–55
- 99 Chatenoud, L., Thervet, E., Primo, J. and Bach, J. F. (1994) Anti-CD3 antibody induces long-term remission of overt autoimmunity in nonobese diabetic mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **91**, 123–127
- 100 Cotta-de-Almeida, V., Villa-Verde, D. M., Lepault, F., Pleau, J. M., Dardenne, M. and Savino, W. (2004) Impaired migration of NOD mouse thymocytes: a fibronectin receptor-related defect. Eur. J. Immunol. **34**, 1578–1587
- 100a Mendes-da-Cruz, D. A., Smaniott, S., Keller, A. C., Dardenne, M. and Savino, W. (2008) Multivectorial Abnormal cell migration in the NOD mouse thymus. J. Immunol. 180, 4639–4647
- 101 Schmidt, D., Verdaguer, J., Averill, N. and Santamaria, P. (1997) A mechanism for the major histocompatibility complex-linked resistance to autoimmunity. J. Exp. Med. **186**, 1059–1075
- 102 Bonner, S. M., Pietropaolo, S. L., Fan, Y., Chang, Y., Sethupathy, P., Morran, M. P., Beems, M., Giannoukakis, N., Trucco, G., Palumbo, M. O. et al. (2012) Sequence variation in promoter of lca1 gene, which encodes protein implicated in type 1 diabetes, causes transcription factor autoimmune regulator (AIRE) to increase its binding and down-regulate expression. J. Biol. Chem. **287**, 17882–17893
- 103 French, M. B., Allison, J., Cram, D. S., Thomas, H. E., Dempsey-Collier, M., Silva, A., Georgiou, H. M., Kay, T. W., Harrison, L. C. and Lew, A. M. (1997) Transgenic expression of mouse proinsulin II prevents diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. Diabetes 46, 34–39
- 104 Pugliese, A., Zeller, M., Fernandez, Jr, A., Zalcberg, L. J., Bartlett, R. J., Ricordi, C., Pietropaolo, M., Eisenbarth, G. S., Bennett, S. T. and Patel, D. D. (1997) The insulin gene is transcribed in the human thymus and transcription levels correlated with allelic variation at the INS VNTR-IDDM2 susceptibility locus for type 1 diabetes. Nat. Genet. **15**, 293–297
- 105 Choisy-Rossi, C. M., Holl, T. M., Pierce, M. A., Chapman, H. D. and Serreze, D. V. (2004) Enhanced pathogenicity of diabetogenic T cells escaping a non-MHC gene-controlled near death experience. J. Immunol. **173**, 3791–3800

- Ueno, T., Hara, K., Willis, M. S., Malin, M. A., Hopken, U. E., Gray, D. H., Matsushima, K., Lipp, M., Springer, T. A., Boyd, R. L. et al. (2002) Role for CCR7 ligands in the emigration of newly generated T lymphocytes from the neonatal thymus. Immunity 16, 205–218
- 107 Martin, A. P., Marinkovic, T., Canasto-Chibuque, C., Latif, R., Unkeless, J. C., Davies, T. F., Takahama, Y., Furtado, G. C. and Lira, S. A. (2009) CCR7 deficiency in NOD mice leads to thyroiditis and primary hypothyroidism. J. Immunol. **183**, 3073–3080
- 108 Gagnerault, M. C., Luan, J. J., Lotton, C. and Lepault, F. (2002) Pancreatic lymph nodes are required for priming of  $\beta$ -cell reactive T cells in NOD mice. J. Exp. Med. **196**, 369–377
- 109 Corper, A. L., Stratmann, T., Apostolopoulos, V., Scott, C. A., Garcia, K. C., Kang, A. S., Wilson, I. A. and Teyton, L. (2000) A structural framework for deciphering the link between I-A<sup>g7</sup> and autoimmune diabetes. Science **288**, 505–511
- Stratmann, T., Apostolopoulos, V., Mallet-Designe, V., Corper, A. L., Scott, C. A., Wilson, I. A., Kang, A. S. and Teyton, L. (2000) The I-A<sup>g7</sup> MHC class II molecule linked to murine diabetes is a promiscuous peptide binder. J. Immunol. **165**, 3214–3225
- 111 Latek, R. R., Suri, A., Petzold, S. J., Nelson, C. A., Kanagawa, O., Unanue, E. R. and Fremont, D. H. (2000) Structural basis of peptide binding and presentation by the type I diabetes-associated MHC class II molecule of NOD mice. Immunity **12**, 699–710
- 112 Kwok, W. W., Domeier, M. L., Raymond, F. C., Byers, P. and Nepom, G. T. (1996) Allele-specific motifs characterize HLA-DQ interactions with a diabetes-associated peptide derived from glutamic acid decarboxylase. J. Immunol. **156**, 2171–2177
- 113 Yip, L., Su, L., Sheng, D., Chang, P., Atkinson, M., Czesak, M., Albert, P. R., Collier, A. R., Turley, S. J. and Fathman, C. G. (2009) Deaf1 isoforms control the expression of genes encoding peripheral tissue antigens in the pancreatic lymph nodes during type 1 diabetes. Nat. Immunol. **10**, 1026–1033
- 114 Balasa, B., Krahl, T., Patstone, G., Lee, J., Tisch, R., McDevitt, H. O. and Sarvetnick, N. (1997) CD40 ligand-CD40 interactions are necessary for the initiation of insulitis and diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. **159**, 4620–4627
- 115 Baker, R. L., Wagner, Jr, D. H. and Haskins, K. (2008) CD40 on NOD CD4 T cells contributes to their activation and pathogenicity. J. Autoimmun. **31**, 385–392
- 116 Luhder, F., Hoglund, P., Allison, J. P., Benoist, C. and Mathis, D. (1998) Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) regulates the unfolding of autoimmune diabetes. J. Exp. Med. 187, 427–432
- 117 Stumpf, M., Zhou, X. and Bluestone, J. A. (2013) The B7-independent isoform of CTLA-4 functions to regulate autoimmune diabetes. J. Immunol. **190**, 961–969
- Orban, T., Bundy, B., Becker, D. J., DiMeglio, L. A., Gitelman, S. E., Goland, R., Gottlieb, P. A., Greenbaum, C. J., Marks, J. B., Monzavi, R. et al. (2011) Co-stimulation modulation with abatacept in patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 378, 412–419
- 119 Ansari, M. J., Salama, A. D., Chitnis, T., Smith, R. N., Yagita, H., Akiba, H., Yamazaki, T., Azuma, M., Iwai, H., Khoury, S. J. et al. (2003) The programmed death-1 (PD-1) pathway regulates autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. J. Exp. Med. **198**, 63–69
- 120 Tsutsumi, Y., Jie, X., Ihara, K., Nomura, A., Kanemitsu, S., Takada, H. and Hara, T. (2006) Phenotypic and genetic analyses of T-cell-mediated immunoregulation in patients with Type 1 diabetes. Diabetic Med. 23, 1145–1150
- 121 Lin, G. J., Huang, S. H., Chen, Y. W., Hueng, D. Y., Chia, W. T., Chien, M. W., Yen, B. L. and Sytwu, H. K. (2011) Transgenic expression of murine chemokine decoy receptor D6 by islets reveals the role of inflammatory CC chemokines in the development of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetologia 54, 1777–1787

- 122 Hänninen, A., Taylor, C., Streeter, P. R., Stark, L. S., Sarte, J. M., Shizuru, J. A., Simell, O. and Michie, S. A. (1993) Vascular addressins are induced on islet vessels during insulitis in nonobese diabetic mice and are involved in lymphoid cell binding to islet endothelium. J. Clin. Invest. **92**, 2509–2515
- 123 Savinov, A. Y. and Strongin, A. Y. (2009) Matrix metalloproteinases, T cell homing and  $\beta$ -cell mass in type 1 diabetes. Vitam. Horm. **80**, 541–562
- 124 Zanone, M. M., Favaro, E., Conaldi, P. G., Greening, J., Bottelli, A., Perin, P. C., Klein, N. J., Peakman, M. and Camussi, G. (2003) Persistent infection of human microvascular endothelial cells by Coxsackie B viruses induces increased expression of adhesion molecules. J. Immunol. **171**, 438–446
- 125 Charlton, B., Guymer, R. H., Slattery, R. M. and Mandel, T. E. (1991) Intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) inhibition can induce tolerance *in vivo*. Immunol. Cell Biol. **69**, 89–93
- Yagi, N., Yokono, K., Amano, K., Nagata, M., Tsukamoto, K., Hasegawa, Y., Yoneda, R., Okamoto, N., Moriyama, H., Miki, M. et al. (1995) Expression of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 on pancreatic β-cells accelerates β-cell destruction by cytotoxic T-Cells in murine autoimmune diabetes. Diabetes 44, 744–752
- 127 Wicker, L. S., Leiter, E. H., Todd, J. A., Renjilian, R. J., Peterson, E., Fischer, P. A., Podolin, P. L., Zijlstra, M., Jaenisch, R. and Peterson, L. B. (1994)  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin-deficient NOD mice do not develop insulitis or diabetes. Diabetes **43**, 500–504
- 128 Katz, J., Benoist, C. and Mathis, D. (1993) Major histocompatibility complex class I molecules are required for the development of insulitis in non-obese diabetic mice. Eur. J. Immunol. 23, 3358–3360
- 129 Serreze, D. V., Leiter, E. H., Christianson, G. J., Greiner, D. and Roopenian, D. C. (1994) Major histocompatibility complex class I-deficient NOD-B2mnull mice are diabetes and insulitis resistant. Diabetes 43, 505–509
- 130 Sumida, T., Furukawa, M., Sakamoto, A., Namekawa, T., Maeda, T., Zijlstra, M., Iwamoto, I., Koike, T., Yoshida, S., Tomioka, H. et al. (1994) Prevention of insulitis and diabetes in  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin-deficient non-obese diabetic mice. Int. Immunol. **6**, 1445–1449
- 131 de Jersey, J., Snelgrove, S. L., Palmer, S. E., Teteris, S. A., Mullbacher, A., Miller, J. F. and Slattery, R. M. (2007) β-cells cannot directly prime diabetogenic CD8 T cells in nonobese diabetic mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **104**, 1295–1300
- 132 Daniel, D., Gill, R. G., Schloot, N. and Wegmann, D. (1995) Epitope specificity, cytokine production profile and diabetogenic activity of insulin-specific T cell clones isolated from NOD mice. Eur. J. Immunol. **25**, 1056–1062
- 133 Wong, F. S., Karttunen, J., Dumont, C., Wen, L., Visintin, I., Pilip, I. M., Shastri, N., Pamer, E. G. and Janeway, Jr, C. A. (1999) Identification of an MHC class I-restricted autoantigen in type 1 diabetes by screening an organ-specific cDNA library. Nat. Med. 5, 1026–1031
- 134 Nakayama, M., Abiru, N., Moriyama, H., Babaya, N., Liu, E., Miao, D., Yu, L., Wegmann, D. R., Hutton, J. C. and Elliott, J. F. (2005) Prime role for an insulin epitope in the development of type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. Nature **435**, 220–223
- 135 Zhang, Z. J., Davidson, L., Eisenbarth, G. and Weiner, H. L. (1991) Suppression of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice by oral administration of porcine insulin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 88, 10252–10256
- 136 Bergerot, I., Fabien, N., Maguer, V. and Thivolet, C. (1994) Oral administration of human insulin to NOD mice generates CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that suppress adoptive transfer of diabetes. J. Autoimmun. 7, 655–663
- 137 Chaillous, L., Lefèvre, H., Thivolet, C., Boitard, C., Lahlou, N., Atlan-Gepner, C., Bouhanick, B., Mogenet, A., Nicolino, M., Carel, J.-C. et al. (2000) Oral insulin administration and residual  $\beta$ -cell function in recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet **356**, 545–549

- 138 Skyler, J. S., Krischer, J. P., Wolfsdorf, J., Cowie, C., Palmer, J. P., Greenbaum, C., Cuthbertson, D., Rafkin-Mervis, L. E., Chase, H. P. and Leschek, E. (2005) Effects of oral insulin in relatives of patients with type 1 diabetes: The Diabetes Prevention Trial-Type 1. Diabetes Care **28**, 1068–1076
- 139 Orban, T., Farkas, K., Jalahej, H., Kis, J., Treszl, A., Falk, B., Reijonen, H., Wolfsdorf, J., Ricker, A., Matthews, J. B. et al. (2010) Autoantigen-specific regulatory T cells induced in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus by insulin B-chain immunotherapy. J. Autoimmun. **34**, 408–415
- 140 Babad, J., Geliebter, A. and DiLorenzo, T. P (2010) T-cell autoantigens in the non-obese diabetic mouse model of autoimmune diabetes. Immunology **131**, 459–465
- 141 Mallone, R., Brezar, V. and Boitard, C. (2011) T cell recognition of autoantigens in human Type 1 diabetes: clinical perspectives. Clin. Dev. Immunol. 2011, 16
- Ludvigsson, J., Faresjo, M., Hjorth, M., Axelsson, S., Cheramy, M., Pihl, M., Vaarala, O., Forsander, G., Ivarsson, S., Johansson, C. et al. (2008) GAD treatment and insulin secretion in recent-onset type 1 diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 1909–1920
- Rabinovitch, A., Suarez-Pinzon, W. L., Sorensen, O., Bleackley, R. C. and Power, R. F. (1995) IFN-γ gene expression in pancreatic islet-infiltrating mononuclear cells correlates with autoimmune diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. J. Immunol. 154, 4874–4882
- 144 Cameron, M. J., Arreaza, G. A., Zucker, P, Chensue, S. W., Strieter, R. M., Chakrabarti, S. and Delovitch, T. L. (1997) IL-4 prevents insulitis and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in nonobese diabetic mice by potentiation of regulatory T helper-2 cell function. J. Immunol. **159**, 4686–4692
- 145 Saunders, K. A., Raine, T., Cooke, A. and Lawrence, C. E. (2007) Inhibition of autoimmune type 1 diabetes by gastrointestinal helminth infection. Infect. Immun. **75**, 397–407
- 146 Hultgren, B., Huang, X., Dybdal, N. and Stewart, T. A. (1996) Genetic absence of γ-interferon delays but does not prevent diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetes **45**, 812–817
- 147 Serreze, D. V., Post, C. M., Chapman, H. D., Johnson, E. A., Lu, B. and Rothman, P. B. (2000) Interferon- $\gamma$  receptor signaling is dispensable in the development of autoimmune type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetes **49**, 2007–2011
- 148 Bettelli, E., Korn, T. and Kuchroo, V. K. (2007) Th17: the third member of the effector T cell trilogy. Curr. Opin. Immunol. **19**, 652–657
- 149 Vukkadapu, S. S., Belli, J. M., Ishii, K., Jegga, A. G., Hutton, J. J., Aronow, B. J. and Katz, J. D. (2005) Dynamic interaction between T cell-mediated  $\beta$ -cell damage and  $\beta$ -cell repair in the run up to autoimmune diabetes of the NOD mouse. Physiol. Genomics **21**, 201–211
- 150 Emamaullee, J. A., Davis, J., Merani, S., Toso, C., Elliott, J. F., Thiesen, A. and Shapiro, A. M. (2009) Inhibition of Th17 cells regulates autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetes 58, 1302–1311
- 151 Joseph, J., Bittner, S., Kaiser, F. M., Wiendl, H. and Kissler, S. (2012) IL-17 silencing does not protect nonobese diabetic mice from autoimmune diabetes. J. Immunol. **188**, 216–221
- 152 Bending, D., De la Pena, H., Veldhoen, M., Phillips, J. M., Uyttenhove, C., Stockinger, B. and Cooke, A. (2009) Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD mice convert into Th1-like cells in NOD/SCID recipient mice. J. Clin. Invest. **119**, 565–572
- 153 Wagner, Jr, D. H., Vaitaitis, G., Sanderson, R., Poulin, M., Dobbs, C. and Haskins, K. (2002) Expression of CD40 identifies a unique pathogenic T cell population in type 1 diabetes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **99**, 3782–3787
- Waid, D. M., Vaitaitis, G. M. and Wagner, Jr, D. H. (2004) Peripheral CD4<sup>Io</sup>CD40<sup>+</sup> auto-aggressive T cell expansion during insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Eur. J. Immunol. 34, 1488–1497
- 154a Wagner, D. (2011) The role of T cells in Type 1 diabetes. In Type 1 Diabetes - Pathogenesis Genetics and Immunotherapy, pp. 83–92, Intechopen, Rijeka

- Waid, D. M., Wagner, R. J., Putnam, A., Vaitaitis, G. M., Pennock, N. D., Calverley, D. C., Gottlieb, P. and Wagner, Jr, D. H. (2007) A unique T cell subset described as CD4<sup>lo</sup>CD40<sup>+</sup> T cells (TCD40) in human type 1 diabetes. Clin. Immunol. **124**, 138–148
- 156 Brusko, T. and Atkinson, M. (2007) Treg cells in type 1 diabetes. Cell Biochem. Biophys. **48**, 165–175
- 157 Tang, Q., Adams, J. Y., Penaranda, C., Melli, K., Piaggio, E., Sgouroudis, E., Piccirillo, C. A., Salomon, B. L. and Bluestone, J. A. (2008) Central role of defective interleukin-2 production in the triggering of islet autoimmune destruction. Immunity 28, 687–697
- 157a Tang, Q., Adams, J. Y., Penaranda, C., Melli, K., Piaggio, E., Sgouroudis, E., Piccirillo, C. A., Salomon, B. L. and Bluestone, J. A. (2008) Central role of defective interleukin-2 production in the triggering of islet autoimmune destruction. Immunity 28, 687–697
- 158 Grinberg-Bleyer, Y., Baeyens, A., You, S., Elhage, R., Fourcade, G., Gregoire, S., Cagnard, N., Carpentier, W., Tang, Q., Bluestone, J. et al. (2010) IL-2 reverses established type 1 diabetes in NOD mice by a local effect on pancreatic regulatory T cells. J. Exp. Med. **207**, 1871–1878
- 159 Zhao, Y., Lin, B., Darflinger, R., Zhang, Y., Holterman, M. J. and Skidgel, R. A. (2009) Human cord blood stem cell-modulated regulatory T lymphocytes reverse the autoimmune-caused type 1 diabetes in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. PLoS ONE 4, e4226
- 160 Zhao, Y., Jiang, Z., Zhao, T., Ye, M., Hu, C., Yin, Z., Li, H., Zhang, Y., Diao, Y., Li, Y. et al. (2012) Reversal of type 1 diabetes via islet  $\beta$ -cell regeneration following immune modulation by cord blood-derived multipotent stem cells. BMC Med. **10**, 3
- 161 Gombert, J. M., Herbelin, A., Tancrede-Bohin, E., Dy, M., Carnaud, C. and Bach, J. F. (1996) Early quantitative and functional deficiency of NK1<sup>+</sup>-like thymocytes in the NOD mouse. Eur. J. Immunol. **26**, 2989–2998
- 162 Falcone, M., Yeung, B., Tucker, L., Rodriguez, E. and Sarvetnick, N. (1999) A defect in interleukin 12-induced activation and interferon  $\gamma$  secretion of peripheral natural killer T cells in nonobese diabetic mice suggests new pathogenic mechanisms for insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J. Exp. Med. **190**, 963–972
- 163 Fletcher, M. T. and Baxter, A. G. (2009) Clinical application of NKT cell biology in type I (autoimmune) diabetes mellitus. Immunol. Cell Biol. 87, 315–323
- 164 Hammond, K. J., Poulton, L. D., Palmisano, L. J., Silveira, P. A., Godfrey, D. I. and Baxter, A. G. (1998)  $\alpha/\beta$ -T cell receptor (TCR)<sup>+</sup> CD4-CD8- (NKT) thymocytes prevent insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in nonobese diabetic (NOD)/Lt mice by the influence of interleukin (IL)-4 and/or IL-10. J. Exp. Med. **187**, 1047–1056
- 165 Novak, J., Beaudoin, L., Griseri, T. and Lehuen, A. (2005) Inhibition of T cell differentiation into effectors by NKT cells requires cell contacts. J. Immunol. **174**, 1954–1961
- 166 Pirot, P., Cardozo, A. K. and Eizirik, D. L. (2008) Mediators and mechanisms of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell death in type 1 diabetes. Arq. Bras. Endocrinol. Metab. **52**, 156–165
- 167 Graham, K. L., Krishnamurthy, B., Fynch, S., Ayala-Perez, R., Slattery, R. M., Santamaria, P., Thomas, H. E. and Kay, T. W. (2012) Intra-islet proliferation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes contributes to insulitis progression. Eur. J. Immunol. 42, 1717–1722
- 168 Su, X., Hu, Q., Kristan, J. M., Costa, C., Shen, Y., Gero, D., Matis, L. A. and Wang, Y. (2000) Significant role for Fas in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diabetes. J. Immunol. **164**, 2523–2532
- 169 McInerney, M. F., Rath, S. and Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1991) Exclusive expression of MHC class II proteins on CD45<sup>+</sup> cells in pancreatic islets of NOD mice. Diabetes **40**, 648–651
- 170 Yamanouchi, J., Verdaguer, J., Han, B., Amrani, A., Serra, P. and Santamaria, P (2003) Cross-priming of diabetogenic T cells dissociated from CTL-induced shedding of  $\beta$ -cell autoantigens. J. Immunol. **171**, 6900–6909

- 171 Kagi, D., Odermatt, B., Seiler, P., Zinkernagel, R. M., Mak, T. W. and Hengartner, H. (1997) Reduced incidence and delayed onset of diabetes in perforin-deficient nonobese diabetic mice. J. Exp. Med. **186**, 989–997
- 172 Coppieters, K. T., Dotta, F., Amirian, N., Campbell, P. D., Kay, T. W., Atkinson, M. A., Roep, B. O. and von Herrath, M. G. (2012) Demonstration of islet-autoreactive CD8 T cells in insulitic lesions from recent onset and long-term type 1 diabetes patients. J. Exp. Med. **209**, 51–60
- 173 Bulek, A. M., Cole, D. K., Skowera, A., Dolton, G., Gras, S., Madura, F., Fuller, A., Miles, J. J., Gostick, E., Price, D. A. et al. (2012) Structural basis for the killing of human  $\beta$ -cells by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in type 1 diabetes. Nat. Immunol. **13**, 283–289
- 174 Keymeulen, B., Walter, M., Mathieu, C., Kaufman, L., Gorus, F., Hilbrands, R., Vandemeulebroucke, E., Van de Velde, U., Crenier, L., De Block, C. et al. (2010) Four-year metabolic outcome of a randomised controlled CD3-antibody trial in recent-onset type 1 diabetic patients depends on their age and baseline residual  $\beta$ -cell mass. Diabetologia **53**, 614–623
- 175 Pescovitz, M. D., Greenbaum, C. J., Krause-Steinrauf, H., Becker, D. J., Gitelman, S. E., Goland, R., Gottlieb, P. A., Marks, J. B., McGee, P. F., Moran, A. M. et al. (2009) Rituximab, B-lymphocyte depletion, and preservation of *β*-cell function. N. Engl. J. Med. **361**, 2143–2152
- 176 Tooley, J. E., Waldron-Lynch, F. and Herold, K. C. (2012) New and future immunomodulatory therapy in type 1 diabetes. Trends Mol. Med. 18, 173–181
- 177 Long, S. A., Rieck, M., Sanda, S., Bollyky, J. B., Samuels, P. L., Goland, R., Ahmann, A., Rabinovitch, A., Aggarwal, S., Phippard, D. et al. (2012) Rapamycin/IL-2 combination therapy in patients with type 1 diabetes augments Treg cells yet transiently impairs *β*-cell function. Diabetes **61**, 2340–2348
- 178 Machen, J., Harnaha, J., Lakomy, R., Styche, A., Trucco, M. and Giannoukakis, N. (2004) Antisense oligonucleotides down-regulating costimulation confer diabetes-preventive properties to nonobese diabetic mouse dendritic cells. J. Immunol. **173**, 4331–4341
- 179 Giannoukakis, N., Phillips, B., Finegold, D., Harnaha, J. and Trucco, M. (2011) Phase I (safety) study of autologous tolerogenic dendritic cells in type 1 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 34, 2026–2032
- 180 Zhao, Y., Jiang, Z., Zhao, T., Ye, M., Hu, C., Yin, Z., Li, H., Zhang, Y., Diao, Y., Li, Y. et al. (2012) Reversal of type 1 diabetes via islet β-cell regeneration following immune modulation by cord blood-derived multipotent stem cells. BMC Med. **10**, 3
- 181 Willcox, A., Richardson, S. J., Bone, A. J., Foulis, A. K. and Morgan, N. G. (2009) Analysis of islet inflammation in human type 1 diabetes. Clin. Exp. Immunol. **155**, 173–181
- 182 Prevot, N., Briet, C., Lassmann, H., Tardivel, I., Roy, E., Morin, J., Mak, T. W., Tafuri, A. and Boitard, C. (2010) Abrogation of ICOS/ICOS ligand costimulation in NOD mice results in autoimmune deviation toward the neuromuscular system. Eur. J. Immunol. **40**, 2267–2276
- 183 Chaparro, R. J. and Dilorenzo, T. P. (2010) An update on the use of NOD mice to study autoimmune (Type 1) diabetes. Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 6, 939–955
- 183a Towns, R. and Pietropaolo, M. (2011) GAD65 autoantibodies and its role as biomarker of Type 1 diabetes and latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA). Drug Future 36, 847

Received 21 November 2012/1 May 2013; accepted 28 May 2013 Published on the Internet 12 August 2013, doi: 10.1042/CS20120627

- 184 Harrison, L. C., Honeyman, M. C., Steele, C. E., Stone, N. L., Sarugeri, E., Bonifacio, E., Couper, J. J. and Colman, P. G. (2004) Pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell function and immune responses to insulin after administration of intranasal insulin to humans at risk for type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care **27**, 2348–2355
- 185 Chaillous, L., Lefevre, H., Thivolet, C., Boitard, C., Lahlou, N., Atlan-Gepner, C., Bouhanick, B., Mogenet, A., Nicolino, M., Carel, J. C. et al. (2000) Oral insulin administration and residual  $\beta$ -cell function in recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Diabete Insuline Orale group. Lancet **356**, 545–549
- 186 Pozzilli, P. Pitocco, D., Visalli, N., Cavallo, M. G., Buzzetti, R., Crino, A., Spera, S., Suraci, C., Multari, G., Cervoni, M. et al. (2000) No effect of oral insulin on residual β-cell function in recent-onset type I diabetes (the IMDIAB VII). Diabetologia **43**, 1000–1004
- 187 Ludvigsson, J., Krisky, D., Casas, R., Battelino, T., Castano, L., Greening, J., Kordonouri, O., Otonkoski, T., Pozzilli, P., Robert, J. J. et al. (2012) GAD65 antigen therapy in recently diagnosed type 1 diabetes mellitus. N. Engl. J. Med. **366**, 433–442
- 187a Tree, T. I. and Peakman, M. (2004) Autoreactive T cells in human type 1 diabetes. Endocrinol. Metab. Clinics North Am. 33, 113–133
- 188 Bevier, W. C., Trujillo, A. L., Primbs, G. B., Bradley, M. K. and Jovanovic, L. (2011) Oral anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody delays diabetes in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice: effects on pregnancy and offspring: a preliminary report. Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 27, 480–487
- 189 Ablamunits, V., Henegariu, O., Hansen, J. B., Opare-Addo, L., Preston-Hurlburt, P., Santamaria, P., Mandrup-Poulsen, T. and Herold, K. C. (2012) Synergistic reversal of type 1 diabetes in NOD mice with anti-CD3 and interleukin-1 blockade: evidence of improved immune regulation. Diabetes **61**, 145–154
- 190 Keymeulen, B., Walter, M., Mathieu, C., Kaufman, L., Gorus, F., Hilbrands, R., Vandemeulebroucke, E., Velde, U., Crenier, L., Block, C. et al. (2010) Four-year metabolic outcome of a randomised controlled CD3-antibody trial in recent-onset type 1 diabetic patients depends on their age and baseline residual  $\beta$ -cell mass. Diabetologia **53**, 614–623
- 191 Wilson, C. (2010) Anti-CD3 antibody therapy for type 1 diabetes mellitus: outcome 4 years after treatment. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 6, 242
- 192 Xiu, Y., Wong, C. P., Bouaziz, J. D., Hamaguchi, Y., Wang, Y., Pop, S. M., Tisch, R. M. and Tedder, T. F. (2008) B lymphocyte depletion by CD20 monoclonal antibody prevents diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice despite isotype-specific differences in FcγR effector functions. J. Immunol. **180**, 2863–2875
- 193 Rowe, P. A., Campbell-Thompson, M. L., Schatz, D. A. and Atkinson, M. A. (2011) The pancreas in human type 1 diabetes. Semin. Immunopathol. **33**, 29–43
- 194 Barron, L., Dooms, H., Hoyer, K. K., Kuswanto, W., Hofmann, J., O'Gorman, W. E. and Abbas, A. K. (2010) Mechanisms of IL-2-dependent maintenance of functional regulatory T cells. J. Immunol. **185**, 6426–6430
- 195 Schmidt, K. D., Valeri, C. and Leslie, R. D. G. (2005) Autoantibodies in Type 1 diabetes. Clin. Chim. Acta 354, 35–40
- 196 Garg, G., Tyler, J. R., Yang, J. H. M., Cutler, A. J., Downes, K., Pekalski, M., Bell, G. L., Nutland, S., Peakman, M., Todd, J. A. et al. (2012) Type 1 diabetes-associated IL2RA variation lowers IL-2 signaling and contributes to diminished CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cell function. J. Immunol. **188**, 4644–4653

ELSEVIER



### Journal of Neuroimmunology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jneuroim

# Pancreatic ductal cell antigens are important in the development of invasive insulitis in Non-Obese Diabetic mice



Abhirup Jayasimhan<sup>a,\*</sup>, Darcy P. Ellis<sup>b</sup>, Alexandra I. Ziegler<sup>c</sup>, Robyn M. Slattery<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Immunology and Pathology, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>b</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>c</sup> Drug Discovery Biology, Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

A B S T R A C T
Type 1 Diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease in which insulin producing beta cells of the pancreas are
selectively destroyed. Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) expressed in peri-islet Schwann cells (pSCs) and in
the ductal cells of the pancreas is one of the candidate autoantigens for T1D. Immune responses to GFAP ex-
pressing cell types precede the islet autoimmunity in Non-Obese Diabetic (NOD) mice. By removing MHC class I
from GFAP expressing cell types, we tested the role of autoantigens presented by these cell types in the de-
velopment of invasive insulitis. Our findings indicate that antigens expressed by pancreatic ductal cells are important in the development of invasive insulitie in NOD mice.

#### 1. Introduction

The immune mediated destruction of beta cells in T1D results in the progressive loss of beta cells, causing insulin deficiency and consequent hyperglycemia (Jayasimhan et al., 2014; van Belle et al., 2011). The presence of multiple auto antibodies and evidence of T cell reactivity to autoantigens indicates multiple targets are involved in disease pathogenesis in both humans and in NOD mice (Han et al., 2013; Roep and Peakman, 2012; Pearson et al., 2016).

Investigations in NOD mice have identified numerous autoantigens and many of these autoantigens including Glutamic Acid Decarboxylase 65 (GAD65), Insulinoma Associated antigen 2 (IA2) and Islet Cell Autoantigen 69 (ICA69) are found not only in beta cells, but also in the cells of the neuroendocrine system (Mallone et al., 2011; Mauvais et al., 2016; Lieberman and DiLorenzo, 2003). It is important to identify the initiating autoantigen to design immunoregulatory strategies to treat the disease in genetically susceptible individuals. To date Proinsulin is the earliest autoantigen that has been identified to drive islet infiltration (Nakayama et al., 2005; Wong, 2005; Wegmann and Eisenbarth, 2000). Mice lacking native proinsulin, and carrying a mutated nonantigenic proinsulin, were protected from developing infiltrates into the islets. However, these transgenic mice had infiltrates into the islet associated pancreatic ductal tissue. This suggests that there are antigenic targets of an autoimmune attack on the islet associated ductal tissue of the pancreas, which precedes islet autoimmunity (Nakayama, 2011).

The possibility that an initiating antigen is expressed in *peri* islet tissues is further supported by the finding that, immune responses to autoantigens expressed in pSCs precede the immune response to beta cells (Winer et al., 2003; Tsui et al., 2008). The early infiltrates seen around the pancreatic ducts and the attack on GFAP expressing pSCs implicates these cells in the autoimmune process. Studies conducted by Razavi et.al also support the involvement of pancreatic sensory neurons in controlling islet inflammation (Razavi et al., 2006). This raises the question of whether an autoantigen present in GFAP positive cells may not trigger an autoimmune response that precedes the immune responses to beta cell antigens (Pang et al., 2017; Kaufman, 2003).

GFAP expressing ductal cells and pSCs of the neuroendocrine pancreas share with islet beta cells a number of autoantigens implicated in T1D (Bouwens and Pipeleers, 1998; Mally et al., 1996a; Gurr et al., 2002; Lieberman and DiLorenzo, 2003). An early immune response against autoantigens expressed in GFAP positive cell types may result in the subsequent cross reactive attack of beta cells (Kaufman, 2003). To understand the role of early upstream antigens expressed in pSCs and in

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.01.001

*Abbreviations*: DBA, *Dolichos biflorus* Agglutinin; EYFP, Enhanced Yellow Fluorescent Protein; GFAP, Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein; GFP, Green Fluorescent Protein; H&E, Haematoxylin and Eosin; HBSS, Hanks Balanced Salt Solution; IA2, Insulinoma Associated Antigen 2; ICA-69, 69 kDa Islet cell Autoantigen; MHC, Major Histocompatibility Complex; NOD, Non-Obese Diabetic; OCT, Optimum Cutting Temperature; PBS, Phosphate Buffered Saline; PFA, Paraformaldehyde; pSCs, Peri-Islet Schwann Cells; RBC, Red blood cell; T1D, Type 1 Diabetes; β2M, Beta 2 Microglobulin

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Department of Immunology and Pathology, Monash University, 89 commercial road, Melbourne, Australia. *E-mail address:* abhirup.abhirupjayasimhan@monash.edu (A. Jayasimhan).

Received 24 May 2018; Received in revised form 1 January 2019; Accepted 2 January 2019 0165-5728/ © 2019 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

ductal cell types of the pancreas, our lab generated NOD mice lacking MHC class I expression on GFAP expressing cells and assessed the development of insulitis.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Animals

All animals were maintained under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions at the Precinct, Animal Centre at the Alfred Hospital (PAC, Melbourne, Australia). All procedures involving mice were performed in compliance with the Animal Ethics guidelines of Monash University and were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Alfred Medical Research and Education Precinct (AMREP).

#### 2.1.1. Generation of transgenic NOD GFAPcre mice

FVB-Tg(GFAP-cre)25Mes/J (Stock number 004600) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, US) and backcrossed onto NOD/Lt for at least 10 generations. The generated NOD GFAPcre mice express cre recombinase under the control of human GFAP promoter. Hemizygous transgenic mice were identified by PCR based strategy using primers ACT CCT TCA TAA AGC CCT and ATC ACT CGT TGC ATC GAC CG specific for the GFAP and cre gene respectively (Zhuo et al., 2001). Even after 10 generations of backcrossing to NOD, there is a possibility of having a sizeable FVB derived genomic interval surrounding the GFAPcre transgene in NOD GFAPcre mice.

To rule out the possibility of any alterations in disease incidence by this hitchhiking FVB genomic interval, we compared the diabetic incidence in transgene positive NOD mice to conventional NOD mice. Since the pattern of incidence in transgene positive NOD mice and in conventional NOD mice was similar, we did not attempt to sequence the surrounding genomic intervals around the GFAPcre transgene. Endogenous  $\beta 2M$  expression in GFAPcre transgene positive mice was removed by crossing to NOD  $\beta 2M^{-/-}$  mice (Serreze et al., 1994). Homozygous  $\beta 2M$  knockout and GFAPcre transgene positive mice were known as NOD GFAPcre mice.

2.1.2. Generation of NOD GFAPcre.flβ2Ma mice (class I GFAP bald mice) NOD.flβ2Ma mice carrying a floxed β2Ma transgene (Hamilton-Williams et al., 2003; Hamilton-Williams et al., 2001) on an endogenous β2M knockout background were crossed with NOD GFAPcre mice to generate NOD GFAPcre.flβ2Ma mice. The NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup> β2M<sup>-/-</sup> flβ2Ma<sup>+</sup> (class I GFAP bald mice) exhibit ductal cell and neuronal cell specific deletion of MHC class I whereas NOD GFAPcre<sup>-</sup> β2M<sup>-/-</sup> flβ2Ma<sup>+</sup> (Control mice) are class I GFAP normal mice respectively. 100–160 day old female NOD class I GFAP bald and NOD class I GFAP normal mice were used for insulitis studies.

#### 2.1.3. Generation of Reporter mice (NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>)

C57BL/6.Gt(ROSA)26Sor.EYFP mice (gift by Dr. David Izon at St Vincent's Institute for Medical Research, Melbourne, Australia) carries a loxP-flanked STOP sequence followed the Enhanced Yellow Fluorescent Protein (EYFP) gene (Srinivas et al., 2001). C57BL/6.Gt(ROSA)26Sor.EYFP mice were backcrossed to NOD/Lt for at least 10 generations. Crossing the mutant NOD EYFP mice to NOD GFAPcre mice generated the reporter mice (NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>), exhibiting EYFP expression in GFAP driven cre expressing tissues. To analyze the pattern of cre expression, tissues extracted from reporter and control (NOD GFAPcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>) mice were analyzed via immunohistochemistry and flow cytometry.

#### 2.2. Flow cytometry

#### 2.2.1. Pancreatic ductal cell isolation and staining

The pancreas from the reporter and control mice was dissected and single cell suspensions were prepared as described by Maximilian Reichert et al. (Reichert et al., 2013). The pancreatic single cell suspensions were incubated with biotinylated Dolichos biflorus Agglutinin (DBA) (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA, US) (Xiao et al., 2013), washed and labelled with streptavidin conjugated to PerCP (BD Biosciences, USA). Following a second wash, cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS), permeabilized using 0.1% saponin and stained with polyclonal guinea pig anti-insulin antibodies (Dako, Carpinteria, CA) and secondary goat anti guinea pig Alexa Fluor 647 antibody (Thermo Fisher scientific, USA). The stained cells were acquired on FACS Calibur (BD Biosciences) and the data were analyzed using FlowJo software (Version 7.6.5). Establishment of the gate was based on the staining profiles of the negative control. We also attempted to stain for MHC class I molecules in pancreatic ductal cells. Despite multiple attempts, we were unable to view the MHC class I expression on ductal cells of the pancreas. We believe that the prolonged enzymatic digestion method used in isolating ductal cells, may have damaged the surface proteins which annihilated the detection of MHC class I molecules using antibody dependent flow cytometric methods.

#### 2.2.2. Splenocytes isolation and staining

Red Blood Cell (RBC) lysed spleen single cell suspensions from the reporter and control mice were stained for CD4 (RM4-5), CD8 (53-6.7), CD11b (M1/70) and CD11c (HL3) with anti mouse monoclonal antibodies from BD Biosciences. The stained cells were acquired on a FACS Calibur and data was analyzed using FlowJo software. Establishment of the gate was based on the staining profiles of the negative control.

#### 2.2.3. Brain cell isolation

The brain was dissected from reporter and control mice and collected in Hanks Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS without Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>). The brain hemispheres were mechanically dissociated and passed through a 70 µm cell strainer. The suspension was centrifuged at 250g for one minute and the collected pellet resuspended in HBSS containing 0.5% trypsin EDTA (Gibco, USA). Following 15 min incubation at 37 °C with intermittent shaking, the cell suspension was centrifuged, washed in HBSS and passed through a 70 µm strainer for analysis via flow cytometry.

#### 2.3. Histology

#### 2.3.1. Immunofluorescence

Pancreatic tissue from the reporter and control mice was fixed overnight in 4% PFA, immersed in 20% sucrose solution for 8 h and then snap frozen in Optimum Cutting Temperature (OCT) compound (Tissue-Tek). 5  $\mu$ m tissue sections were cut and stained using Alexa Fluor 555 conjugated rabbit antibody against Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Stained sections were visualized using a fluorescent microscope (Olympus BX61) at 20  $\times$  magnification. Images were captured in AnalySIS 5.0 software and analyzed using Image J.

#### 2.3.2. Histochemistry

Paraffin embedded pancreatic tissue from 100 to 160 day old class I GFAP Bald and GFAP normal mice was cut at three levels ( $100 \mu m$  apart) and each 5  $\mu m$  section stained with Haematoxylin and Eosin (H& E). The degree of mononuclear cell infiltration was determined in 10–60 islets from each pancreas, in a blinded fashion. Insulitis severity was scored on a scale of 0–4 as previously described (Hamilton-Williams et al., 2003). The proportion of islets exhibiting invasive insulitis or disease free was determined and expressed as a percentage of total islets scored. H&E stained sections were visualized using the Olympus BX51 microscope at  $20 \times$  magnification.



Fig. 1. Genogram shows the breeding strategy for NOD GFAPcre and reporter mice. FVB.GFAPcre mice were crossed to NOD mice for at least 10 generations to obtain NOD GFAPcre mice. At generation eight the GFAPcre mice were crossed to NOD EYFP mice to generate reporter mice. The pattern of cre expression in reporter mice was determined by flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry.

#### 2.4. Statistical analysis

All data were represented as means  $\pm$  SEM. Statistical difference was determined by using the unpaired *t*-test for column comparisons. Significance was accepted at two tailed *p* values  $\leq$  .05 and analyzed with Graphpad prism software (version 7.02).

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Characterization of EYFP expression

# 3.1.1. Detection of EYFP expression in pSCs and ductal cells of reporter mice

NOD GFAPcre mice were generated by backcrossing the FVB GFAPcre mice to NOD mice for 10 generations (Fig. 1). The FVB X NOD GFAPcre mice at generation eight were crossed to NOD EYFP mice that carried a stop codon flanked by lox sites. The resultant NOD GFAPcre<sup>+</sup> EYFP<sup>+</sup> reporter mice lost the stop codon and thus expressed EYFP. The expression of EYFP indicating cre expression was determined by flow cytometry (Fig. 2a) and immunohistochemistry (Fig. 2b). Flow cytometric analyses of brain cells isolated from reporter mice showed EYFP expression in 28  $\pm$  1.6% of the cells. EYFP was also detected in fixed pancreatic cryosections using fluorescence microscopy. The pattern of fluorescence was consistent with the morphology of pancreatic pSCs (Fig. 2b (VIII) white arrows) and ductal cells (Fig. 2b (VIII) red arrows) of the pancreas.



3.1.2. EYFP expression was not detected in immune cells of reporter mice Ectopic expression of cre in off-target tissue types has variably been

**Fig. 2.** a. Detection of EYFP in brain cells indicates cre expression. Flow cytometric analysis of brain cells isolated from control (top panel) and reporter mice (n = 3) showing gating strategy used and EYFP expression. Dot plot shows brain single cell suspension gated in forward and side scatter. First doublets were excluded from live gate (I, IV) based on FSC-H and FSC-W (II, V) then EYFP expressing cells were gated (x axis) vs side scatter (y axis) (III, VI). Brain cells in reporter mice express EYFP (VI) and the absence of expression in control mice (III). b Detection of EYFP in pancreatic neuroendocrine and ductal cells indicates cre expression. Fluorescent microscopic analysis showing cre expression in morphologically identified pancreatic neuroendocrine pSC and ductal cells of the reporter mice (n = 3). Pancreatic tissue sections from reporter (VII, VIII, IX) and control mice (I, II, III) were stained using a rabbit antibody against GFP conjugated to Alexa Fluor 555 and nuclear stained with DAPI. White arrows (VIII and IX) point to EYFP expressing pSC and red arrows point to EYFP expressing ductal cells. Stained brain sections from reporter mice (IV, V, and VI) were used as a positive control for EYFP signal. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)





reported with the use of cre-lox systems (Smith, 2011; Harno et al., 2013). The specificity of the promoter dictates the fidelity of its expression and therefore the pattern of cre mediated recombination and EYFP expression. It was important to assess the pattern of cre expression in GFAPcre mice. This is because, in class I GFAP bald mice any non-specific expression of cre in immune cell types, would have resulted in deletion of  $\beta$ 2Ma and loss of MHC class I molecules from these cell types. This would have confounded the interpretation of results.

EYFP expression was not detected in CD4 T cells, CD8 T cells (Fig. 3a) dendritic cells or macrophages (Fig. 3b) isolated from reporter mice (n = 5). The absence of EYFP expression in the entire splenocyte population (Supplementary Fig. 1A) indicates that GFAPcre mice are an appropriate model in which to study the role of MHC class I expression on pSCs and ductal cells in the initiation of insulitis.

# 3.2. Severity of insulitis is significantly reduced in the absence of MHC class I on GFAP expressing cell types

Class I GFAP bald mice were generated by crossing the NOD GFAPcre mice to NOD.fl $\beta$ 2ma mice (Fig. 4). These mice were used to assess whether MHC class I presented self-antigens, expressed by GFAP positive cells, were necessary for the initiation and progression of insulitis. Histological analyses of pancreatic sections showed insulitis was significantly reduced in mice lacking MHC class I molecules on GFAP expressing cells compared with class I sufficient age and sex matched

control mice (Fig. 5a). Class I GFAP bald mice had more disease free islets (70  $\pm$  5%) compared with class I sufficient controls (41  $\pm$  8%) (Fig. 5b). Conversely the percentage of islets with invasive insulitis was also significantly reduced in class I GFAP bald mice. Class I GFAP bald mice had 9.5  $\pm$  2% compared with MHC class I sufficient controls (32  $\pm$  9%) (Fig. 5c). These data suggest that the loss of MHC class I from GFAP expressing cells somehow protected the mice from insulitis. Since a subset of GFAP positive cells expresses insulin, we therefore wanted to test whether the significant reduction of invasive insulitis seen in these mice is due to the absence of MHC class I mediated presentation of the autoantigen insulin.

#### 3.3. GFAP positive ductal cells do not express insulin

Our data from reporter mice show that ductal cells are made up of GFAP positive and GFAP negative cell types (Fig. 6(III)). We detected insulin expression in 2.5  $\pm$  0.6% of the ductal cells and identified that 90% of the insulin expressing ductal cells were GFAP negative. Since GFAP positive cells were found not to co-express insulin, the reduction of invasive insulitis seen in class I GFAP bald mice cannot be due to the loss of expression of insulin. It must be due to the loss of the presentation of another autoantigen present in the GFAP expressing ductal cells. There are a number of other autoantigens that ductal cells share with beta cells. It is possible therefore that one of these autoantigens is an early autoantigen that can initiate insulitis.



## **EYFP** expression

**Fig. 3.** a. EYFP expression was not detected in immune cells of reporter mice. Flow cytometric analyses of splenocytes from reporter mice were unable to detect lymphocytes expressing EYFP (n = 5). Dot plots showing live gating of lymphocytes in forward and side scatter (I). Sequential gating on live lymphocytes and contour plots showing CD4 T cells, CD8 T cells and Non T lymphocytes (II). EYFP expression was not detected in CD4 T cell, CD8 T cell and non T lymphocytes in reporter and control mice (III). Spleenocytes from mice known to express EYFP in immune cells were used as a positive control. b. EYFP expression was not detected in macrophages and dendritic cells of reporter mice (n = 5). Dot plots showing live splenocytes gated in forward and side scatter (I). Sequential gating on live splenocytes and dot plots showing macrophages gated using CD11b expression (II) and dendritic cells gated using CD11c expression (III). EYFP expression was not detected in macrophages and dendritic cells in reporter and control mice (IV). Splenocytes from mice known to express EYFP were used as a positive control.



Fig. 4. Genogram shows the breeding strategy in generating female NOD GFAP bald mice. NOD GFAPcre mice on  $\beta$ 2M knockout background were crossed with NOD.fl $\beta$ 2Ma mice and the female GFAP bald littermates at 100–160 days of age were chosen for insulitis studies.

#### 4. Discussion

We aimed to understand the role of MHC class I on GFAP expressing cells in the initiation of disease in NOD mice. Cre-lox technology was used to generate tissue specific knockout mice. Cre was expressed under the control of the GFAP promoter and thus cre mediated loss of MHC class I occurred in GFAP expressing cells including ductal and pSC types. Transgenic expression of cre has occasionally been reported to occur in off-target tissues. We therefore wanted to confirm that cre was not leaking in the immune compartment because any cre mediated loss of MHC class I from immune cells would have confounded the interpretation of results (de Jersey et al., 2007). The absence of any leakiness of cre in the immune compartment confirmed that the model was appropriate to study the role of MHC class I on GFAP expressing cells, in particular the ductal and pSCs of the pancreas.

Utilizing this model we found that the expression of MHC class I on GFAP positive cells was important for the development of insulitis. Not only did the mice lacking MHC class I on GFAP expressing cells have more disease free islets, they were also significantly protected from developing invasive insulitis. This suggests that MHC class I expression on GFAP positive cells is important *early* in the disease process. Because proinsulin is widely held to be the earliest autoantigen, we wondered whether the reduction in insulitis in class I GFAP bald mice may have been due to the loss of MHC class I mediated presentation of insulin peptides expressed by ductal cells of the pancreas.

The decrease in the presence of islets with insulitis, even low level



Fig. 5. GFAP bald mice had more disease free islets. The pancreatic sections from NOD GFAP bald mice at 100–160 days of age were analyzed by haematoxylin and eosin staining. Microphotography shows mononuclear infiltrated islets in control and disease free islets in GFAP bald mice (a). Statistical data showing the percentage of disease free islets (b) and islets with invasive insulitis in GFAP bald and control mice (c). 236 islets were scored for GFAPcre-fl $\beta$ 2Ma + group and 265 islets were scored for GFAPcre + fl $\beta$ 2Ma + group respectively.

periductal insulitis in class I GFAP bald mice suggests there has been a loss of immune response to ductal and/or pSC antigens. However, it is unlikely that the protection from insulitis observed in class I GFAP bald mice was due to the inability of ductal cells to present insulin peptides to CD8 T cells. This is because a proportion of ductal cells retained class I expression in GFAP bald mice and also expressed insulin. Thus a subset of ductal cells would have been able to present insulin peptides to CD8 T cells capable of initiating the disease. This begs the question as to which antigen/s GFAP positive ductal and/or pSCs express that may be important for the initiation of insulitis.

Ductal cells are beta cell progenitors and as such they share a number of autoantigens with beta cells, including proinsulin, GAD65, ICA69 and HIP/PAP (Inada et al., 2008; Bouwens and Pipeleers, 1998; Gurr et al., 2002; Mally et al., 1996a; Mally et al., 1996b). Thus, it is plausible that the initiation of an immune response to ductal cell antigens may lead to cross reactive attack of beta cells expressing shared antigen/s. Although not widely discussed, the argument that ductal cell antigens may have an important role in the initiation of periductal insulitis has credence. Peri ductal insulitis persisted in mice lacking native proinsulin indicating that the immune response to autoantigens expressed by ductal cells can occur independently of the immune response to proinsulin (Moriyama et al., 2003).

The chronological order of the immune response to autoantigens implicated in T1D is not completely understood. There has long been an assumption that proinsulin is the primary autoantigen, however, in addition to the findings presented here, it has also been shown that the immune response to antigens expressed by pSCs precede the immune response and attack of beta cells (Winer et al., 2003). Our data, and the findings of Michael Dosch et al. (Winer et al., 2003), suggests there may be several alternative autoantigens that could initiate an immune response which culminates in beta cell auto reactivity (Dilorenzo, 2011).

While it is not known what causes the inflammation around the ducts of the pancreas, there are a number of hypotheses which have been proposed. The pro inflammatory milieu of the islets could be driven by chemicals (Bodin et al., 2015), microbial infections (Kondrashova and Hyöty, 2014; de Beeck and Eizirik, 2016), food allergens (Virtanen, 2016; Rewers and Ludvigsson, 2016) or the defective clearance of apoptotic bodies by macrophages (O'Brien et al., 2002). Inflammation is associated with tissue damage that can result in the release of otherwise sequestered self-antigens. Our findings indicate that self-antigens expressed by GFAP positive cells are important in the development of insulitis in NOD mice. Further studies using the Class I GFAP bald NOD mice will help researchers to understand the importance of ductal cell antigens in insulitis progression and diabetes development.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.01.001.

#### Acknowledgements

The Authors thank AMREP flow cytometry and Monash Micro Imaging for providing the services.



**Fig. 6.** Insulin positive pancreatic ductal cells do not express EYFP. Contour plots showing pancreatic single cells live gated for low side scatter (I). DBA stained pancreatic ductal cells (II) from reporter and control mice (n = 4). DBA stained ductal cells showing insulin and EYFP expression (III). Out of the 2.5% of insulin expressing ductal cells, > 90% of the cells did not express EYFP.

#### **Competing interest**

The authors declare they have no competing interest associated with this manuscript.

#### Funding

This work was supported by NHMRC, Australia (RMS).

#### References

- Bodin, J., Stene, L.C., Nygaard, U.C., 2015. Can exposure to environmental chemicals increase the risk of diabetes type 1 development? Biomed. Res. Int. 2015, 19.
- Bouwens, L., Pipeleers, D.G., 1998. Extra-insular beta cells associated with ductules are frequent in adult human pancreas. Diabetologia 41, 629–633.
- De Beeck, A.O., Eizirik, D.L., 2016. Viral infections in type 1 diabetes mellitus why the  $\beta$  cells? Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 12, 263–273.
- De Jersey, J., Snelgrove, S.L., Palmer, S.E., Teteris, S.A., Mullbacher, A., Miller, J.F.A.P., Slattery, R.M., 2007.  $\beta$  Cells cannot directly prime diabetogenic CD8 T cells in nonobese diabetic mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 1295–1300.
- Dilorenzo, T.P., 2011. Multiple antigens versus single major antigen in type 1 diabetes: arguing for multiple antigens. Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 27, 778–783.
- Gurr, W., Yavari, R., Wen, L., Shaw, M., Mora, C., Christa, L., Sherwin, R.S., 2002. A Reg family protein is overexpressed in islets from a patient with new-onset type 1 diabetes and acts as T-cell autoantigen in NOD mice. Diabetes 51, 339–346.
- Hamilton-Williams, E.E., Serreze, D.V., Charlton, B., Johnson, E.A., Marron, M.P., Mullbacher, A., Slattery, R.M., 2001. Transgenic rescue implicates beta2-microglobulin as a diabetes susceptibility gene in nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 11533–11538.

- Hamilton-Williams, E.E., Palmer, S.E., Charlton, B., Slattery, R.M., 2003. Beta cell MHC class I is a late requirement for diabetes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100, 6688–6693.
- Han, S., Donelan, W., Wang, H., Reeves, W., Yang, L.-J., 2013. Novel autoantigens in type 1 diabetes. Am. J. Transl. Res. 5, 379–392.
- Harno, E., Cottrell, E.C., White, A., 2013. Metabolic pitfalls of CNS Cre-based technology. Cell Metab. 18, 21–28.
- Inada, A., Nienaber, C., Katsuta, H., Fujitani, Y., Levine, J., Morita, R., Sharma, A., Bonner-Weir, S., 2008. Carbonic anhydrase II-positive pancreatic cells are progenitors for both endocrine and exocrine pancreas after birth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.
- A. 105, 19915–19919. Jayasimhan, A., Mansour, K.P., Slattery, R.M., 2014. Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse. Clin Sci (Lond)
- the pathophysiology of Type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse. Clin Sci (Lond 126, 1–18. Kaufman, D.L., 2003. Murder mysteries in type 1 diabetes. Nat. Med. 9, 161–162.
- Kondrashova, A., Hyöty, H., 2014. Role of viruses and other microbes in the pathogenesis of Type 1 Diabetes. Int. Rev. Immunol. 33, 284–295.
- Lieberman, S.M., Dilorenzo, T.P., 2003. A comprehensive guide to antibody and T-cell responses in type 1 diabetes. Tissue Antigens 62, 359–377.
- Mallone, R., Brezar, V., Boitard, C., 2011. T cell recognition of autoantigens in human type 1 diabetes: clinical perspectives. Clin Dev Immunol 2011, 513210.
- Mally, M.I., Cirulli, V., Hayek, A., Otonkoski, T., 1996a. ICA69 is expressed equally in the human endocrine and exocrine pancreas. Diabetologia 39, 474–480.
- Mally, M.I., Cirulli, V., Otonkoski, T., Soto, G., Hayek, A., 1996b. Ontogeny and tissue distribution of human GAD expression. Diabetes 45, 496–501.
- Mauvais, F.-X., Diana, J., Van Endert, P., 2016. Beta cell antigens in type 1 diabetes: triggers in pathogenesis and therapeutic targets. F1000Research 5 (F1000 Faculty Rev-728).
- Moriyama, H., Abiru, N., Paronen, J., Sikora, K., Liu, E., Miao, D., Devendra, D., Beilke, J., Gianani, R., Gill, R.G., Eisenbarth, G.S., 2003. Evidence for a primary islet autoantigen (preproinsulin 1) for insulitis and diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 10376–10381.
- Nakayama, M., 2011. Insulin as a key autoantigen in the development of type 1 diabetes.
Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 27, 773-777.

- Nakayama, M., Abiru, N., Moriyama, H., Babaya, N., Liu, E., Miao, D., Yu, L., Wegmann, D.R., Hutton, J.C., Elliott, J.F., Eisenbarth, G.S., 2005. Prime role for an insulin epitope in the development of type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. Nature 435, 220–223.
- O'brien, B.A., Huang, Y., Geng, X., Dutz, J.P., Finegood, D.T., 2002. Phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages from NOD mice is reduced. Diabetes 51, 2481–2488.
- Pang, Z., Kushiyama, A., Sun, J., Kikuchi, T., Yamazaki, H., Iwamoto, Y., Koriyama, H., Yoshida, S., Shimamura, M., Higuchi, M., Kawano, T., Takami, Y., Rakugi, H., Morishita, R., Nakagami, H., 2017. Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is a novel biomarker for the prediction of autoimmune diabetes. FASEB J. 31, 4053–4063.
- Pearson, J.A., Wong, F.S., Wen, L., 2016. The importance of the Non Obese Diabetic (NOD) mouse model in autoimmune diabetes. J. Autoimmun. 66, 76–88.
- Razavi, R., Chan, Y., Afifiyan, F.N., Liu, X.J., Wan, X., Yantha, J., Tsui, H., Tang, L., Tsai, S., Santamaria, P., Driver, J.P., Serreze, D., Salter, M.W., Dosch, H.M., 2006. TRPV1 + sensory neurons control beta cell stress and islet inflammation in autoimmune diabetes. Cell 127, 1123–1135.
- Reichert, M., Takano, S., Heeg, S., Bakir, B., Botta, G.P., Rustgi, A.K., 2013. Isolation, culture and genetic manipulation of mouse pancreatic ductal cells. Nat. Protoc. 8, 1354–1365.
- Rewers, M., Ludvigsson, J., 2016. Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet (London, England) 387, 2340–2348.
- Roep, B.O., Peakman, M., 2012. Antigen targets of type 1 diabetes autoimmunity. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine 2, a007781.
- Serreze, D.V., Leiter, E.H., Christianson, G.J., Greiner, D., Roopenian, D.C., 1994. Major histocompatibility complex class I-deficient NOD-B2mnull mice are diabetes and

- insulitis resistant. Diabetes 43, 505-509.
- Smith, L., 2011. Good planning and serendipity: exploiting the Cre/Lox system in the testis. Reproduction 141, 151–161.
- Srinivas, S., Watanabe, T., Lin, C.S., William, C.M., Tanabe, Y., Jessell, T.M., Costantini, F., 2001. Cre reporter strains produced by targeted insertion of EYFP and ECFP into the ROSA26 locus. BMC Dev. Biol. 1, 4.
- Tsui, H., Winer, S., Chan, Y., Truong, D., Tang, L., Yantha, J., Paltser, G., Dosch, H.M., 2008. Islet glia, neurons, and beta cells. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1150, 32–42.
- Van Belle, T.L., Coppieters, K.T., Von Herrath, M.G., 2011. Type 1 diabetes: etiology, immunology, and therapeutic strategies. Physiol. Rev. 91, 79–118.
- Virtanen, S.M., 2016. Dietary factors in the development of type 1 diabetes. Pediatr. Diabetes 17 (Suppl. 22), 49–55.
- Wegmann, D.R., Eisenbarth, G.S., 2000. It's insulin. J. Autoimmun. 15, 286-291.
- Winer, S., Tsui, H., Lau, A., Song, A., Li, X., Cheung, R.K., Sampson, A., Afifiyan, F., Elford, A., Jackowski, G., Becker, D.J., Santamaria, P., Ohashi, P., Dosch, H.M., 2003. Autoimmune islet destruction in spontaneous type 1 diabetes is not beta-cell exclusive. Nat. Med. 9, 198–205.
- Wong, F.S., 2005. Insulin a primary autoantigen in type 1 diabetes? Trends Mol. Med. 11, 445–448.
- Xiao, X., Guo, P., Shiota, C., Prasadan, K., El-Gohary, Y., Wiersch, J., Gaffar, I., Gittes, G.K., 2013. Neurogenin3 Activation is not Sufficient to Direct Duct-to-Beta Cell Transdifferentiation in the Adult Pancreas. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 25297–25308.
- Zhuo, L., Theis, M., Alvarez-Maya, I., Brenner, M., Willecke, K., Messing, A., 2001. hGFAP-cre transgenic mice for manipulation of glial and neuronal function in vivo. Genesis 31, 85–94.





# Dietary SCFAs, IL-22, and GFAP: The Three Musketeers in the Gut–Neuro–Immune Network in Type 1 Diabetes

Abhirup Jayasimhan<sup>1</sup> and Eliana Mariño<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Immunology and Pathology, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, <sup>2</sup> Infection and Immunity Program, Department of Biochemistry, Biomedicine Discovery Institute, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Microbial metabolites have a profound effect on the development of type 1 diabetes (T1D). The cross-talk between the gut microbiota, the nervous system, and immune system is necessary to establish and maintain immune and gut tolerance. As quoted by Hippocrates, "All disease begins in the gut." Although this has been recognized for 2,000 years, the connection between the gut and autoimmune T1D is not yet well-understood. Here, we outline new advances supported by our research and others that have contributed to elucidate the impact of microbial metabolites on the physiology of the pancreas and the gut through their remarkable effect on the immune and nervous system. Among many of the mechanisms involved in the gut-beta-cell-immune cross-talk, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-expressing cells are critical players in the development of invasive insulitis. Besides, this review reveals a novel mechanism for microbial metabolites by stimulating IL-22, an essential cytokine for gut homeostasis and beta-cell survival. The close connections between the gut and the pancreas are highlighted through our review as microbial metabolites recirculate through the whole body and intimately react with the nervous system, which controls essential disorders associated with diabetes. As such, we discuss the mechanisms of action of microbial metabolites or short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), IL-22, and GFAP on beta-cells, gut epithelial cells, neurons, and glial cells via metabolite sensing receptors or through epigenetic effects. The fine-tuned gut-neuro-immune network may be profoundly affected by SCFA deficiency related to dysbiosis and diet alterations at very early stages of the initiation of the disease. Thus, dampening the initial immune response or preventing the perpetuation of the immune response by maintaining the integrity of the gut is among the alternative approaches to prevent T1D.

Keywords: SCFA (short chain fatty acids), GFAP-glial fibrillary acidic protein, gut microbiota, glial cell, interleukin 22 (IL-22), ILC3s, beta cells, diabetes

# INTRODUCTION

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is a chronic autoimmune disease in which T cells destroy the insulin-producing beta-cells of the pancreas (1–3). The beta-cell's attack happens when T cells recognize autoantigens such as glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), islet cell autoantigen 69 (ICA69), insulinoma-associated antigen 2 (IA2), islet-specific glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Julien Diana, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

#### Reviewed by:

Jasenka Zubcevic, University of Florida, United States Gianluca Matteoli, KU Leuven, Belgium

> \*Correspondence: Eliana Mariño eliana.marino@monash.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 July 2019 Accepted: 30 September 2019 Published: 29 October 2019

#### Citation:

Jayasimhan A and Mariño E (2019) Dietary SCFAs, IL-22, and GFAP: The Three Musketeers in the Gut–Neuro–Immune Network in Type 1 Diabetes. Front. Immunol. 10:2429. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02429

1

subunit-related protein (IGRP), and proinsulin, which are widely accepted as the initiating autoantigens in T1D (4, 5). Antigenic targets for T cell priming are not solely expressed in betacells, but also in multiple tissues distal to islets, and they can be found in food like insulin or produced by bacteria like GAD (6-8). This all leads to many questions. How antigen expression in other distal tissues to beta-cells control the invasive infiltration of immune cells into the pancreas? Is the gut an important compartment as a source of antigens that trigger T1D? Is the gut microbiota influencing T cell priming against betacells? The microenvironment regulates beta-cell function and maturity, in particular close interaction with endocrine cells, neuronal, immune, and vascular cells (9, 10). Pancreatic ducts are physiologically neighboring to the beta-cells, and their primary function is to deliver enzymes or pancreatic juices provided from the exocrine pancreas into the duodenum to help digestion. As such, the pancreatic beta-cells can be influenced by the gut, which is intimately connected not only through the pancreatic ducts but also by lymph ducts (11). Beyond the pancreas, there is hardly any tissue in the body that has not been somehow in contact with gut microbial SCFAs. From food fermentation, bacteria in the large bowel produce many metabolites that are used by the epithelial cells in the gut. The remaining amount is transported to the liver where they are metabolized and then released to systemic circulation. As such, SCFAs have a broad spectrum of remarkable beneficial properties that affect many systems, in particular under inflammatory conditions, regulating metabolic, and immune responses (12–14).

One example is the nervous system, which is also critical for the pancreas to function (15). Both the endocrine and the exocrine part of the pancreas are innervated by the sympathetic and the parasympathetic nervous system, as such pancreatic sensory neurons have been shown to play a critical role in controlling islet inflammation (16). Similarly, the enteric nervous system (ENS) via the enteric glial cells (EGCs) is vital to maintain gut and immune homeostasis (17, 18), given that diabetic animals and patients presented gastrointestinal motility disorders (19). In this review, we will discuss the gut–neuro–immune axis in T1D and its effect on beta-cell priming. In particular, we will focus on the role of GFAP-positive cell types as critical players in T1D and on the impact of the gut microbiota, SCFAs, and their mechanisms of action through interleukin 22 (IL-22).

## GFAP-NOT THE USUAL SUSPECT!

Beta-cells are involved in late T cell priming, suggesting that they are not required during the induction of T1D (20, 21). So, a critical consideration is—what might be driving the initiation of T1D? It has been shown in the pancreas that GFAP-expressing peri-islet Schwann cells (pSC or glial cells) can attract and recruit autoreactive cells, which precedes the attack on betacells. Two studies support the finding that immune responses to autoantigens expressed in pSCs precede the immune response to beta-cells (6, 7). In particular, they showed that early T cell attack on GFAP-expressing pSCs progressively results in the release of glial cell antigens, GFAP, and insulin (6, 7). GFAP epitopes for autoreactive T and B cells have now been identified in non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice and humans with T1D. Serum GFAP antibodies are now used as a predictive marker for the development of T1D, and it has been shown that administration of GFAP as a vaccine delayed the progression of T1D by regulating T cell differentiation (22, 23). GFAPexpressing glial cells of the peripheral nervous system require TRPV1 expression for their proper maturation, and studies have shown that depleting TRPV1-expressing cells reduced the development of insulitis in NOD mice (16, 24). It is fascinating that a cytoskeletal protein widely expressed in pancreatic ductal cells and also in pancreatic glial cells of the central and peripheral nervous system may work as an early autoantigen in T1D.

Exploring further this idea, Slattery's group has recently shown that ablation of autoantigen presentation in GFAP-expressing cell types reduced the development of invasive insulitis in NOD mice (25). We can speculate that reduction, but not total elimination of invasive infiltration, may be due to the absence of presentation of autoantigens other than insulin by GFAP-expressing cells, suggesting that Ag-derived ductal cell is one of the critical requirements in orchestrating the initiation of autoimmune responses to beta-cell antigens.

# THE SCFAS: MODULATOR OF GUT INFLAMMATION AND AUTOREACTIVITY

After many years of efforts and studies focusing on the destruction of the beta-cells in the pancreas, there is still no cure or method of prevention for T1D. So, it makes us wonder whether we have been losing the battle only because we are not looking beyond the walls of the pancreas. T1D can be viewed as an orchestrated autoimmune response originated in the gut. This is evident from the observation that in many autoimmune diseases including T1D, the integrity of the epithelial barrier is compromised, leading to a phenomenon termed as "leaky gut" (26, 27). Pathogens, microbial products, and food-derived antigens find the leaky gut as a route to encounter the resident immune cells. For example, Gram-negative bacteria produce lipopolysaccharides (LPS), an identified endotoxin that can induce immune responses via the toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) expressed on monocytes (28). Given the gut connects to the pancreas through pancreatic lymph nodes (PLNs) and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs), bacterial and food products can hyperactivate resident T and B autoreactive cells in the gut or the gut-associated MLNs (29). Alternatively, it has been shown that gut microbial products can reach PLNs and locally modify the presentation of pancreatic self-antigens (30). Therefore, excess of food, chemicals, and microbial antigens can skew the intestinal immune system toward a perpetually pro-inflammatory state that may trigger T1D. Newly-diagnosed children with T1D present autoantibodies to GAD, a pancreatic beta-cell autoantigen that is also produced by many bacterial species (31). For instance, T1D patients present antibodies against a heat shock protein from the Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis, MAP Hsp65, which has a high

degree of homology with human GAD65, suggesting that crossreactivity between MAP Hsp65 and GAD65 potentially could be a mechanism of triggering TID (32). Strong homology has been found between the islet-antigen IGRP and several gutand oral-derived microbial peptides. These peptide sequences encode for magnesium transporter (Mgt), for hypothetical protein IEM\_00289 and NAD synthetase, respectively, which activate NY8.3 CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells with comparable potency to IGRP native peptide (33). Thus, molecular mimicry between excess of gut microbial antigens and islet cell autoantigens may be a mechanism by which gut dysbiosis leads to T1D development.

T1D is a multifactorial condition; diet and environment play an inevitable role in disease modulation (1, 13). Human and murine studies have demonstrated that defects in the induction of central and peripheral tolerance checkpoints (34) also correlate with an altered gut microbiota (35-39), which are notable contributors to T1D pathology. Building on previously extensive reviews on the gut microbiota topic, we have firmly discussed that an altered microbiota and SCFA deficiency are primary causal factors triggering T1D (12-14, 40). The gut microbiota through the production of dietary SCFAs plays a significant role in host defense by modulating the immune system and metabolism. Studies conducted by our group have shown that the combination of a diet rich in acetate and butyrate protected 90% of the NOD mice against T1D, yielding exceptionally high levels of the corresponding SCFAs to the feces (35). In this study, SCFA-induced T1D protection happened via changes in gut/immune regulation-expanding regulatory T (Treg) cells and reducing pathogenic B cells, CD4<sup>+</sup>, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Diet rich in SCFA acetate and butyrate not only reduced the levels of serum LPS and pro-inflammatory interleukin 21 (IL-21) but also increased the level of serum IL-22, an important cytokine that maintains a healthy commensal microbiota, gut epithelial integrity, and mucosal immunity and ameliorates metabolic disease (41-44). Alternatively, SCFAs can also reduce islet-specific immune responses by increasing the production of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) in the beta-cells (45). As it has been shown, C-type lectin regenerating isletderived protein IIIy (REGIIIy) and defensins disrupt surface membranes of bacteria, thus enabling a broad regulation of commensal and pathogenic bacteria in the gut (46-48). Diana's group showed that insulin-secreting beta-cells produced the cathelicidin-related antimicrobial peptide (CRAMP), which was defective in NOD mice. Intraperitoneal administration of SCFA butyrate stimulates the production of CRAMP on pancreatic beta-cells via G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), which also correlated with the conversion of inflammatory immune cells to a regulatory phenotype (45). Likewise, another study has shown that microbial SCFAs contribute to the increasing concentrations of serum IL-22 (35) required for beta-cell regeneration by upregulating the expression of Regenerating Reg1 and Reg2 genes in the islets (49).

There are pieces of evidence of compromised gut integrity, dysbiosis, and associated inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract (GI) in NOD mice and patients with T1D (50–55), similar to what has been shown in other inflammatory or autoimmune gut diseases (i.e., infection, celiac disease, IBD).

The gut microbiota and the ENS play a critical role in diabetic gastrointestinal motility disorders, as individuals with diabetes suffer from symptoms such as nausea, heartburn, vomiting, diarrhea, abdominal pain, and constipation (56, 57). For example, it is known that slow motility of the GI leads to alterations of the gut microbiota that favors pathogenic bacterial overgrowth and subsequently diarrhea (58, 59). As such, the abundance and diversity of bacteria needed to maintain the integrity of the gut were significantly lower in children with T1D compared to healthy controls (60). On the other hand, animal studies have suggested that accelerated colonic transit time, relative to constipation, could be caused by autonomic neuropathy and diabetes-induced denervation of sympathetic nerve terminals (56, 61). Diet and/or deficiency of dietary SCFAs can also modulate the intestinal motility and survival of enteric neurons by miRNAs, which are involved in energy homeostasis, lipid metabolism, and proliferation and development of GI smooth muscles. miRNAs have been vastly studied in organ damage caused by diabetes, and one study has shown in mice that high-fat diets delay the GI transit, partly by inducing apoptosis in enteric neuronal cells, and this effect was shown to be mediated by Mir375 associated with reduced levels of Pdk (62). There is still too much to understand about the intrinsic mechanisms underlying the connection between the gut microbiota and the ENS and how this affects the course of T1D. Particularly high-fiber or specialized acylated starch diets that boost the microbial production of SCFAs are effective in the control of gut infections and diarrhea, as it has been shown to promote commensal acetate-producing bacteria (63).

# IL-22 AND ENS TAKE CONTROL OF T1D

Activation of IL-22 through microbial SCFAs contribute to the maintenance of gut homeostasis by the close connection between the intestinal-resident innate lymphoid cell 3 (ILC3) and EGCs. IL-22 is expressed by ILC3, which lies close to EGCs (64), but its role in T1D is still elusive (14). ILCs sustain appropriate immune responses to commensals and pathogens at mucosal barriers by potentiating adaptive immunity and regulating tissue inflammation (65, 66). Likewise, EGCs have critical roles in maintaining gut homeostasis, as they can sense the pathogenic bacteria through toll-like receptors (TLRs). EGCs surround neurons and also connect with blood vessels and lymphatics (67), which allowed EGC-derived signaling molecules to modulate mucosal immunity. As such, EGCs sense environmental stimuli and extend their stellate projections into the ILC3 aggregates within the crypto-patches of the intestinal lamina propria and release neurotrophic factors that stimulate IL-22 secretion from ILC3s (68). The notion that gut microbiota affects the development and maturation of EGCs was shown in germfree (GF) mice, which present a defective influx of EGCs into the intestinal mucosa (69). This occurs via expression of the neuroregulatory receptor (RET), as ablation of RET in ILC3 leads to reduced IL-22 production and compromised epithelial protection in colon inflammation mouse models (69).

Aligned with this idea, does the early autoreactivity to GFAP observed during insulitis originate in the gut? This is possible to the connections between the pancreas, the ENS, and the gut. The fine-tuned neuro-beta-cell cross-talk is more likely to be broken by the pathological changes occurring in a perturbed gut. Alterations of the gut microbiota, referred to as dysbiosis, decrease epithelial permeability, causing inflammation, and associated tissue damage that exposes numerous self-antigens harbored in the gut and associated enteric neuronal tissues. Gut microbial products can also sense enteric neurons and EGCs partly by pattern recognition receptors, such as TLRs. Indeed, pathogenic and commensal SCFA-producing bacteria up-regulate differentially toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) expression on human EGCs (70). Expression of TLR2 on enteric neurons and EGCs controls nNOS<sup>+</sup> neurons and acetylcholine-esterasestained fibers in the myenteric ganglia. For example, Escherichia coli promoted expression of MHC II molecules on EGCs and significantly induced S100B protein overexpression and nitric oxide (NO) release from EGC, which was counteracted by pretreatment with TLR and S100B inhibitors (70). As such, the myenteric plexus of TLR2Ko mice presented reduced expression of glial markers, GFAP, and S100B. Overexpression of GFAP has been observed to correlate with inflammatory responses in the gut (71). S100B is considered as a neurotrophin, due to its either tropic or toxic effects depending on the concentration in the extracellular milieu. Excess amount of S100B acts on RAGE (receptor for advanced glycation end-products), leading to the phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) and subsequent activation of the nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ) and the associated release of NO. Excess NO causes damage to the tissue, resulting in inflammation and reduced integrity of the guts (72, 73). The protective role of EGCs in the maintenance of the gut epithelial integrity has been demonstrated in mice lacking GFAP-positive (+) glia that presented fatal hemorrhagic jejuno-ileitis (74).

During chronic tissue inflammation, significantly increased expression of GFAP on glial cells after stimulation with LPS and pro-inflammatory cytokines has been shown (75), similar to what has been seen in Crohn's disease (CD) and necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC). On the other hand, the presence of MHC class II expression on activated EGCs suggests that these cell types can present antigens (76, 77) derived from multiples sources, including microbes and host. EGCs, with the help of their stellate projections, sample microbial antigens crossing the epithelial barrier and activate diabetogenic T cells. This is given under dysbiosis, predominant in T1D and many autoimmune diseases, and the release of microbial antigens such as LPS may break the tolerance of EGCs leading to overexpression of glial cell markers GFAP and S100B. Thus, GFAP-expressing glial cells may have a protective role in maintaining the integrity of the gut, but under uncontrolled inflammatory conditions, it may lead to autoreactivity. As such, glial cell-derived protein GFAP is now an identified autoantigen in T1D and autoantibodies to GFAP has been detected in NOD mice and humans with T1D (23), thus showing the relevance of the microbiota-EGC pathways in T1D.

One study has shown that SCFA butyrate can induce increasing excitatory choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) neurons

through the butyrate transporter monocarboxylate transporter (MCT), which is expressed by enteric neurons (78). However, it is still unknown what factors control neuronal MCT2 expression. Further studies will be necessary to determine how SCFAs regulate MCT2 expression and control the activity of intestinal neural circuits. SCFAs exert their function through two mechanisms, via metabolite sensing GPCRs or inhibition of histone deacetylase (HDAC) activity (13, 35, 79, 80). There are three receptors for SCFA acetate, butyrate, and propionate, namely GPR43 (FFA2), GPR41 (FFA3), and GPR109a. GPR43 is activated by SCFAs with varying potency—acetate > propionate > butyrate. GPR43 is expressed on gut epithelial cells and certain immune cells (81). GPR109a is expressed on a variety of immune cells, as well as adipocytes, hepatocytes, gut and retinal epithelium, vascular endothelium, and neuronal tissue (82). GPR109a is primarily activated by both niacin and butyrate ligands. While niacin levels are not high enough to activate the receptor under normal physiological conditions, levels of butyrate, obtained from the gut environment, and its oxidized form,  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate, are sufficient to stimulate a response (82). Similarly, GPR41 has been reported to be expressed on EGCs and enteric neurons (83, 84). GPR41 also binds the three major SCFAs, but with differing affinities (85).

Similar to the effects exerted through the GPCRs, SCFAs can influence the function and development of immune cells directly through epigenetic regulation of gene expression such as inhibition of HDACs (13, 86). HDACs allow the conversion of repressive chromatin structures, which takes place on lysine residues on N-terminal tails of histones 3 and 4, to increase gene transcription. HDACs are a group of 18 known enzymes that remove acetyl groups from the histones tails that bind DNA (87). Although little is known about the effects of SCFAs on EGCs through epigenetic modifications, it has been shown that butyrate treatment increases acetylation of the H3K9 in primary enteric neurons and the EGC *in vitro* (84).

SCFAs can also modulate gut motility by the production of serotonin by epithelial enterochromaffin cells (ECs) (88, 89). For instance, GF mice present gut dysmotility that was reversed by inoculation with SCFA-producing bacteria. Tested in human-derived EC cell lines, SCFAs increased serotonin (5hydroxytryptamine [5-HT]) by up-regulating THER expression of tryptophan hydroxylase 1 (Tph1) (89) and by the serotoninselective reuptake transporter (SERT), which is expressed by intestinal epithelial cells (90). Another critical role of SCFAs on the ENS is evidenced by the conversion of primary bile acids synthesized de novo into secondary bile acids in the liver (91). Aside from their role in dietary fat absorption, secondary bile acids can activate several GPCRs and nuclear hormone receptors, including the G-protein-coupled bile acid receptor 1 (TGR5) and farnesoid X receptor (FXR), highly expressed in enteric neurons and enteroendocrine L cells that improved intestinal inflammation and glucose tolerance in HFD-fed mice (92). TGR5 also affect peristalsis that is mediated partly by serotonin 5-HT (93), implicating its potential for the treatment of constipation and diarrhea. Altogether, this suggests the relevance of the gut-neuro-immune axis in T1D (Figure 1).



**FIGURE 1** Diet and gut microbiota through the production of dietary SCFAs exert anti-inflammatory effects by controlling the activity of multiple immune cell types, outside or locally in the intestinal mucosa, the enteric glial cells and neurons but also glial cells in the pancreatic islets and the beta-cells. As such SCFAs promote IL-22 production CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells or by supporting ILC3 cells, the major producers of IL-22. Also SCFAs can reduce production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-21, LPS, induce beta cell regeneration via AMPS, regulate GFAP in the gut and beta-cells, modulate the expansion of regulatory T and reduction of autoreactive CD8 T cells and reducing B cell hyperactive antigen presentation capacity. Activation of GPRCs (GPR41 and GPR43) on enteroendocrine cells of the intestinal epithelium and TLR signaling (e.g., TLR2 and TLR4) maintains subsets of enteric neurons resulting changes in gut motility, conversion of primary bile acids into secondary bile acids, which activate TGRS expressed by enteroendocrine cells and enteric neurons among many others.

# **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Among the described effects that SCFAs have on modulating the immune system, beta-cell biology, and gut homeostasis, we have uncovered a novel role for SCFAs by modulating the ENS in the gut, central for the control and prevention of T1D. Overall, an immune response to antigens presented not only by GFAP-expressing pSCs in the pancreas but also by GFAP-expressing EGCs in the gut is a novel finding involved in the initiation of the autoimmune process. Could it trigger antigen-experienced autoreactive cells to move up the gut and reach the ductal and beta-cells, and break the GFAP-expressing neuronal mantle of the islets? This is an unexplored field and requires further research. Given the close location and connection between the gut and the pancreas and their intrinsic

### REFERENCES

- Jayasimhan A, Mansour Kristy P, Slattery Robyn M. Advances in our understanding of the pathophysiology of type 1 diabetes: lessons from the NOD mouse. *Clin Sci.* (2014) 126:1–18. doi: 10.1042/CS20120627
- Paschou SA, Papadopoulou-Marketou N, Chrousos GP, Kanaka-Gantenbein C. On type 1 diabetes mellitus pathogenesis. *Endocrine Connect.* (2017) 7:R38–46. doi: 10.1530/EC-17-0347
- Katsarou A, Gudbjörnsdottir S, Rawshani A, Dabelea D, Bonifacio E, Anderson BJ, et al. Type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2017) 3:17016. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.16
- Moriyama H, Abiru N, Paronen J, Sikora K, Liu E, Miao D, et al. Evidence for a primary islet autoantigen (preproinsulin 1) for insulitis and diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:10376–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1834450100
- Arvan P, Pietropaolo M, Ostrov D, Rhodes CJ. Islet autoantigens: structure, function, localization, and regulation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Med.* (2012) 2: a007658. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a007658
- Winer S, Tsui H, Lau A, Song A, Li X, Cheung RK, et al. Autoimmune islet destruction in spontaneous type 1 diabetes is not β-cell exclusive. *Nat Med.* (2003) 9:198. doi: 10.1038/nm818
- Tsui H, Chan Y, Tang L, Winer S, Cheung RK, Paltser G, et al. Targeting of pancreatic glia in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. (2008) 57:918–28. doi: 10.2337/db07-0226
- Mallone R, Brezar V, Boitard C. T cell recognition of autoantigens in human type 1 diabetes: clinical perspectives. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2011) 2011:513210. doi: 10.1155/2011/513210
- 9. Eberhard D, Lammert E. The pancreatic beta-cell in the islet and organ community. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* (2009) 19:469–75. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2009.07.003
- Brissova M, Aamodt K, Brahmachary P, Prasad N, Hong JY, Dai C, et al. Islet microenvironment, modulated by vascular endothelial growth factor-A signaling, promotes beta cell regeneration. *Cell Metab.* (2014) 19:498–511. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.02.001
- Bernier-Latmani J, Petrova TV. Intestinal lymphatic vasculature: structure, mechanisms and functions. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2017) 14:510–26. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.79
- McLeod K, Richards JL, Yap YA, Mariño E. Dietary short chain fatty acids: how the gut microbiota fight against autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. In: Watson RR, Preedy VR, editors. *Bioactive Food as Dietary Interventions for Arthritis and Related Inflammatory Diseases.* 2nd ed. London: Elsevier (2019). p. 139–52. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-813820-5. 00007-6
- Richards JL, Yap YA, McLeod KH, Mackay CR, Mariño E. Diet and gut Microbiota: An Alternative way to control inflamatory and autoimmune diseases. *Clin Transl Immunol.* (2016) 2:e82. doi: 10.1038/cti.2016.29

dependence from the nervous system, this fine-tuned immunoneuro-islet cross-talk may be profoundly affected by perturbed gut homeostasis at very early stages of the initiation of the T1D. Dampening the initial immune response or preventing the perpetuation of the islet-specific immune response by maintaining the integrity of the gut is among the possible therapeutic approaches to reprogram T1D (12, 14). Thus, any hope for a cure may lie in methods that can halt immunemediated beta-cell damage by maintaining or improving gutimmune tolerance.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EM developed the conceptual idea, wrote and edited the manuscript. AJ wrote and edited the manuscript.

- Yap YA, Marino E. An insight into the intestinal web of mucosal immunity, microbiota, and diet in inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2617. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02617
- Begg DP, Woods SC. Interactions between the central nervous system and pancreatic islet secretions: a historical perspective. *Adv Physiol Educ.* (2013) 37:53–60. doi: 10.1152/advan.00167.2012
- Razavi R, Chan Y, Afifiyan FN, Liu XJ, Wan X, Yantha J, et al. TRPV1+ sensory neurons control beta cell stress and islet inflammation in autoimmune diabetes. *Cell.* (2006) 127:1123–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.038
- Vaishnava S, Yamamoto M, Severson KM, Ruhn KA, Yu X, Koren O, et al. The antibacterial lectin RegIIIgamma promotes the spatial segregation of microbiota and host in the intestine. *Science*. (2011) 334:255–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1209791
- Yoo BB, Mazmanian SK. The enteric network: interactions between the immune and nervous systems of the gut. *Immunity*. (2017) 46:910–26. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.05.011
- Yarandi SS, Srinivasan S. Diabetic gastrointestinal motility disorders and the role of enteric nervous system: current status and future directions. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* (2014) 26:611–24. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12330
- de Jersey J, Snelgrove SL, Palmer SE, Teteris SA, Mullbacher A, Miller JF, et al. Beta cells cannot directly prime diabetogenic CD8T cells in nonobese diabetic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:1295–300. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0610057104
- Hamilton-Williams EE, Palmer SE, Charlton B, Slattery RM. Beta cell MHC class I is a late requirement for diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:6688–93. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1131954100
- Pang Z, Higuchi M, Koriyama H, Yoshida S, Kurinami H, Shimamura M, et al. Evaluating the potential of the GFAP-KLH immune-tolerizing vaccine for type 1 diabetes in mice. *FEBS Lett.* (2017) 591:129–36. doi: 10.1002/1873-3468.12511
- Pang Z, Kushiyama A, Sun J, Kikuchi T, Yamazaki H, Iwamoto Y, et al. Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) is a novel biomarker for the prediction of autoimmune diabetes. *FASEB J.* (2017) 31:4053–63. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700110R
- Bour-Jordan H, Bluestone JA. Sensory neurons link the nervous system and autoimmune diabetes. *Cell.* (2006) 127:1097–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.11.030
- Jayasimhan A, Ellis DP, Ziegler AI, Slattery RM. Pancreatic ductal cell antigens are important in the development of invasive insulitis in non-obese diabetic mice. J Neuroimmunol. (2019) 327:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2019.01.001
- Vaarala O. Leaking gut in type 1 diabetes. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. (2008) 24:701–6. doi: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e32830e6d98
- Vaarala O. Is the origin of type 1 diabetes in the gut? Immunol Cell Biol. (2012) 90:271–6. doi: 10.1038/icb.2011.115
- Sabroe I, Read RC, Whyte MKB, Dockrell DH, Vogel SN, Dower SK. Toll-like receptors in health and disease: complex questions remain. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:1630. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.4.1630

- Jaakkola I, Jalkanen S, Hanninen A. Diabetogenic T cells are primed both in pancreatic and gut-associated lymph nodes in NOD mice. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:3255–64. doi: 10.1002/eji.200324405
- Turley SJ, Lee JW, Dutton-Swain N, Mathis D, Benoist C. Endocrine self and gut non-self intersect in the pancreatic lymph nodes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:17729–33. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509006102
- Mulder SJ. Bacteria of food and human intestine are the most possible sources of the gad-trigger of type 1 diabetes. *Med Hyp.* (2005) 65:308–11. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2005.02.027
- Bodin J, Stene LC, Nygaard UC. Can exposure to environmental chemicals increase the risk of diabetes type 1 development? *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:208947. doi: 10.1155/2015/208947
- Tai N, Peng J, Liu F, Gulden E, Hu Y, Zhang X, et al. Microbial antigen mimics activate diabetogenic CD8 T cells in NOD mice. J Exp Med. (2016) 213:2129–46. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160526
- Herold KC, Vignali DA, Cooke A, Bluestone JA. Type 1 diabetes: translating mechanistic observations into effective clinical outcomes. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:243–56. doi: 10.1038/nri3422
- Marino E, Richards JL, McLeod KH, Stanley D, Yap YA, Knight J, et al. Gut microbial metabolites limit the frequency of autoimmune T cells and protect against type 1 diabetes. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:552–62. doi: 10.1038/ni.3713
- Vatanen T, Franzosa EA, Schwager R, Tripathi S, Arthur TD, Vehik K, et al. The human gut microbiome in early-onset type 1 diabetes from the TEDDY study. *Nature*. (2018) 562:589–94. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0620-2
- Vatanen T, Kostic AD, d'Hennezel E, Siljander H, Franzosa EA, Yassour M, et al. Variation in microbiome LPS immunogenicity contributes to autoimmunity in humans. *Cell.* (2016) 165:842–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.007
- Gavin PG, Mullaney JA, Loo D, Cao KL, Gottlieb PA, Hill MM, et al. Intestinal metaproteomics reveals host-microbiota interactions in subjects at risk for type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. (2018) 41:2178–86. doi: 10.2337/dc18-0777
- Mullaney JA, Stephens JE, Costello ME, Fong C, Geeling BE, Gavin PG, et al. Type 1 diabetes susceptibility alleles are associated with distinct alterations in the gut microbiota. *Microbiome*. (2018) 6:35. doi: 10.1186/s40168-018-0438-z
- Marino E. The gut microbiota and immune-regulation: the fate of health and disease. *Clin Transl Immunol.* (2016) 5:e107. doi: 10.1038/cti.2016.61
- Hasnain SZ, Borg DJ, Harcourt BE, Tong H, Sheng YH, Ng CP, et al. Glycemic control in diabetes is restored by therapeutic manipulation of cytokines that regulate beta cell stress. *Nat Med.* (2014) 20:1417–26. doi: 10.1038/nm.3705
- Wang X, Ota N, Manzanillo P, Kates L, Zavala-Solorio J, Eidenschenk C, et al. Interleukin-22 alleviates metabolic disorders and restores mucosal immunity in diabetes. *Nature*. (2014) 514:237–41. doi: 10.1038/nature13564
- Dudakov JA, Hanash AM, van den Brink MR. Interleukin-22: immunobiology and pathology. Annu Rev Immunol. (2015) 33:747–85. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112123
- Sabat R, Ouyang W, Wolk K. Therapeutic opportunities of the IL-22-IL-22R1 system. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2014) 13:21–38. doi: 10.1038/nrd4176
- 45. Sun J, Furio L, Mecheri R, van der Does AM, Lundeberg E, Saveanu L, et al. Pancreatic beta-cells limit autoimmune diabetes via an immunoregulatory antimicrobial peptide expressed under the influence of the gut microbiota. *Immunity*. (2015) 43:304–17. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.07.013
- Gallo RL, Hooper LV. Epithelial antimicrobial defence of the skin and intestine. Nat Rev Immunol. (2012) 12:503–16. doi: 10.1038/nri3228
- Bevins CL, Salzman NH. Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2011) 9:356–68. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2546
- Mukherjee S, Hooper LV. Antimicrobial defense of the intestine. *Immunity*. (2015) 42:28–39. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.12.028
- Hill T, Krougly O, Nikoopour E, Bellemore S, Lee-Chan E, Fouser LA, et al. The involvement of interleukin-22 in the expression of pancreatic beta cell regenerative Reg genes. *Cell Regen*. (2013) 2:2. doi: 10.1186/2045-9769-2-2
- Alam C, Valkonen S, Palagani V, Jalava J, Eerola E, Hänninen A. Inflammatory tendencies and overproduction of IL-17 in the colon of young NOD mice are counteracted with diet change. *Diabetes*. (2010) 59:2237–46. doi: 10.2337/db10-0147
- 51. Bolla AM, Pellegrini S, Sordi V, Bonfanti R, Bosi E, Piemonti L, et al. Duodenal mucosa of patients with type 1 diabetes shows distinctive inflammatory

profile and microbiota. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2017) 102:1468-77. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-3222

- Bosi E, Molteni L, Radaelli MG, Folini L, Fermo I, Bazzigaluppi E, et al. Increased intestinal permeability precedes clinical onset of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia*. (2006) 49:2824–7. doi: 10.1007/s00125-006-0465-3
- Lee AS, Gibson DL, Zhang Y, Sham HP, Vallance BA, Dutz JP. Gut barrier disruption by an enteric bacterial pathogen accelerates insulitis in NOD mice. *Diabetologia*. (2010) 53:741–8. doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1626-y
- Leeds JS, Hopper AD, Hadjivassiliou M, Tesfaye S, Sanders DS. Inflammatory bowel disease is more common in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Gut.* (2011) 60(Suppl 1):A208. doi: 10.1136/gut.2011.239301.438
- Halling ML, Kjeldsen J, Knudsen T, Nielsen J, Hansen LK. Patients with inflammatory bowel disease have increased risk of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2017) 23:6137–46. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i33.6137
- Du YT, Rayner CK, Jones KL, Talley NJ, Horowitz M. Gastrointestinal symptoms in diabetes: prevalence, assessment, pathogenesis, and management. *Diabetes* care. (2018) 41:627–37. doi: 10.2337/dc17-1536
- 57. Maleki D, Locke GR, 3rd, Camilleri M, Zinsmeister AR, Yawn BP, Leibson C, et al. Gastrointestinal tract symptoms among persons with diabetes mellitus in the community. *Arch Intern Med.* (2000) 160:2808–16. doi: 10.1001/archinte.160.18.2808
- Nguyen NQ, Debreceni TL, Bambrick JE, Bellon M, Wishart J, Standfield S, et al. Rapid gastric and intestinal transit is a major determinant of changes in blood glucose, intestinal hormones, glucose absorption and postprandial symptoms after gastric bypass. *Obesity*. (2014) 22:2003–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.20791
- 59. Sellin JH, Hart R. Glucose malabsorption associated with rapid intestinal transit. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (1992) 87:584–9.
- Murri M, Leiva I, Gomez-Zumaquero JM, Tinahones FJ, Cardona F, Soriguer F, et al. Gut microbiota in children with type 1 diabetes differs from that in healthy children: a case-control study. *BMC Med.* (2013) 11:46. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-46
- Rosa-e-Silva L, Troncon LE, Oliveira RB, Foss MC, Braga FJ, Gallo Junior L. Rapid distal small bowel transit associated with sympathetic denervation in type I diabetes mellitus. *Gut.* (1996) 39:748–56. doi: 10.1136/gut.39.5.748
- Nezami BG, Mwangi SM, Lee JE, Jeppsson S, Anitha M, Yarandi SS, et al. MicroRNA 375 mediates palmitate-induced enteric neuronal damage and high-fat diet-induced delayed intestinal transit in mice. *Gastroenterology*. (2014) 146:473–83.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.10.053
- Fukuda S, Toh H, Hase K, Oshima K, Nakanishi Y, Yoshimura K, et al. Bifidobacteria can protect from enteropathogenic infection through production of acetate. *Nature*. (2011) 469:543–7. doi: 10.1038/nature09646
- 64. Ibiza S, Garcia-Cassani B, Ribeiro H, Carvalho T, Almeida L, Marques R, et al. Glial-cell-derived neuroregulators control type 3 innate lymphoid cells and gut defence. *Nature*. (2016) 535:440–3. doi: 10.1038/nature18644
- Vivier E, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, et al. Innate lymphoid cells: 10 years on. *Cell.* (2018) 174:1054–66. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.07.017
- Wang S, Xia P, Chen Y, Qu Y, Xiong Z, Ye B, et al. Regulatory innate lymphoid cells control innate intestinal inflammation. *Cell.* (2017) 171:201–16.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.027
- Sternini C, Anselmi L, Rozengurt E. Enteroendocrine cells: a site of 'taste' in gastrointestinal chemosensing. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes.* (2008) 15:73–8. doi: 10.1097/MED.0b013e3282f43a73
- Ouyang W, O'Garra A. IL-10 Family cytokines IL-10 and IL-22: from basic science to clinical translation. *Immunity.* (2019) 50:871–91. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.020
- Kabouridis PS, Lasrado R, McCallum S, Chng SH, Snippert HJ, Clevers H, et al. Microbiota controls the homeostasis of glial cells in the gut lamina propria. *Neuron.* (2015) 85:289–95. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.037
- Turco F, Sarnelli G, Cirillo C, Palumbo I, De Giorgi F, D'Alessandro A, et al. Enteroglial-derived S100B protein integrates bacteria-induced tolllike receptor signalling in human enteric glial cells. *Gut.* (2014) 63:105–15. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2012-302090
- 71. Gershon MD, Rothman TP. Enteric glia. *Glia.* (1991) 4:195–204. doi: 10.1002/glia.440040211

- Schulzke JD, Ploeger S, Amasheh M, Fromm A, Zeissig S, Troeger H, et al. Epithelial tight junctions in intestinal inflammation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2009) 1165:294–300. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04062.x
- 73. Salzman AL. Nitric oxide in the gut. N Horiz. (1995) 3:33-45.
- Bush TG, Savidge TC, Freeman TC, Cox HJ, Campbell EA, Mucke L, et al. Fulminant jejuno-ileitis following ablation of enteric glia in adult transgenic mice. *Cell.* (1998) 93:189–201. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81571-8
- von Boyen GB, Steinkamp M, Reinshagen M, Schafer KH, Adler G, Kirsch J. Proinflammatory cytokines increase glial fibrillary acidic protein expression in enteric glia. *Gut.* (2004) 53:222–8. doi: 10.1136/gut.2003.012625
- Taniguchi Y, Ono K, Yoshida S, Tanaka R. Antigen-presenting capability of glial cells under glioma-harboring conditions and the effect of gliomaderived factors on antigen presentation. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2000) 111:177–85. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(00)00361-1
- Schetters STT, Gomez-Nicola D, Garcia-Vallejo JJ, Van Kooyk Y. Neuroinflammation: microglia and T cells get ready to tango. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:1905. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01905
- Soret R, Chevalier J, De Coppet P, Poupeau G, Derkinderen P, Segain JP, et al. Short-chain fatty acids regulate the enteric neurons and control gastrointestinal motility in rats. *Gastroenterology.* (2010) 138:1772–82. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.053
- Macia L, Tan J, Vieira AT, Leach K, Stanley D, Luong S, et al. Metabolitesensing receptors GPR43 and GPR109A facilitate dietary fibre-induced gut homeostasis through regulation of the inflammasome. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:6734. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7734
- Thorburn AN, McKenzie CI, Shen S, Stanley D, Macia L, Mason LJ, et al. Evidence that asthma is a developmental origin disease influenced by maternal diet and bacterial metabolites. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:7320. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8320
- Maslowski KM, Vieira AT, Ng A, Kranich J, Sierro F, Yu D, et al. Regulation of inflammatory responses by gut microbiota and chemoattractant receptor GPR43. *Nature*. (2009) 461:1282–6. doi: 10.1038/nature08530
- Elangovan S, Pathania R, Ramachandran S, Ananth S, Padia RN, Lan L, et al. The niacin/butyrate receptor GPR109A suppresses mammary tumorigenesis by inhibiting cell survival. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:1166–78. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1451
- Nohr MK, Pedersen MH, Gille A, Egerod KL, Engelstoft MS, Husted AS, et al. GPR41/FFAR3 and GPR43/FFAR2 as cosensors for short-chain fatty acids in enteroendocrine cells vs FFAR3 in enteric neurons and FFAR2 in enteric leukocytes. *Endocrinology*. (2013) 154:3552–64. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1142
- Cossais F, Durand T, Chevalier J, Boudaud M, Kermarrec L, Aubert P, et al. Postnatal development of the myenteric glial network and its modulation by butyrate. *Am J Physiol Gastrointestinal Liver Physiol.* (2016) 310:G941–51. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00232.2015

- Brown AJ, Goldsworthy SM, Barnes AA, Eilert MM, Tcheang L, Daniels D, et al. The orphan G protein-coupled receptors GPR41 and GPR43 are activated by propionate and other short chain carboxylic acids. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:11312–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M211609200
- Thorburn AN, Macia L, Mackay CR. Diet, metabolites, and "westernlifestyle" inflammatory diseases. *Immunity*. (2014) 40:833–42. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.05.014
- Mathias RA, Guise AJ, Cristea IM. Post-translational modifications regulate class IIa histone deacetylase (HDAC) function in health and disease. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2015) 14:456–70. doi: 10.1074/mcp.O114.046565
- Yano JM, Yu K, Donaldson GP, Shastri GG, Ann P, Ma L, et al. Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell.* (2015) 161:264–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.02.047
- Reigstad CS, Salmonson CE, Rainey JF III, Szurszewski JH, Linden DR, Sonnenburg JL, et al. Gut microbes promote colonic serotonin production through an effect of short-chain fatty acids on enterochromaffin cells. *FASEB* J. (2015) 29:1395–403. doi: 10.1096/fj.14-259598
- Bian X, Patel B, Dai X, Galligan JJ, Swain G. High mucosal serotonin availability in neonatal guinea pig ileum is associated with low serotonin transporter expression. *Gastroenterology.* (2007) 132:2438–47. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.03.103
- Poole DP, Godfrey C, Cattaruzza F, Cottrell GS, Kirkland JG, Pelayo JC, et al. Expression and function of the bile acid receptor GpBAR1 (TGR5) in the murine enteric nervous system. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* (2010) 22:814–25, e227–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01487.x
- Chavez-Talavera O, Tailleux A, Lefebvre P, Staels B. Bile acid control of metabolism and inflammation in obesity, type 2 diabetes, dyslipidemia, and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology*. (2017) 152:1679–94.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2017.01.055
- Alemi F, Poole DP, Chiu J, Schoonjans K, Cattaruzza F, Grider JR, et al. The receptor TGR5 mediates the prokinetic actions of intestinal bile acids and is required for normal defecation in mice. *Gastroenterology*. (2013) 144:145–54. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.09.055

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jayasimhan and Mariño. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# A simple method to improve the visualization of EYFP in paraformaldehyde fixed frozen tissue sections

Abhirup Jayasimhan<sup>a</sup>, Darcy P Ellis<sup>a\*</sup> and Robyn Slattery<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Immunology and Pathology, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

\*Present affiliation: Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

**Corresponding Author:** Abhirup Jayasimhan, Department of Immunology and Pathology, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

Email: <a href="mailto:abhirupjayasimhan@monash.edu">abhirupjayasimhan@monash.edu</a>

# Abstract:

# Background

Fluorescent proteins are widely used in a variety of applications to study the organization and function of living systems. Enhanced Yellow Fluorescent Protein (EYFP) is among the most popular versions of fluorescent proteins used in lineage tracing and protein expression studies in genetically engineered mice. The expression of EYFP in live cells can be visualized using flow cytometric and fluorescence microscopy techniques. However, imaging the natural fluorescence of EYFP in frozen tissue sections has been challenging.

# Methods

Pancreatic and brain sections dissected from Non Obese Diabetic (NOD) mice that express EYFP either in the glial cells of the neurons or in the ductal cells of the pancreas were used to image EYFP expression.

# Results

We were able to identify EYFP expression in sections cut from the fixed frozen tissue, but the natural fluorescence of EYFP was undetected in unfixed frozen tissue sections imaged immediately after dissection. We also found that fixing the frozen sections post sectioning were suboptimal for imaging the natural fluorescence of EYFP.

# Conclusion

We demonstrate that tissue fixation using crosslinking fixative, prior to sectioning, is a mandatory requirement for the better visualization of EYFP in brain and pancreatic sections of EYFP transgenic mice.

Keywords: EYFP, cre, tissue sections, fluorescence microscopy, anti-GFP.

# Abbreviations

BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CAII	Carbonic Anhydrase II
DAPI	4, 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DBA	Dolichos Biflorus Agglutinin
EYFP	Enhanced Yellow Fluorescent Protein
GFAP	Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
NOD	Non Obese Diabetic
OCT	Optimal Cutting Temperature
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PFA	Paraformaldehyde

# **1. Introduction:**

The green fluorescent protein (GFP) isolated from the jellyfish *Aequorea victoria* was one of the first fluorescent proteins used for gene expression and protein localization studies [1-4]. By using protein engineering approaches, Roger Tsien and co-workers mutated wildtype GFP and generated a longer wavelength emitting variant protein, having an emission in the yellow region of the visible spectrum. This variant protein, the Enhanced Yellow Fluorescent Protein (EYFP) is a modified GFP with a targeted substitution of the threonine (T) residue for tyrosine (Y) at position 203 (T203Y) and is now a widely used fluorescent protein [5].

The expression of EYFP in live cells can be easily visualized using a flow cytometer equipped with 488 nm laser [6]. However, imaging the highly soluble EYFP in frozen tissue sections is problematic due to poor photostability, loss of cell membrane integrity during sectioning and subsequent leaching of the fluorochrome [6-9]. Though the targeted substitution of T203Y has changed the spectral profile, the commercial polyclonal anti-GFP antibody is able to bind EYFP, as its structural conformation was not much altered in the enhanced version [5]. Here we describe an efficient fixing method that causes retention of the EYFP protein within the cellular architecture, thus allowing better visualization of intracellular EYFP expression in frozen brain and pancreatic tissue sections of EYFP transgenic mice.

# 2. Materials and Methods

# **2.1 Mice**

Mice were maintained under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions at the Precinct, Animal Centre at the Alfred Hospital (PAC, Melbourne, Australia). All procedures involving mice were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Alfred Medical Research and Education Precinct (AMREP). NOD EYFP mice, that express EYFP conditionally [10], were crossed with either GFAPcre mice (cre expressed under the Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) promoter) [11] or with CAIIcre mice (cre expressed under the Carbonic Anhydrase II (CAII) promoter) [12]. In double transgenic offspring cre mediated recombination resulted in the expression of EYFP in GFAP expressing neuronal cells of GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice and in CAII expressing ductal cells of the pancreas of CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice respectively (Fig-1).

# 2.2 Tissue optimization

# 2.2.1 Frozen Tissue (FT)

Freshly dissected brain tissue from GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice and pancreas tissue from CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice was harvested and embedded in Tissue Tek O.C.T compound (ProSciTech, Australia) by snap freezing in -20°C chilled isopentane. In parallel, control tissue, from GFAPcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> and CAIIcre<sup>-</sup> EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice were embedded in OCT. Later the same day, cryostat sections of 5µm were cut from the embedded tissue, mounted on superfrost plus slides (Thermo Fisher scientific, Massachusetts, USA) and observed for fluorescence using the Olympus BX61 microscope.

# 2.2.2 Fixed Frozen Tissue (Fi-FT)

Brain tissue from GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> and control GFAPcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice, and pancreas from CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> and control CAIIcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice, were fixed overnight at 4°C in fresh 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). The following day the fixed tissues were cryoprotected by immersion in a beaker of 20% sucrose/Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) solution maintained at 4°C. After approximately 8 hours, when the tissue had sunk to the bottom of the beaker, the cryoprotected tissue was embedded in OCT by snap freezing in -20°C chilled isopentane. Cryostat sections were cut at 5µm, mounted on slides and fluorescence visualized using an Olympus BX61 microscope.

# 2.2.3 Staining of Fixed Frozen Tissue

Fixed frozen brain tissue from GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> and control GFAPcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice, and pancreas tissue from CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> and control CAIIcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice, was cut at 5µm and mounted on slides and incubated in a blocking solution containing 3% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) and 5% milk powder in PBS at room temperature for 20 minutes. The brain sections from

GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> and control GFAPcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice were then stained with Alexa Fluor 555 conjugated rabbit anti-GFP polyclonal antibody that crossreacts with YFP (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA), henceforth called AF-anti-YFP. The sections were counter stained with 4, 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) before mounting with fluoromount (Sigma). Pancreatic sections from CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> and control mice were stained with polyclonal guinea pig antibodies against insulin (Dako, Carpinteria, CA, USA), AF-anti-YFP and biotinylated Dolichos Biflorus Agglutinin (DBA) lectin (Vector labs, Peterborough, UK) to label ductal cells [13]. Following a wash in PBS, anti-insulin antibodies were detected using Texas red conjugated rabbit antibody against guinea pig (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA) and DBA labelled ductal cells by streptavidin conjugated to Dylight 405 (Abcam). The stained slides were observed for fluorescence using the Olympus BX61 microscope.

# 3. Results

## **3.1 Frozen Tissue sections failed to preserve EYFP**

EYFP is a highly soluble protein and fluorescence is dependent on its structural conformation. Our initial efforts to preserve and visualize the natural fluorescence of EYFP in sectioned tissue were unsuccessful, despite successful imaging of EYFP in single cells using flow cytometric techniques (Fig-2). We were unable to detect fluorescence in any of the frozen brain sections from GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> or pancreatic sections from CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice even when the AF-anti-YFP antibody was used to enhance the signal. We concluded that because EYFP is highly soluble it may have diffused out of the cells in tissue sections. We therefore sought to develop a fixation method to resolve this problem.

# 3.2 Fixing post-sectioning did not preserve EYFP in frozen tissue sections

To retain the EYFP protein in frozen tissue sections, a fixation method was required to anchor the protein to the cellular architecture. The first choice of fixative was ice cold acetone however, EYFP was not detected in tissue sections fixed with ice cold acetone and stained with AF-anti-YFP antibody, because during the process of fixing, organic solvents like acetone precipitate the EYFP protein by replacing water, resulting in a change in the conformational structure of EYFP and thereby losing the of natural fluorescence [14]. The second choice of fixative was freshly made 4% PFA solution. Since aldehyde fixatives act by crosslinking the protein by forming methylene bridges, the structural conformation of the EYFP is not affected during the process of fixation [15]. Despite using 4% PFA as fixative and staining with AF-anti-YFP, we were unable to detect EYFP in either brain or pancreatic tissue sections. The absence of EYFP in tissue sections fixed with PFA suggested that the protein needs to be anchored to the cellular architecture even before the tissue is subjected to sectioning.

# 3.3 EYFP is retained in Fi-FT sections

In order to retain EYFP inside the cell, the tissue should be fixed prior to sectioning. We used the Fi-FT approach where we pre-fixed the whole tissue in 4% PFA, followed by sucrose impregnation as described in methods section 2.2.2. Fi-FT sections of brain and pancreas retained the EYFP protein within the cell and we were able to detect the natural fluorescence of EYFP on cut sections albeit at very low intensity.

# 3.4 Imaging EYFP florescence in Fi-FT sections using anti-YFP antibody

To enhance the signal and to image the cells that express the EYFP protein we stained the Fi-FT sections with AF-anti-YFP antibody. Stained brain sections from GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> identified EYFP expressing neuronal cells (Fig-3) and

7

stained pancreatic sections from CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice co-stained with DBA identified EYFP expressing ductal cells (Fig-4).

# 4. Discussion

Whilst visualizing the natural fluorescence of EYFP in live cells was successful using confocal microscopy and flow cytometry, imaging the natural fluorescence of EYFP in tissue sections was problematic [8]. We tried to image the natural fluorescence of EYFP in frozen tissues isolated from transgenic mice known to express the protein. To visualize the natural fluorescence of EYFP, we used frozen pancreatic tissue sections from CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice and brain sections from GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice.

We were unable to detect the natural fluorescence of EYFP in frozen sections cut from either tissue type. The absence of natural fluorescence in frozen tissue sections prompted us to opt for a fixation method that would preserve the EYFP within the tissue sections. The principle behind using any fixative is to anchor the protein to the cellular architecture [16]. We used ice cold acetone to fix the EYFP, so that it could be observed using fluorescence microscopy. Despite using acetone as the fixative, we were unable to visualize the natural fluorescence of EYFP. We suspected that the absence of natural fluorescence in acetone fixed sections is due to a conformational change in EYFP. Organic solvents like acetone dehydrate proteins which can cause a change in the conformational structure [14]. The natural fluorescence of EYFP is dependent on its conformation and therefore, acetone fixation likely compromised the conformation resulting in the loss of fluorescence [17, 18]. Although still widely used acetone is not an ideal fixative for use when studying florescent proteins.

Though monoclonal antibodies are exquisitely dependent on the confirmation of the target epitope, polyclonal antibodies are not [19]. In order to detect the acetone dehydrated EYFP, we therefore used polyclonal AF-anti-YFP. However, we were unable to detect any EYFP signal in the sections probed with AF-anti-YFP antibody. Since we still were unable to detect EYFP using polyclonal AF-anti-YFP, we changed the fixative to one that is known not to cause any conformational change in proteins [20]. Tissue sections were thus fixed with 4% PFA and probed with AF-anti-YFP antibody. However EYFP remained undetectable with this method. We concluded that highly soluble nature of EYFP allowed it to easily leach out of membrane compromised cells from tissue sections [7].

In order to prevent leaching of EYFP from cryostat sections of cells with compromised membranes, we fixed the whole tissue in 4% PFA then cryoprotected the tissue in sucrose prior to embedding in OCT. The pre-fixing and sucrose embedding of tissue prior to sectioning resulted in the preservation of the natural conformation of EYFP and the cellular morphology respectively. Polyclonal AF-anti-YFP antibodies were then successfully used to amplify the EYFP signal for imaging. In summary, our results demonstrate that fixing the tissue using cross linking fixatives prior to sectioning is a mandatory requirement to retain the soluble EYFP protein within the cellular architecture.

# Conclusion

We demonstrate that tissue fixation using crosslinking fixative, prior to sectioning, is a mandatory requirement for the better visualization of EYFP in brain and pancreatic sections of EYFP transgenic mice.

# Acknowledgements

The Authors thank AMREP flow cytometry and Monash Micro Imaging for providing the services.

# **Competing Interests**

The authors declare they have no competing interests.

# References

- 1. Shimomura, O., F.H. Johnson, and Y. Saiga, *Extraction, purification and properties of aequorin, a bioluminescent protein from the luminous hydromedusan, Aequorea.* J Cell Comp Physiol, 1962. **59**: p. 223-39.
- 2. Prasher, D.C., et al., *Primary structure of the Aequorea victoria greenfluorescent protein.* Gene, 1992. **111**(2): p. 229-33.
- 3. Chalfie, M., et al., *Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression*. Science, 1994. **263**(5148): p. 802-5.
- 4. Tsien, R.Y., *The green fluorescent protein*. Annu Rev Biochem, 1998.
  67: p. 509-44.
- 5. Day, R.N. and M.W. Davidson, *The fluorescent protein palette: tools for cellular imaging*. Chem Soc Rev, 2009. **38**(10): p. 2887-921.
- 6. Telford, W.G., et al., *Flow cytometry of fluorescent proteins*. Methods, 2012. **57**(3): p. 318-30.
- 7. Kusser, K.L. and T.D. Randall, *Simultaneous detection of EGFP and cell surface markers by fluorescence microscopy in lymphoid tissues.* J Histochem Cytochem, 2003. **51**(1): p. 5-14.
- 8. Dauner, J.G., et al., *Perfusion fixation preserves enhanced yellow fluorescent protein and other cellular markers in lymphoid tissues.* J Immunol Methods, 2009. **340**(2): p. 116-22.
- 9. Nakagawa, A., et al., A method for fixing and paraffin embedding tissue to retain the natural fluorescence of reporter proteins. Biotechniques, 2015. **59**(3): p. 153-5.
- 10. Srinivas, S., et al., *Cre reporter strains produced by targeted insertion of EYFP and ECFP into the ROSA26 locus.* BMC Dev Biol, 2001. **1**: p. 4.
- 11. Zhuo, L., et al., *hGFAP-cre transgenic mice for manipulation of glial and neuronal function in vivo*. Genesis, 2001. **31**(2): p. 85-94.
- 12. Inada, A., et al., *Carbonic anhydrase II-positive pancreatic cells are progenitors for both endocrine and exocrine pancreas after birth.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. **105**(50): p. 19915.
- 13. Reichert, M., et al., *The Prrx1 homeodomain transcription factor plays a central role in pancreatic regeneration and carcinogenesis.* Genes Dev, 2013. **27**(3): p. 288-300.
- 14. Huang, B.Q. and E.C. Yeung, Chemical and Physical Fixation of Cells and Tissues: An Overview, in Plant Microtechniques and Protocols,

E.C.T. Yeung, et al., Editors. 2015, Springer International Publishing: Cham. p. 23-43.

- Hobro, A.J. and N.I. Smith, An evaluation of fixation methods: Spatial and compositional cellular changes observed by Raman imaging. 2017. 91(Cell 164 2016): p. 31-45.
- 16. Howat, W.J. and B.A. Wilson, *Tissue fixation and the effect of molecular fixatives on downstream staining procedures*. Methods, 2014. **70**(1): p. 12-9.
- 17. Ormo, M., et al., Crystal structure of the Aequorea victoria green fluorescent protein. Science, 1996. **273**(5280): p. 1392-5.
- Brejc, K., et al., Structural basis for dual excitation and photoisomerization of the Aequorea victoria green fluorescent protein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 1997. 94(6): p. 2306-2311.
- 19. Lipman, N.S., et al., Monoclonal versus polyclonal antibodies: distinguishing characteristics, applications, and information resources. ILAR J, 2005. 46(3): p. 258-68.
- 20. Thavarajah, R., et al., *Chemical and physical basics of routine formaldehyde fixation*. J Oral Maxillofac Pathol, 2012. **16**(3): p. 400-5.

# Figures and legends





Generation of EYFP transgenic mice. A) CAIIcre mice were crossed to NOD EYFP mice to generate double transgenic CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice. EYFP expression is identified in pancreatic ductal cells. B) GFAPcre mice were crossed to NOD EYFP mice to generate double transgenic GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice. EYFP expression is identified in brain cells.





Pancreatic single cell suspensions were gated based on the low side scatter properties of ductal cells and selected on non-lymphocyes cells using the pan leucocyte marker Ly5.1 (B). DBA positive ductal cells were selected (C) and EYFP expression was observed in the FITC channel (D).Control mice was negative for EYFP expression (E). Control for DBA (F).





Top Panel: Fi-FT brain sections of GFAPcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>mice. (A) Brain sections stained with DAPI (blue). (B) Natural EYFP fluorescence not detected in the EYFP channel. (C) Alexa flour 555 conjugated anti-GFP antibody could not detect EYFP expressing cells in cre negative control mice. (D) All three channels merged.

Bottom Panel: Fi-FT brain sections of GFAPcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>mice. (E) Brain sections stained with DAPI (blue). (F) Natural EYFP fluorescence not detected in the EYFP channel. (G) EYFP expressing cells detected using Alexa fluor 555 conjugated anti-GFP antibody (Red). (H) All the three channels merged and DAPI stained cells expressing EYFP is seen in purple.





Top Panel: Fi-FT pancreatic sections of CAIIcre<sup>-</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup>mice. (A) Beta cell stained using guinea pig antibody against insulin and detected by Texas red conjugated rabbit antibody against guinea pig IgG (red). (B) Ductal cells stained using biotin conjugated DBA and detected using streptavidin conjugated Dylight 405 (blue). (C) Alexa fluor 555 conjugated anti-GFP antibody could not detect EYFP expressing cells in cre negative control mice. (D) All three channels merged.

Bottom panel: Fi-FT Pancreatic sections of CAIIcre<sup>+</sup>EYFP<sup>+</sup> mice. (E) Beta cell stained using guinea pig antibody against insulin and detected by Texas red conjugated rabbit antibody against guinea pig IgG (red). (F) Ductal cells stained using biotin conjugated DBA detected using streptavidin conjugated Dylight 405 (blue). (G) EYFP expressing cells detected using Alexa fluor 555 conjugated anti-GFP antibody (green). (H) All three channels merged.